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PREFACE TO “ LONDON IN 1881.”

1 am glad to acknowledge, with thanks, the highly favour-
able reception of this Manual last year; -—-whon there ap-
peared of it, as each was rapidly bought up by the general
public,—no less than seven editions,

| have endeavoured, by adding new Bird's-cye Views,
and enlarging the information supplied, to make my book
still more worthy of public support.

I am far from imagining that such a vast subject as
London can be treated in an exhaustive manner within
my extremely narrow limits; but 1 am proud to say
that I have received most gratifying approval from the
London press; and highly flattering testimony from
previously unknown correspondents that I have incited
them to note and study minutely the highly interesting
annals and historical relics of this ancient Metropolis.

The places hallowed by the memories of Shakespeare
and Milton deservedly attract general regard; but in the
mind of the student who has traced the carecrs of the
numerous poets, statesmen, divines and literary men who
have paced their lives out in London strects, these pave-
ments, hallowed by the tread of many generations of
English worthies, must all be csteemed as veritable
“classic ground.” T earnestly wish to multiply those
students; and, to that end, I proffer this Manual as a
Gradus Primus, ov London-made-Easy,

HERBERT KRY.
Braviier, Uppeg Tooring,
London, 1881,
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i Surgeons’
) Hall, 90.
, , at Green Arbour
i Court, 203.
K ——, at Canonbury,
| 243,
| Goldsmiths’ Company, 217,

i Goswell Road, 220.

(
(
(

1
|
|

—— .t
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Government” Offices, 23, 28, 9, 30, ' Grosvenor Place, 132, 139,

67. | —————— Square, 176.
Gower, John, 248, ——— Street, 143,
CGrower Street, 184, I Grote, George, 134,
Gracechurch Street, 102, Gruab Street, 221.
Grafton Strect, 142. | Guildhall, 225.
sravesend, 279. | ————- Library and Muscum,
Fray’s Inn, 198. . 226.
, Lord Bacon at, 198. " Gunnersbury, 302.
—————— Chapel, 199, Gutter Lane, 222,
————— Hall, 198. Gy Faux, 76, 253,
———— Road, 199. i Guy’s Hospital, 249,
— ~ Lane, 199. Gwynne, Nell, 70, 127, 258,
-~—, Verulam Buildings, 198.
Great Cumberland Street, 175. Hanserpasiers’ Company, 222,
Marlborough Street, 135. | Hackney, 293.
——— Portland Street, 178. Coaches, 293,
Surrey Street, 253. ; Haggerstone, 203,
Grecian Coffee-house, 73, ' Half Moon Street, 156.
Great Kastern Railway, 313. - Hamilton Gardens, 157.
Northern Railway, 313. i Hammam Turkish Baths, 331,
——- Western Railway, 166, 313.  Hammersmith, 293.
¢ Gireat Tom,” 46. Hampstead Heath, 182,
Great Fire, 245. —————— Road, 182.
- Plague, 135, 202. Hampton Court, 294.
Great Russell Street, Bloomsbury, Hanging Sword Alley, 86.
181, 185. Hanover Court, Long Acre, 22, 27.
—_— , Covent Gar- Square, 178.
den, 61. — Street, 133,

~ Turnstile, 194,
Greek Street, Soho, 180.

IHanway Sireet, 181,
Hanwell, 295.

Greenhithe, 293. Harewood House, 178.
Green Park, 155. ——— Place, 177.
(ireenwich, Bellot Obelisk, 275. Harrow School, 295.
—— llospital, 275. - Road, 173, 295.

— Chapel, 276. Hart Strect, Bloomsbury, 190.
—_— Observatory, 277. Hateham, 294,
_— Park, 277. - Hatfield, John, 46.
—————, Merchant Seamen’s Hatton Garden, 201.

Hospital, 277. Haverstock Hill, 182.

, Steamboat Pier, 275. Haydon, B. R. 152.
, Royal Naval College, IHaymarket, 144.

276. _ Theatre, 128.
———————, Whitebait Dinners,277. Haynau, Marshal, 268.
Gresham College, 238. Hedge Lane, 20, 122,
—— Lectures, 231, 8. Hendon, 296.
Grimaldi, 242. Henley Regatta, 296.
Grocers' Company, 227. Heunry VII.’s Chapel, 37.
Grosvenor Canal, 260. Henry VIIL. at Whitehall, 25.

————— Gallery and Club, 143.  Ileralds’ College, 90.
Grosvenor House Collection, 137.  Hertford, Marquis of, Villa, 137.
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Herne ITill, 296.
Hicks’s Hall, 210.
Highbury, 243.
Highgate 1l 243,
Cemetery, 243,
- ——y, Sworn in at, 213,
High-level Sewers, 261,
lernrth, Willinm, 21, 187,
]Imw-.nul(;mvc
of, 285,
Holborn Bars, 191, 200,
———— Cirens, 203,
——, High, 191,
w-—-= Hill, 203,
<= ——, Muddle Row, 199,
Railway "Terminus, 203,
-— Viaduet, 203,
Hollane'd House, 161,
Holles Street, 177,
Holloway, 243,
Iolywell Lane, 238,
e Sreet, 71,
Home Office, 50,
Homerton, 293,
Honey Lane, 221,
Hood, Tom, 227, 286,
Hornsey, 213,
Horse Guards, 28.
Horselydown, 248,
Horsemonger Lane Guol, 252,
Horticultural Socicty, 170,
Hotels —
Alexandr, 159,
Bath, 151,
Bristol, 142,
Buekingham Palace, 132,
Burlington, 112,
Cannon Street Terminus, 100,
Charing Cross Terminus, 54,

Claridge’s, 143,

Covent Garden—
Ashley's, 61,
Covent-Gurden Hotel, 61,
Evans's, 61,

Hummuns, 61.
Tavistock, 61,

Fischer's, 142,

Furnival’s Inn, 200.

Golden Cross Hotel, H4.

Great Northern Terminus, 199,

, Gtrand Hotel, 53,

Index.

Ilotels—continued.
Gireat Western Terminus, 313,
Grosvenor, 132,
Hatchett’s, 155,
Holborn Viaduet, 203.
Imperial  (Holborn  Viaduct),
203,
Inns of Court, 194.
Langham, 136.
Limmer’s, 142,
London Bridge Terminus, 2 8.
Tong's, 142,
Mivart’s, 143,
Morley's, 12,
Quecn’s, Clifford St., 142,
St. Martin’s-le-Grand,

217.
Midland Railway Terminus,
HIEN
Sarncen’s Head, 203.
St. James's, 155,
Star and Garter, 299,
Westminster Palace, 43.
Houndsditeh, 236,
Hounslow, 296,
Ilouse of Commons, 47.
——-— Lords, 47,
Howard Street, 71.
Howell and James, 133,
Hoxton, 238,
Humane Rociety, 12,
Hungerford Bridee, 55.
Market, 54,
Hunter, John, 21, 196.
. William, 145,
Hurlingham, 293,
Hyde Park, 159,
Gates, 159,
, Lady’s Mile, 160,
-, Rotten Row, 160.
——-———, Serpentine, 160.
, Statue  of  Achilles,
160.
, the Ring, 172.

INpia Museum, 168,
Oftice, 30.
Inland Revenuwe Office, 68.
Inns of Chaneery, 70, 71, 84, 199,
200, 201.
(‘mnt 79,197, 8.




Index.

Inng, Old—
Angel, Islington, 210, 1.
-. Strand, 71.
Bell, 214.
Belle Sauvage, 89.
Bull and Mouth, 217.
Elephant and Castle, 254.
George and Blue Boar, 192, |
Hercules Pillars, 157.
Jack Straw’s Castle, 182.
Oxford Arms, 214.
Peacock, 241.
Plough, Clapham, 236,
Red Lion, 192.
Saracen’s Head, 203.
Tabard, 250.
White Hart, 250.
White Horse Cellar, 155.
~ Inn, 85.
[ronmongers’ Co., 236.
Islington, 241.
Isle of Dogs, 275.
Isleworth, 296.
Italian Church, 307.
Legation, 332,
Opera, 63, 127,
———— Organ-grinders, 200.
Plaster-cast Malkers, 200,

i

JrMmy Dawson, 254.

Jeuny’s Whim, 132,

Jermyn Strect, 140.

Jewish Synagogues, 307.

Jewin Strect, 220.

Jews, first, in London, 226.

Joe Miller, 72.

Johnson, Dr. 8., and Cock Lane
Ghost, 206.

, at Thrale’s Brew-
ery, 268.

, at Church, 72,

, at ¢ Mitre,” 52,

——————,in Fleet Street, 83.

—————, at St. John's Gate,

210.
Jonson, Ben, at School, 9.
¢Devil,’ 79.
~, as & Mason, 197,
-, “ Sons of,” 7Y.

KEeaN, Edmund, 156.

Xv

Kean, Charles, 179.

Kennington, Gallows at, 254.

Common, 25..

, ¢ Horns Tavern,” 254,
Oval, 25%.

Kennington Park, 254.

. Kensal Green Cemetery, 174,

Kensington, 160-1.
——————— Gardens, 160.
, Holland House, 161.
Palace, 160.
-, South, Museum, 161.
-——, Town Hall, 161.
Kentish Town Road, 182,
Kew, 296,
Crardens, 296.
—— Palace, 206.
Kilburn, 173.
King Edward VI, 86.
——————— Strecet, 214,
King Theodore, 179,
King William Strect, Strand, 55.
City, 102.
King Street, St. Jan 's,
, Cheapsi le, 225.
-, Westmi wster, 31,
King’s College, 68.
————— Hospital, 6.
School, 68.
King’s Cross, 199.
Gato Street, 191.
Mews, 10.
Kingsland, 297.
, Road, 238.
Kit Kat Club, 76.
Kuightrider Street, 91.
Knightsbridge, 159.

Lacon and Ollier’s, 142.
Ladbroke Grove Road, 174,
Lady’s Mile, 160.

TLambeth, 262,

——————, Albert Embankment, 262
~—~————, Baths, 51.

———— Bridge, 226.

~————, Doulton’s Pottery, 262.
——— Kerry, 262.

————, Lollard”s Tower, 264.
~———— Palace, 263.
~—————— Chapel, 264.
~—————— - Library, 265.
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Tambeth, 8t. Mary’s Church, 262,
LamV’s Conduit Street, 192
Langham Place, 136.
—~———— School for Artists, 136.
Lansdowne House, 155.

Lant Street, 251.

Law Courts, 74, 5, 6.
Lawrence Pountney Hill, 121,
Leadenhall Street, 2:34.

- ——— Murket, 234.
Leather Lane, 200.

~Trade, 248,

-———- Sellery’ Co., 237.
Leicester Square, 20,

Fxiles, 20,
e e Houge, 20
Lewisham, 297,

Leyton, 297.

Leytonstone, 207.
Lite-Guards, 29.

Lillie Bridge, 297.
Limchouse, 275.

Rench, 275.
Lincolw’s Tnn, 197,

Chapel, 197.

- _— Fields, 194

- e ——— Lintoway, 8.

- —— Hall, 197.

— ————— Library, 197.

——————, New Conrt, 197,

Ainnzan Society, 150.
Jon's Hend, Button’s, 62,
Jttlo Britain, 214.
Joyd’s, 231, 232.
ncfcot.‘s Ordinary, 123.
wock Hospital, 295,
wllard’s Tower, 99, 26¢.
.ombard Street, 230.
sondon, Land in, 3.
- Bridge, 268.
House, 248.

248.

-- Cotlee House, 89,

—- Docks, 272.

— Hospital, 236.

-~ Institution, 239.

-~ Library, 126.
————— Stone, 100, 1.
————— Road, 253, 4.

—. Old Buildings, 197.

Ruilwny Terminus,

Index.

London University, 151.

———— Wall, 200.

———— Walls, Old, 235.

and Brighton Railway, 132,
413,

North Western, 313.

South Western, 313.

Chatham and Dover, 132,

313.
T.ong Acre, 22.
Long Lane, 209.
Low-level Pumping-house, 260.
Lord Mayor's Banquets, 225.
Day, 227.
Show, 224, 227.

Lord’s Cricket Ground, 173.
Lost in London, 4,
Lothbury, 234.
Lovelaee, Richard, 86.
Lower Thames Street, 121,
Lowther Arcade, 55.
Ludgate, 89.

Hill, 89.
———— Strect, 89.
Yiaduct, 89,
Lyon’s Iun, 70.

Mappox Street, 113,
Magdalen Hospital, 300.
Magna Charta, 290.
Maiden Lane, 60.
Maida Vale, 173,
Main Drainage, 260.
Mall, The, 130.
Manchester Square, 176.
————— Strecet, 177.
Mansfield, Lord, 191.
Mansion House, 227,
~———————, Egyptian 11all, 227,
e, Stution, 100.

-—-, Police Court, 227,
Marble Areh, 173.
Mark Lane, 103.
Marlborough House, 127.

(Great) Street, 135.

Police
Court, 135.
Marshalsca Prison, 251.
Martyrs in Smithfield, 207.
Marvell, Androw, 60.
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Marylebone, 177.

————— Fields or Park, 137.
Lane, 177.

Road Station, 175.
St. Old Church, 177.
———————— New Church, 177.
Massinger, Philip, 249.

Maundy Money, 24.

Mayfair, 156.

May Mectings, 65.

Maypole, 69.

Morning Advertiser, 82.

Meat Market, 209,

Memorial Hall, 87,

Mereers’ Co., 226,

Merchant Taylors' Co., 219, 247.
Macaulay, Lord, 94, 286,

Metropolitan Board of Works, 5, 130.

~—— Boroughs, 7.
~ Cattle Market, 209.
- Nchool Board, 5.
— —~———- Main Drainage, 260.
——————— Mcat Market, 209.

- Police, 4, 24,

-- Railway, 3t1.

- Tabernacele, 254,
Meux's Brewery, 181,
Mews, King’s, 10.
Middlesex Hospital, 179.
Midland Railway Terminus, 314,
Milk Strect, 222,
Mildmay Park, 297.
Military Asylum (Royal), 259.
Millbank Penitentiary, 262,
Milton, John, born, 222,
———, Christened, 223,
——, in Westminster, 43,
———, Spring Gardens, 123,

———, Married and Buricd, 220,
Milton Street, 220,

Milwall, 275.

Docks, 275.

Mincing Lane, 103.

Minories, 235,

Mint, Royal, 121.

———- Street, Bouthwark, 251,
Mitchell’s Library, 142,
Missionary Museum, 239,
Monk, General, 26.
—————'8 wife, 57.

, St. Bride’s Churchyard, 86.

XVil

Monkwell Street, 222.
Monmouth, Duke of, 128, 179.
Street, 184.
Montagu House, Old, 185.
Montague House, 175, 266.
Monument, The, 24+.
——— —, Nelson’s, 11.
-, Crimean, 124.
————-, Duke of York’s, 130.
-, Westminster, 42,
Moore and Burgess Minstrels, 147,
More, Sir Thomas, Born, 222.
at Chelsea, 257.
at New Inn, 71.
Executed, 113.
. head of, 113.
Morning Chronicle, 69.

Morris, Captain, 126.

Mortlnke, 298,

Mudie’s Library, 183.

Muscum, Bethnal Green, 278.

~, British, 185,

, Gieological, 146,

————, Guildhall, 226,

-, India, 168,

———-, London Missionary, 239.

, Natural History, 170.

—————, Royal Architectural, 43.
-, Royal College of Surgeons,

196,
. Sir J. Soand’s, 195.
-, South Kensington, 161.
-— Strect, 191,
—, United Scrvice, 28.
Music Halls—
Canterbury, 51.
Evang’y, 61.
Hugh Myddelton, 242.
Middlesex, 64.
North Woolwich, 278.
Oxford, 181.
Puvilion, 145,
Rosherville, 279,
Royal, Holborn, 191,
South London, 252,
Victoria, 52.
Winchester, 252.
Musie, Royal Academy of, 178,
Muswell-hill, 298.
Myddelton, Sir Hugh, 242{.)
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Naroreoy IT1.’s Todgings, 139,
Nush, the Architect, 136, 137
National Art Training Schools, 169,
National-Gallery, 13.
e Opera House, 30.
Portrait Gallery, 169.
e School of Cookery, 169.
Natural History Musemm, 170.
Nuval College, 268,
Nelson, Lord, Column, 11,
— Relies, 276,
— -— Tomb, 97.
and Wellington, 23, 97.
New Bond Street, 12,
Newenstle House, 212,
- e Strect, 70.
New Cat, 51,
New Exchange. 56.
Nowgate Market, 214,
- Prison, 205,
- ———— (iallows, 204,
e e Street, 204,
New Inn, 71.
Newington Butts, 254,
——~ ——- Tabernacle, 254,
Newnman Street, 179,
Now Oxford Stievt, 183.
Newport Market, 21,
New River, 242,
Now Road, 210.
Newton, Sir [saae, 21,
Nine Elns, 333.
Nonsuch House, 268.
Norfolk Street, 71.
Northumberland Avenue, 53.
House, 53.

-——- Lion, 4.

- Strect, 54,
Norwood, 298.
- Cemotery, 298,
————, Gipsy Hill, 298.
————, Lower, 208.
, Upper, 298.
Notting Hill, 174.
Nunhead Cemetery, 293,

Onvinuses, 4, 92, 316-31,
Obelisk, Cleopatra, 58,

-, Surrey side, 253,
Observatory, Royul, 277.
Qctober Club, 31,

Index.

Of Lane, 56.
Old Bailey, 90, 204.
, Breakuneek  Steps, 90,
205.
Sessions House, 90, 205.
Old Bond Strect, 141,
— Broad Street, 234,
—- Change, 222,
—- Jewry, 226,
—— London, 5.
— Palace Yard, 44.
—— Strect, 220.
—— Swan Stairs, 121.
0. P. Riots, 63.
Opera Areade Houses, 63, 123,
, National, 30.
- Royal Ltalian, 63, 123.
Orchard Strect, 175.
Organ grinders, 200.
Otway, Grave of, T2,
Oval, Kennington, 254,
Oxford Market, 178.
—-— Strect, 172.
, New, 183,

PapoiNgToN Ruilway Terminus,173.
Pull Mall, 122
————, Game of, 130.
East, 122,
Gazetle, 54,
Palsgrave Place, 74,
Panklibanon, 173.
Punopticon, 21,
Pantheon, 178.
Panyer Alley, 92.
Parccls Delivery Co., 311,
Park Crescent, 136.
—— Lane, 172,
Street, 175.
Parks—
Battersea, 259, 60.
Bushy, 284,
Green, 153,
Greenwich, 277.
Hyde, 15Y.
Kennington, 254,
Kensington, 160.
Kew, 296.
Regent's. 136.
Richmond, 299.
St. Jumes's, 129,




Index.

Parks—continued.

Victoria, 282.

Windsor, 305.
Parliament, Houses of, 45.
Street, 30.
Partridge’s Almunac, 58.
Paternoster Row, 215.
Square, 214.
Paul’s Cross, 99.

Walkers, 93,
——- Wharf Pier, 266.
Peckham Rye, 298.
Peele’s Cotfee House, 84,
Pentecost Lane, 214,
Pentonville, 241, 243.
Percy Chapel, 181.
Pest-field, 135.
Pecterborougch House, 23.
Petticont Lune, 236.
Physicians, Royal Collegeof, 12,214,
Piazza, Covent Garden, 61,
Piceadilly, 144.
—————- (Circus, 145.
Hall, 144.
————— Saloon, 145,
Picton, Sir Thomas, 96, 143.
Picture Gulleries—

Academy Royal, 151.

Agnew’s, 141,

British Artists, 122,

Doré, 142.

Dudley, 152.

Dulwich, 290.

French, 142,

Grosvenor, 143,

Hampton Court, 294.

Hanover, 143.

Lady Artists, 185.

National, 13.

——— Portrait, 169.

South Kensington, 167.

Wuter Colours, Society of
Painters in, 122.

Institute of

Painters in, 127,
Private Galleries :

Apsley House, 158.
Ashburton Collection, 156.
Buth House, 156.
Bridgewater House, 129.
Buckingham Palace, 131.

XIX

Private Galleries—continued.
Grosvenor House, 143.
Hertford, 177.

Montague House, 266.

Rothsehild, 157,

Stafford House, 129.
Pillory, The, 9, 44, 78, 195.
Pimlico, 132.

Railway Terminus, 132,
Pindar, Sir Paul, 238.
Pirates gibbeted, 270.
Pitshanger, 302.
Primrose Hill, 137,
Prince’s Cricket Ground, 159.
Street, 135.
¢ Princess Alice’ Disaster, 278.
Printing House Square, 90.
Plague of London, 135, 202.
Playhouse Yard, 88.
Plumstead, 298.
Pool, The, 275.
Pope’s Head Alley, 230.
Pulice, Metropolitan, 424.
Polytechnic Institution, 136.
Population, 2.
Portland Place, 136.
- Strect Railway Station, 178.
Porridge Island, 10.
Portman Square, 175.
Street, 175.
Post Oftice, Charing Cross, 54.
—————, Deud Letters, 217.
—————, General, 216, 309.
Orders, 311,
Savings Bunks, 216.
————— Telegrams, 217, 311.
Postal Districts, 309.
Regulations, 310,
Poultry, The, 226.
-, Compter, 226.
Praise God Barebones, 84.
Prinee’s, 159.
Prince’s Street, 135.
Prisons—

Bridewell, 86.

Brixton, 283.

Clerkenwell, 211,

Cold Bath Fields, 199.

Fleet, 87.

Giltspur Street, 205.

Holloway, or Pentonville, 243.
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Prisong—continued.
Horsemonger Lane, 252.
Marshalses, 251.
Milbank, 262.
Ncwp;uto. 205.
Queen’s Beneh, 252.
Surrey County, 303,

Privy Council Office, 30.

Pudding Tane, 244.

Punch, 82.

Purtleet, 208.

Putney, 298.

Pyc Corner, 206.

Pyx, T'rial of The, 121.

Quakers’ Meeting Houses, 308.
Quebee Street, 175.

Queen Anne’s Mansions, 43.
e Strect (Great), 191,
(Little), 191.
——— Square, Bloomsbury, 191.
—-——- Vietorin Street, 227, 266.
Queen’s Beneh Prison, 252,
Head Passage, 214,
—-—— Tobaceo-pipe, 272.
Queenhithe, 121,

Races—
Ascot, 305.
Epsom, 292.
Henley Regatta, 296.
Sandown Park, 299.
University Boat, 208.
Rag Fair, 236.
Railway and Booking Offices, 115.
Termini, 313.
Rnlou.,h, Sir Walter, beheaded, 44,
————, His l’nsou,
108.
—, His Study, 56.
Ranelagh Gardens, 259.
Raphael's Cartoons, 26, 166.
Rathbone Place, 181,
Record Ottico, 85,
Red Lion Inn, 192,
— Square, 192,
———e—— Street, 192,
Regent Circus, chcmhlly, 145.

178.
Re went Street, 133,

-, Oxford Street, 135, |
| Royal Academy of Arts, 151.

b—_

Index,

Regent’s Quadrant, 134,
————— Park, 136,
Regicides, ¥ xecution of, 9,
—————- Exhumed, 172.
Restaurants—

Aquarium (Royal), 43.

Blanchard, 134,

Café Monico, 134,

Café Royal (Nicols), 134.

Criterion, 145,

Croshy Hall, 229,

De PEtoile, 20, 145.

Gatti's, 55.

Holborn, 191.

Kettners. 20.

Pall-Mull, 133.

Punton, 20.

Previtali, 20.

St. James'’s Iall, 134, 146.

Simpson’s, 65.

Trocadéro, 145.

Vargue'’s, 20.

Verrey, 134
Reynolds, Sir Joshua, 21.
Richardson, Samuel, 86,
Richmond, 298.
Hill, 298.
—————— Purk, 209.
———————, Pembroke Lodge, 299.
——————, Sheen Lodge, 298.

, Star aud Garter, 298.

, Thatched Lodge, 299.
_ » White Lodge, 299.
Roelmmpton, 299.
Rogers, Samuel, 138.
Rolls Chapel, 83.
Rolls Court, 83.
Roman Bath, 69,
Catholie Churches, 308.
London, 5.
Wall, 90, 104.
Rookery, St. (iiles’s, 183,
Rosamond’s Pond, 130.
Rosherville Gurdens, 279, 293.
Rotherhithe, 274.
Rotten Row, 160,
Rothschild’s, Piceadilly, 157,
-, St. Swithin’s Lane
102.

Muslc, 178.




Index.

Royal Albert Iall, 170.
——— Almonry, 24,
——- Aquarium, 43.
Architectural, 43.
— Asiatic Society, 153.
\—— Astronomical, 150.
Botanic Gardens, 137.
—————— Society, 137.
——- College of Physicians, 12,214,
—————————— Surgeons, 196,
——— Free Hospital, 199.
——- Exchange, 231.
- Geographical Society, 151.
——- Historical Suciety, 153.
- Horticultural Society, 170.
-- Humane Society, 12.
— Institution, 153.
— Military Asylum, 259,
- Italian Opera, 63, 123,
Naval College, 276.
~——~ Observatory, 277.
——~ School of Mines, 146.
—— Socicty, 149,
——- Veterinary College, 284.
Runnimede, 300.
Russell, Lord William, 83, 194.
Square, 191,
- (Gireat) Strect, Bloomsbury,
181, 185.
-~ (Great) Street, Covent
(arden, 61.

Sacrep Harmonie Socicty, 147.
Sackville Street, 148.
Saddlers’ Compuny, 222,
Saffron Il 202,
St. Albans, 299.
St. Bartholomew’s Hospital, 208.
St. Chad’s Well, 280.
St. George’s Circus, 252.
Fields, 252,
Hall, 136.
- Hospital, 158.
-—— Road, 253.
St (riles, 183.
St. James's, Chapel Royal, 129.
~—————, Court of, 128.
Iall, 146.
—— ——— Murket, 133.
Palace, 128.
—~———— Place, 138.

XXl

St. James’s Park, 129.
—_— Station, 44.
——————— Square, 126.
——————— Street, 138.
—— Vestry all, 148.
St. John's Gate, 210.
Square, 219,
———— Street, 209.
Road, 209.

- Wood, 174.
St. Katharine’s Docks, 272.
————————— Hospital, 137,
St. Margaret’s Hill, 250.
St. Martin’s Lane, 22.
le Grand, 216.
Street, 21,
St. Mary Axe, 235.
St. Michuel's Alley, 234.
St. Pancras Gardens, 199,
————— Railway Station, 314.
St. Paul’s Cathedral, 93.

—— Churchyard, 99.
~——-—— Clock Room, 98.
——-—— Cross, 99.

———— Library, 98.
—_—, Old, 93.
———— School, 99,
~——-—— Walkers, 93,
————, Whispering Gallery, 98,
St. Stephen’s Hall, 46.
St. Swithin's Lane, 102,
St. Thomas’s Hospital, 50.
Salisbury House, 58.
———— Street, 57, 8.
Square, 86.
Saddler’s Company, 222.
Salter’s Company, 102,
Saw’s Library, 138.
Sanctuary, Westminster, 31.
Sandown Park, 299,
Savage, Richard, 199,
Savile House, 21.
Row, 134,
Savoy, Chapel Royal, 66,
Savoy Conference, 66,
——— Street, 66.
Schomberg House, 126,
School of Mines, 146.
Schoels of Art aund Design, 168, 9.
Scotland Yard, 24.
Scottish Corporation, 85.
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Sermon Lane, 91.

Serjeant’s Inn, Chancery Lane, 83.
, Fleet Street, 83.
Serpentine, 160.

Sewers, High-level, 261.

, Low-level, 260,

Seven Dials, 183,

Shadwell, 275.

Shakespeare, Fdmund, 249.
Shakspeare’s ¢ Oak,” 137,
—_ W, Statue of, 21,
at Bankside, 267.
————— Blackfriars, 88.
——— ————*Mermaid,’ 223.
Shaver’s Hall, 144,
Sheepshanks’ Collection, 167.
Shepherd’s Bush, 174,

Shire Lane, 76.

Shoo Lane, 87.

Shooter’s Hill, 278.

Shore, June, 99.

Shoreditch, 238,

Sidney Alley, 20.

Siguboards (01d), 92.

Kion College, 220,

Sir Hugh Myddelton, 242.
Skinners’ Company, 247.
Sloane, Sir Hang, 257,

Square, 159,

Street, 159,

Smith, Captain John, 203.
Smithtield, 207.

—————- Martyrs, 207.
= Murkets, 209,

Snow 11ill, 203.

, Sniacen’s Head on, 203.
Snaresbrook, 299.

Soane, Nir J., Museum, 195.
Society of Antiquaries, 150.
Archery, 137,
———— Arts, 57.

———, Royal Astronomical, 150.
o, Chemieal, 150,

————, Geological, 149,
e, Linnsean, 150,

———, Photographie, 142,
———, Physical, 169,

————, Royal Geographieal, 151,
, Royal Horticulturl, 163.
-———, Royal Humane, 12,

, Royal, 149.
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Society, Sacred Harmonic, 147.
Soho Bazaar, 180,
—— Fields, 180.
—— Square, 179.
Somerset House, 67.
, Audit Office, G8.
,Inland Revenue,68.
, Registrar - Gene-
ral, 68.
—, Willsand Probate,
68.

Somers Town, 199.

Sovuthall, 299.

Southampton Buildings, 83.
~———————— House, 83.
—————— Row, 191.
——————— Fields, 182.
—~————— Street, Strand, 59.

, Bloomsbury,

191.
Southeote, Joanna, 177.
South Kensington Museum, 161.
Ruilway Station,

161.
Southwark, Borough of, 247.
Bridge, 267.

- Park, 299.
Speed, The Historian, 220.
Spenser, Edmund, 31.
Spitalficlds, 238.
Spring Gardens, 123,

[ Sports, Athletic, 297.
Spurgeon’s, Mr., Tubernacle, 254.
Stafford Street, 142,

| Staines, 300.

. Stamford Hill, 301,
Standard, Cheapside, 221,

, Coruhill, 253.

Standard Newspaper, 82.

Staple Inn, 199.

Statiouers’ Hall, 91.

—————————— Court, 215.

Statistics of London, 2, 3, 4.
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Achilles, 160.

Albert, Prince, 170, 203, 304.
Anne, Queen, 93.

Bedford, Duke of, 191.
Bentinck, Lord G, 177.
Brunel, L. K., 72.

Burgoyne, Sir J., 125.
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Byron, Lord, 157.
Canning, George, 49.
Charles L., 9.
Charles II., 259.
Clyde, Lord, 125.
QOobden, Richard, 122,
Cumberland, Duke of, 177.
Derby, Earl of, 49.
Elizabeth, Queen, 84.
Father 'Thames, 68.
Fox, C. J., 191.
Franklin, Sir John, 125,
George 111., 68, 123.
v, 12
Guards Crimean Memorial,
124.
Havelock, Sir H., 12,
Henry VIIL, 208.
Herbert, Lord, 126.
James II., 28.
Jenner, Dr., 160.
Mill, J. 8., 72.
Myddelton, Sir ugh, 242,
Napier, Sir C. 12.
Nelson, Lord, 10.
QOutram, Sir I., 266.
Palmerston, Lord, 49.
Peabody, Mr., 232.
Peel, Sir R., 49, 215.
Pitt, William, 178.
Raikes, R, 59,
Richard L., 49.
Shakespeare, 21.
Vietori, Queen, 231,
Wellington, Duke of, 158, 232.
——————, in St. Paul's, 97.
William 1L, 126.
Iv., 102,
York, Duke of, 130.
Steamboat Piers, 333.
Stepney, 275.
Sterne, Lawrence, 141,
, his Death, 141,
———, his GGrave, 174.
Stews, Bank~ide, 246,
Stock Exchange, 232,
Stocksmarket, 2265,

Stockwell, 283.
Stoke Newington, 300.

-, *Bull and Bear,” 233.
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Stoke Newington Cemetery, 300.
Stoke Pogis, 302.
Storey’s Gate, 31.
Strufford, Earl of, 83.
Strand, 53
———- Bridge, 66.
———- Lane, 69.
-, New Exchange, 56.
Stratford, 283.
Place, 177.
Stratton Street, 156.
Streatham, 300.
, Magdalen Hospital, 300.
| ——— Thmk House, 300.
| hub-truplcal Garden, 260.
| Subway, Thames, 272.
Suffolk Street, 122.
Surhiton, 300.
Sur,r.:eon’u Hall (01d), 90.
Surgeons, Royal College of, 196.
Surrey Docks, 275.
Prison, 244, 302,
Street, 71.
(Great) Strect, 253,
side Boats, 260,
Turnpike Gates, 251.
Zoologicul Gardens, 254.
Sutton, Thomas, 218.
Swallow Strect, 147.
Swan and Edgar, 145.
Swhnming Bath in Thames, 266.
Swiss Cottage, 174
Swithin's Lane, 102,
Sydenham, 301,
Synagogucs, 297.
l
| | TABERNACLE, 182, 254.
| Tasting Ordcrs, 273.
Tattersalls, 159.
Taverns—
Adam and Eve (Ol1d), 181.
Albion, 64.
Buy Tree, 102.
Boar's [Icad (Old), 102
Belvedere, 241,
Blue Posts, Cork Street, 142.
Coul Hole, 65.
Coek, 81.
Lrown and Anchor, 72.
Czar's Head, 104,
Devil, 78.
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Dolly’s, 214.

Eussex Head, 73.

Fountain, 65.

¥ox-under-the-Hill, 58.

Freemasons, 191,

Goose and Gridiron, 92.

Horns, 254.

Meormaid (O13), 223.

Mischief, 179.

Mitre (OI), 82.

Nupier, 198.

Old Dog, 71.

Simpson’s, 65.

Turk’s Head (O1d), 181.
Tavistock Square, 191.
Taylor. Water-poct, 22.
Technical College, 171,
Teddington, 256, 301, 2.
Telegraphs, 215, 217, ‘309
Temple Bar, 77.

— Memorial, 77,
-————— P1illory, 78.
Church, 80.

——— (Gardens, 81.

, Inner, 79.

————, Middle, 79.

, Gateway, 79.
——, Outor, 79.

Ruilway Station, 72.

T'enison’s, Archbishop, Chapel, 135.

—— Grammar
School, 21,

Tennyson, Alfred, 82, 97.

Tenterden Street, 178,

Thames, The, 256,

———— Ditton, 301.

————- Steam Ferry, 27+
- —— Street, Lower, 121, 271,
, U pper 121.
— Subway, 2 -4-.
—— Tunnel, 273.
Thavie’s Inn, 200,
Theatres (Modern)—
Adelphi. 57.
Alhambra, 21,
Astley’s (or Sanger's), 51,
Britannia, 238.
Connaught, 198,
Court, 159.

Embankment, 51, 258, 265.
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Covent Garden, 63.
Criterion, 145.
Drury Lane, 63.
Duke’s, 198.
Joast London, 236.
Llephant and Castle, 254,
F u“y, 55.
Gaicty, 67.
Grecian or Eagle, 240.
Gilube, 70.
Haymarket, 123.
Hengler's Circus, 178.
Her Majesty’s, 123.
Tmperial (Aquarium), 43.
Lyceum, 65.
Maiylebone, 173.
Nutionul Standard, 238.
Olympie, 71.
Opera Comique, 71.
Park, 284.
Philharmonie, 241.
Prince of Wales’s, 182,
Princess’s, 178.
Royalty, 179.
St James’s, 138,
Sadler's Wells, 242,
Sanger's (late Astley’s), 51.
Strand, 71.
Sarrey, 253,
Vaudeville, 57.
Victoria, 52,
Theatres (Old—
Bankside, 267, 8.
Blackfriars, 83.
Curtain, 238,
Duke’s, 197,
! Yortune, 221,
! Red Buall, 212,
! Whitefriars, 83.
Theobald’s Road, 190.
| Thistlowood, 176.
| Thrale, Mrs., 300.
| Threadnecdle Street, 228.
i Throgmorton Street, 235.
| Thumb, Tom, 152
| Thurtell, 70.
Tichborne Street, 134.
Tilbury Fort, 301.
Tiler, Wat, 100, 207, 221, 246.
Tilt Yard (O1d), 28, 136.
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Times Newspaper, 90.

Tokenhouse Yard, 23%.

Tom’s Coffes House, 61.

Tooley Street, 247.

, Three Tailors of, 248.

Tooting, 301.
Tothill Fields, 132.
Tottenham, 301.
———— Cross, 301.
—————— Court Road, 181.
Tower, The, 105.
Barracks, 112.
Beefeaters, 107,
Beauchamp Tovwer, 108,
Bell Tower, 108.
Bloody Tower, 108.
Bowyer Tower, 109.
Byward Tower, 107.
Council Room, 108.
Devercux Tower, 109,
Exccutions, 113-20.
Iorse Armoury, 110,
Jewel or Martin Tower, 109.
Middle Tower, 107.
QuecnKlizabeth'sArmoury,108. |
Regalin or Crown Jowels, 111.
Salt Tower, 109.
St. John's Chapel, 108.
St. Peter's ad Vincula, 112.
Traitor’s Gate, 107.
W.kefield Tower, 108.
‘White Tower, 108.
Tower Hamlets, 7.
Hill, 104.
—, Scaffold on, 10%.
—— Royal, 100.
Subway, 272,
Toxophilite Society, 137.
Trafalgar Square, 10, 11.
Fountains, 10.

Treasury, 29.

Trinity House, 120.

Tulse Hill, 283.

Turkish Baths, 334.

Turnham Green, 285.

Turnpike Gutes abolished, 251.
Turnstile, Great, 194,
Tussaud, Madame, 175.
Twickenham, 301.

, Orleans Club, 301.
, Pope’s Villa, 302.
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Twickenham, Strawberry Hill, 302.
Tyburn Lane, 172.

Tree, 172.
Tyler, Wut, 100, 207, 221, 246.

UnpERGROUND Railway, 341.
Unitarian Chapels, 73, 308.
United Service Museum, 28.
University Boat Race, 298.
————— College, 18+,
School, 184,
Hospital, 184.
- of London, 151.
Uxbridge, 302,
———— Road, 167.

VACUXHALL, 261,

Bridge, 261,

———— Bridge Road, 261.
Tramway,

329.

—~————— Gardens, 261.

Vere Strect, 177.

—— Chapel, 177.

Veterinary College, 284,

Viear of Bray, 2:28.

Vietoria Docks, 275.

— Embankment, 265.

— Park, 282.

——— Railway Stations, 132,

———— Street, 43, 132,
Tower, 46.

Vigo Street, 134,

Villiers Street, 53, 6.

Vine Strect Police Station, 147,

Vintners’ Company, 267.

Virginia Water, 305,

Voltaire, 60.

WarLsrook, 228.

Walham Green, 302,

Wallace, Sir Richard, 177,
—, Sir William, 207.

Wallingford House, 23.

Walthamstow, 302,

Walton, 302.

Walworth, 302.

——, Sir W, 245, 6.

Wandsworth, 302,

- Wapping, 274.

, Judge Jeffreys at, 119.



XXVl

Wapping Old Stairs, 274.
War Office, 126.
Ware, Great Bed of, 291.
Warwick Lane, 213.
Watch-fuce, Story of, 68,
Watchmen, Old, 24,
Watergate, 55.
Waterloo Banqguet, 158,
Bridge, 66.
o House, 123,
———— Place, 133,
Railway T'erminus, 314,
Road, 67.
Watling Street, 100.
Watts, Dr. Isnac, 240,
Waxworks, Madwme Tussaud, 175.
——esy Mrs. Sulmon, 82,
Weighhouse Chapel, 121,
Wellington Barracks, 112, 130.

, Duko of, in bed, 158,
, ut his  Club,

——, Tomb of, 97.

—— Street, Strand, G6.

Welsh Harp, 296.

Wesley, Charles, 240.

, John, 240.

, Mrs. 8., 239,

West India Docks, 275.

Westminster, 81.

Abbey, 35.
——Chapter House,

124.

41,

Jerusalem
Chamber, 42. ’
, Poets’ Corner,

36.
——————- Almonry, 32.
—_— ~ Aquarium (Royal), 43.
-, Big Ben, 46.
- Bridge, 49,
— Road, 51.
—_— ——— Steamboat
Pier, 266.
—_— Railway Sta-

tion, 265.

, Dean’s Yard, 31, 42,

, Great Tom, 46,

Hall, 44,

—————, Henry VIL’s Chapel,
37,
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Westminster Hospital, 31.
~——— Palace Yard (New), 44.
— —— (Old), 44.
——— Pillory, 44
, Queen Anne’s  Man-
sions, 43.
——- Sanctuary, 31.
——————— Schoul, 42.
—— Memorial, 42.
——————~—, St. Stephen’s Hall, 46.
———————— Sessions House, 31-2.
———— -, Victoria Clock Tower,
46.
Weybridge, 302,
Whitcomb Street, 20, 122,
Whitebait Dinners, 277.
Whitechapel, 236,
Whitefriars, 85.
—————— Theatre, 85.
Whitehall, 25.
————-, Henry VIIL at, 25.
————, Charles L at, 26,
— 11. at, 27.
, Cromwell at, 26,
————, Jumes 1L at, 27.
~, Destruction of, 27,
~————, Chapel Royal, 27, 8.
e Gardens, 30.
Whitchorse Strect, 156,
“ White Milliner,” 57.
Whittield’s Tubernacle, 182,
Whittington’s Almshouses, 243.
~and Bow Bells, 223.
Wicmore Street, 177.
Willis’s Rooms, 138.
Will’s Coftee-house, 57.
Wimbledon, 302,
Winchester House, 234,
—————— (Great), Street, 234,
Windmill (Great), Stieet, 145,
Windsor, 302,
————-, Albert Chapel, 304.
——— Castle, 303,
, Home Park, 305,
~————, Herne's Oak, 305.
, Long Walk, 305.
, 8t. George’s Chapel, 303,
Castle Stables, 305,
Wits’ Coffee-house, 61.
Woking Cemetery, 105,
- Royal Dramatic College, 305.

—
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Woodbridge Street, 212.

Wood Street, 222.

, Compter, 222.
Woolwich, 278,

————— Cemetery, 278.
(North), Gardens, 278.
Woolwich Arsenal, 278,

————-—, Royal ArtilleryBarracks,

278,

Dockyard, 278.

————- Steamboat Pier, 278.

————- Royal Military Reposi-
tory, 278.

‘Wormwood Serubs, 306,

‘Wren, Sir Christopher, 94.
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Wren, Sir Christopher, his Trowel
and Mallet, 94.

, hisGrave, 94,
- Macaulay’s
praiso of, 94.
Wyat, Sir Thomas, 89.
Wych Street, 70.

York’s, Duke of, Column, 130.
———————, School, 259.
York House, 55,

—— Stairs, Water-Gate, 55.

ZoovooicAL Gardens, 137.
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LONDON IN 1881.

*I have secn the greatest wonder which the world ean show to tho
astonished spirit. I have secn it, and am still astonished,—for ever
will there remain fixed indelibly on my memory tho stone forest of
houses, amid which flows the rushing stream of faces of living men with
all their varicd passions, and all their terrible impulses of love, of
hunger, and of hatred,—I mean London.”—HEiNricn HEINE,

“ No man cver was left to himself for the first time in the streets of
London, but he must have been saddened and mortified, perhaps
terrified, by the scnse of desertion and utter loneliness which belong to
his situation.”—DE QUINCEY,

CCORDING to Herschel, the great astronomer,
London is the centre of the terrestrial globe; we
know it to be the centre of commerce, of wealth, of
intellectual and moral life. As “all roads led to Rome,”
when she was mistress of the world, so now every thinker
and worker, every artist, every inventor, seems to turn to
London, and find his best home or markct here, where
the multitudinous transactions of mankind are concen-
trated and carried on. In this vast metropolis thero arce
to be scen individuals, families, tribes of pretty ncarly
every race on the habitable globe, of nearly every tonguo
and dialect, of every colour and complexion, of every
faith, religion, persuasion, and opinion—howsoever eccen-
tric. 'We can asscrt of London, more truly than Gibbon
could claim for pagan Rome, that she is the centre of
religious toleration, the common temple of the world.
The freedom of our city is bestowed on all the gods of
mankind, and without preference for race or creed we
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adopt virtue and merit, whether in oursclves or strangers.
Each of our millions of dcnizens is fulfilling, or supposed
to bo fulfilling, some duty or errand, following some call-
ing, or learning to follow it. The idlers, who, whether
from predilection or obligation, take no share in tho
work of London, have their marked characteristics, tho
beggars theirs, and the thieves also. Of the thousands
who riso in the morning knowing not how they are going
to carn a breakfast, nor where they shall lay their heads
at night, it may be said that a large proportion would
certainly starve anywhere but in this amazing metropolis,
where the crumbs which fall from so many hundreds of
thousands of tables are to bo picked up by those who are
on the alert to watch for them, and to benefit themselves
by the habits, foibles, vices, fortunes and misfortunes of
their neighbours., The city sparrow, who lives upon the
unregarded refuse of tho streets, fattens bencath his
smoke-begrimed feathers; and in like manner does many
a crossing-sweeper in London earn more and thrive better
than a labourer in the country.

Tho history of the world can show us no such city as
London. TFor better for worso it is unparalleled. Its
statistics are all upon such a gigantic scale that if they
were related of some remote and foreign place we should
stand amazed at the revelation of them. Even figures
can scarcely convey to the mind the full meaning of
London facts, until they are aided by comparison or con-
trast.  As, for instance, in the matter of population. This
onormous collection of human beings was estimated by the
Registrar-General in 1876 as amounting, within the Metro-
politan area, to 3,489,428; and within the 15-mile radius
to 4,200,000 souls. In 1878 the number had increased to
4,500,000. If we take the population statistics of other
great cities we shall find that the greatest city contains
less than half the above number, and the others are far
behind. The Census of 1881 will show further advance,
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In 1876 the popuiation of Pariswas . . . . 1,851,702

1880 ” New York and Brooklyn 1,850,000
1876 » Berlin ., . . . . 980,000
“ " Vienma . . . . . 676,000

Every yoar tho increase continues—London adds annually
to her population 45,000 persons. In 1981 tho population
will probably be 7% millions; in 2181 it will excced 9
willions, at the present rate of increase. In London thero
have been reckoned more Roman Catholics than in Rome,
more Jews than in all Palestine, more Scotchmen than in
Aberdeen, more Welshmen than in Cardiff, more Irishmen
than in Belfast. Six hundred thousand persons daily enter
and leave tho comparatively small area (632 acres) of tho
City of London proper, where every inch of ground is
ardently contended for, and whero recontly (in Lombard
Street) land fetched a prico cqual to two millions an
acre. Within a radius of 6 or 7 miles of Charing Cross
260 miles of Railway are in operation; or, reckoning
double lines but not including sidings, there are at least
750 miles of railway in the metropolis,—cnongh singly {o
reach to Thurso. 'Tho London Custom TTouse Dues equal
those of all the other places in the kingdom. I.iverpool is
a great port, scarcoly to be paralleled clsewhere, and its
Custom Ducs are botween two and threo millions sterling
per annum ; but London Custom 1louse Dues for the same
period amount to over ten millions. The total rateablo
annual value of the parishes and districts comprised within
tho Metropolitan area doubled itsclf in tho twenty years
ending 1878, when it had reached £24,443,000. In tho
eight yecars cnding Dec. 1879 there were 81,787 houses
added to the metropolis, which in its entirety has been
computed to cover an area of 122 square miles. Its strcets,
placed end to end, would extend to 2600 miles; its 1100
churches and chapels would not hold a titho of its in-
habitants. They require and occupy 573,798 dwelling-

houses; their refreshment is provided for by 7500 public-
B2
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houses and 1700 coftee-houses; they consume annually
2 million quarters of wheat, 400,000 oxen, 1} million of
sheep, 130,000 calves, 250,000 pigs, 8 million head of
poultry and game, and 400 million pounds of fish. Their
drinking is upon the samo vast scale: 180 million quarts of
malt liquor, 31 million quarts of wine, 18 million quarts of
spirits, Tnnumerable gas-lamps * light London, at a cost
of 3% millions annually, and 6} million tons of coal arc
needed annually for warmth, for cookery, &c.  The daily
water supply is 150 millions of gallons; 67 derived from
the Thames, 59 from the New River and the Lea. The
omnibus and cab traffic of London is upon the same scale.
The number of passengers carried by the London General
Omnibns Company (who have not all the omnibuses) was
last half-year about 27 millions. The Company possess
580 omnibuses, cach earning on an average over £18 per
week, at an average fare of 21d. cach passenger, over o
distance of 6,132,707 miles. The Cabmen of London are
upwards of ten thonsand, and ecarn between 3 and 4 millions
per annum.  To protect the millions of human beings and
their untold millions of property, London employs a com-
paratively small number of guards. The Metropolitan
Police, at the end of the year, numbered only 10,474, in-
cluding 25 superintendents, 279 inspectors, 1078 sergeants,
and 9064 constables, costing £1,118,416 per annum. To
theso mmst be added the City Police of 830 men, costing
about £100,000 per annum.  The Police Commissioners’
Report mentions that there were 65 adults and 23 children
Iost and missing in a ycar, of whose faute nothing had
been learnt ; but theso were but the remnants of o total of
8483 lost children, and 3216 adults, all the others having
been found. In 1879 there wero 53872 stroet accidents to 3961
porsons, of whom 237 wore killed and the others injured.

* London was first lightod in 1684 by oil-lamps; in 1813 by gas;
and Dee. 13, 1878, the Thames Embankment was first lighted by
electricity.
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The vice and crime of London are, unfortunately, in pro-
portion to its sizo and wealth ; the crime generally amounts
to one-third of all the crimo in the kingdom. Our places
of Amusement are numerous and varied, including about
40 Theatres and over 400 Music-halls, Concert-rooms,
Harmonic Meetings, nightly entertaining 302,000 persons.
Since 1856, when the Metropolitan Board of Works was
first established, the Board has raised, and spent, above
21 millions sterling,—its oxpenditure for 1880 was over a
million ; while the Corporation of London has contributed
also immense sums for the samo purpose, out of an incomo
which in 1879 reached £553,337. The Metropolitan School
Board has had, of course, an cnormous work to do, and it
has spent £5,825,654 in but eight years; its income for
1879 was £175,315. 'T'he results of all this expenditure
are gradually developing themselves. The abodes of vico
and crime and discase are being cleansed or rcbuilt; the
inconvenient, narrow and crooked thoroughfares, choked
with an ever-increasing traffic, enlarged ; and new strects
are being opened up in all directions. 'The thoronghfares,
now paved with stone, wood, or agphalte, presented a very
different aspeet to our forefathers, who had to walk on
pebbles,  Kvelyn in 1643 found Paris * paved with a kind
of freestone of near a foot square, which rendered it more
casy to walk on, than over pebbles in Tondon.”

If we desire to trace the history of this microcosm
(it is not merocly a dozen citics rolled into one), we shall
have to go back to before the Roman era. There was a
town here beforo the Romans came, which the Britons
knew as Caer-Ludd, or the City of Lud. Thoe present name
is derived from the Latin Londiniuwm, mentioned by Tacitus
as “a city not indeed dignified by the title of a colony,
but frequented by a large number of merchants, and by
many ships entering its port.” The Romans built the old
City Walls and Forts, and fixed the position of the City
Gates. They made Watling Strect, the great highway from
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south to north; they reared fino buildings, and brought
tho civilization of tho world to London; but when they
retired, after nearly five hundred years’ occupation, they
secom to have left behind them no adequate impression
upon the people.  The Anglo-Saxons were but barbarians,
compared with the Roman scttlers, and they destroyed, or
left to decay, the structures which wero the legacy of Rome.
William the Conqueror brought with him the arts and
sciences which the Normans had acquired in the South
of Xurope, and from his time hegan a new era of im-
provement. Ho built tho White Tower, and granted a
Charter to the Corporation of the (fity of London, which
seenred and enlarged old privileges, afterwards still further
strengthened by the Great Charter.  The City of London
proper, i.0., the ancient portion governed by the Lord
Mayor and Corporation, consists of vast warchouses, offices,
banks and counting-houses, with all their belongings ;
also of hmndreds of churches and other buildings, once
well filled but now almost deserted ; for the husy eitizens
no longer reside at their places of business, It in suburban
dwollings, where rents are cheapor and the air morve pure.
Tho City Companies, onco powerful trade guilds, have
been foreed to resign their ancient monopolies, and are
but gradually finding a way by tho cstablishment of
Technical Schools to porform some of the dutics with
respeet to the encouragement of manufactures, which
was the purpose of their institution. At the time of the
Civil War, cach citizen belonged to his Company, and
each Company contributed his guota to the Trainbands,
consisting of many thousands of disciplined men, well
ablo to hold their own upon a battle-field,—as witnessed
tho stand they made at Newbury against the fierce
Rupert, when their valour decided the fortunes of the day.
The same Trainbands guarded the Parliament after the
attempt of Charles I. to arrest the fivo members—all of
whom took refuge in the City—in Coleman Strect. In
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due time tho City troop of volunteer horso, amongst whom
« gallantly mounted and richly accoutred” rode bravo
Daniol Defoe, escorted William and Mary as guard of
honour at their first visit to the Guildhall. It was chiofly
by the support which ho could always rely upon from tho
City that William Pitt maintained his successful patriotic
offorts for tho national honour, and his noble but un-
availing protests against tho policy which led to the
American War of Independence.

Tt is impossible for us here to traco even in outline tho
position which London has most worthily filled in the an-
nals of this great nation ; it must suffico to say that in all
tho history of England, this noble City is to be scen not only
occupying the most prominent place, but generally leading
public opinion, and exercising her great influenco for tho
benefit of the whole kingdom. TLondon has ever appeared
foremost of the champions of liberty and progress, and in
cvery good work among the suffering populations of the
world. Let her immense and numerous charities witness for
her both at homo and abroad. She neither forgets the poor,
the sick, the helpless at her gates ; nor does sho hesitate to
bestow her thousands—oven her hundreds of thousands—
upon the famine-stricken natives of India and China, or
upon the helpless and suffering people ruined by European
wars. But that we must not overweight these pages with
statistics, it would be a useful task to furnish a summary
of the Religious, the Educational, and the Sanitary labours
of London ; to tell of her pauperism, and her sickness, by
the side of her wealth and her improving healthiness ; but
this is beyond our present function. Let us note, however,
that, politically, London is scarcely so powcrful as her
numbers entitle her to be. Thoe City of London sends four
Members to Parliament; the City of Westminster, only two
Members ; the Metropolitan Boroughs, viz., Marylebone,
Finsbury, Tower Hamlets, Hackney, Chelsea, Southwark,
Lambeth, and Greenwich, return two Members each.
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"The Curporation of London consists of the Lord Mayor
(elected annually on November 9 from tho Aldermen);
26 Aldermen (clected by the Freemen and Ralepayers of
the 26 City Wards for life) ; 2 Sheriffs, chosen annually,
for London and Middlesex; 206 Common Councilmen ;
about 10,000 Liverymen; and about 20,000 Freemen.
"The Freedom of the City is obtained by any one of the four
following methods :—By Apprenticeship or Servitude, i.c.,
by service of an apprenticeship of seven yoars to a Free-
man, 2, By birth, i.e., by being born the son or danghter
of a Freeman. 3. By Gift or Vote of the Corporation,
an Honorary Freedom bestowed usually for somo great
public services, 4. By Redemption, or Purchase, ie.,
persons, being Ratepayers of the City, whoso names ap-
pear upon the List of Parliamentary Voters, are admitted
by the Chamberlain; and persons, freo of one of the
Livery Companies, aro admitted by the Court of Alder-
men, even though they are neither residents nor rate-
payers in the City, 'The cost of purchasing the Freedom
of a City Company varies from £2 tis, 4d. to £110.

Of othor topics we shall proceed to speak as they trans-
pire in tho courso of our wanderings through the Strects
of London,

By way of beginning, wo sclect Charing Cross as a
starting-point, inasmuch as wo believe that this will bo
found most convenient to the greater number of those
Visitors to London who can spare timo and can tako in-
terest in tho sights and scenes of to-duy, as well as in the
memories and tho relies of this ancient and historical
Metropolis.
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Wetropolitan Drinking Fountain

AND

Cattle Trough Assoctation,

SUPPORTED ENTIRELY BY VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS.

Offices : Victoria House, Victoria Street, Westminster, S.W.

Pregivent---HIS GRACE THE DUKE OF WESTMINSTER, K.G., &c., &c.
Creasurer -SAMUERL GURNEY, Eso, F.R.GS, F.LS, &
Seneral Banager and Feceetary JOHUN LEE, Esq, F.R.G.S.

This is the only Agency for providing FREE SUPPLIES OF WATER for
Man and Baast in the streets of London, 459 Troughs for animals, and 462
Fountains {or human beings, have now been erected in the Metropolis,  On the
lowest computation 200,000 Horses, besides Oxen, Sheep, and Degs, are
dunking DAILY at the Troughs, and 400,000 human beings at the Fountains,
making the enormuus total of more than 21 ’OOO’OOO drinkers a year.

The Committee are urgently in need of and carnestly solicit liberal contributions
to enable them to sustun and extend this simple scheme for the aweloration of
animal suffering, and the promotion of habits of temperance amongst our itinerant
and working popu'ation. - Contributions may be paid to the Bankers, Messrs RANsoy,
Bouverin & Co.; Messts, BarcLay, BEVAN & Co. ; or to the General Manager
and Sceretary, at the Office.

To those benevolent individuals who may be inclined to become Benefactors by
Will to this Society, the following Form is respectfully suggested :—

W gie and begueath the sum of 1o be paid out of suck parts of
my porsenal estate as can be lazefully applied for that purpose unto the Treasurer for
the tome beang of @ Seciety, ¢2lod or known by the name of THE. METROPOLITAN
DRINKING FOUNTAIN AND CATTLE TROUGH ASSOCIATION, # ée
at the disposal of the Commuttee for the ime beiny of the sard So-iely.”
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CITARING CROSS AND STATUE OF CHARLES I.

HARING CROSS derives its name from a Cross
crected here (1201-94), in the village of (‘haring, by
Ldward T. in memory of his wife Fleanor.  “ Wherever,”
it is said, “ Fleanor’s corpse rested on its transit from
Grantham to Westminster Abbey, Fdward erected a cross
in memory of her.” A stone cross, from the design of
(‘avalini, subsequently replaced the original wooden one,
and lasted till 1647, when it was demolished, by order of
the Long Parliament.  The sito was next used as a placo
of exeention,  On this spot, hefore King (‘harles’s Statuo
was ereeted npon it, were exeented, Tngh Peters, chaplain
of Oliver Cromwell; Jones, Scrope, Tarrison, and many
others of the regicides.  Charing Cross Pillory was among
the most famous, or infamous, of the many that formerly
stood in London.  The Pillory was a wooden frame fixed
npon a scaffold, and so arranged that the offender’s head and
hands were held fast, and ho was thus publicly exhibited.
The usoe of the Pillory in this kingdom was abolished by
Parliament in June 1837, The Statue of Charles I. was cast
by Le Sceur, for the Earl of Arundel, in 1633 ; the pedestal
was by Grinling Gibbons, but the statue was not erected at
Charing Cross until 1674, “The sovercign now faces
Whitehall, as in triumph, yet, behind the Banqueting-
house, lurks a statue of another of this unfortunate raco
who lost his throne for attempting to renew the dictato-
rial spirit which cost his ancestor his head.”

Ben Jonson was born in Iartshorn Alley, Charing
Cross, near Northumberland Street, Strand; he was a
scholar in St. Martin’s Court, and afterwards of West-
minster School.
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TRAFTALGAR  SQUARE, NATIONAIL GALLERY,
AND LEICESTER SQUARE.

Ul'(_).\’ the site now oceupied by Trafalgar Square—

pronounced by Chantrey to be * the most favourable
that could bo found or imagined for any national work of
art,” and by Sir Robert Pecl, “ono of the finest sites in
Europe”- stood, three hundred years ago, but a few small
houses, which formed part of the Village of Charing. On
the northern side of "Trafalgar Square, where the National
Gallery now stands, the King's Mews were sitnated, from
the time of Edward I, In the reign of Richard I1., Sir
Simon Burley kept the King’s Falcons al Charing Cross;
and Geoftrey Chaneer, our first. English poet, was « Clerk of
the King's works and the Mews at Charing.” In the
reign of Henry VI the Mews were converted into
stables, and in 1752 thoe stables were rebnilt, but they were
subsequently altogether removed, in order to make room
for the crection of the Nuational Gallery, by W, Wilkins,
R.AL in 1834-88, at a cost of £96,000. At the bottom of
the present St. Martin’s Lane were the squalid courts and
rookeries mentioned in the literature of Ben Jonson's
times, as the “ Bermudas” and  Cardibees,” and, in Dy,
Jolmson's era, known as Porvidye Island.

The Fountains, &e., in Trafalyar Square, were designed by
Sir Charles Barey. Tho water is supplied from two Artesian
wells; one in Orange Street, Lcicester Square, 300 feet deep,
and the other in front of the National Gallery, 395 fect
deep, conmected at the depth of 170 fect by a tunnel,—to
contain 70,000 gallons, Water is spouted from these foun-
tains thirteen hours a day in summer, and seven hours in
winter; the height of the jets varies with the weather, from
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25 to 40 feet from the ground, at the rate of 500 gallons a
minute.

Trararcar Squark (named in honour of Nelson'’s last
victory, which destroyed the French and Spanish flects, and
effectually put an end to Napoleon’s intended invasion of
England) was planned by Barry, upon the sito of the yard
of the old Royal Mows. "The Nelson Column, erccted on
the south of the Square by publie subscription, aided by
the Government, was designed by Mr. Railton. It is said
to be of the exact proportion of & column of the Corinthian
Temple of Mars Ultor at Rome. 1t is of Portland stone,
145 feet in height, and was erccted 1840-43. Upon a
civeular pedestal on the abecus is a colossal statuo of
Nelson, 17 feet high, with a coiled cable on his left, sculp-
tured by E. 1. Bailey, B.A.  The figuro was carved out
of three massive stones, of which the largest weighed thirty
tons; the capital of tho column is of hronzoe obtained from
canmon captured by Nelson.  "Fhe pedestal has upon its
four sides tho following bronzo veliefs: North (facing the
National Gallery), Battle of the Nile, designed by W 'L,
Woodington. Nelson, wounded in the head, is boeing
carried by (‘aptain Berry into the cockpit, tho surgeon is
about to quit a wounded sailor to attend upon him. “No,”
said Nelson, “ T will take my turn with my brave fellows.”
South (facing Whitehall), Death of Nelson at Trafulyar,
designed by C. E. Carew. Nelson is being carried from
the quarter-deck by a marino and two seamen,  “ Well,
Hardy,” said Nelson to his captain, “ they bave done for
mo at last.” “I hope not,” was tho reply. “ Yes, they have
shot mo through the backbone.” DBencath the relief:
“England expects every man will do his duty.” Fast,
(facing the Strand), Bombardment of Copenhagen, designed by
Mr. Ternouth. Nelson is seen scaling his despatch to send it
by a flag of truce; in the fureground aro the wounded, in
tho distance, Copenhagen in flames. West (facing Tall
Mall), Battle of St. Vincent, by Watson. Nelson is scen on
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board the San Josef receiving the swords of tho Spanish
admirals, which an old man-of-war’s-man carries oft under
his arm. Four lions in bronze, designed by Sir Edwin
Landscer assisted by Baron Marochetti, guard the foot of
this national memorial to her greatest naval hero. Upon
either sido of the Nelson Column are to be seen Statues to
our military commanders,—Sir Charles Napier and Sir
Henry Havelock ; and at the north-east corner of the
Square is the equestrian statue of George IV., by Sir
Francis Chantrey.

Tho west side of Trafalgar Square is occupied by the
Union Club, built (1824) from designs by Sir R. Smirke,
LA, as was also the Rovarn Corrkar or Puysicians ad-
joining to it. This College was founded in 1518 by
Linacre (physician to Henry VIT and VIIL, and the friend
of Frasmus, Latimer, and Siv Thomas More), and was re-
moved hither in 1825 from Warwick Lane, Newgate
Market.  An order for admission to the College of Physi-
cians may bo obtained from any Fellow; ie., from any
eminent London Physician,  There are many interesting
and valuable portraits and relies of ancient and honoured
members of the medical profession to be scen here. At
the south-cast corner of "T'rafalgar Square, and immediately
over Charing (‘ross Post Office, stands the well-known
Morley's Hotel ; alittle higher up (No. ) is the Office of the
Royal Wmane Society ; and at the north-cast corner is the
handsome Church of St. Martin's-in-the-Fields.  This edifice
(occupying tho site of a smaller church built here by
Henry VIIL) was completed in 1726, from the designs of
Gibbs.  George I. laid, by proxy, the foundation stone,
and presented this, the Royal parish, with its organ, St.
Martin's Church is built in the florid Roman or Italian
style, and has a very fine western Corinthian hexastyle
portico. The east end is truly elegant, In the Registry
of this church wero entered the births of Royal children
born at Buckingham Palace, which is within this parish.
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Farquhar, the dramatist; Roubiliac, the sculptor; the Hon.
Robert Boyle; John IIunter, the surgeon ; Noll Gwynne,
and Sir Edmondsbury Godfrey, were buried here.

THE NATIONAL GALLERY

Occupies the north side of Trafalgar Square, and has a
frontage of 500 feet, in the centre of whichis a portico with
eight columns of the Corinthian order, which were removed
hither from Carlton House, whenthat residence of the Princo
Regent was taken down. Thoe Entrance to the Gallery is
by a flight of steps at each side of tho portico, and tho
whole building is surmounted by a dome; but the edifico
iy altogether too low, in comparison with the build-
ings near it, and it is considered unworthy of the great
national purpose for which it is maintained. The Gallery
is open to the public on Mondays, Tuesdays, Wednesdays,
and Saturdays, and after 12 o’clock on Thursdays and
Fridays (students’ days), on payment of 6d. cach. "The
hours are ten to five, or dusk, from October until April 30
inclusive, and from ten to six, from April until tho middle
of September. The National Gallery dates its origin from
the purchase, by Lord Liverpool's Government in 1824,
of the Collection of thirty-cight pictures, of the late
J. J. Angerstein, Esq., for £57,000,—Parliament having
granted £3000 beyond that sum, to include expenses, "The
first exhibition tovk place in Mr. Angerstein’s house, in
Pall Mall, May 10,1824, Sir George Beaumont bequeathed
sixteen pictures to the National Collection in 1826; tho
Rev. W. Ilolwell Carr bequeathed thirty-five pictures to it
in 1831; William 1V. presented six,in 1836 ; Lord Farn-
borough bequeathed fifteen, in 1838; Richard Simmons,
Esq., bequeathed eleven, in 1846, Up to this date, the
National Gallery contained only forty-ono pictures of the
British School, but, in 1847, Robert Vernon, Esq., gave ono
hundred and fifty-seven, all but two of which were of the
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British School. In 1854, Lord Colborne bequeathed eight
pictures ; in 1856 the Collection was enriched by ono hun-
dred and five finished oil pictures, and some thousand
drawings and sketches, bequeathed by J. M. W. Turner,
1LA.; Jacob Bell, Esq., bequeathed twenty pictures, in
1859 ; the Queen presented twenty-two, in 1863. In 1871
tho Cabinet Collection, chiefly of Dutch Masters, made by
tho first Sir Robert Pcel, was purchased for £75,000, In
1875 Mr. Wynn Ellis bequeathed to this Collection about
ono hundred and fifty of his finest pictures. Of the entiro
number of ono thousand and forty works in this Gallery,
six hundred and thirty belong to Foreign Schools. The
building was crected at the national expense after a
design by W, Wilkins, R.A., Architect, 1832-8, and was
opened to the publie, April 9, 1838, Since the removal of
tho Royal Academy to Burlington House in 1869, the
Gallery extends throughout the building and contains
cighteen rooms, of which Nos. I, I, IIL, V., VII and
V11I. contain pictures of the British School of Painting ;
LV. and VL contain the Zwruer Collection; in IN. are
works of the French Sehool ; X., X111, X1V, and XVIT, of
tho Italian School; XI. the Wynn Ellis gift; XIIL the
Duteh and Flewish ; XV. a select cabinet collection; XVIL
the Peel Collection; XVII. the Spanish School. The
mmes of tho painters and of the subjects appear upon
tho frames of the pictures.

"The following is a list of the Masters represented in the
National Gallery, with the number of their works as given
in the catalogne. The hyphens between tho figures
indicato that the intermediate munbers aro included.

Brrrsu Scuoot,

Allan, Sir W., R.A,, 373, Beechey, Sir W., R.A., 220.
Armitage, B, RA., 750, . Bird, K., R.A., 323,
Barker, Thos,, 792, 1039, Bonheur, Rosa, 621.

Beaumont, Sir G, 11, 103, 119, Bonington, R. P,, 374,



The National Gallery.

Boxall, Sir W, R.A,, 601,

Briggs, H. P, R.A,, 375, 376.

Calcott, Sir A. W.,R.A., 340-348.

Clays, P. J., 814, 815.

Clint, Geo., 377.

Collins, W., R.A., 351, 352,

Constable, John, R.A., 130, 327.

Cooke, E. W, R.A,, 447, 448,

Couper, T. 8., R.A,, 435, 136,

Copley, J. 8, R.A,, 100, 733, 787,
1072, 1073.

Creswick, T, R.A., 429.

Crome, John (Old Crome), 689,
897, 926, 1037.

Cruikshank, G., 795.

Danby, ., AR.A., 437.

Daniell, T., R.A., 899.

Douglas, W., R.8.A,, 617.

Dubufe, C. M., 457.

Lastlake, Nir C. L., I"R.A., 397~
399, 898.

Beg, AL L, R.A, 444

Etty, W., R.A., 356-366, G14.

Fraser, Alex., 453.

Frith, W. P, R.A,, 615.

(tainsborough, T., R.A., 80, 109,
308-311, 678, 683, 684, 760, 789,
925, 1044,

Geddes, Andrew, A.R.A,, 355,

Good, T, 8., 378, 917-919.

Goodall, I, R.A., 450, 451.

Gordon, Sir J. W, R.A., 743.

Haghe, Louis, 456.

Hart, Solomon A., R.A., 424

Haydon, Benjamin R., 682, 786,

IHerbert, J. R., R.A., 425.

Herring, John F., 452.

Hilton, William, R.A., 178, 333-
338.

Hogarth, William, 112-118, 675,
1046.

Hoppner, John, R.A,, 133, 233,
900.
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| Horsley, J. C., R.A., 416.

Howard, H., R.A., 349.

Jackson, John, R.A., 12,171, 326.

Johnston, Alex., 449.

Jones, Geo.,, R.A., 389-392, 800,
801,

Kaufmann, A., R.A., 139.

Kueller, Sir Godfrey, 273,

Lance, Geo., 441443,

Landseer, Chas., R.A., 408, 610,
611, 612.

Landseer, Siv 1., R.A., 109-415,
603 60Y.

Lane, 'T., 140.

Lawrence, Siv T, P.RUA L 129, 136,
142, 144, 188, 324, 325, 7R3, 922,

Lee, Fredk, R, R.A., 418, 419,
and Cooper, 619, 620,

Leslie, C. R, R.A., 402, 103.

Linnelly Johny 438, 439,

Linton, Willinm, 1029,

Loutherbourg, . J., R.A., 316,

Maclise, D., 422, 423,

Martin, John, 793.

Morland, Gieo., 1030, 1067,

Miiller, W. J., 379, 1040.

Mulready,W., R.A., 303-396, 1033,

Nasmyth, Patrick, 380, 381,

Newton, (+. 8., R.A., 353, 354,

(PNeill, (5. B, 618.

Opie, John, R.AL, 784, 1026,

Phillips, ‘Thomas, R.A., 183, 339,

Pickersgill, I, R, R.A., 445,

Pickersgill, 1L, W., R.A., 116, 117,
7oL,

Poussin, Charles, 810,

Redgrave, R., R.A., 428,

Reynolds, Sir J., P.R.A., 78,79
100, 107, 111,128, 143, 162, 182,
185,305-307, 681, 754, 88:5-892,

Rippingille, E. V., 454, 455,

Roberts, David, R.A., 400, 401.

Romney, Geo., 312, 1068,
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Neott, Samuel, 313, 314.

Seddon, Thas., 563,

Shee, Sir M. A, P.R.A, 367, 368,
677,

Nimpson, 382,

Singleton, H., 1027,

Nleap, J. AL, 676,

Smirke, Robt.,, R.A., 7T61-765.

Stantield, Clirkson, R.A 101407

Stotliard, Thos., R.A.,, 317-322,
1069, 1070,

Rtuart, Gilbert, 217, 220,

Thomson, H., R.AL 850,

‘Fhomson, Rev. J., 731,

T'sehaggeny, C. P, 738,

Turner, J. W, M, R\, 569-372,
Aa8-062, 813,

Unknown, 1076,

1028.

DA

w“ed,
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Uwins, Thomas, R.A., 387, 388,
730.
Ward, E. M, R.\,, 430-432, 616.
Ward, James, R.A., 383, 380, 685,
1043,
| Webster, Thos., R.A., 426, 427.
| West, Benjamin, P.R.A., 121, 126,
131, 132, 315, 799.
Wilkie, David, R.A., 99, 122, 231,
241, 328-332, 804, 921.
Williamy, Edward, 123,
Williams, Penry, 433, 434, 662,
Wilson, Richard, R.A., 108, 110,
C267, 301-304, 1064, 1071,
" Witherington, W. I, R.A., 420,
421,
Wright, J., of Derhy, 725.
Wyuatt, Heury, 383, 384.

ForrioN Senoors,

Albertinelli, 615,

A\”uri, 'Jl.

Alunno, 217,

Augelico, Fra (3, 582, 663,

Bakhuizen, 204, 223, SI8, SH,
1000, 1050,

Barbarelli, 41, 269,

§:Ihu‘l‘i, 20,
dusaiti, 281, D09,

B, T, 1735, 228,

Belling, Lab), 280, 726, 808, 812,
itto (Sq'llnn] of), 231, 6O

Bltrattio, 728,

Bewvenuto, .

Berehem, 240, 820, 1ovt, 1005
{oon,

Bibicna, 936,

Bigio, 1055,

Bissolo, 631,

Bles, Do, TIS, 710

Boceaceino, SOU.

Bol, 679,

277

b

Bono, 771.

Hu::»i:_:nuri, To0.

Bonviemo, 294, 623,

Bordone, 637, 674,

Borgognone, 298, 779, 780, 1077.

Both, 71, 209, 936-959,

Botticelli, 220, 275, 782, 015, 916,
1031,

Bourdon, 64,

Bouts, 785,

Brumantino, 7249,

Bronzino, 630, 631, 670, 704,

Canaletto, 127, 163, 937-912,
1058, 10359,

Cappelle, 865, 964-967,

Carnvaggio, 172.

Carnovale, Fra, 769,

Carpacceio, 750.

Cuarraced, Agostino, 147, 118,

Carracei, Annibale, 9, 25, 56, 633,
88, 03, 94, 108,

Carracei, Ludovico, 28,

1025.
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Carucei, 649,

(‘asentino, Jacopodi, 580.

Champaigue, 798,

Cima da Conegliano, 300, 634,
S16.

Cimabue, 565.

Claude de Lorraine, 2, 5, 6, 12,
14, 19, 30, 53, 58, 61, 1018.

(louct, 660.

Coques, 821, 1011.

Cornelissen, 657.

Correggio, 10, 15, 23, 37, 76.
After Correggio, 7, 37.

Cosimo, 698.

Costa, 629, 895.

Cranach, 291.

Credi, 593, 618,

Crivelli, 602, 668, 724, 730, 788,
807, 906, 907.

Cuyp, 53, 707, 822 -824, 960-0G2,

Dalmasio, 752,

David, G., 1045,

Deelen, 1010.

De Hooge, 794, 831, 833.

De Keyser, 212,

De Koning, 836, 971,

Dietrich, 205.

Dolei, Carlo, 934,

Domenichino 48, 75, 77, R5.

Dossi, G40.

Dou, Gerard, 192, 825, 968,

Duecio, H66.

Dujurdin, 826-828, 985,

Diirer, Albert, 245.

Dyckmans, 600.

Elzheimer, 1014,

Emmanucl, 594,

Engelbertsz, 714,

Freole da Ferrara, 73.

Forli, M. da, 753, 756.

Francesea, P., 583, 663, 758,

Francia, 179, 180, 6:38.

Fyt, 1003,

17

Faddi (School of), 213, 216, 579,
Garofalo, 81, 170, 642, 671.
Germany, Lower School, 706, 707.
Gioltino, 749,

Giorgione, 41, 269.
Ditto (School of), 930.
Giotto, 276.
Ditto (School of), 568.
Goes, 710, 774,
Gozzoli, 283, H91.

Grandi, 73.

Cirenze, 206, 1019, 1020,
Guardi, 210, 1054,

© Giuereino, 22,
© Guido, 11, 177, 191, 193, 196, 214,

271
Hackaert, 829,
Hals, D., 1074,
Hals, I%., 1021
Tlemessen, 1012,
Hobbema, 685, 830-833, 995, 096,
Holbein, 8., 772,
Hondecocter, 202, 1013,
Hooch, 794, 831, 835,
Huchtenburg, 211,
Huysman, ., 95+
Huysman, .J., 125.
Jardin, 826 828, 985,
Justus of Padun, 701,
Kneller, Sir (i, 273,
Koninek, 836, 974,
Laneret, N., 101-104,
Landini, 530.
Lanini, 700.
Lely, Sir P, 1016.
Libri, (+., 748,
Licsborn, von, 260, 261,
I Ingegno, 702,
Lingclbach, J., 837,
Lippi, Filippino, 293, 592, 598,
927, 1033,
Lippi, Fra F., 248, 586, 589, 666,
667.
C



18

FLochner, 8., 705,
Lombard, L., 266,

Looten, Jan, Y01,

' Ortoluno, 669,

Lotto, 699, 1047,

Maas or Maes, N, 103, 159, 207.
Mabuse, J. de, 656, 916,
Muntegna, A, 274 902,
Mantegna, I, 634,
Maratty, (', 17
Margaritone, 564,

Matinus or Marino, 944,
Marziale, M., 803, 804,
Musaceio, 626,

*Master of @logne, 707.
Master of Lyversherg, 706,
Muatay~, Q., 2005, (44,
Muazzolini, L., 82, 169, 611,
Meive, 261, 694,

Melone, AL, 7038,

Memling or Hemling, 686, 709,

747, 913,
Messing, A, de, 673,
Metsu, G 888, 839, 970,
Michol Angelo, & 790, 809,
Micriy, F. van, 810,
Mieris, W. van, 841,
Mola, 69, 160,
Montagna, B., 802,
Morando, 1, 735, 777,
Moretto, T1, 209, 625, 1025,
Moro, A, ISE
n'lll‘“lll‘, o, 285,
Moreni, G, 697, 712, 1022-1024.
Maostert, J., 713,
Moucheron, . de, 842,
Murillo, B. B, 13, 74, 176,
Neefs, I', 921,
N«~t.~cln-r, (r, SU3-8E5,
Oreagma, AL di 569, 570-578,
Oriolo, G, 770,

The National Gullery.

Ostade, A, J, van, 846.

Ostade, I. vun, 847, 848, 963.

Pacehia, J., 246,

Padovanino, 70, 933.

Palmezzano, 596,

Pannini, 138,

Parma, L. da, 692,

Parmigiano, 33,

Patinir, J. de, 715-717, 915,

Perugino, T1, 181, 288, 1075,

Peruzzi, B., 167, 218,

Peselline, F., 727.

Pinturiechio, B.. ¢93, 703, 911-
HIEH

Pisano or Pisanello, 776.

Poelenburg, 935,

Pollaiuolo, A., 202, 296, 781, 928,

Pontornio, J. da, 619.

Pordenone, 11, 272,

Potter, Paul, 89, 1009,

Potter, Peter, T0UR.

Poussin, (., 31, 36, 68, 93, 98, 161.

Poussin, N., 39, 40, 42, 62, 65, 91,
165,

Previtali, AL, 695,

taphael or Raftuello, 213, 168, 27,
661, 7TH, 929,

- Rembrandt, 1., 43, 45, 47, 51, 54,

-
72,

166, 190, 221, 237, 243, 289,

672, 775, 8a0.

Ditto (Sehool of
Ricei or Rizzi, N, 83
LRigaud, 1., 903,
Remanine, G, 297,
Romane, (3., 225, 624, 643, 644,
Rosa, Salvator, 8t, 811, 935.
Rosselli, C,, 227,

Rottenhammer, J., 659,
Rubens, P. P, 38, 46, 57, 59, 66,

67, 157, 187, 194, 278, 279, 852,

833, 048,

757.
1

* An anonymous artist, said to have been a pupil of Albert Diirer.



The National Gullery.

Ruysdael, J., 627, 628, 737, 716,
854, 855, 086-991.

Salviati, 652.

San Daniele, 778.

San Severino, 249,

Santa Croee, 632, 633,

Santi, (+., 751.

Narto, A, del, 17, 690,

Rassoferrato, 200, 710,

Savery, R., 920.

Ravoldo, G. G, 1031,

Schalken, G, 199, 997-094.

Schiavone, (., 630, 90t

Schoen, M., 653,

Schoorel, J. Vun, 720, 721,

Scebastiano del P, 1, 20, 24,

Negna, 567,

Signorelliy 910.

Nolario, .\, da, 734, 923,

Sorgh, 1. M., 1055, 10536,

Spagna, Lo, 282, 61,

Spagnoletto, Lo, 235, 244.

Spinello Aretino, 581,

Steen, Jan, 856,

Suardi, B., 729,

Taecconi, ., 286,

Teniers, D. (the clder), 949, 930,

901,

Teniers, D.(the younger), 154, 155,
138,212, 805, 817, 857-863, 952,
9353,

Terburg, G, 864, 896.

Tintorctto, 16,

Titinn, 3, 4, 32, 3%, 33, 224, 270,
635, 636.

Treviso, (+. da, 623.

Tura, C., 590, 772, 773, 905.

Ueceello, P., 583,

Unknown, 195, 932, 917, 1012,
1017, 1032, 1036, 1048, 1049,
1051, 1052, 1062, 1063,

Van Declen, D., 1010.

Van der Cappelle, 865, 964-967.

19

. Van der Goes, 710, 774.

i Yan der Helst, B., 140.

Van der Ieyde, J., 866, 992-994.

Van der Meire, (., 264, 690.

Vaunder Neer, A., 152,239,732, 969,

Van der Plaas, 175.

Yan der Poel, 1061,

Van der Weyden, R, 661,

Yan der Weoyden, R. (younger),
653, 654, T11, T12,

Vun de Velde, A., 867-869, 982-
HEEN

Van de Veldo, W. (younger), 149,
150, 870 876, 977-981.

Vandyek, A., 49, 5852, 156, 680,
877,

Van Eyek, Jan, 186, 222, 290,

Van Eyck, M., 708.

Vau Haysum, 796.

Van Orley, B., 655,

Vaunos, Jan, 1015,

Velasquez, D. de, 197, 232, 741,
745,

« Veneziano, B., 287,

i Veneziano, D., 766, 767,

. Vernet, C.T., 236, 1057,

Veronese, Paolo, 26, 97, 268, 291,
931, 10¢1.

Vinei, Leonardo da (School of), 18,

Vivarini, A., 768.

Vivarini, 3., 284,

Walscappelle, J., 1002,

Weenix, Jan, 238,

Willinm of Cologne, 687,

Wils, Jan, 1007,

Witte, 1. de, 1053,

Wouwerman, 1., 878-882, 975,976,
1060,

Wynants, Jan, 883, 884, 971-
973.

. Zelotti, B, 595,

| Zoppo, M., 597.
Zurbaran, I., 230,

c 2



20 Leicester Square.

“Tn the reign of Charles I1.,” wrote Leigh unt, ¢ Hedge
Lane (now Whiteomh Strect, at the north-west corner of
Trafalgar Square) and the Haymarket, were still real lanes
and passages to the ficlds.  In Elizabeth’s time you might
set out from the sito of the present Pall Mall; and, leaving
St. Giles's Fields on the right, walk all the way to 1Tamp-
stead without encountering a dwelling-place.  Lovers
plucked flowers in Cranbonrne Alley, and took moonlight
walks in St. James's Market.”

Lepersreen Sorark has been long noted as the centre
of a portion of Tondon ocenpied by forcign refugees,
After each continental upheaval new faces are to ho ob-
served here by those who know the neighbourhood.  The
exiles of the Great French Revolution have long since gono
to their rest.  Of those of 1848 but few remain, many
having returned home with the re-establishment of a
Republie. Some of the Restwurants in this neighhour-
hood provide dinners of the character and variety for
which the Palais Royal in Paris has long been noted,—-
the courses of soup, fish, entrées, roast, salad, cheese, and
dessert, all supplied, along with half a bottle of wine, for
25, or 28 6d. Among the most popular of these restau-
rants are Vargue's in Leicester 8quare; Kettner’s, Church
Street, Noho: Panton.in Panton Street; Previtali,in Arundel
Streot; Café de Plitoile, in Great Windmill Street ; and the
Caté Monaco, Tichbourne Street.  Leivester Square takes
its name from Leicester Honse, huilt by Robert Sidney, Farl
of Twicester, on the north side, early in the seventeenth
century. After him, also, Sidney Alley was named. Leicester
Houso was purchased by, and became tho ¢ pouting placo
of the P'rince of Wales, afterwards George I1., who had
been turned vut of St. James's for taking his mother’s part
against his father.  The Duke of Cumberland, who fought
at Culloden, was born inTeicester Housein1611. Frederick,
Prince of Wales, in his turn, quarrelled with his father in
1737, camo hither, and died here, 1751. Leicester House
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wag considerably enlarged by the addition of Savile House,
and remained a royal residence until the family removed
to Carlton House in 1766. The United Service Co-operative
Stores occupy premises at the corner of Leicestor Ilace.
William Hogarth’s house stood on the site where Arch-
bishop Tenison's Schools have been built, and in it he died.
The Polish hero Kosciusko lived in the house aftorwards,
also tho Countess (tuiccioli, known for her association
with Lord Byron. Sir Joshua Reynolds lived at No. 47,
now Puttick and Simpson’s, and his studio is now their
auction-room.  Sir Isaac Nowton lived at the corner of
St. Muartiv's Street, and passed, as ho said, *“the happiest
years of his lifo in the Observatory at that house,” but
lately rebuilt. It is a great pity that public sentiment was
not aroused in time to savo and preserve such an interest-
ing relic; its destruction was an act of Vandalism almost
as inexcusable as would be that of the Shakespearo Houso
at Stratford-on-Avon ; and singularly falsifies Macaulay’s
hopeful prophecy that Newton’s House and Observatory
in St. Martin’s Street, would * continue to bo well
known as long as our island retains any traces of civi-
lization.”  But gone is the building, nevertheless, along
with all its associations, including those of its later
tenants, Dr. Burney and his clever daughter Madamo
IrArblay.  John Hunter, the famous surgeon, lived in the
house south of the site of the Alhambra Theatre, and thero
began his collection in 1785, which has now grown into
the Muscum of the Royal College of Surgeons, Tho
Alhambre is a handsome theatro and music-hall, chicfly
devoted to Durlesque and comic opera.  The edifico was
originally built and named the Royal Panopticon of
Science and Art.  Leicester Square owes its present hand-
somo appearanco to Mr. Albert Grant, who, at his own
expense, cleared it of rubbish, set up a fountain and seats,
planned its flower-beds, and provided a pleasant halting-
place for a tired pedestrian in tho very heart of London,
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Justs of the four worthies of Leicester Square now appro-

priately ornament it at each corner, viz., Newton, Hogarth,
Hunter, and Reynolds, and in the centre is a statue of
Shakespeare, copied from the ono in Westminster Abbey.
Newport Market reminds us that Lord Newport (temp.
Chas. 1.) had his mansion here. 'Tho new strect from
Piccadilly to New Oxford Street will “open up” this
district, by clearing oft the worst of the squalid dwellings.
Cranbourne Street is named from tho minor title of the
Marquis of Salisbury, its owner.  Garrick Street heyond
it is a comparatively new strect, chicfly known as the
site of the Garrick Club, founded, 1831, and containing
a highly interesting collection of theatrical portraits.
“ Aldridge's,” in St. Martiw’s Lane, is perhaps tho most
important (next to Tattersall's) of the IHorse Auction
Stables in tho Metropolis.

Long  Acrr, which runs dircetly east of Cranbourne
Street to tho top of Drury Lane (whenco it is proposed to
mako a new street castwards in continuation of it), was
at one timoe a fashionable street, but is now chiefly noted
for ity numerous conchImilders’ shops,  Kven these, how-
ever, of lato years scem to bo following their patrous
westward,  In Pheenix Alley, afterwards Hanorer Court,
on the south side of Long Acre, lived Taylor the water
poct, who there kept an alehouse named the * Mourning
Crown,”  This, however, ho changed under the Common-
wealth for < Taylor's Head,” with the motto:

*There's many a head stands for o sigu;
Then, gentle reader, why not mine?”

At 67, 68, Long Acre, is the chief store of the Civil Service
Supply Associution,
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WHITEIIALL TO WESTMINSTER AND LAMBETII.

STANDI NG before the Statuo of Charles T. with our face

towards the Houses of Parliament, wo shall recall somo
of the historical associations of this wonderfully interesting
locality, “whero every step wo tako is upon ground sacred
to a hundred memories.”  The strect was formerly much
narrower than at present.  Drummond’s bank, on the
right hand, lately rebuilt, was set hack years ago, ¢ full
forty feet more to the west,” upon an open square ealled
Cromwell’s Yard; wherein it has been said that Cromwell
once lived. Hogarth’s ¢ Night’ shows the position of the
street before it was widened.

Farther down, upon the right-hand side, wo sce The
Adwiralty, built (1726) by Ripley, upon the sito of Peter-
borough (afterwards called  Wallingford) ITouse,—{rom
which Archbishop Usher attempted to view the execution
of Charles I.; “for,'it was said, from the leads of Walling-
ford Iouso they could plainly sco what was being enacted
before Whitchall,  The primate, who could not stand the
sight, fainted, was taken down and put to bed.”  Nelson
and Wellington, it is said, never met but once, and that
for a few minutes accidentally, in one of the waiting-rooms
at the Admiralty, just beforo Nelson sailed to fight, and
win the victory of Trafalgar, There havo heen only threo
personages, since 1688, who have held the post of Lord
High Admiral—Princo George, the husband of Queen
Anne, 1702-8; Earl of Pembroke, 1709; and the Duke
of Clarence, afterwards William IV, in 1827-8, The
First Lord of the Admiralty possesscs a fine residence,
in connection with these official premiscs, £4500 a ycar,
and the whole of the patronage of the Navy.
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Oppodits to the Admiralty is Seotland Yard, which is
said to have derived its name from an ancient palace of the
Seottish kings, who came hither to do homage for their fiefs
in Cumberland. Scotland Yard is now known far and wide
as tho headgquarters of the Metropolitan Police; yet it has
some claims to bo considered classic ground. Milton, when
he was Scerctary to Cromwell, lodged in Scotland Yard,
and his son died whilst he resided here.  Inigo Jones, Sir
J. Denham, and Sir Christopher Wren, filled the oftice of
Crown Surveyors, in Scotland Yard.  Vanbrugh built a
houss here which Swift deigned to write satiric poems
about,  With reference to the present Metropolitan Police
foree, one may quote the following : “Till the last ycar
of tho reign of Charles 11, when Heming contracted to
supply a lamp beforo every tenth door, the strects were
left in profound darkness.  Thieves and robbers plied
their trade with impunity.  Dissolute young men amused
themselves for many generations, swaggering about, break-
ing windows, upsetting scdan-chairs, beating quiet men,
&e. Tho Munsand Tityre Tus were succeeded by Heetors,
and these were followed successively by Nickers, Hawku-
bites, and Mohawks, Watchmen to the number of 1000 were
supposed to guard the city at night, cach inhabitant having
to tako duty in turn; but few lett their homes in obedience
to their summons, and many of these preferred the alehouse
to the streets”  The old watchmen named “Charlies”
wero abolished by Sir Robert Peel’s Government, in 1829,
and tho present Police system instituted.  Policemen ob-
tained the soubriguet of © Peclers,” and “ Bobbies,” from
the populace, as indicative of their founder.  The Thames
Police are specially set apart for protecting property
on the river from the dopredations of so-called river-
pirates.

Tho offico of the Ruyal Almonry is in Middle Scotland
Yard ; where the Faster, Whitsuntide, and Christimas dis-
tributions take place; but on Maundy-Thursday the Royal
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Alms are bestowed in the Whitehall (hapel Royal—
amongst as many poor as the years of er Majesty’s life—
food, clothing, and silver money. Maundy-money is always
new from the Mint. Of the adjoining tract of ground
alled

Wiirknacn,

Lixtending to the Thames on one side and St. James'’s
LPark on the other, many volumes of historical value
might be written,  Trom the era of Wolsey, who in-
habited, as Archbishop of York, the palace which stood on
this ground, then known as York Plece, wo might find
ample interest in marking the tide of life which flowed
round Whitchall.  Upon the fall of Wolsey, in 1524, York
Place came into the hands of Henry VILL, who was so
plegsed with it that Le made it his own residence, and
changed its name.  (Sce Shakespeare’s Henry VIIL, act iv.
scene 1:—
“You must no more eall it York Place—that is past,

Tor since the Cardinal fell that title’s lost,
"I'is now the King's, and called Whitchall,””)

Henry VIII. married Anne Boleyn in a closet of White-
hall, and hero celebrated their coronation.  Tlere lenry
tovk Ilans Holbein into his service.  Iolbein painted
many pictures, and built for Henry a maguificent Gate-
house, opposito the entranco to the Tilt-yard, which gate
was removed in 1750, to be re-crected in tho great Park
at Windsor—the stones having heen all numbered for the
purpose—but the handsome structure was never rebuilt.
Henvy VIIL died at Whitchall, 1546, Fdward VI, held
a Pavliament here.  Mary, and afterwards Elizabeth, arc
deseribed as proceeding from Whitchall to Westminster,
Richmond, &c., by water. James 1. rebuilt the Banqueting-
house by the aid of Inigo Joncs,and that building, the only
part of old Whitchall which still remains, is justly re-
garded as one of the finest and most remarkable cdifices in
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the Metropolis. In the Cabinct Room of Whitehall, by
means of Rubens (who painted the ceiling of the Ban-
queting-house), Charles I. collected four hundred and
sixty of tho finest masterpiceces of Titian, Correggio, Giulio
Romano, Raphacl, Guido, Parmigiano, and others, which
wero seized by the Roundheads, sold, and dispersed. Many
of the so-called snperstitions pictures wero actually de-
stroyed by fire. The list of the pictures, destroyed and
saved, may bo found in Walpole’s ¢ Anecdotes of Painting.’

Charles I was beheaded in front of the Banqueting-
house, Whitchall, facing the present Iorse Guards, o
was led along the galleries to the Banqueting-honse, through
tho wall of which a passago was broken to the scaffold. A
man in a closed visor stood ready to perform the office of
executioner,  After tho King’s brief address to the few
who could hear him, and his last words with Bishop Juxon,
tho King laid his head upon the block and the exceutionoer
struck it off at o blow.  Another visored oflicial picked it
up, then immediately held it forward, all dripping with
blood for the crowd to sce, and exclaimed, ¢ This is tho
head of a traitor.””

Cromwell was the next tenant of Whitehall, e has heen
deseribed as having preached here, soon after the death of
tho King, sermons to tho people of three hours’ length, The
Protector was, however, far from heing such an enemy to
the fine arts as some of those fricnds of his who wrought
havoe upon Charles’s gallery of pictnres.  Ile rescued
and brought hack many of the masterpicees, including
amongst others the magnificent Cartoons of” Raphael, which
aro now at the South Kensington Muscum. Cromwell
expired, Sept. 3, 1658, in Whitchall, at tho close of ono
of tho most territic storms that had visited England for
many years.  Richard Cromwell held his brief sway at
Whitchall; and here Monk held the reins, as locum tenens,
for the anxionsly expected (tharles 11

With the Restoration the festivities of Whitehall re-
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vived, but they were of a grosser sort than even thoso
of Queen Xlizabeth. Evelyn’s description of King
Charles’s last Sunday in Whitehall is wonderfally
graphic: “Tho King, sitting and toying with his con-
cubines, Portsmounth, Cleveland, and Mazarine, &c.; a
French boy singing love-songs in those glorious galleries ;
whilst about twenty of the great courtiers, and other
dissoluto persons, wero at basset, round a large table, a
bank of at least £2000 in gold beforo them. Six days
after was all in the dust.”  Charles 11 died at Whitchall,
Feb. 6, 1685, and his successor was immediately proclaimed
at Whitchall-gate. James I1. hero washed tho feet of the
poor on Maundy-Thursday ; and ho rebuilt the chapel for
Romish worship. When he quitted Whitchall, Dec. 18,
1688, ho saw it for the last time.

Two fires subsequently destroyed the cdifico, of which
all that now remains is the Banqueting-house,~—converted
into a Chapel Royal in the reign of George L, and re-altered,
in 1829 and 1857, by Smirke; but they say it has never
been conseerated. Macaulay thus deseribes “the destruction
of the most celebrated palace in which the sovercigns of
England have ever dwelt.” “On the cvening of the
4th of January, 1698, & woman—the patriotic journalists
and pamphleteers of the time did not fail to note that
she was a Dutch woman-—who was employed as a
Iaundress at Whitehall, lighted a charcoal firo in her
room and placed some linen round it.  The linen canght
fire and burned furiously. The tapestry, tho bedding,
the wainscots were soon in a blaze. 'I'he unhappy woman
who had done tho mischicf perished. Soon tho flames
burst out of tho windows. All Westminster, all tho
Strand, all the river, were in commotion. Before mid-
night, the King's apartments, the Queen’s apartments,
the Wardrobe, the Treasury, the office of tho Privy
Council, the oflice of the Secretary of State, had been de-
stroyed. The two chapels perished together; that ancient
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chapel, where Wolsey had heard mass in the midst of
gorgeous copes, golden candlesticks, and jewclled crosses ;
and that modern edifice, which had bheen erccted for the
devotions of James, and had been embellished by the pencil
of Verrio and the chisel of Gibbons. . . . No trace was left
ot that celebrated gallery, which had witnessed so many
balls and pageants. . . . During somo time men despaired
of the Bangueting-house.  The flames broke in on the
south of that beautiful hall and were with difficulty cx-
tinguished. . . . Before the ashes of the old palice wero
cold, plans for o new palace were cirenlated and discussed.
But William, who could not draw his breath in the air of
Westminster, was little disposed to spend a million on a
howse which it would have been impossible for him 1o
inhabit.”  The Chapel Royal, Whitehall, is open for Divino
Servico every Sunday, and may he seen on week days
from ten to fonr o’clock..

The Stwtue of Jumes 1L, by Grinling (ibbons, still
stands, as wo have said, whore it was sct up, at the back
of the Chapel Royal; a new roud, recently made through
Whitchall, conncets this quarter with the Thames Em-
bankment.  The United  Sercice Institution Musewm, in
Whitehall, open to visitors from cleven to four in winter,
tll five in sunmer, except on Fridays, is worth seeing,
Many interesting relies are here on view ; and upon tho
first floor is exhibited Captain Siborne’s Model of the Battle
of Waterloo, containing 190,000 metal figures,

The Howse Guarps stands opposite the Chapel of White-
hall. Behind it is a large enclosed space (the site of the
Ol Tilt-yard), hetween the present offices of the Ad-
mivalty and the Treasury, which is memorable as the
seene of the tournaments and pageants of the Courts of
Henry and Elizabeth,  The modern guard-house and
buildings contain offices and audience-room for the Com-
mander-in-Chief, &c. [for War Office, see Pall Mall), and
consist of a4 centro and two pavilion wings, with a
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turret and clock, the west {ront opening into St. James’s
Tark by a low archway. On either side of tho entranco
facing Whitchall, a mounted cavalry soldier sits as sentry
daily from 10 to 4. The guard is relioved overy morn-
ing at a quarter to 11. ¢ Tho marching and counter-
marching of the guards, drawn from the cavalry barracks
at Knightsbridge and the Regent’s Park, is a picturesquo
scene, as the troop passes through the parks; their statoly
cuirassed and helmeted figures, and tho splendour of
their accoutrements, rendering them the most magnificent
houschold troops in Kurope.” The Life Guards, who
now form two regiments, were distributed in tho timo of
Ctharles II. (the date of their formation) into threo
troops, cach of which consisted of 200 carbineers, cex-
clusive of officors. “This corps,” says Macaulay, “to
which the safety of the King and royal family was con-
fided, had a very peculiar characier. Iven the privates
were designated as gentlemen of tho Guard. Many of them
were of good families, and had held commissions in the
Clivil War., Their pay was far higlier than that of the
most favoured regiments of our time, and would in that age
have been thought a respectable provision for the younger
son of a country squirc. Their fino horses, their rich
honsings, their cuirasses and their buft coats, adorned
with ribands, velvet, and gold lace, mado a splendid ap-
pearance in St. James’s Park.  Another body of houschold
cavalry, distinguished by bluoe coats and clouaks, and still
called The Blues, was quartcred in tho capital”’ 'The
Ilorse Guards Clock has an excellent reputation as a time-
keeper.

Other Government offices, built (1868-73) in tho Italian
style at a cost of half a million, by Sir Gilbert G. Scott,
extend from the Horse Guards, south, into Downing Street.
The public are admitted to sce the principal rooms in these
offices. upon applying to the porters between 2 and 5.
They consist of the—

TreAsurY. There has been no Lord Iligh Treasurer
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sinco 1612, 'Tho Irime Minister is Iirst Lord of tho
Treasury. ITis official incomo is £5000 per annum.

ForeieN Orrick, 14 Downing Street. IHero the Cabinet
Clouncils aro generally held, as also Foreign Princes and
Ministers of State received. The Grand Staircase and
Conferenco Room are very magnificent, Passports are
granted here.  The Secretary of State for Forcign Affairs
receives £5000 per annum.

Home Orrick. Here is conducted the business of the
Secretary of State for the United Kingdom, or the ome
Department.  1His oflicial income is £5000 per annum.

CoroNiAn Ovrick, 13 Downing Street.  Iere is tho office
of the Sceretary of Stato for the 44 colonies of Great
Britain.  Iis official incomo is £5000 per annum.

Inpia Orrick. This is the oftice from which the affairs of
our vast Indian Empire are regulated by a Scerctary of
State for India, assisted by a (‘fonneil.  His official income
in £5000 per annum. The East India (‘'ompany came to
an end in 1860,

Excurguer Orrick, 11 Downing Street. Tho business
of this oflico is conducted by the Chancellor of the
Exchequer, whose duty it is to regulato the imposition of
taxos, and to provide for a revenuo of over 70 millions
sterling per annum. His ofticial income is £5000 per annum.
(*abinot Councils are held here or at the Foreign Oftice.

The Privy Council Office is also in Downing Street.

Upon the east side of Whitehall, opposito tho new
(tovernment oflices, are WHITEHALL (FARDENS, the residenco
of many of the nobility, including the Duke of Bucclough,
Lord Beaconsficld, &e., also tho National Club-house for
I’rotestant members of the (‘hurch of England; and
immediatoly beyond is a short streot (at the corner of
which is tho Whitehall Club-house for members of the
scientific professions), which forms an approach to the
half-built National Opera House, whose chief frontage will
bo towards the Thames Embankment. In preference, how-
over, to following a direct course through Parliament Street,



Westminster Sanctuary. 31

wo will bear a littlo to the right, look down what is
left of Charles Street, Westminstor, the old notorious head-
quarters of recruiting-sergeants, and thus pass into King
Street, Westminster, now a poor mean street, but full of
historical interest. This was the ancient thoroughfare
to Westminster; in the time of Ienry VIIL the Cockpit
Gate was at its north end. In King Street, Edmund
Spenser, the poet, took lodgings at a tavern, after his Jast
roturn from Ireland, “that he might bo near the Conrt”;
and on January 16, 1599, died there, according to Ben
Jonson, ¢ for lack of bread.” Cromwell took horse from
his house in King Street, 1649, with a retinne of gallant
men for his life-guard, to Windsor, en route for Ireland. In
King Street, also, lived Sackville, Farl of Dorsct; the Poct
Carew; Dr. Sydenham, and others. Tho October Club of
a hundred country gentlemen, who drank October ale, and
woro all High Tories (1712), met at the Bell Tavern, in
King Street. Tho Institution of Civil Ingincers is at 25
Gireat George Street.

Opposite tho south end of King Street is Westminster
Abbey, with tho church of St. Margarct’s standing by its
side. 'The visitor will obtain from this point, perhaps, the
most remarkable of all the views in London. The vener-
able Abbey, with Henry VIL’s Chapel, is before him; on
his left are the Houses of Parliament, Palace Yard, and
Westminster Bridge, leading over to Lambeth; on his
immediate right is Storey’s Gate, leading to DBirdeage
Walk, St. James's Park; and between that Gate and the
Abhey lies the Broad Sanctuary; with Dean's Yard and
Westminster School beyond.

Wesrainster Hoserran and WesTMINSTER Sessions IHouss
stand upon the site of the ancient Saxcruary or Wesr-
MINSTER, the only one of the many Sanctuaries in the
metropolis of which the name still exists. The right of
sanctuary, or the protection of criminals and debtors from
arrest, was retained by Westminster after the Dissolution
of the Monasteries in 1540 ; and the privilege (which wasnot
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abolished until James L, in 1623) caused the houses within
the precinet to be let for high rents. The (hurch was re-
moved in 1750, to give place to a Market ouse, which was
pulled down {ifty years later, to mako way for the Sessions
House, or Westminster Guildhall, as it is sometimes called,
erccted by Cockerell, 1805. In Westminster Sanctuary, Eliza-
beth, Queen of Edward 1V, took refuge when the victorious
Warwick was marching on London to dethrone her hus-
band ; and hero she gave birth to Edward V. To the west
of the Sanctuary stood the Almonry of Westminster, in
which was set up the first printing-press cver used in
England, viz., that by William Caxton, in 1474,

The Parish Church of St. Margaret's, Westwinster, dates
from the timo of Edward I, but was rebuilt temp.
Fdaward IV. It has appeared to some persons unac-
countablo that this Church should be retained so near
to tho Abbuy, in a position to obstruct the view of
Henry VIES beantiful chapel. But whether it was
originally set up to provide for the parochial, as distin-
guished from tho ceclesiastical, uses of the adjoining Abbey
or not, certain it is that its removal would now he a
most pitiable mistake, upon both historical and wsthetical
grounds. 'This being the Church of the Tlouse of Com-
mons, all tho Fast-day Sermons wero preached here during
tho Commonwealth; and, on September 25, 1642, the
Solemn League and Covenant was read from the pulpit of
St. Margaret's, and taken by both louses of Parliament,
by tho Assembly of Divines, and tho Scots Commissioners.
Ilere Tugh Peters urged the Commons to bring Charles I.
to © condign, speedy, and capital punishment.” Here Caso
censured Cromwell to his face; and on a subsequent
oceasion attacked General Monk, by saying, “ There aro
somo who would betray three kingdoms for filthy lucre’s
sake,” simultaneously throwing his handkerchief into the
pew whero the General was sitting. Recent renovations
have altered the internal appearance of the edifice, at
tho expense of old galleries, and memorials and pows.
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It is no longer the “little Church” of St. Margaret
of Antioch, but one of the handsomest of Perpendicular
churches, having an exquisitely beauntiful nave of 130
feet, arcaded in eight bays and a half, also a fineo
panelled-oak roof. 'The East Window, representing tho
Crucifixion, is considered the most perfect of the ancient
stained-glass windows in London, and was pronounced
by Winston the most beautiful work of glass-painting
he was acquainted with, This window has a history
as full of vicissitudes as that of a hero of fiction. It
was made at Gouda, in Holland, for the magistrates of
Dort, who intended presenting it to King Henry VII.
for his Chapel in Westminster Abbey ; but after that
king’s death it was sent to IHenry VIIL, who gave it to
Walthamm Abbey. Here it remained until the Dissolu-
tion, when it was removed by the last albbot for safety to
his privato chapel at New Hall. The Villiers family camo
into possession of New Ilall, removed the window out
of the way of destruction and buried it underground,
whenco at the Restoration General Monk again set it up
in New MHall chapel. There it remained till the edifico
was demolished by a subscquent possessor, a Mr. John
Olmins, who, however, preserved the window as an object
of virtu, and, not finding a purchaser, cased it np for many
years. At length it was bought for 50 guineas by M.
Conyers, of Copped Hall, Essex, and sold by his son in 1758
for 400 guinecas to the churchwardens of St. Margaret’s.
The churchwardens had scarcely put it up before they
wero denounced and prosccuted by the Dean and Chapter
of Westminster for erccting “a superstitious image or
picture.” After seven years’ litigation the churchwardens
won their suit, and the stained-glass window was allowed
to rest in what one may hope to be its final position. Tho
glass painting represents tho Crucifixion—angels receiving
tho blood-drops from the Redecemer’s wounds; an angel
bears off the soul of the repentant thief to Paradise; a
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demon hurries that of the impenitent thief to Hell. Angels
are seen in tho six upper compartments, bearing severally
the Cross, the Sponge, the Crown of Thorns, the Ifammer,
the Rods, and the Nails. In the lower compartment is
Arthur, Prince of Wales, cldest son of Ienry VII., and
above him St. (George and the red and white rose; on the
left is Katharine of Arragon, the bride of Arthur, as well
as afterwards of his brother llenry VIIL, and above her
the figuro of St. Cecilia, with a ripe and juicy pomegranate,
the emblem of Granada. There were originally in this
church side-chapels or altars to St. Margaret, St. George,
St. Katharine, St. Iirasmus, St. John, and St. Cornelius,
The old brass Memorials were sold in 1644 at 3d. and 4d.
a pound ; the most notowortly modern Brass (1845) is that
to Sir Walter Raleigh (who was huried in the chancol of
this church after his execution in Palaco Yard, near by);
also a T'ablot to Caxton, the first knglish printer; a Slab to
Harrison, author of ¢ Oceana’; a Monmment, with epitapl,
by Pope, to Mrs. 1. Corbet; and to Captain Sir P. Paker,
with epitaph by Byron. In St. Margaret’s churchyard
woro buried in o pit many of the bodies of the Cromwellians,
which at the time of tho Restoration were exhumed from
their resting-places in Westminster Abbey; such as those
of the mother of Oliver Cromwell, Admiral Blake, Sir. W,
Constable (oneof tho judges who tried Charles L), and John
Pym. Iere lie also the poet Skelton, Nicholas Udall, Sir
William Waller, the Parliament Goneral, ITollar, the en-
gravor (near the north-west corner of the tower), the noto-
rious ("olonel Blood, who tried to steal the regalia, &e.  Sir
Charles Barry, who built the new Ilvuses of Parliament,
recommended that St. Margaret’s Church should be restored,
to harmoniso with the surrounding edifices, or should be re-
moved altogether; but, so far, the great architect’s opinion
has been unattended to—perhaps it ever may be. The
Overseers’ box, with silver mountings, engraved by Hogarth
and others, with various historical and other designs, is of
some interest,
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WESTMINSTER ABBEY

Stands upon the sito of a Temple dedicated to Apollo.
The first Christian church crected here was founded by
Scbert, King of the East Saxons, 610, “to the honour of
God and St. Peter,” and it is still known as tho Collegiate
Church of St. Peter, Westminster. King Edward the
Confessor wholly rebuilt the Church of West Minster, in
which he was buried, but no portion of the present Abbey
belongs to Edward's time, unless, perhaps, some part of
the foundations, or it may be the Chapel of the yx, in
the dark cloister near the South Transept.  King ITarold
and William the Conqueror wero crowned in Westminster
Abbey, and every succeeding sovercign to the present day.
Henry ITL rebuilt the Abbey, but it was burnt down almost
immediately after.  Edward I. and IT restored it.  In tho
reign of Kdward IIL. Abbot Littlington added several
buildings to it, including the Jerusalem (‘hamber, Tn 1502
Henry VIIL crected, upon the site of a Chapel to the Virgin,
which he pulled down, the magnificent structure dedicated
also to Mary, but generally known as Tlenry VIL’s Chapel,
and styled by Leland * the miracle of the world.,”  Among its
profuse and delicate decorations uno may noto the “ port-
cullis chained” (the symbol of the House of Beaufort, and
sinco of Westminster); the roso of Ingland, barbed and
seeded ; the Tudor fleur-de-lis. 'I'he length of Westminster
Abbey is 416 feet; length of transept, 203 feet; length of
choir, 155 feet. Its height is 101 feet 8 inches; height of
towers, 225 feet. The North Transept is remarkalle for its
pinnacled buttresses, its triple porcl, its clustered columns,
and its great rose window 90 feet in circumference. The
Interior shows the wonderful effects of “long-drawn aislo
and fretted vault.” Henry 1IL’s portions of this Abbey,
D 2
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especially the Choir, are considered to be the most perfect
specimens of the Lancet, Larly English, and Pointed
styles. The Early English style is best secen in the North
Transept and South Aisle of the Nave, and in the narrow,
Lancet-shaped arch in one compartment of the Nave.
The Decorated style is shown in the western side of the
Nave; the Perpendicular, at its very best, in Henry VIL’s
Chapel-—*a sublime monument without a parallel of the
consummate skill and genius of the architects of old.” Of
the stained glass, the most ancient is in the north and
south windows, the clerestory windows, the east window
of Henry VIL’s Chapel and the Jerusalem Chamber; the
remainder is modern, viz., the great West window, the large
Rose window, and the Marygold window, in the South
Transept. Tho Western Towers of the Abbey had not
been completed even down to the timo of Sir Christopher
Wren, That great architect pulled down the unfinished
structures, and erccted the present towers in a Grecianised
Gothie stylo, incongruous and unsatisfactory ; but he, too,
aftor twenty-five years’ labour, left his work unaccom-
plished, for, although he commenced a central spire, “ho
left off before it rose so high as the ridge of the roof.

The chief entrances to Westminster Abbey are by the
western and northern doorways. We will, however, enter as
visitors frequently prefer to do, by the door in the South
Transept at Poets’ Corner.  Hero we shall find ourselves at
onco surrounded by tho memorials of all the great and
honoured worthies of English Literature. Here is the tomb
of Geoffrey Chaucer, the father of English poetry; and of
Edmund Spenser, author of the ¢ Faerio Queen’; a statuc
of William Shakespeare, erccted in the reign of (ieorge II.
(the poet rests at Stratford-on-Avon); of Michael Drayton,
&e.; also memorial busts and tablets of Ben Jonson,
Samuel Butler, the author of ‘Hudibras’; Sir William
Davenant, Abrahwm Cowley, John Dryden, L. Shadwell,
John Philips (anthor of the *Splendid Shilling”), Matthew
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Prior, Gay, Addison, Thomson, Goldsmith, Gray, Mason,
Southey, Campbell, Thackeray, Grote, Thirlwall ; and below,
close by, repose the remains of Macaulay, and Charles
Dickens. In the South T'ransept, and beyond the Doéts’
Corner, is a monument to Isaac Casaubon (1614); to
Camden, the antiquarian; to St. Erremond ; to John,
Duke of Argyll ; to Handel, by Roubiliac ; to Booth (actor);
Myrs. Pritchard (actress); to David Garrick, by Webber ;
and grave-stones over Old Parr, Chiffinch, ¢ Prue’ second
wife of Steele, Macpherson, and W. (ifford.

From Doets’ (‘orner we pass onward to look at the
("hapels, of which there are twelve in this Abbey,—usually
shown by the Vergers to groups of twenty or thirty
visitors at a time, in the following order :—

1. St. Benedicts—Tombs of Langham, Archbishop of
Canterbury, d. 1376 ; the Countess of Hertford, d. 1598;
Cranfield, Lord Iligh 'Treasurer to James I,
d. 1645,

2. St. Edmund’s—Tombs of Willium de Valence, Farl of
Pembroke, half-brother of Tlenry II1., d. 1296 ; Joha
of Eltham, son of Edward 11., d. 1334 ; William of
Windsor and Blanche de la Tour, children of Ed-
ward IIL; portrait bLrasses of Eleanor de Bohun,
Duchess of Gloucester, and Robert de Waldeby,
Archbishop of York, d. 1397 ; I'rances, Duchess of
Suftolk, mother of Lady Jane Grey, and a statue of
Lady Elizabetl Russell, who used to be, most absurdly,
described by the Vergers as having died by the
prick of a needle.

3. St. Nicholas —At the entrance is the grave of Spel-
man, the antiquary; monuments to the Wife of
Lord Protector Somerset (d. 1578); to Mildred and
Anne, wifo and daughter of Lord Burghley (1588-9);
brass to Sir Humphrey Stanley (4. 1505) ; altar-tomb
of Sir George Villicrs (1619).

4. Henry VII’s, or the Virgin Mary's Chapel, consists
of a nave and two aisles, with five chapels at the
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cast end.  Tn the nave are the Stalls of the Knights
of the Bath, who were installed in this chapel till
1812 ;—the Dean of Westminster being still Dean of
the Order, which ranks next after that of the
Garter. The Tombs in centre of the chapel are those
of Henry VIL and hix Queen Elizabeth, considered by
Tord Bacon one of the stateliest and daintiest tombs
in Europo. South Aisle : Tombs of Margaret, mother
of Menry VIL; of the Mother of Darnley, husband
of Mary Queen of Scots, whose tomb is also here;
of George Villiers, Duke of Buckingham, assassinated
hy Felton ; also of his two sons (one the profligate
Duke), buried below; also of the first Wife of Sir
R. Walpole.  North Aisle : "Tombs of Queen Eliza-
beth and Queen Mary, buried in the same grave:
James I and Anne of Denmark, and their infant
danghter, also their son, Prince Henry; the Queen
of Bohemia and Arabella Stuart ; Duke and Duchess
of Richmond, temp. James L, and La Belle Stuart ;
Monument of Mouk, Duke of Albemarle; Sarco-
phagus containing supposed bones of Edward V.
and his brother Richard, murdered in the Tower;
monuments of Sacilte, Marquis of Halifaz, d. 1695 ;
Montague, Earl of Hulifax, A. 1715 ; Sheffield, Dule
of Buckingham ; Dule of Montpensier, brother to
Louis Philippe, King of the French. Next is
tho grave of Addison.  Charles II., William and
Mary, and Queen Anne, lic in a vault at the end
of the south aisle. George II and lis Queen,
Frederick Prince of Wales, father of George 1I1.,
and the Duke of Cumberland, hero of Culloden, lio
in a vault in the central aisle.  In the recess at tho
cast end of the chapel Oliver Cromicell was buried,
but his body was exhumed from this grave and sent
to Tyburn gallows, xce pp. 172, 192,

5. 8t. Panl's —Tombs of 8Sir Thomas Bromley, Queen
Elizabeth’s Chancellor; Lord Bourchier, Standard-
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bearer to Henry V. at Agincounrt ; Sir Giles Daubeny ;
Viscount Dorchester ; and Lord Cottington. Also
colossal statue of James Watt, engincer. Archbishop
Usher was buried in this chapel.

6. Ediwcard the Confessor’s—In the centre is the Shrino of
Edward the Confessor (in the rcar of the high altar
of the Abbey), erected by llenry IIL; Tombs of
Edward IL,d.1307 (*mallcusScotorum’); of Henry IIL.,
d. 1272; of Eleanor, Queen of Edward I. ; of Henry V.
(whose head cast in solid silver was stolen at
the Reformation, but whose helmet, shield, and
saddle are to be still scen over his tomb); of
Edward III, and his Qucen, Philippa, with the
*monumental sword that conquered Franco”; of
the Children of Edward 1I., Edward 1V., and
Henry VII.; of Richard II. and his first Queen; of
John de Waltham, Bishep of Salisbury, Richard’s
High Treasurer. This Chapel is divided from tho
choir by a Shrine, baving a frieze containing four-
teen sculptures, representing the Incidents in tho
life of Iidward the Confessor. Near the screen arc
the two Coronation Chairs still used at the Coronation
of the Sovercign of this kingdom; one of them
contains the fumous stone of Scone, on which
Scottish Kings were crowned—a reddish grey sand-
stone (belicved by some to have heen Jacob's
Pillow), 26 by 164 inches, and 11 inches thick, which
Fdward I. carried off with him from the Abbey of
Scone, Scotland, in token of his conquest of that
country. The Scots held that wherever it was
carried the supreme power would go with it. The
other Coronation chair was made for the coronation
of Mary, Queen of William IIT.

7. St. Erasmus’, which contains little of importance,
leads to

8. St. John the Baplist, in which are the tombs of many
of the early Abbots of Westminster, also of William
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de Colehester; A. Carey, Lord Hunsdon, first cousin
and Chamberlain to Queen Elizabeth ; Thomas Cecl,
Earl of Ereter, and his two wives (the second
Countess commanded that sho should not appear
upon her husband’s left side, so her place is still
vacant); and a monument to Colonel Popham, tho
only one to an officer of the Parliamentary Army
allowed to remain; his body was taken away with
those of Cromwell, Iroton, Bradshaw, and Blake,
soo p. 38.

9. Abbot Islip’s, in which is an cffigy of the Abbot him-
solf, as also the Vault of the Halton family, Near
the chapel is tho monument to General Wolfe, with
a bas-relief of the landing at Quebec.

In the East Aisle of the North Transept is the cclebrated
tomb of Sir Francis Vere; also Roubiliac’s monument to
Myr. and Mrs. Nightingale, where Death appears launching
Lis dart at the wifo, who sinks back into the arms of her
husband -~her right arm and hand are considered the per-
fection of monumental art.

In the Choir are the tombs of King Sebert, of Edmund
Crouchback, second son of Fdward I11.,, and his Countess ;
also of Aymer de Valence, Earl of Pembroke ; and of Anne of
Cleves, wifo of Henry VIIL

The North Transept contains some remarkable monu-
ments of comparatively recent dato.  1lere are Bacon’s
Lord Chatham ; Nollekens's group of the Three Captaing,
mortally wounded in Rodney’s naval victory, 1782 ; Rou-
biliac’'s Sir Peter Warren; Rysbrach’s ddmival Vernon ;
Flaxman's Lord Mansficld ; Werren Hastings ; Westmacott’s
Mrs. Warren and Child; Chantrey’s Canning, F. Horner,
and Sir J. Maleolm ;  Gibson's Sir Robert Peel; John
Philip Kewble; Siv W. Follett,  Under the pavement lic
Chatham, Pitt, and Fox, Castleveagh, Grattan, Lord Col-
chester, and Wilberforee; and in the north aisle of th:
choir, leading to the nave called Musicians’ Corner lic

Pureell and drnold, Dr. Blow, Dr. Burney, and Dr. Croft.
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The Chapter-house and Crypt, recently restored at a heavy
expense by Sir Gilbert G. Scott, were built Ly Ienry III.
The entrance is near Poets’ Corner. It is an elegant
octagon of Knglish Gothic style, supported by massive
buttresses. For 300 years the Ilouse of Commons met in
this Chapter-house, and here must have occurred almost all
the great struggles for liberty against the Crown, even up
to the time of the Reformation, for the Parliament sat here
down to the time of Ilenry VIII. In 1547 the Commons
moved to the Chapel of St. Stephen, vacant by the sup-
pression of the Collegiate Chupel of St. Stephen’s, West-
minster. The Records and Domesday Book furmerly pre-
gerved in this Chapter-house were in 1860 removed to tho
Record Oftice, Rolls Court, Chancery Lane, sco p. 83.

The Nave of the Abbey contains every kind of me-
morial, bust, statue, tablet, tomb. In tho pavement is a
stone to Rwre Ben Jonson, heve buried on his feet (his
skull was seen in 1840, about a foot below this stune, and
his body in an upright posturc) ; here also are a memorial
to Tom Killigrew and his Son; monuments to Wives of Sir
Samuel Morland ; to Sir P. Fairborne ; to Sir William Temple ;
to Sprat ; to Atterbury ; to Sydney, Lurl of Godolphin; to
Heneage Twysden; to Colonel Townshewd; to  Sceretary
Cragys ; to Congreve, by Henrictta, Duchess of Marlborough ;
and Lougl’s statne of Wordsworth. 'The following monu-
ments are to be seen under the organ screen: Rysbrach’s
Sir Isaac Newton ; James, first Iarl Stanhope ; Roubiliac's
Marshal Wade, General Fleming, and General Iargrave ;
Read’s Admiral Tyrrel; Flaxman’s Captain  Montague ;
Westmacott’s Spencer Perceval, Williwon Pitt, and C. J. Fox;
Bailey’s Lord IHolland ; General Lawrence ; Major André,
executed by tho Americans, 1780, as a Spy.

South Aisle of Choir—Monnments of W. Thynne and
Thomas Thynne; Le Sceur's bust of Lord Chief dJustice
Richardson ; Dr. Svuth ; Sir Cloudesley Shovel ; Dr. Bushy ;
Sir Godfrey Kneller ; Dr. Isaac Walts (buried in Bunhill
Fields) ; Dr. Buraey; and a bust of Paoli.
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Cloisters—In the South Cloister are Monuments of several
Abbots of Westminster ; in the Bast Cloister is one to
Sir Edmondsbury Godfrey; also tablets to the Motker of
Addison ; and to General Withers. In the West Cloister
are memorials of George Vertue ; T. Banks, R.A.; Woollett,
engraver; and Dr. Buchan. In the East Ambulatory lie
Aphra Behn (1689), Henry Lawes, Betterton, Tom Brown,
Mrs. Bracegirdle, and Samuel Foote.

The Jernsalem Chamber on the south-west of the Abbey,
and near tho Cloister doorway, may be seen upon applica-
tion at the porter's lodge. It dates from 1386, and was so
named from the coloured glass, brought from Jerusalem,
which decorates it. In it died Ienry IV.; the death of
this King, as described by Shakespeare, is singularly
dramatic :—

» Kixa Hesry. Doth any name particular belong
Unto the lodging where T first did swoon?
WARWICK. "Iis called Jerusalem, my noble lord.
Kina Hexgy. Laud be to heaven! even there my life must end.
[t hath been prophesied to me many years
I should not die but in Jerusalem;
Which vainly T supposced the IHoly Land:—
Buat bear me to that chamber; there Tl lie,
In that Jerusalem shall Harry die.”

Westminster Abbey is open to the publie daily (Sundays
included) for Divine Service, at 10 A and 3 . and it
can bo viewed between 11 and 3, and in summer, from 4
till 6.  There is no charge for admission to the Nave,
T'ransepts, and Cloisters; but 6d. is charged for admission
on any other week day than Monday (when admission is
gratis), to the Choir and the Chapels.

WesTMINSTER Scuoor, or Sr. PErer’s CoLLEGE, is in Dean’s
Yard, near the western entrance to the Abbey. In front of
Dean’s Yard is a Memorial Column to the scholars of West-
minster Schoul who died in the Crimean war. This College
was founded by Queen Elizabeth, 1560, to consist of a Dean,
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twelve Prebendarices, twelve Almsmen, and forty Scholars,
with a master and an usher. Such was the original foun-
dation; but Westminster School contains about 200
scholars, of whom day scholars pay 25 guincas per annum ;
hoarders, 75 to 85 guineas. Tho forty Queen’s Scholars,
elected by open competition (wbout ten yearly, at Whitsun-
tide), from boys who have been a year at the School, and
who were under fifteen on 25th March, pay £30 per
annum for board and education. Six School Exhibitions,
worth £20 to £50 per annum, are competed for at Baster,
In the ancient Collego IIall, before (‘hristmas, are given
performances of the Tatin plays of Plautus, Terence, &o.,
for which Westminster scholars have long been noted.

At the right-hand corner of Victoria Street (which leads
to the Victoria Station, of the London, Brighton and South
(‘oast, and London, Chatham and Dover Railways) is West-
minster Palace Hotel, one of the largest at this end of the
town. The Royal Aguarium is scarcely a stono’s throw
from the Hotel, and in the same building as the Aquarium
is the Tmperial Theatre for the performance of comedy, &e.,
also a number of stages for other performances; a Restaurant
on a largoe scale, &c. The Royal Architectural Museum at
18 Tufton Street, Dean’s Yard, contains a large number
of casts and modcels for the use of carvers in stone and
architectural students ; also provides instruction to Erening
Clasges at small fees. Open daily freo from 10 to 4,
Saturdays till 6.

Observe the lofty strueture, of Mr. 1I. A. Tankey, at tho
end of this street, providing suites of chambers, as well
as club accommodation for familics of the wealthier classes.
Upon part of the site of this building, known as Queen
Anne’s Mansions, stool 19 York Street, Westminster, a
honse in which John Milton resided while Latin Scerctary
to Oliver ('romwell; here he was first overtaken with
blindness, and hero he began ¢ Paradise Lost”  Jeremy
Bentham hought and lived in the honse, and aftcrwards
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lent it to Hazlitt. St James's Park Station is in this
streot.

NEw Parace Yanp, Westminster, is tho space enclosed
within the gilded railings in front of Westminster Hall,
It was in Old Palace Yard, south-west of the Houscs
of Parliament, that the Dillory stood, and where Sir
Walter Raleigh was beheaded in 1618, At the south-
east corner of Old Palace Yard stood the house through
which the Conspirators in tho Gunpowder Plot carried
their powder-barrels into the wvault, and in the same
yard Guy Fawkes, Winter, Rookwood, and Keyes, were
executed, in 1606, In the present New Palace Yurd, Perkin
Warbeck was set in the stocks, 1498 ; Stubbs and his ser-
vant had their hands cut oft for libelling Queen Elizabeth ;
Leighton was pilloried and publicly whipped ; William
Prynno was pilloried, and his Ilistrio-Mastriz burnt ; T'itus
Oates was pilloried, 1685,

Westmssrer Hann was added by William Rufus to the
ancient Palace of Westminster, and he held his first Court
in it, 1099, It was repaired and raised in height by
Richard II., whose device, a White Hart, couchant, still
appears on the stone mouldings. The Tall is 290 feet long
by 68 fect wide, and Y2 feet high, and now forms the
vestibule to tho Houses of Purlioment, and to the Courts
of Law, which were originally within the IHall itself.
Parliament assembled in Westminster Hall as early as
1243, In Westminster Hall the High Courts of Justice
have been held for seven and o half centuries. In it
the Coronation feasts were always given.  lHere King
Edward 111, entertained his prisoner, King John of France;
here Sir William Wallace was tried and  condemned.
Heve patrolled, with a *straw in their shoes, to denote
their gquality,” the rufian © men of straw,” who were ready
to sell their testimony to the first comer; here were tried
and condemned Protector Somersct and Sir Thomas More,
also the arl of Strafford, whose motto was ¢ Thorough.’
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Here sat the High Court of Justice which tried and con-
demned Charles I.—the King sitting covered, and the
Naseby banners hanging over his head. Here Cromwell
was inaugurated Lord Protector, June 26, 1657. At West-
minstor Hall Gate Charles II. was proclaimed, May 8,
1660. Upon the south gable were set the heads of Crom-
well, Ireton, and Bradshaw. Cromwell’s head remained
there for twenty years, Iere the Scven Bishops were
acquitted in the reign of James II. Hore wero tried Dr.
Sacheverell and the rebel lords of 1745; Lord Byron, for
killing Mr. Chaworth ; Lord Ferrers, for murder; and the
Duchess of Kingston, for bigamy. Here Warren Hastings’
seven years' trial took place, and Lord Melville’s, in 1806,
besides many more of historical note. The interior of
Westminster 1lall was, until the middle of the last century,
filled with shops and stalls, principally of booksellers.
Many books, tracts, and pamphlets before that time bear
the imprint of Westminster Hall. The Courts of Law
at tho sido of the Hall will shortly be removed to the
Strand. They were last rebuilt by Sir John Soane.
Adjoining to the Courts of Law is the site of the ancient
Houses of Lords and Commons, which were accidentally
destroyed, October 16, 1834, by some officials employed
to burn the used wooden tallies of the Court of Exchequer,
and who, in doing so, overheated the flues and set fire to tho
woodwork of the library. Westminster Iall was saved with
difficulty, and the Abbey itself was at one time in danger.
Tue New Houses or PARLIAMENT, built 1840-1857, upon
the site of the old Palace of Westminster and of St. Stephen’s
Chapel, by Sir Charles Barry, the whole pile covering
eight acres, and having four principal fronts, of which the
river frontage is 940 feet long. The edifico contains
11 open quadrangular courts, 500 apartments, and 18
official residences, besides the Royal State Apartments,
the Ilouses of Lords and Commons, and the Central Hall.
The style of the building is Gothic (Henry VIIL), with
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portions.of the ITalls of the Netherlands. "T'he Clock Tower,
with Big Ben for a bell, is 40 feet square and 320 feet high.
ere an clectric light burns when Parliament is sitting.
The bell, *Great l'om of Westminster,” was at vne time
as noted as ‘Big Ben’ is now. It was ¢Great Tom’
(removed by permission of William 11L to the cathedral
of St. Puul on New Ycar's Day, 1699) that the sentinel
heard strike thirteen. The story goes that John Hatfield,
in tho reign of William and Mary, was tried and condemned
by court-martial for falling aslecp whilst on duty as a
sentinel upon the terrace of Windsor Castle. IIe pleaded
innocence, and alleged that hoe had heard ¢ Great Tom’ at
midnight striko thirtcen; a statement disbelieved both on
account of the distance, and the improbability. Dut several
persons cume forward and swore that the clock did strike
thirteen, and the man was pardoned. The present Clock
is ono of the best time-keepers in the world,- -varying
but slightly in any temperature. It is wound up twice a
week ; the winding of the going purt occupies ten minutes,
of the striking part fivo hours.  The chief approach for
the public to the 1louses of Parliament is through Palace
Yard and Westminster Iall, up the broad flight of steps
at the farther end into St Stephen's Hull, on either side of
which are ranged statues of our greatest statesmen ; amp-
den, Selden, Yox, Chatham, Clarendon, Grattan, Falkland,
Walpole, and Mansficld ; and thenco into the Octagon Hell,
80 fect high, and having a beautifully groined stone roof.
From the Octagon Hall the right-hand passage leads to the
House of Lords; the left, to the Iouse of Commons.

Tho grand Victoria Tower is 75 feet square and 340 feet
high, and its entrance archway to the llouse of Lords is
65 feet high.  The Royal Entrance by the Victoria Tower
leads to tho Nurman Porch decorated with statues of the
Norman kings, thence to the Robing-Room, which faces tho
river, and is decorated with frescoes by Dyce, R.A.  The
Victoria Gallery, 110 feet long, 45 feet wide, and 45 fect
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high, also decorated with frescoes, gilded ceiling, and
stained-glass windows, contains frescoes by Maclise, R.A\.,
of the Meeting of Wellington and Blucher, after the Battle
of Waterloo; the Death of Nelson, &c., &e. Her Majesty
passes through this gallery, and the Prince’s Chamber,
to the House of Lords, when she goes to open Darliament ;
and tickets are to be obtained upon such occusions from
the Lord Chamberlain to view the procession.

Tue Housk or Lorps is a magnificent chamber, extremely
rich in gilding and colour, wrought metal, and carved
work. It is 97 fect long, 45 fect high, and 45 feet wide,
and was opened April 15, 1847. On either sido of the
Throne, but upon a less clevated dais, is a chair for the
Prince of Wales and the personage mnext in honour.
The Woolsuck (covered with crimson cloth corresponding
in colour with the other seats of the Iousc) is in front
of the Throne, and hercon sits the Lord Chancellor. The
Peers are ranged on citlier side, or upon the cross benches.
The Reporters’ Gallery, with the Stranyers’ Gallery Lchind
it, face the Throne. I'rescoes in six compartments, three
at either end, decorato the walls, The subjects illustrated
are, the Baptism of Ethelbert, by Dyce, R.A.; Edward 111
conferring the Order of the Garter on the Black Prince, and
Ienry, Prince of Wales, committed to prison for assaulting
Judye Gascoigne, both by Cope, R.A.; the Spirit of Reliyion,
by Horsley, R.A.; and the Spirit of Chivalry and the Spirit
of Law, by D. Maclise. The twelve stained-glass windows
are lighted at night from the outside. On the cornice
below the Gallery are the arms of the Sovereigns and of
the Chancellors of England, since ILdward ITI. Of the
frescoes commissioned by various artists for the decoration
of this magnificent edifice, one or two are still unfinished,
as, for instance, Mr. lerbert's The Judgment of Daniel.

Tur House or CoMyoN3, 70 feet in length by 45 feet in
breadth and 45 feet in height, is not so gorgeous in colour
as the Ilouse of Peers, but it is, nevertheloss, a fine apart-
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ment. The Speaker's Chair in the Commons fills the place
which in the Upper House is occupied by the Throne.
Over the Speaker's Chair is the Visitors’ Gallery. 'The
smrounding galleries are arranged for the Members, for
Reporters, and for the public, who are admitted by
Members’ orders.  The Members' Entrance is cither by the
public approaches, or by a private door and staircase from
the Star Chamber Court (so called from its occupying the
sito of the old much-dreaded Star Chamber). The Upper
Waiting Hall containg a number of frescoes from scenes
by eight British poets, including : Griselda, from Chaucer,
by Cope, R.A.; Lear and kis Danghter, from Shakespeare,
by Herbert; Ithuriel's Spear, from Milton, by Horsley ;
St. Cecilia, from Dryden, by Tennicl. In the Peers’ Cor-
ridor, beginning upon the left hand, on the way to the
Homse of Commons, are the following eight frescoes:
Burial of Charles 'I.; Ixpulsion of Felloes at Oxford for
refusing to gubseribe to the Corenant;  Defence of Basing
Honge, attacked by Roundheads ;  Charles 1. ereeting his
Standard at Nottingham ;- Speaker  Lenthall  opposing  the
Areest of the Five Members by Charles I.;  Departure of
London Trainbands to relicve Gloucester ; Embarkment of
the Pilyrim Fathers for New England ;- Lady Russell taking
leare of her Husband before his Execution.  In tho Conmons’
‘wrridor aro tho following eight frescoes: Alice Lisle con-
ccaling the Fugitives after the Battle of Sedgemoor; The
Last Sleep of Argyll; William and Mary veceiving the
Crown from Parliconent in the Banqueting-house, Whitehall ;
Aequittal of the Seven DBishops, temp. James IL ; General
Monk declaring in favour of « Free Parliament ; Landing of
Charles I1. at Dover; The Execution of Monfrose; Jane
Lane assisting Charles IL to escape from his pursucrs. In the
Pecrs’ Robing-room i3 a fresco by Ilerbert, of Moses
bringing the Cononandments from Mount Sinai. Tt is said to
Lo impossible now to burn down the Honses of Par-
lianment. If by accident a fire should occur, it would only
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destroy the furniture and fittings, but the fooring, walls,
and roof would remain intact. The New IIouses of Par-
liament cost about three millions; their chief demerit
arises from the decay of the stone with which they were
built.

Free admission to view both Ilouses, and all the public
portion of the Palace of Westminster, is to be obtained from
10 to 4 every Saturday during the session, upon application
at the Chamberlain’s office, in the court near the Victoria
Tower. Admission to hear the Debates—in the House of
Lords, by a Peer’s written order; in the Ilouse of Commons,
by the written order of a Member. The doors are opened
at 4, but, upon a night when the Debate is expected to bo
interesting, the stranger should be in attendance much
before that hour, for the Strangers’ Galleries are but small,
and strangers are admitted according to priority of arrival.
"The Speaker takes the chair at 5, when prayers are read
and business begins. The best nights for Debates are
Mondays or Fridays. On Wednesday tho House only sits
till 6 p.m.

Baron Marochetti’s Equestrian Statue of Rickard Ceeur de
Lion ornaments Palace Yard; the Statues of Canning, Peel,
Dalmerston, and Derby, are sct up in Parliament Square.

Westminster Bridge, said to be tho widest bridge in the
world, and certainly one of the handsomest structures in
London, was built upon the site of a former bridge, 1856-62,
by Mr. Page, to connect Westminster with Lambeth,
It is 85 feet wide (the roadway, 53 feet, foot-ways, 15 feet
each), 1160 feet long, and consists of seven arches of iron
(the centre arch being of 120 feet span, and 22 feet above
high water), resting upon stone piers, with foundations
30 feet below low-water mark. The roadway rises only
5 feet 4 inches at the centre arch. It was upon the older
bridge that the lonely and unaided poet Crabbe walked
meditating suicide; and, from the same place at early

E
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morning, the view snggested Wordsworth’s well-known
sonnet :—
“ Larth lins not anything to shew more fair ;
Dull would he be of soul who could pass by
A sight ~o touching in ity majesty;
This city now doth like a garment wear
The beauty of the morning; silent, bare,
Shipy, towcrs, domes, theatres and temples lie
Open unto the fields and to the sky,
All bright and glittering in the smokeless air.
Never did sun more beautifully steep,
In his first splendour, valley, rock, or hill;
No'er saw I, never felt a ealm so deep !
The river glideth at its own sweet will,
Dear God, the very houses seem asleep,
And all that mighty heart is lying still.”

Upon the Lambeth side of the Bridge is the entrance to
St. Thomas's Hospital, an ancient Foundation by Richard,
Prior of Bermondsey, in the year 1213, for ('onverts and
Poor Children.  Remodelled in 1215 by Peter de Rupibus,
Bishop of Winchester, for Canons regular; it was surren-
deved to Henry VIIL, in the 30th year of his reign, and
purchased by the Citizens of London in 1544, and opened for
the reception of patients in November, 1552, under Charter
from the (‘rown, The Hospital remained on its old site in
the borongh of Southwark, near to London Bridge, from
its foundation, until the year 1862, when the South-Eastern
Railway Company obtained possession of the premises, and
tho Hospital was removed to a temporary location at New-
ington, Surroy. The new Hospital Buildings (of which tho
Foundation Stone was laid by the Queen, on the 13th May,
1R68) were opened by Ier Majesty on the 21st June, 1871,
and are arranged for about 600 beds. The gross income
of the Tospital, chiefly derived from rents, aided by do-
nations, is about £45,000 ; but from this a large deduction
has to be made, leaving about £33,000 for Hospital pur-
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poses. The Albert Embankment runs in front of the
Hospital, and Lambeth P’alace, towards Vauxhall Bridge.

AsTLEY’S AMPIITHEATRE (now Sanger's- Theatre Royal)
stands in Westminster Bridge Road, not many yards
beyond the entrance to St. Thomas’s Ilospital. It derived
its original name from its first proprictor, Philip Astloy,
a cavalry soldier of handsome build and an expert rider,
who, after his discharge from the army, took to equestrian
performances in an open picco of ground in St. George's
Fields. Iere he made a little money, which was increased
by £60, the produce of a diamond ring which he had
the good fortune to find one day at tho foot of Westminster
Bridge, and built therewith his first theatre, opened in
1780. This, and two other theatres which succeeded it,
were burnt down on this site. Andrew Ducrow, son of
Peter Ducrow, of Bruges, was *¢Ilemish Hercules’ at
Astley’s, and one of its most successful riders.  The present
edifice contains both a stage for dramatic purposes and a
circle for horsemanship.  Admission from 6d. DPit 1s. 6d.

Canterbury Hall and Fine Arts Gallery, once of the largest
of London Music alls, is situated in Westminstor Bridge
Road, near the part spanncd by the Railway Bridge. It
provides Entertainments which include Comedy, Farce,
Burlesque, and Ballet.  Admission 6d.

Upon the south-east side of Westminster Bridgo Road are
the Lambeth Baths, moro famous for its T'emperance Meetings
and social assemblies of working people than even for its
sanitary appliances. When the water has been drawn
out of the spacions bath, the place serves for a lecture and
concert room. Here all kinds of simple amusement, in the
way of songs, chornsed by the people, newspaper read-
ings, social discussion, and temperance meetings, are held
regularly through the ycar. Near Westminster Bridge
Road, by the Railway Bridge, runs a thoroughfare leading
eastwards to Waterloo Bridge Road, and familiarly known
as the New Cut. 'The stranger, who may take the trouble

B2
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to make his way through this street on Saturday night or
Sunday morning, would seo one of the busiest scenes in
London. This is then the market for the poorest classes
of the district, and the whole strect is alive with people ;
costermongers, quack medicine vendors, and all manner of
dealers in all kinds of wares and articles. The excuse for
all this trafic on Sunday—and it is scarccly to be over-
ruled—is, that the poor buyers have no place to keep their
food if they bought it before the very moment they are
ready to consume it.

What was until rceently the Victoria Palace Theatre—
or, in popular parlance, “the Vie”—is now the Royal
Vietwia Music Hall and Coffee Tacern, conducted upon
T'emperance principles, with capacity for 2000 persons.
It is situated in Waterloo Road, Lambeth,
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THE STRAND.—FROM CHARING CROSS TO
FLEET STREET.

TANDING with our backs to the Nelson Column and
facing east, we shall observe upon our right hand
the Northumberland Avenue, with the New Grand Hotel at
the corner of it ; this is the new thoroughfare to the Thames
Cmbankment, for the sake of making which Northumberland
House, the family mansion of the Duke of Northumberland,
which stood here since 1603, was pulled down in 1876, at a
cost of £500,000, and other expenses incurred amounting to
£150,000 more. The land sold for building purposes will,
however, doubtless repay much of the expenditure, and
other great advantages will be obtained by opening up
the Avenue; for it is said that, whercas the average
time occupicd by a Hansom cab in travelling from Charing
(‘ross to the Mansion House, by way of the Strand, is
22 minates, the journey by the Embankment takes but
12 minutes.

NorruvmpernLANp Ioust was the last of the many old
palaces of the nobility which once graced the Strand, and
had been the residence of the ancestors of the Dukes of
Northumberland for two centuries and a half; its well-
known Strand front, surmounted by a lion, the crest of
the Percys, dated from about 1605, and is best repre-
sented perhaps in the painting by Canaletto, engraved by
Bowles, 1753. There was a rather valuable collection of
pictures to be seen here, but these of course were removed
by their owncer before the demolition of the house (the
necessity for which was much regretted). -Suffice it for
the visitor that we indicate where the mansion, of no great
historical or architectural interest, once stood. Of tho
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Northumberland Iouse Lion many jokes uscd to be made,
but perhaps the best was that by a humourist who under-
took for a wager to persuade passers-by that tho lion

- wagped its tail. Ile stood very intently looking up at
the lion; tovk out a telescope, and appeared highly inte-
rested.  The action was obscrved by an idler or two, who
of courso stopped to sce what might happen, and gazed
accordingly ; the crowd increased, till at length the Strand
became impassable; the greatest curiosity was manifested
about nobody knew what—several persons asserted that
they had seen the lion’s tail wag; and even after the
crowd was oventually dispersed, a few curious and pertina-
cious people hung about under dvorways to satisfy them-
selves about the new phenomenon. A London crowd will
gather quickly and for nothing. Tho wise pedestrian
knows this; at onco buttons up his coat, to protect his
pockets, and passes on. .\t the south-cast corner of Tra-
falgar Square is the Charing Cross Post Office, at which
Ietters and papers for the country can be posted half an
hour later than at district post-oflices.

In Northunberland Street is the oftice of the Pall Mall
Gazette newspaper. At 27 Cracen Street lived Dr.
Benjamin Franklin, in 1771, while representing in this
country tho interests of his American fellow-colonists.
In front of the Golden Cross Hotel, in the Strand, once
a woll-known hostelry and place of departure for old
mail-conches, Mr. Pickwick is deseribed as having been
assailed by the hackney-coachman, and to have been
thereupon taken under the protection of Mr. Jingle.
Next door to the hotel is an old house of business, Messrs.,
Gardner's, which has been established in tho Strand for
a century and a quarter.

Cuarixg Cross Ranway Sratiox is the West-end ter-
minus of tho South-Fastern Railway, and the Charing
Cross Hotel is one of the largest in London.  The Station
oceupies the site of Hungerford Market, which was de-
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molished to make way for it, and the railway-bridge is
partly supported upon the piers of the old Hunger-
ford Suspension Bridge (built for foot-passengers only),
which was taken away and sct up across tho Avon at
Clifton, near Bristol, soon after this bridge was built in
1863. There is still a way for foot-passengers over the
Charing Cross railway-bridge, by a staircase entered from
Villiers Street—at the bottom of which strect is the Charing
Cross Station of the Underground Railieay, and beyond it, the
Charing Cross Steamboat Pier. In front of the Charing
Cross Railway-station (8.15. Railway) stands a handsomo
copy of the Cross originally erected to the memory of
Queen Eleanor in the centre of the ancient village of
Charing. Opposite the station is Adelaide Street. At the
south-cast corner of Adelaide Street, there is an Kleetric
Telegraph oftice. In King William Street, Strand, running
cust from Adelaide Street, is tho little theatre onco
known as Woodin’s Polygraphic llall, afterwards as
C'haring Cross Theatre, and more recently as the Folly
Theatre. The Beefsteak Club is in this strect. In Agar
Street is the chief entranco to Charing Cruss Iospital,
erected in the Grecian style by Decimus Burton in 1831,
This is an important institution, increasing in valuo with
the wants of an increasing population, and is onoe of the
medical schools of London.  Lowther Areade, named after
Lord Lowther, a former Chief (‘'ommissioner of Woods and
Torests, consists of 25 shops for toys. The rooms once
named the ddelaide Gallery, at the north end, is now a café—
Gatt’s. Villiers Street, on the south of the Strand, was named
after the Dukes of Buckingham, whoso mansion upon this
site originally formed part of York House—once the resi-
dence of the Archbishop of York (sce p. 23), and afterwards
the home of Lord Bacon, who was born in it, January 22,
1361. The beautiful York Stairs, or Water Gate, at the
bottom of Buckingham Street, attributed to Imigo Jonces,
will afford us some idea of the style of York House, to
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which it belonged, and of which it is the sole relic. Peter
the Great lodged at No. 15 Buckingham Street, Strand.
8. Pepys lived at the house then opposite to it. George
Street, Villiers Strect, Duke Street, Buckingham Street, and
Of Lane, which once connected them, perpetuate the
memory of George Villiers, Duke of Buckingham—

“ Who in the coursoe of onc revolving moon,
Waus chemist, fiddler, statesman and buffoon.”

In Bedford Street (named after the Dukes of Bedford,
who own much of the land in this district) is a Civil
Servico Co-operative Store. At No. 20 is the French Club.

Passing Coutts's Bank, whose cellarage, filled with valu-
able property, extends far back into the ApEeLrui and
Dwrham Street, named from old Durham Iouse, we turn
down Adwm Street, Adelphi, and find ourselves upon a
handsome terrace overlooking the Kmbankment and the
Thames. David Garrick died here at No. 5, Adelphi Terrace.
The Adelphi ocenpies part of the site of Durham House, the
town palace of the Bishop of Durham, once extending from
the Strand to the river.

Duritam House, then the residence of the Farl of North-
umberland, was the scene of the marriage of Lady Jano
Grey; and from hence she was escorted to the Tower. 1t
had in Henry VIIL’s reign become a royal palace.  Queen
Mary had restored it to Pnnstall, Bishop of Durham, but
Queen Elizabeth took it away again, and granted the uso
of' it to persons who happened to bein royal favour—among
others, to Sir Walter Raleigh. Aubrey describes Raleigh’s
Study to have been *“on a littlo turret that looked into and
over the Thames, and had the prospect which is as pleasant
perhaps as any in the world, and which not only vefreshes
the cyesight, but cheers the spirits, and (to speak my
mind) I believe enlarges an ingenious man’s thoughts.”
Upon the site of the stables of Durham House was built
by the Earl of Salisbury the New Erchange, opened by
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James I. It was an open paved arcade, above which were
shops occupied by perfumers, milliners, &¢. Nan Clarges,
a sempstress here—daughter of the blacksmith who lived
in Maypole Alley and reared the Maypole--managed
to captivate Monk, and hecame Duchess of Albemarle.
Frances Jennings, Duchess of Tyrconnell, when reduced
in circumstances, took up her place at a stall in this Ex-
change—sitting in a white mask and white dress, and
was therefore known as the White Milliner. She was soon
discovered and provided for. The namo of the Adelphi
i derived from four architects, brothers (ddeAdol), named
Adam, who built vast arches over the site of Durham
House, and erected streets above them upon a level with
the Strand, which they named after themselves, John.
Robert, James, and William Streets. The Dark Arches of
the Adelpht had long an evil reputation as tho night-
resort of thieves, hut gas-light and police supervision havo
abolished the evil. The rooms of the Society of Arts are
in John Street, Adelphi; they are open free, daily, from 10
to 4, except Wednesday and Saturday.

Opposite to the Strand end of Adam Street, Adelphi, is
the Adelphi Theatre, a well-known and popular house of
entcrtainment, first built by Scott, and known as the Sans
Pareil, opened November, 1806 ; named the Adelphi Theatre,
in 1820, by Rodwell and Jones. They transferred it to
Terry and Yates. The latter joined Mathews the elder,
and afterwards sold it to Mr. B. Webster, who rebuilt it
in 1858. It has been chiefly noted for melodrama and
farce, and for the acting of John Reeve, Wright, P. Bed-
ford, Webster, Toole, Mrs. Keeley, Madame Celeste, and
Miss Woolgar.

The Vaudeville Theatre, hut a few doors cast of the
Adelphi Theatre, was opened in 1870, and enjoyed enor-
mous popularity, as the scene of Mr. II. J. Byron’s comedy
of *Our Boys,” Mr. Albery’s ¢ Two Roses,” &c.

Opposite the Vaudeville Theatre is Salisbury Street, which,
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with Cecil Street close by, occupics the site of Salisbury
House, onco the residenco of tho great Sir Robert Cecil.
Salisbury House was subsequently divided into two houses,
known as (ireat and Little Salisbury Ifouse, both of which
wero removed to make way for Cecil Street and Salishury
Street, rebuilt by Mr. Payne, the architect. In Salisbury
Street lived a onco noted man, Partridge, who combined,
with lhis ordinary business of a shocmaker, the study of
astrology, and realised a reputation by his almanacks,
which he would not have achicved by his boots. Partridge
also suld pills and other medicines in Salisbury Street,
and transmitted the good-will of his businesses to his
widow, who after his death continued the publication of
the almanack, and the manufacture and sale of pills,
&e., at tho sign of the Blue Ball, in Salisbury Street.
The chief feature of Salisbury Street for the last twenty
years has been the drundel Cleb, founded 1859, for
literary men and artists, whoso club-house is at No. 12,
the last edifice in the street, upon the left-hand side of the
way. From the balcony of this club one used to look below
upon a busy scene of coal-heavers and their barges at the
neighbouring wharf’; just beyond wus the pier for the
halfpenny steamboats —to and from which a continual
stream of passengers scemed to flow uninterruptedly,
except perhaps a fow who eddied, so to speak, round the
picturesquo old tavern known as the *Fox under the
Hill! The Thames Embankment now occupies the site of
the whart'; tho river, once so near, has retired with the
barges and the coals, and mine host of the ‘Fox,” to a
respectful distance; but tho relies of the old tavern,
beforo which Charles Dickens remembered himself as a boy
resting from his labours at the neighbouring blacking
factory in Hungerford Stairs, and watching the coal-
heavers dancing to the sound of street music, are not
yet demolished.

The Egyptian Obelisk named Clevpatra’s Needle is placed
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upon the Thames Embankment at tho foot of Salisbury
Street. It is 70 feet high, and 8 feet wide at the base,
weighs 200 tons, and is formed of granite. It was pre-
scuted by Mohammed Ali to the British Government, and
for many years it lay unclaimed in the sand at Alexandria
along with a similar monolith, sinco sct up in New York;
such obelisks were usually placed in pairs outside of Egyp-
tian temples. The cost and dificulty of removing it to
England were surmounted in 1878, the former by tho muni-
ficence of Mr. Erasmus Wilson, who gave £10,000 for its
removal, the latter by tho skill of Mr. Dixon, C.E., who
triumphed over every obstacle by his practical engineering
science. This huge block of granite, after being lifted and
placed in the eylinder-barge in which it was to be floated
to England, had a most tempestuous voyage.  The Steam-
boat which towed the Obelisk only escaped destruction by
cutting it adrift in the Bay of Biscay, and for days nothing
was to be heard of it. At length a passing vessel picked
up the strange-looking objoct, a veritablo—

“ Monstrum horrendum, informe, ingens,”

and carned salvage thereon. Mr. Dixon’s genius had
secured the buoyancy of the huge bulk, and through him
England’s title of possession was fully substantiated.
The scenes on the pyramidion represent the monarch
Thothmes IIL, under the form of a sphynx with hands,
offering water, wine, milk, and incenso to the gods, Ra
and Atum, the two principal deities of Ieliopolis. The
inscriptions give the names and titles of the deities, the
titles of Thothmes 111., and the statcment of cach of his
special gifts. Tho statue of Ilobert Raikes, founder of
Sunday-schools, was set up in 1830 in the ornamental
gardens hard by.

SouTHAMPTON STREET, on the north side of the Strand
(named after Lady Rachacl, daughter of the Earl of
Southampton, and wife of Lord William Russell), leads
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directly to Clovent Garden. At the foot of Southampton
Street stood Benrorn House, the town mansion of the Earl
of Bedford. Ilalf-way up the strect, upon the left, is
Maiden Lane, upon a second floor in one of the houses of
which lodged Andrew Marvell, when M.P. for Hull, and
it was here that he refused to accept a bribe of £1000
from tho King. J. M. W. Turner, the great English
painter, was born at the corner of Hand Court, Maiden
Lane. Voltaire lodged, when in London, at the sign of
tho ¢ Whito Peruke,” Maiden Lane. The Bedford Head
Tavern, in Maiden Lane, has long maintained its associa-
tions with literature, art, and the drama, by means of the
well-known Re-union Club,  The Savage Club, a similar
society, which for many years possessed rooms over the
Piazza, Covent Garden, has now made its way to the
Navoy ; the Junior Garrick, the Crichton, and similar Clubs
aro to be found on the Adelphi Terrace.

Passing northwards, up Southampton Street, we enter

Covext (iarpey, a place of great celebrity and interest,
which derives its namo from the Convent Garden of
Westminster, that once oceupied not only this site, but
tho entiro spaco from St. Martin’s-in-the-I'iclds to Long
Acre.  After the dissolution of the Monasteries, the Garden
was granted, with other lands, by Edward VI. to his
uncle, the Lord Protector Nomerset, but after the Pro-
tector's attainder it reverted to the Crown, and was given,
in 1552, to John, Earl of Bedford. In 1634 Inigo Jones
built for the then Earl of Bedford the church of St. Paul's,
Corent Garden, which, except the portico, was totally
burnt down in 1795, The present edifice was erected by
John Hardwick, upon the same plan and proportions as
tho original.  In and around it were buried Samuel Butler,
tho author of ¢ Hudibras:’ the notorious Robert Carr, Earl
of Somerset; Sir Peter Lely ; Wycherley, the dramatist ;
Grinling Gibbons, Mrs. (entlivre, Dr. Arne, Dr. Armstrong,
Sir Robert Strange, T. Girtin (the father of the school of



Covent Garden Hotels. 61

English Water Colours), Macklin, the actor, Dr. Wolcot,
&c. Covent Garden Market-house was built in 1830, and has
been much improved within the last year or two, during
which time the whole square has been undergoing a pro-
cess of rebuilding. Tho visitor, who wishes to sce Covent
Garden Market at its busicst time, should go thither
about six o’clock in the moruing, of o Tuesday, Thursday,
or Saturday; but the middle row is at all times an
interesting sight, no matter what the timoe of year; for
you may be always sure of secing in it tho finest fruit
and flowers that skill can produce and that monoy can
buy. Tho old sung gave good advice which said-—

“If ever you go to London town,
Just take & peep at Covent Garden.”

Hogarth’s well-known print of * Morning’ shows St. Paul's
(‘hureh, Tom King’s Coffee-house under the portico, and
the mansion close by, built for the Earl of Orford, and now
long known as Evans's Hotel—in the rear of which were
the noted concert and supper-rooms called Evans's. "This
Hotel is being now converted into the Falstaff Club, for
gentlemen of artistic tastes, upon the plan of the Mirlitons
at Paris. In a line with Evans's Hotel frontage runs the
great Piazza, just rebuilt upon the site of the old hotels
for which this place was long noted, and of which the
Tavistock remains a good example. In the north-east corner
is the entrance to the Floral IHall, connected with tho
ITtalian Opera-house, Covent Garden.  Upon the cast sido
is the Hummums Hotel. Upon the south are the Covent
Garden Hotel and Askley’s Hotel.

In Great Russell Street, Covent Garden, woro the three
celebrated Coffee-houses, ¢ Will’s,” ¢ T'om’s,” and ¢ Button’s.’
WiLL's was the house on the north side of Great
Russell Street, at the corner of Bow Strect (then the
centre of fashion). It is well to remember what an im-
portant influence coffee-houses exercised upon public
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opinion, in Queen Anne's time, before newspapers existed.
“There were coffee-houses, where medical men might
be consulted ; Puritan coffee-houses, where no oath was
heard; Jews’ coffee-houses, for money changers; and
Topish eoffce-houses, where, as good Protestants believed,
Jesuits planned over their cups another Great Fire and
cast silver bullets to shoot the King (Wm. I1I1.).” Persons
at that time commonly asked of such and such a one not
whero he lived, nor what was his address, hut whether he
frequented the ¢ Greeian’ or the ‘Rainbow.”  WiLL’s (then
the ¢ Rose’) was Thoe Wits’ coffee-house, where Dryden had
his arm-chair in winter by the fireside, in summer in the
balcony ; the company met on the first floor and there
smoked.  Ward says that «“ the young beaux and wits, who
seldom dared approach the prineipal table, thought it a
great hwnour to have a pinch from Dryden’s snuff-lox.”
“Nowhere,” sayvs Macaulay, “ was the smoking more constant
than at ‘Will'’s,” that celebrated house sacred to politeletters.
There tho talk was about poetical justice, and unities of
place and time,  Thero was a faction for Perranlt and the
Moderns, a faction for Boileau and the Ancients.  Under
no roof was a greater variety of figures to be seen. There
were earls in stars and garters, clergymen in cassocks and
bandy, pert Templars, sheepish lads from the University,
translators and index-makers in ragged coats of fricze.”

Jurron’s was Addison’s house, “over against ¢ Tom’s.’”
ITere met Pope, Steele, Swift, Arbuthnot, &c., and here
Philips hung up the birchen-rod with which he threatened
to chastize Pope for a bitter epigram. At ¢ Button’s” was sct
up the Lion’s Head to receive letters and papers for the
Guardian. Popo deseribes Addison as having *usually
studied all tho morning, then met his party at ¢ Button's,’
dined there, and stayed for five or six hours and sometimes
far into tho night. 1 was of the company for about a
year, but found it too much for me. It hurt my health, so
I quitted it.” Tox's was at 17 Great Russell Street, the
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north side of the way. Danicl Do Foe, in 1722, wroto of
this house : “ After the play the best company generally
go to*Tom’s’ and  Will's® coffec-houses near adjoining,
wheroe there is playing at Picket and the best of conver-
sation till midnight.” ‘Tom’s’ was a favourite resort of
Dr. Johnson, Sir Joshua Reynolds, Garrick, &e.

A little farther up Bow Street is the Police Court, and
beyond it the Rovan IranriaN OrERs-HOUSE, occupying
the site of old Covent Garden Theatre, which was built
in 1732, by Rich, the celebrated actor. Garrick played
in it in 1746. In 1803 John Kemble became proprietor
and stage manager. In September 1808, it was burnt
down, and twenty persons killed. Tt was rebuilt by R.
Smirke, R.A., and rcopencd Deccember 31, 1808, at in-
creased prices, which enraged the people. Riots ensued in
favour of the old prices (which became known as tho
O. P. Riots), and after seventy-soven nights tho manager
snccumbed. Tn 1817 John Kemble retired, and Charles
Kemblo in 1840. Charles Mathews, Madamo Vestris, and
Macready, snbscquently leased the theatro, and later tho
Anti-Corn Taw League used it for its meetings and
Bazaar. In 1847 it was converted into the Royal Italian
Opera-house. In 1856, whilo being used for a masquerado
by Professor Anderson, the so-called Wizard of the North,
it was burnt down. It wasrebuilt Ly Mr. E. M. Barry, and
reopened as an Ttalian Opera-house in 1858, The former
opera-house was the one in which Girisi and Mario, Viardot,
&ec., achieved their great suceess ; the latter hag had for its
chicf artistes Patti and Albani. Tt holds about 2000 persons.
The bas-reliefs on the Bow Street front were by Flaxman.

But a fow yards from the bottom of Bow Strect, east-
wards, is the Theatre Royal, Drury Lane, tho oldest in
London (1812), and the fourth erccted upon this site.
The first Drury Lane Theatre, built for T. Killigrew,
under a patent of Charles IL, and opencd 1663, was
burnt down in January, 1671-2. It was rebuilt by
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Sir Christopher Wren, and opened with a prologue by
Dryden, 1674 Rich, Steele, Doggett, Wilks, Cibber, and
Booth were successively patentees.  Garrick succeeded
them, and in 1747 opened with a prologue by Dr. Johnson.
Garrick lere took leave of the stage, June 10, 1776.
Sheridan followed, and in 1788 John Kemble. In 1791
tho theatre was taken down, rebuilt, and re-opened, 1794.
It was burnt down in 1809, rebuilt by B. Wyatt, and
reopened, October 12,1812, with a prologue by Lord Byvon.
The ‘Hejected Addresses,” by Horace and James Smith,
were written apropos of this opening. At Drury Lane
Theatre appeared Nell Gwynne, 1666 ; Booth, 1701 ; Mrs,
Siddons, 1775; J. . Kemble, 1783 ; 1I. Mellon, Duchess
of St. Albans, 1795 ; Edmund Kean, 1814, Macready here
took farewell of the stago, February 26, 1851, The Albion
Tarern, ncar the entrance to the theatre, is a good house,
much resorted to for dinners and suppers by members
of the literary, theatrical, and other professions. The
Middlegex Musie Hall (a minor house) is in Drury Lane.

Retracing our steps throngh Covent Garden and
Southampton Street, wo will now return to the Strand, at
the point from which we left it.

Beauvrort BuiLpiNes, on the south side of the Strand,
vccupy the site of an ancient mansion known by different
names, but eventually as Worcester House, after its then
owner, the celebrated Marquis of Worcester, author of the
¢ Century of Inventions.”  Ilis eldest son became Duke of
Beautort, and the mansion, Beaufort House.  Tere was
married by Protestant rites at midnight, in September
1662, the Duko of York, afterwards James 1I, to Anneo
Hyde, daughter of the Earl of Clarendon. The mansion
undorwent some changes, was reduced in size, and the
smaller house was burnt down. Upon the site, Beaufort
Buildings (in which once lived Henry Fielding the
novelist) suffered a similar fate not long since. It is
proposed to crect a Theatre in Beaufort Buildings, with
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approaches from the Strand and the Thames imbankment.
Simpsow’s Tavern and Divan occupy the site of the Fountain
Tavern described by Strype, and noted for its political club,
Fountain Court took its name from tho tavern., The Coal
Hole, in this court, one of Edmund Kean’s tavern haunts,
and the scene of Nicholson’s Judge and Jury trials, is now
the Occidental Tavern,—a big name meaning Western.
Exeter Hall, famed for its May Mectings of Religious
Socioties, has been recently reconstructed in its lower
floors for the use of the Young Mew's Christian Associa=
tion. On its front is the Greek word GINAAEAGEION
(hall of brotherly love). The Great ITall, which holds
over 3000, was opened in 1831; in the lobbies of the
building are various offices of philanthropie and other
socicties. The narrow frontage of Exeter 1all, like those
of several other public buildings in the Strand, by no
means corresponds with the sizo of the adjoining edifico.
A list of the May Meetings is given away at the Hall.
The Lyceum Theatre will ho found a few yards farther
cast; ity chief entrance is in Wellington Street. 1t was
built in 1765 as an academy for a society of artists. After
many vicissitudes it was opened in 1809 as the English
Opera House ; was rebuilt in 1816 and destroyed by fire,
again rebuilt and again opened for English opera in 1834,
It was re-decorated for Madamo Vestris in 1847. The
Sublime Society of Beef-Steaks, otherwise the Beef Steak
Club, held their meetings in a room at this theatre, dining
every Saturday from November to June oft heef-steaks,
cooked upon a gridiron, and served with arrack punch.
The Society was founded at Covent Garden Theatre, by
Rich and Lambert, who, there in the painting-room, uscd
to cook their own steaks and invite an occasional dropper-
in to partake with them. The number of members in-
creased at length to 25, of whom George IV., then Prince
Regent, was one, and the celebrated Captain Morris was
the poet laurcate. Within a few years of the present
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time the whole of the paraphernalia of this club, including,
its silver gridiron, its plate, its ornaments, furniture, pic-
tures, &c., were all sold by auction at Christie and Manson’s
and realised over £650.  The Lyceuwm Theatre of lato years
flourished under Mr. Bateman’s management, and more
recently under that of Mr. 1L Irving.

In Wellington Street is tho offico of the Morning Post
newspaper, founded in 1772, and known as the organ of
tho fashionable world. Mere also is tho oflice of the
Athenenm, and hard by, those of the Evening Globe, and
Echo,

The Savoy was so named from a palace built in 1245, by
Poter, Farl of Savoy and Richmond (uncle of Eleanor, the
wifo of Henry TI1L), in which John, King of Irance, lived
during his captivity, and died soon after his release.
Tho Chapel Royal of Mary le Savoy was the chapel of the
Hospital of St. Juhn the Baptist, and is the only relic of
the old palace. It in & building of the late Perpendicular
style, with a rich fino ceiling, and is historically remark-
ublo as tho scene of the Savoy Conference for the revision
of the Liturgy at the Restoration of Charles 1I.  Fuller
was at this time lecturer of tho Savoy, and. Cowley was a
candidate for tho office of Master. 'I'welve bishops took
part in the Conference on behalf of the Established Church,
and (alamy, Baxter, and Reynolds for the Presbyterians,
George Withers, poet (d. 1667), and the Iarl of Fover-
sham (d. 1709), who commanded James IL's troops at
Sedgemoor, were buried here, without monuments.  Suvoy
Street now connects the Strand with the Thames Embank-
mont,

WatkrLoo Brivgr (named from the number of suicides
from it, * the English Bridge of Sighs”) was built by
John Rennie, and opened, June 18,1817, It was projected
by the Strand Bridge Company under the name of the
Strand Bridge, but. the name was changed (before its com-
pletion) in honour of the vietory,  Strand Bridge in olden
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times was a name given to a bridge 7n the Strand over
a stream which flowed under it near Strand Lane into the
Thames. Waterloo Bridge is of granite, and consists of
nine semi-clliptical arches, each of 120 feot span and 35 feot
high. It costa million of money, including the approaches,
or by itself £400,000, and proved a poor speculation to the
company that built it. Itis now free of toll. The Terminus
of the South-Western Railway is in Waterloo Bridge Road,

Upon the north xide of the Strand is the Gaiety Theatre,
built on the site of old Exeter Change, in 1868, by Mr. J. C.
Phipps, for Mr. J. Hollingshead. The performances consist
of comedy, farce, operetta, burlesques, and extravaganzas.
Commence usually at seven.  The chief entrance is in tho
Strand, but there is a side entrance in Catherine Street.
Prices of admission are from 1s upwards.

SomerskT 1lousk, in the Strand, stands upon the site of
the old Palace, huilt by the Lord Protector Somerset,
at an immense cost, and oceupied hy the wives of James T,
Charles L., and Charles II., as described by Samuel Pepys,
The present building was begun, in 1776, by Sir William
Chambers, and completed in 1786, all but the west wing,
which was finished by Mr. Pennethorne in 1852,  The
style of Somerset House is Italian, “refined to o degreo
scarcely cxcelled by Dalladio himself.” The exterior is
the perfection of masonry, the sculptors employed in its
decoration were Carlini, Wilton, Geracei, Nollekens,
Bacon, Banks, and Ilaxman. The Entrance archway
from the Strand has been much admired, and the Terrace
front in the Venctian style, facing the ‘i'hames, 800 feet
in length, enriched with columns, pilastered pediments,
&e., is regarded as one of the noblest works of the kind in
London. The building is in the form of a quadrangle,
and contains a large number of Government offices, ‘I'he
learned societies, which at one timo (as well as the Royal
Academy of Arts) were accommodated with rooms at
Somerset House, have been removed to Burlington Iouse,

F 2
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Piccadilly. The chief Government offices at Somerset
House are the Audit Office, where the accounts of the
kingdom and colonies are audited, the Office of Registrar-
Gencral of Births, Deaths, and Marriages, the Office of Inland
Revenue, a centre for the receipt from district collectors of
all taxes, stamp, money, legacy, and excise duties, and the
Wills and Probate Office, removed here in 1874, from Doctors’
Commons near St. Paul’s, and which occupies the south
side of the quadrangle. Ilere all Wills are proved (since
1861 they may bo proved without a solicitor) and adminis-
tration granted; the calendars may be searched for one
shilling; the originals of a will be seen for one shilling ;
and the wills of living persons may for scenrity be de-
posited.  The wills of Shakespeare, Newton, Dr. Johnson,
and of many other great Englishmen, aro to be found here.
The Inland Rovenue Department has rooms below the
level of the street, wherein all the mechanical work is
done, such as the stamping of documents, patent medicine
labels, postage envelopes, post cards, and postage and
receipt stamps.  The bronze Statue of George 11, and
tho figure of Futher Thames in the quadrangle, were by
John Bacon, and cost £2000,  The Story of the Watch-face
(which is to be scen a little above the entrance to the offico
of Stamps and Taxes) must onco again be told.  The tra-
dition is that o workman employed on the building fell
from a seaffolding and was saved from being killed by the
ribbon of his watch, which caught in a pieco of projecting
stonework and broke his full.  "T'he labourer was supposed
to have let it remain there in memory of his miraculous
escape.  The story is fabulous. The watch-face was
placed there as a meridian mark for a transit instrument
in ono of the winduws of the rooms then occupied by the
Royal Socicty.

King's CoLLkgr AND ScrooL occupy a part of Somerset
House, which was left unfinished by Sir William Chambers,
and was completed by Sir R. Smirke, extending from the
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ontrance in the Strand to the cast wing of the river front,
and containing, hesides theatres, lecture-room, museum,
library, and chapel, the residences of the Principal and tho
Professors. Over the lofty Strand entranco are the arms of
the College, and the motto, * Sancte et sapienter,”—Holily
and wisely. The Institution, a proprietary one, was
founded in 1828. The School is for lads between nine and
sixteen. The other departments of tho College are the
Theological, General Litorature and Sciences, Appliod
Sciences, and the Medical ; in connection with which last
was established, in 1839, King's College Hospital, in Portugal
Street, Lincoln's Inn Fields, now one of the most impor-
tant Hospitals in London. A limited number of matricu-
lated students are resident in the College.

In Strand Lane, which formerly led to a landing stairs
called Strand Stairs, is an old Roman Spring Bath. The
cold clear water in it was believed to be derived from
the neighbouring well of Holywell Street, famed for its
miraculous cures,

Opposite Somerset House, No. 332, used to bo the offico
of the old Morning Chronicle, once tho rival of the Times.
The Morning Chronicle reckoned among its staflf many of
the foremost men of the period—as James Perry; J.
Campbell, afterwards Lord Chancellor, who began upon
it his London carcer,and was its theatrical critic in 1810,
as Hazlitt was afterwards. In it Dickens obtained carly
fawe by his Sketches by Boz. (Coleridge and Thomas
Campbell were contributors, Black and Mackay were also
upon its editorial staff, as was later the present writer.

Tho Maypole, in the Strand, stood upon the site of the
little churchyard of St. Mary-le-Strand, opposite Maypoles
Alley, “where Drury Lane descends into the Strand.”
The Maypole sct up here at the Restoration, in lieu of ono
which had been removed by the Duritans, was 134 fect
high, with a crown, vane, &c., richly gilt, at the top of it,
and a balcony about the middle of it, with the King’s arms,
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“ far more glorious, bigger and higher than ever any one
that stood before it.” It was broken by a high wind in
1672, and in 1713, being old and decayed, was taken down.
Samuel Pepys mentions a May-day incident of Drury Court :
“T'o Westminster” (May 1, 1667), “in the way meeting
many milkmaids with their garlands upon their pails,
dancing, with a fiddlor before them, and saw pretty Nelly
(tiwynne) standing at her lodging-door in Drury Court,
in her smock sleeves and bodice, looking upon me ; she
seomed a mighty pretty creature.”

"The church of St. Mary-le-Strand was built by James (+ibbs
(the architect of the church of St. Martin’s-in-the-Iields), in
1714-17. It consists of two Orders, in the upper of which
the lights are placed ; the wall of tho lower being solid, to
keep out noises from the strect.  There was at first no
stecplo designed for this church, ouly a campanilo or turret ;
but a column, 250 feet high, in honour of Queen Anne,
was to have been set up by the same architect, 80 feot west-
ward of the church. The Queen died, the idea of the
column to her was abandoned, and Gibbs was ordered to
eroct a steeplo instead of the campanile.

In Neweastle Street, named after the ground landlord, John
Holles, Dukeo of Neweastle, is tho Globe Theatre, erected
upon the sito of old Lyon’s Inn; once an inn in Chancery,
but more recently lot out in small residential chambers,
in ono of which lived Weare, the victim of Thurtell :-—

“They eut his throat from ear to car,
His brains they battered in;
His nume was Mr. William Wenre,
He dwelt in Lyow’s Inn”

The Globe Theatre bears an honoured name, derived from
Shakespeare’s house in Bankside.  Tts terms and hours of
admission are the same as those of other Strand theatres,

Wyeh Street is an old thoroughfarv (Via de Aldwyche)
from tho Strand to Drury Lane (named after the family
mansion of Bir W. Drury), still containing some pic-
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turesque gabled houses. The Olympic Theatre, at its west
end, was originally built on the site of Craven House (tho
residence of Lord Craven), by Philip Astley, as a cirous
for horsemanship. It was burnt in 1849, and robuilt.
Many actors and actresses of ropute have appeared here—
Elliston, Kecley, C. Kean, Vestris, Nisbott, Footo, Liston—
among the latest, F. Robson, who drew all London hither,
The prices and hours of admission are similar to thoso
of the neighbouring theatres. In Wych Street is tho chiof
entrance to New Ian, whereat Sir Thomas More studied
beforo he entered himself of Lincoln’s Inn. Tle aftorwards
described “ New Inn fare, wherewith many an honost man
is well contented.”

Danes Inn, at the end of Wych Streot, consisting of
residential chambers, was built on the sito of the Old Angel
Inn, whose covered galleries and waggon-yard dated from
300 years ago,---a noted hostelry.

Holywell Street, named from a well said to have heen
situated under the OIld Doy Tavern, is still ono of the
most picturesque of the streets of London,--some of tho
old lofty gabled houses yet remaining. It has- long
been noted for its old book-stalls, and for questionablo
literature ; but its chief business of late seems to bo in new
cheap books, at a 25 per cent. discount off the published
prices. IMolywell Street has, by one or two of its book-
selling tenants, been styled Booksellers’ Row, Strand ; but
the old name, not perhaps more honoured, is hetter known,

In tho Strand, about this point, and ncarly facing each
other, are two small theatres ; tho Strand Theatre, famous
for burlesques (once Punch’s Playhouse); and a new
theatre known as the Opera Comigue, but chiefly noted for
its English Comic Operas by Messrs. W. S, Gilbert and
A. Sullivan.

Between Swrrey Street (in which Congreve died, 1729),
Norfolk Street, Huward Street (in which lived Mrs. Brace-
girdle), and Arundel Street, stood Aruxpen IHousk, ov
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PaLack (taken down in 1678), wherein the Earl of Arundel
collected the celebrated Arundelian Marbles, afterwards
given to the University of Oxford. In Arundel Street,
on the site of the old Crown and Anchor, was built the
Whittington, now the Temple Club. 'The Whitefriars Club
of literary men, &c., meet at the Temple Club-house. At
the foot of Arundel Street is the entrance to the Temple
Stution of the Underground Railway, to the Mansion
Houso, &c., and at this part of the Thames Embankment
have been set up Statues of Isambard Brunel, Esq., tho
engineer, aud John Stuart Mill, Esq., the great political
cconomist,

St. Clement's Danes’ Chureh, frequented by Dr. Johnson,
was the place in which he “repeated the responses with
tremulous onergy.” A tablet to his memory appears
where he sat, in No. 18 pew, in the north gallery. St.
Clement's was s0 named because the Danes, left in the
kingdom after tho Conquest, lived compulsorily between
Ludgato and Westminster, and built & church here called
Eeelesia Clementis Danorum, the Clement referred to being,
somo think, (lement the martyr Pope, third Bishop of
Rome. Thoe anchor which forms the symbol of the Church
and of Clement’s Inn was, it is said, devived from the anchor
attached to the Bishop’s body when he was cast into the
sea, but, as the patron saint of Catholic sailors, St.
Cloment’s anchor symbol is more obviously accounted for,
Tho body of old St, (‘loment’s Church was taken down
and rebuilt in 1682, to the old tower, by Edward Picree,
under the gratuitous direction of Sir (. Wren. In 1719
Gibbs added the present tower and steeple.  In the church
were buried Rymer, compiler of the Fadera ; Otway and
Nat. Lee; and, in the churchyard, in Portugal Strect,
hard by, Honest Joe Miller, of facetious memory.

Clement's Inn, one of the Inns of Chancery once attached
to the Tnner Tenmple, and naed from the parish church,
s usol now  chiefly for chambers and  oftices, but
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formerly only by students-at-law. Shakespeare has im-
mortalised this Inn, in connection with Justice Shallow
(Henry IV.):

“Shallow. I was once of Clement’s Inn; where I think they will
talk of mad Shallow yet,

* Silence. You were called lusty Shallow then, cousin.

* Shallow. By the mass, I was called anything; and I would have
done anything indeed, and roundly too. There was I and Little John
Doit of Staffordshire, and Black Gceorge Barnes of Staffordshire, and
¥rancis Pickbone and Will Squele, a Cotswold man ; you had not four
such swinge-bucklers in all the Inns of Court aguin,

* . » » * * -

“ Shallow. Nuy, she must be old; she cannot chooso but bo old;
eertain she’s old, and had Robin Nightwork by old Nightwork, before
I came to Clement’s Inn.

“ Falstaff. We havo heard the Chimes at midnight, Master Shallow.

» » » » * L 4 »
“ Shallow. I remember at Milc-end-green (when I lay at Clement’s

Inn), I was then Sir Dugonet in Arthur’s show.
» * *® * * » »

“ Falstaff. I do remember him at Clement’s Inn, like & man mado
after supper of a cheesc-paring.”

The Chimes are still heard at midnight, as Falstaff heard
them; but they are now “grown hoarse with age and
sitting up.”

Essew Street and Deverewe Cowrt, upon the south side of
the Strand, formerly known as the Outer Temple, were
named after Robert Devercux, Earl of Essex, the favourite
of Queen Elizabeth; on this site stood Fssex House,  Dr.
Johnson established a ('lub, called ¢Sam’s,” at tho Essex Hewd
Tavern. Essex Street Chapel is the oldest Unitarian Chapel
in London. The Grecian Coffee-house, kept by a Greck, in
Devereux Court, was mentioned in No. 1 of thoe ¢ Spectator *:
— My face is likewise very well known at the Grecian ;”
and here it is said two friends quarrelled so bitterly over
a Greek accent that they went out into Devercux Court
and fought a ducl, in which one was killed on the spot.



74 Courts of Law.

Palsgrave Pluce was the site of the Palsgrave Head
Tuvern, named aftor the Palsgrave Fredoric, afterwards
King of Bohemia, afianced at Whitehall to the Princess
Elizabeth, 1612.

The Courts or Law, or PALACE oF JUsTICE, are being
erected, by Mr. G. E, Street, on the north side of the
Strand, to a little beyond the line of Temple Bar and of
old Shire Lane—(so called * becauso it divideth the City
from the Shire),” and extending back to Carey Street,
Lincoln’s Inn.  In the course of a year or two, it is hoped
that theso buildings will be sufficiontly complete to allow
of all the Divisions of the High Court of Justice and both
branches of the Supremo Court being assembled under one
roof.  The Fastern part of the building, containing the
wing for Masters, Registrars, Chief Clerks, and the like,
has been already oceupied ; the remainder of the seven
acres is being gradually completed.  When the structure is
further displayed, there will be seen from the Strand a
Portland stone edifice of 500 feet long, and about 80 feet
in height, pierced with Gothic windows, and set off by
wables and pinnacles.  On the City side of the site of
Temple Bar stands a great campanile, or bell tower,
160 feet high. In the centre of the main building thoe
aable will have a height of 130 fect, and contain a
ereat roso window, above the main window of the
central hall, which will be 230 fect long, 40 fect wide,
and 80 feot high. At each end of this new salle des pas
perdus will bo a marble gallery, liko the wooden galleries
at tho end of the Halls of T'rinity College, Cambridge.
At the north end of the central hall there will bo a
corridor running east and west the whole length of the
Imilding ; while another corridor, continuing the direction
of the contral hall, will lead out into Carey Street, past
two jury halls, as large as courts, and a refreshment
room for the members of the Bar, with kitchen, cellar,
larder, robing-room, &e. The level of Carey Street at
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this northern front of the building will bo 17 feot above
the Strand, and 12 feot higher than the central hall.
The Chief Entrance from the Strand will be under an arch
of 50 feot, on cithor side of which will be Gothic traced
windows with the lancot arch; and above the windows
will be recesses for sculpture. Through the central arch
will be reached an entrance porch. A second porch will
succeed to this, from which will riso steps leading to the
south gallery of the central hall and to the level of the
courts; for the eight courts round the central hall are
to be above its level, while the floor of the hall will be
4 or 5 feet higher than the Strand. The long Strand
and Caroy Street fronts will be formed by two bnild-
ings, of which the westernmost, called the Main building,
will contain tho courts and the central hall.  The
Eastern building is joined to the Main building by
a narrow front to the Strand, and by a like ercction,
without depth, at the Carcy Street end; but except for
these two communications, the two wings will he sepu-
rated from each other by an open space called the Quad-
rangle. This quadrangle will be more than twice as large
as tho central hall; it will be paved, vither wholly or in
part.  The Carriage Entrance will sweep into it from the
Strand between two smaller arches for pedestrians,  From
the quadrangle, which will give light and air to both
buildings, many entrances will lcad into each. 'The
eastern building will be different in style from the other,
and the brown Portland stone, which in the western part of
tho building holds all the prominent positions, will here
be largely relieved by red brick. In addition to the
castern tower in front, there will be a tower of equal
height at the north-castern end, with smaller towers else-
where. On ono of these heights the tutelary statue of
Justice is to stand, as an embodiment of the purpose of
the edifice. From the tower in Flect Street a Janus
clock, facing two ways, now shows conspicuously from
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the cast and from the west, in "the style (well suited to
London) of the clock of St. Mary-le-Bow in Cheapside.
Including staircases, corridors, halls, and rooms, there
will be 800 apartments in the main edifice, and 300 in the
eastorn building., The contract price was about £700,000.
The land upon which these courts are being built cost
Parliament £1,453,000, It was occupied of late years by
some of the filthiest and most wretched tenements in
London, and very few noteworthy houses or streets have
been removed in clearing the ground,  Mention, however,
may bo made of DButcher's Bow, demolished about 1803,
undor tho sweeping plans of Alderman Picket; also of
Shire Lane, above referred to, noted as the birthplace
of Sir C. Sedley, and the abode of Ashmole, the astro-
loger, alchemist, and antiquary; of Isaac Bickerstaf,
tho *Tatler;’ of Christopher Kat, at whose house origin-
ated the Kit-Kat Club, of Protestant politioians. The
curvo made in the Strand to the south of St. (lement's
Daney’ Church was one of the many improvements mado
by Alderman Picket; but, in widening tho thoroughfare
at this point, many old houses of more or less note were
removed, and the sizo and picturesque character of Old
Milford Lane wero considerably reduced.

In ono of the ancient wooden edifices of Butcher'’s Row
the Guupowder Plot was planned in 1605, Wo met he-
hind St. Clement’s,” confessed Winter,—* Catesby, Percy,
Wright, Guy Fawkes, and myself, and having upon a
primer given each other the vath of secrecy, afterwards,
in another room, heard Mass and received tho Nacrament
upon the same.”
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FLEET STREET, LUDGATE CIRCUS, LUDGATE
HILL, LUDGATE STREET, ST. PAUL’S CHURCH-
YARD.

TEMPLE BAR, recently demolished, was one of the City
gates marking the boundaries of the City of London
and at this point separating it from the City of Westmin-
ster; and was built by Siv C. Wren 16702, after the fire of
1666 whichdestroyed a previous“ Bar.” It opened,notimme-
diately, into the City itself, which terminated at Lndgate,
but into  the liberty or freedom thereof.”  Each fagade of
Temple Bar had four Corinthian pilasters, an entablature,
and arched pediment.  On the west, in two niches, wero
statues of Charles I. and Charles 11. in Roman costume ; on
tho cast, in similar niches, statues of James I. and Queen
Elizabeth—all by Bushnell, who died in 1701. In the
centre of cach fagade was a window lighting an apartment
over the Bar, rented by Messrs. Child, the neighbouring
bankers. Above the centre of the pediment, upon iron
spikes, were formerly placed the heads and limbs of porsons
executed for high treason, as described in  Macaulay’s
lines :-—
“ Fast, fast, the gallunts ride in some safe nook to hide,
Their coward heads predestined to rot on Temple Bar.”

Upon the visit of the Sovereign to the City, it was cus-
tomary to keep the gates closed till admission was formally
demanded ; they were then thrown open, the City sword
was surrendered by the Lord Mayor to the Sovercign,
who thereupon returned it to tho Lord Mayor.

The Temple Bar Memorial, designed by Mr. Ioraco
Jones, the City Architect, and unveiled Nov. 1880, was
intended to mark the exact site of the old building
recently removed on account of its obstructing the
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thoroughfare. The Memorial is 31 feet 6 inches high,
5 foet wide and 7 feet 8 inches long, and serves as a
refuge for pedestrians crossing the road. In niches on the
north and south sides of it are life-sizo marble statues of
the Queen and Prince of Wales, by Mr. Boehm, A.R.A.,
and in the pedestal are four basso-relicvos, showing * the
Queen’s first, Bntrance into the City through Temple Bar,
1837 ;" «The Procession to $t. Paul’s on the Day of
Thanksgiving for the Prince of Wales's recovery from
illness, 1872;” and * The First Templo Bar,” and “The
Last Temple Bar.” The portrait medallions on the east
and west fronts represent Prince Albert Victor of Wales
and Lord Mayor Sir F. 'T'ruscott, in whose year of office the
Memorial was erected. The whole is surmounted by a small
pedestal with an heraldic Griftin, by C. B. Birch, A.R.A.
One of tho most noteworthy incidents connected with
Templo Bar, and there were many, was the appearance
of brave Daniel Do Foc in the pillory here, after he had
undoergone similar punishiment in other parts of the City.
His wo-called erime was the having written a satire
(directed against the High Church party), entitled «The
Shortest Way with the Dissenters.”  The people drank his
health and hung the pillory with flowers, whilo they sang
a verse from his ¢ Hymn to the Pillory” :—

«T'ell them the men who placed hing Lore
Are seandals to the times;
Are at a loss to tind his guilt,
And can’t commit his erimes.”

Aud now wefindourselves in FLEET STREET, so called
from the river Fleet which used to run between it and Lud-
gate Hill, aud empty itself into the Thames at Blackfriars.
Tho first house on the City side of the Bar, south, is
Child’s Banking House dating from 1620, and built on the
sito of the Dervil Tavern (named in compliment to the
neighbouring church of St. Dunstan aud that muscular
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Christian’s victory over the fiend), where Ben Jonson
reigned, as Dryden afterwards did at Will’s. The Apollo
room at the Devil was immortalised in verse, and the
“oraclo of Apollo” was Rare Ben Jonson himself. “1
myself, simple as I stand here, was a wit in the last age.
I was created Ben Jonson’s son in tho ¢ Apollo,”” boasts
Oldwit, in Shadwell’s play of Bury Fair. A few steps
beyond Child’s Bank is the Entrance to Middle Templo
Lane, and a little farther down Fleet Strect is the Gate-
way of the Inner Templo; it will be well, then, to furnish
here a few particulars of theso two famous Inns of Court.

The TemrLe was so named from the Knights Templar,
who removed their abode hither from Thavies Inn, Holborn,
in 1184, and who were succeeded (upon the forfeiture of
their estates by the Pope) by the Knights Iospitaller of
St. Johu of Jerusalem,  ¥rom theso the Inner and Middle
Temples were demised to certain students of the Common
Law, and the Outer Templo to Walter Stapleton, Bishop
of Exeter and Lord Treasurcr, who was afterwards bes
headed.  The lawyoers retained their hold upon the Temple
at the dissolution of the monasteries, and James I. con-
firmed them in their claims by grauting the Temple to
the Benchers of the two Innsof Court and their successors
for ever, ““in trust to be applied for the lodging and educa-
tion of students and professors of the laws of Kngland”
(6 Jac. L), The Entrance Gateway to the Middle Temple
from Fleet Street was built by Sir C. Wren in 1684,
Middle Temple Hall, towards the bottum of Middle T'emple
Lane, was built in 1572, and is said to have been the first
building in which Shakespeare’s Twelfth Night was played
(Feb. 2, 1601-2).  The roof of this hall has been specially
praised as a fine examplo of Elizabethan architecture, and
the carved screen and music-gallery in the Renaissance
style have also been much admired. There are here somo
portraits and marble busts of considerable interest.

The Iuner Temple Hall, by Swirke, is of smaller archi-
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tectural note. P’roceeding to it from Fleet Street down
Inner Temple Lane wo shall pass Dr. Johnson’s Build-
ings, s0 named in memory of the great lexicographer,
who lived, when Boswell first called on him, at No. 1 Inner
Temple Lane,—the “Giant’s den ” being on the first floor.
Temple Church was one of four circular churches built by
the Knights Templar in 1185 after their return from the
sccond crusade, tho other three being at Cambridge,
Northampton, and Maplestead in Fssex. The style is
partly Romancsque and partly Early English Gothic.
The Routd is the only remaining portion of the ancient
building of the Templars; the Choir, in pure Lancet
style, was ahnost rebuilt in 1839-42. The Church is
divided into threo parts by clustered marble columns,
and the groined roof is richly coloured in arabesque
and decorated with sacred emblems. Oliver Goldsmith
was buried cast of the choir in 1774; in testimony of
which a tablet appears in o recess on tho north side of
the choir.  Goldsmith was not of the Temple, but he had
chambors in it, first on the staircaso of the Inner Temple
Library, then in King's Beneh Walk, and last at 2 Brick
Clourt, where he died. Upon the pavement of the Church are
figures of crusaders sculptured ont of freestone. The atti-
tudes are all different, but the cffigics aro all recumbent
with tho legs crogsed.  The best authoritics assign five of
thom as follows :~—-(icoffrey de Magnaville, Earl of Essex,
A 1144 William Mareschall, Barl of Pembroke, 1219;
Robert Lord do Ros, a.n. 1245; William Mareschall,
junior, 12315 and Gilbert Mareschall, 1241, Earls of
Pembiroke. Here are also memorials of the learned Selden,
P'lowden, Hooker, (Gibbon the historian, and soveral busts
and monuments of less note. North-east of the choir is
the house of the Master of the Temple, as the preacher
of the church is called. 1Iooker and Sherlock were among
tho Masters of tho Temple. The Choral Service of the
Temple, and the high repntation of the present Master,
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attract many visitors to this church. The “Round™ is
open to all, but the Choir is reserved for benchers amnd
students and for persons presenting a bencher’s order.
The cloisters adjoining Templo Church wero built by
Sir C. Wren. The Temple Gardens aro beantiful green
retreats from the midst of a dirty noisy city, and, to a
stranger turning in suddenly from Fleet Strect, are a pecu-
liarly agreeable surprisc. Shakespeare has made these
Gardens for ever famous by his sceno descriptivo. of the
origin of the Wars of the Roses : there are no roses nowa-
days in Temple Gardens ; the smoke will not let them grow,
“ SUFFOLK. Within the Temple Hall we were too loud—

The garden here is more convenient.
» - * »* *

Praxracezer,  Sinee you are tongue-tied und so loath to speak,
In dumb significants proclaim your thoughts.
Let him that is a true-born gentleman,
Aud stands upon the honour of his birth,
If he suppose that I have pleaded truth,
From off' this briur pluck a white rose with me,
SOMERSET, Let him that is no coward nor no flatterer,
But dare maintain the pmty of the truth,

Pluck o red rose from off this thorn with me,
* * * * »

WARWICK. This brawl to-day
Grown {o this faction in the Tewple Gardens,
Shall send, botween the red rose and the white,
A thousand souls to death and deadly night.”

Of the well-known armorial bearings of the Inner Temple,
a Pegasus—of the Middle, a Lamb —it has been said roni
cally of the lawyers:
“The Lamb scts forth their innocence,
The Hurse their expedition,”

Nearly opposite Middle T'emple Lane, and upon the north
side of Fleet Strect, is the Cock Tavern, once a noted place
for steaks and stout and fine old port; and, as such, made
memorable by Tennyson, whose address to the “plump
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head-waiter at the ‘Cock’” to “fetch a pint of port,”
exhibits a sense of humour for which the Laureate has not
generally been fully credited :—

«High over roaring Temple Bar,
And set in heaven’s third story,
I look at all things ag they are,
But through a kind of glory;
* Ilead-waiter, honoured by the guest
Half-mused or reeling ripe,
Tho pint you brought me was the best
That ever eamo from pipe.”

No. 17 Flect Street, a hairdresser’s shop, is advertised,
without evidence, as ¢ formerly the Pulace of Henry VIIIL
and Cardinal Wolsey.” Mrs. Salmon, the Madame Tussaud
of her time, who had her wax-work exhibition here about
1795, described it as “ once the Palace of Henry, Prince of
Wales, son of James L.” a statement corroborated by an
enriched plaster-ceiling in the first-floor front room, in-
seribed P, (triple-plumed) I, which, with part of the
earved  wainscoting, secms to belong to the period of
James I,

Fleet Streot still maintains the closest associations with
literature. Tt is famons for the number of its newspaper
offices.  Here, besides a multitude of weekly papers and
periodicals, aro published the Daily News, the Duily Tele-
graph, the Morning Advertiser, the Standard, the Daily
Chroniele, Punch, &e.

“Dr. Johnson,” says Leigh Hunt, “is the Genius loci,
the presiding spirit of Fleet Street. Ho was conversant for
the greater part of his lifo with this street, was fond of it,
frequented its Mitre Tavern (not the present public-house)
and has identified its namo and places with the best things
he ever saw and did. Here he walked and talked and
shouldered wondering porters out of the way, and mourned
and philosophised and was a ¢ good-natured fellow’ (as he
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called himself), and roared with peals of laughter till mid-
night echoed to his roar.”” When Boswell replied to Dr.
Johnson’s question as to Greenwich Park, “Is not this
very fine?” *Yes, sir, but not equal to Fleet Strect:”
Johnson heartily responded, “ You are right, sir!” John-
son lived in Fleet Strect, first in Fettor Tane, then in
Boswell Court, then in Gough Square, then in Inner
Temple Lane, then in Johnson’s Court, and for tho longest
period in Bolt Court, where he died.  In Gough Square he
wrote part of his Dictionary.

CuaNcery Laxg, considered the principal legal thorough-
fare in London, extends from Fleet Street, past Lincolu’s
Inn to Holborn, opposito Gray’s Inn. Isaak Walton
lived here in what was in his time the soventh house
from Fleet Street on the left.  Opposito i Serjeants’ Iun,
Chancery Lane, rebuilt by Sir Robert Smirke in 1838;
but the old Hall, sinco the abolition of Serjeantcies at Law,
has been converted into Oftices. (Serjeants’ Inn, Fleet Street,
was the residenco of serjeants’at-law, temp. llenry VI.)
Farther north upon the left of Chancery Lano is a fino old
Gateway to Lincolw’s Inn, of the time of Henry VIIL, and
on the castern side of tho street is tho Rolls Yard, in
which is Rolls Court, presided over by the Master of the
Rolls. In Rolls Chapel, where formerly the Rolls or
Records were kept, is o fine monument of Italian work,
of the sixteenth century. On the site of Southampton
Buildings stood Southampton House, the residenco of the
unfortunate Lord William Russell. It was in passing
this house on his way to the scaffold, that he was for a
moment unmanned by the recollection of his domestic
happiness hercin, but recovering himself, Lo said, “ The
bitterness of death is now passed.” Wentworth, Lord
Strafford, was born in a house in Chancery Lane nearly
opposite Southampton House.

Returning to Fleot Strect we observe the Church of
St. Dunstaw’s-in-the- West, huilt by J. Shaw in 1831-33, hut
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sot back 30 feet from the site of the former church—three
doors from which stopped the great fire of 1666. The old
church was noted for its elock, which struck the quarters
by two wooden figures of savages, life-size, standing within
an aleove, each having o club in his hand. To these
Cowper likens a lamo poct,
“ Where labowr and where dulness hand in hand,
Like the two figures of 8t. Dunstan’s, stand.”

The clock and figures were bought when the old church
way taken down, and vemoved to the grounds of the
Marquis of Hertford, Regent’s Park, where they are still
to be seen.  The present Church of St. Dunstan’s is in the
latest Pointed style, and has a lofty tower surmounted by
an clegant lantern, 130 feet high, of Ketton stome.  Over
tho entrance porch are the heads of Tyndale, the Reformer,
and Dr. Donne, the poet, once vicar of this church.  The
Statue of Queen Elizabeth et up here, was removed from
Ludgate, having survived the Great Fivo of London,  The
interior of St. Dunstan’s is very elegant.

By the side of Bt. Dunstan’s (‘hurch is the entrance to
Cligford’s Tun, one of the old Tuns of Chancery, now let ont
in chambers. The Hall of Clifford’s Inn is Modern Gothie.
Harrison, the regicide, was clerk to an attorney in Clifford’s
Inn, “Thero are three things to notice in Clifford’s Inn :
its littlo bit of twrf and trees, its (uiet, and its having
been the residence of Robert Tultock (probably a briefless
barrister), author of ¢ Peter Wilkins”

Frrrer Lavg, named from the Faitors or beggars who
infested this quarter.  Peele’s Coffee-House at the corner,
was long noted for its complete files of newspapers, both
town and country, which are, however, now no longer
presevved hore.  In this street lived the leatherseller,
Praisegod Barcbones, and his brother, Damned Barcbones,
this being tho contraction for his full name, which was,
o If-Christ-had-not-died-I-had - been - Damned - Barchones,”
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Mrs. Brownrigg, who murdered her apprentice in 1767,
lived at No. 16,  Canniug, in tho drti-Jacobin, says,—

“She whipp'd two female *prentices to death,
And hid them in the coal hole.”

Strange labyrinths of courty lio between Chancery,
Fetter, and Shoe Lanes. The Public Record Office, built
by Pennethorne, between Chancery and Fetter Lanes,
1856, is a capacious fireproof building, containing the
most complete national archives in the world, including
the original <Old Domesday DBook, or Survey of Kngland
mado by William the Conqueror,’”  Theroe is no difficulty in
obtaining adwmission to the Reading-Room at the Record
Oftice.  The White Horse Inn, in Fetter Lane, was ono of
the most famous of the old coaching-houses.  Tho
Moravian Chapel dates from betore the Great Five, which
it just escaped.  Hero Baxter preached, 1672-82.  The
Moravians bought tho chapel in 1738 (when they fivst
came to England), and still retain it.  Tho Iudependent
Chapel is also a Nonconformist place of worship of some
note.  Its last great preacher was the Rev, Caleh Morris,

CraNe Courr was tamed for the mansion in which the
Royal Society met from 1710 till 1782, Until but recently
the room was preserved intact, in which Sir Isnac Newton
sat as president of that society. The house was bought
by the Scottish Corporation when the Royal Society, in
1782, removed to Somerset Honse, but was almost totally
destroyed by fire in 1877, It was rebuilt in 1880,

Passing down Bouverts Steeer, on tho south side of
Fleet Strect, we shall come to Warterriars, formerly the
site of a Clonvent of Carmelites or White Friars, founded
1244. The Hall of the dissolved monastery hecame the
Whitefriars Theatre. 'Tho precinct retained the privileges
of sanctuary, and these were confirmed by James T. in
1608. It, in consequence, became the asylum of debtorsand
thieves, and obtained the eant name of Alsatia, suggesting
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the scene of Shadwell’s © Squire of Alsatia,” and incidents
in Sir Walter Scott’s ¢ Fortunes of Nigel.” Lombard Strect
still oxists as well as Innging Sword Alley, named from
a tavern ciled the ‘Ilanging Sword, mentioned by
Stowe,

Richardson, the novelist, lived in SALISBURY SqUakk or
Courr, as it was then called, and wrote ¢ Pamela’ therc.
Nichols says he was ¢ the son of a juiner, and was educated
(but littlo) at Christ’s 1ospital.”

Sr. Brink’s steeple is one of the most beautiful of Wron's
works, thongh not so perfect as he made it, for it was
shortened in a storm and not rebmilt,  “ As to ity illu-
minated clock,” Leigh Huut joked, “which scems to
remind the jovial that they ought to be at home, wo arc
loth to object to anything useful, and in fact, wo admit its
protensions; yet, as there is a time for all things, there
would scem to bo a timoe for time itsclt,” &e. At the west
end of this church was huried Richard Lovelace, the most
clegant of cavaliers, who sang—

“Ntone wally do nota prison make,
Nor iron bars n eage,
Minds innocent and quict take
That for o hermitage.”

Milton once lodged in St. Bride’s Charehyard.

By the sido of St. Bride’s, or St. Bridget's Churely, is a
passago leading down towards the western front of Bridgo
Street, Blackfriars. Upon this site stood formerly the Palace
and subsequently the Prison of Bridewell (named from tho
well of St. Bride's near by), granted by Edward VI. for
tho purpose mentioned in the following lines, which used
to be seenunder a portrait of His Majesty in old Bridewell
Chapel-—

* This Fdward of fair memory the Sixth
In whem with greatness, goodness was connnixt,
Gave this Bridewell, a palace in old fimes
For a chastising honse of vagrant erimes,”
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Swor Laxe leads to Holborn Hill, past St. Androw's
Workhouse, in the burial-ground of which (now Farringdon
Market) Chatterton was buried. Fleet Market, formerly
held upon the ground of the now clear and open Farringdon
Street, was removed towards Shoe Lane, and has boen since
known as Farringdon Market. Fleet Ditch flowed beneath
what is now called Farringdon Street to the Thames. The
little river Fleet took its rise in the hills of ITampstead,
passed through Kentish and Camden Towns, on throngh
the Bagnigge Wells Road and (lerkenwell Fields, where it
was joined by the water from the Welly, and thence to thoe
bottom of Holborn or Old Bourne (indicating its junction
with another stream). The Fleet was crossed by Holborn
and Fleet Lane bridges. Its character is depicted by Pope
in the ¢ Dunciad :’

“To where Fleet diteh, with disemboguing strenms,
Rolls the large tribute of dead dogs to ‘Thames,
The king of dykes, than whom no slimo of mud
With deeper sable blots the silver flond.”

The diteh has been so thoroughly covered over, that no
sign now cxists by which passcrs-by would observo any
token of its existence.

Fleet Prison was abolished in 1846, after a history of
nearly cight centuries.  Its site is partly ocenpicd by tho
Memorial Hall, built by Nonconformists, in memory of tho
victims of religious bigotry who were incarcerated here in
the reign of Queen Mary and of Charles 1. Hither were
sent, in the former reign, Bishop Hooper, who but quitted
the Fleet for the stake and the fire at Gloucester. Many
of the political victims of the Star Chamber wecre sent to
Fleet Prison, including Prynne, and Lilburne—who led
the forlorn hope in their time in favour of the noble liberty
sinco acquired—of unlicensed printing. After tho abuli-
tion of the Star Chamber, the Fleet Prison was used for
debtors only.  'The prison was destroyed by fire in the rioty
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of 1780, and the prisoners were liberated by the mob, but it
was rebuilt immediately after in a long brick pile, parallel
with Farringdon Street ; above the entrance was the figure
*9°, and tho polite form of addressing debtors confined in
this prison was *at No. 9, Fleet Market.”  Fleet Marriages
were not put an end to nntil 1754, “ Jlow impossible it
would be now,” says Leigh Hunt, “in a neighbourhood
liko this, for such nuisances to exist as a fetid public
ditch, and scouts of degraded clergymen asking people to
‘walk in and bo married”  Yet such was the caso a
century ago.  They performed the ceremony inside the
prison to sailors and others for what they could get. The
parties retired to a gin-shop to treat the clergyman, and
thero and in similar houses the register was kept of the
marriages.”

At the north end of Farringdon Strect is o 1ailway
station of the London, Chatham and Dover Line.

Privie Sreeer, Brackrriaes, leading  to Blackfriars
Bridge (rebuilt by Cubitt, 1864-9, at a cost of 320,0001),
is a continuation, so to speak, of Farvingdon Street. The
district known as BLackrriars extends from Ludgate Hill
to the Thames, and derives ifts name from a monastery
ot Dominican Friars (Fréves or Brothers), founded 1276, In
tho church of this monastery many parliaments and other
ereat meetings took place, and in the mansion attached
thereto, the Emperor Charles Voof Spain was lodged by
Henry VIIL after the Dissolntion,  Here was held the
Parliament which decided upon Henry's divoree from
Katharine of Arragon, and that which condemned Wolsey.
Richard Burbage took advantage of the privilege of
sanctuary belonging to tho district, to build a playhouse
in tho Blackfriars precinct when ho was ¢jected from the
City. Shakespeare had ashare in this Theatre, which is for
ever memorable in literature as the House wherein many of
the great dramas of our greatest poet were first produced.
The site is «till ealled Pravuovse Yarn, The Gireat Fire of
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London destroyed the fine buildings of Blackfriars; tho
church of St. Andrew by the Wardrobe (named from a building
that onco stood here, the Royal Wardrobe) stands in the
place of old Blackfriars Church. In Bridge Street is the
City Station of the London, Chatham and Dovor Railway,
which crosses the Thames by a bridge running near and
parallel to Blackfriars Bridge; the line also spans tho foot
of Ludgate Mill by a Viaduct, awkwardly dividing tho
view of St. Paul’s from the bottom of Fleet Street.

Luvcare MHinn extends from Twoeate Circus to St
Martin's Chwreh, Ludgate, which was rebuilt by Wren
aftor the Great I'ire of London, and is considered to con-
tribute to a fine architectural effect, backed by the eam-
panile towers and majestic dome of S8t Panl's.  In thix old
church was tho following quaint epitaph :

Earth goes fo As mold to mold.
Earth treads on Fartl Glittering in gold,
Earth as to wirtt Returns here shold,
Larth shall to / Goo cre ho wold,
Farth upon Consider may.
Earth goes to Farth Passed nway.
Fath though on “ Is stout and gay.
Larth shall from Passe poor away.

Lunaare Steeer conneets St. Paul's Chnrchyard with
Imdgate Hill. The old City Gate called Ludgato stond
between the present sites of St. Martin’s, Ludgate, and the
London Coffee House; the name of Imdgate has been
aseribed to King Lud, 66 n.c., hut is more probably due to
the ¥lud or Flood-gate of Fleet river. The Gate, which
was used as a prison for debtors of the City of London, was
much injured by the Fire of London, 1666, and was taken
down altogether 1760-62,  On Ludgate Hill, opposite the
Gate, was ended the rebellion under Sir Thomas Wyat, who
hero, after his adherents had forsaken him, flung himself
un a bench opposite the Belle Sauvage Inn, and began to
repent his rashness and lament his folly.
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The Owp Bateey derives its namo from the ballivm, or
outer spuce near the wall of Ludgate, and reaches from
Ludgate Hill past Newgate Prison to Newgate Street. Its
pusition alongside of the ancient wall of the City could be
traced in some massive stonework near Scacoal Lane, at
the bottom of Breakneck Steps. Tho Old Bailey Sessions
Honse stands upon the site of Swrgeons’ Hall, where Oliver
Goldsmith went up for examination and was rejected by
the examiners, December 21, 1758, (See p. 205.)

Through a narrow thoroughfare under an ancient arch-
way upon the southern side of Ludgato Street, is a lane
often erowded with carts and pedestrians, leading to
Printing House Syuare, the site of the King's printing
house in the days of the Stuarts, and now of the offices
of the Times newspaper, where a roll of paper, three or
fonr miles long, is printed oft nightly at the 1ate of
a hundved Thees per minute. Admission to view the
machinery and oflices is sometimes granted npon written
application to the TVwes Printer. The new oftices for
awlvertisements front Queen Vietoria Strect. dpothecaried
1dl, built for the Apothecaries” Company, has long served
as o great laboratory and warchouse for drugs, but its
business does not. belong to the Company, which is fifty-
cighth upon the list of City Companies, and has for its
arms Apollo slaying the Python, with the motto from the
legend as given by Ovid, “ Opiferque per orbem dicor.”
(** Through the world T am spoken of as a helper.”) Garth
wrote of Apothecaries’ Hall -

¢ Nigh where Fleet Diteh descends in sable strenms,
To wash his sooty Naiad$ in the Thames,
There stands & stincture on o rising hill,
Where tyros take their freedom out to kill.”

HerALDs CoLLEce, ot the College of Arms, now in Queen
Yictoria Street, veceived its first charter of incorporation
from Richard 111 It has consisted since 1622 of thirteen
oflicers, viz,, three kings at-avms  Garter, Clarencienx and
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Norroy ; six heralds — Lancaster, Somerset, Richmond,
Windsor, York, and Chester; and four pursnivants—-
Rouge Croix, Blue Mantle, Portcullis, Blue Dragon—
holding their places by appointment of the Duke of Norfolk
as Hereditary Earl Marshal. The mode of ohtaining a grant
of arms is by a petition to the Farl Marshal, prepared on
behalf of the applicant by some member of the Heralds’
College, sctting forth that the memorialist cannot prove
his title to arms, and praying for an authorisation to bear
armorial ensigns, A warrant is issned and a patent
made ont, exhibiting a painting of tho armorial ensigns
granted under the application, and deseribing in official
terms the proceedings and the correct blazon of arms
grantod. This patent is registered in the books of the
Heralds’ College. Thus a man may write Armiger after
his name, at & cost of seventy-five guineas. There are
several wonderful euriosities at Herald's College, including
a pedigree of the Saxem kings, from Adam,

Docrors’ Comwoxs, which lies Detween  Knightrider
Street and St, Paul’s Churchyard, was so called from the
Doctors of Civil Law dining here together four days in
cach term. The recent transfer of the Will Offico from
Doctors’ Commons to Somerset Touse considerably reduced
tho legal business of this locality.

SratioNers’ Harn Courr, Tmdgate THIL 1t is worth
anybody’s while,” says Leigh Hunt, “ to go to Stationers’
Hall to see the portraits of Steele, Prior, and Richardson.
All publications have to be registered here, in order to
protect them under the Copyright Act; and hence arises
the phrase so frequently scen on prints, music, &e.,
“ Entered at Stationers’ Hall.”

Parerxoster Row (see p. 215), Ave Maria Tane, Crekn
Laxe, SErMoN LaNg, AMeN CorNeR, are said to have heen so
named from the number of rosary or paternoster makoers
and text writers who dwelt there, and sold horn books of
the alphabet, with the Creed, Lord's Prayer, &c., added
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thereto,  In the most easterly of narrow passages {rom
Paternoster Row to Newgate Street, called Paxyrr ArLey,
is a stone built into the wall of one of the houses on the
vant side, carved to represent a wicker hasket or pannier
with & hoy on the top of it,  Bencath is the inscription—

“ When you have sought the city round,
Yet still this is the highest ground.”

This earving reminds one of an old Tavern signboard
mentioned by Larwood called the Naked Boy and Wool-
pack, near London Bridge.  Amongst the numerous odd
names of Taverns which are to bo seen in London, may
bo here mentioned tho * Goose and Gridivon,” hard by
London Honse Yard, St. Paul’s Churchyard.  This Tavern
is chicefly remarkable for the Lodge of Freemasons which
met here nnder the Mastership of Sir Christopher Wren
(seo po 94). The sign of the Goose and Gridiron is
supposed to have been a sort of satirical fling at the Swan
and Harp, -well-known symbols of voeal and instrumental
musie,  The * Goose and Gridiron,” however, 1s now hest
known as a place for hooking parcels to Kew, Richmond,
&ey and as the starting-place for omnibuses to those places
(hy Kensington, Hammersmith, and Twrmham Green);
as albo to Hounslow and Brentford. The * Angel and
Steelyards” is another such signboard, indicating Justice
holding her Scales; also the Bull and Bed-post, showing a
bull fastened to a stake to be haited ; the Ship and Shovel
ix either o memento of Nir Cloudesley Shovel's naval
exploits, or may ho regarded as tho Coalheavers” Arms, -
a collier ship to bring the coals, and a shovel av the hest
instrnment to discharvgn them with,



St. Paul's Cathedrdd. 93

ST. PAUL'S CATHEDRAL,

ITE present magnificent edifice, by Sir Christopher
Wren, the most prominent feature of London, is
the third church dedicated to St. Paul which has been
reared upon this site-—originally, we are told, the place
of a temple in honour of Diana.  The first church was
built a.p. 610, and lasted till the time of William the
Conqueror—it was burnt down in 1087.  The second
was the one usually known as Old St. Paul's, and was
690 fect in length, 130 in breadth, and its spire, 520 fect
high, was equal to that of the present C'ross with the
Monument superadded. OIld St. Paul’s was used by tho
young gallants of the time, described as “ Paul’s Walkers.”
The proverb of “dining with Duke Humphrey,” origi-
nated in the wuse, by the poorer frequenters of OId
St. Paul’s, of a tomb said to have heen the burial-place of
Duko Humphrey of Gloucester.  Those who strolled about
in want of a dinner used his tomb as a resting-placo, and
were ironically described as dining with Duke Humphrey.
Old St. Paul’s was remarkable for its splendid shrino and
magnificent robes, crosses, jewels, and plate, its chapels,
altars, and its numerous clergy. Ienry VI swept its
wealth into his treasury. In the time of the Common-
wealth, Old St, Paul’s was turned to several “hase uses;”
tho Parliamentary soldiers played at ninepins in the
churchyard; they sawed timber in sauwpits dug in the
body of the church, and stabled their horses in another
part of it. Inigo Jones's lofty and beautiful portico was
converted into milliners’ shops and lodgings, and the
statues on the top were knocked down and broken to
pieces. In the Great Fire of 1666, the church was ve-
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duced to a heap of ruins. It was cight ycars before the
site was cleared for the present St. Paul’s, the first
stone of which was laid on the 21st of June, 16735, by the
Architect and his lodge of Freemasons; the 'I'rowel and
Mallet then used are preserved in the Lodge of Antiquity,
of which Sir Christopher Wren was Master.  The entire
Cathedral was completed in 1710, e, in 35 years; under
one architect, Sir Christopher Wren, one master mason,
Mr. T. Strong, and one bishop, Dr. 1. Compton, at a cost
of £747,954,  Wren received £200 per annum for his
services, and for this, said the Duchess of Marlborough,
* he was content to bo hoisted in a basket three times a
week, to the top of St. Paul’s, at a great hazard.” Sir
Christopher lived to a good old age, ninety years, and it
in said his chief delight, as an old man, was to be carried
once & year to look at his noble work. Uis epitaph in
Latin now rescued from the vaults of the church where
no one could seo it, and placed in gold letters over the
choir, is—

“Subtus conditur hujus ceclesiee ¢t urbis conditor Ch, Wren qui
vixit annos ultra nonaginta, non 8ibi sed bono publice.  Lector, si
monumentum requiris,  circumspice.”  Which may be  translated:
* Beneath is buried Ch, Wren, architect of this Church and City, who

lived for moro than ninety years, not for himself, but for the publie
good.,  Reader, if thou seekest his monument, look around,”

“The reader,” says Leigh Hunt, * does look around, and
the whole interior of the Cathedral, which is finer than the
outside, seems like a magnificent vault over his single body.”
Mucnulay writes,  Tn architectnre, an art which is half a
seience, an art in which none but & geometrician can excel,
an art which has no standard of grace but what is directly
or indirectly dependent on utility, an art of which the
creations derive a part at least from mere bulk, our
country could boast at the timo of the Revolution of one
truly great man, Siv Christopher Wren; and the fire
which laid London in ruins, destroying 13,000 houses
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and 89 churches, gave him an opportunity unprecedented
in history of displaying his powers. Tho austere beanty
of the Athenian portico, the gloomy sublimity of the
Gothio arcade, he was, like most of his contemporaries,
incapable of emulating, and perhaps incapable of appre-
ciating ; but no man born on our side of the Alps has
imitated with so much success the magnificence of the
palaco churches of Ttaly. Tven the superb Louis XTIV,
has left to posterity no work which can bear a comparison
with St. Paunl’s.”

The Cathedral has been thus described.  Tixterior: The
ground plan is that of a Latin cross, with lateral pro-
jections at the west end of the nave. Tength from east to
west 550 feet, width 125 feot, except at the west end,
where tho campanilo towers are cach 222 feet high, and
the chapels beyond make the principal front facing Ludgate
Hill, 180 feet in width; the height to the top of tho cross
i 370 feet. The upper part of tho exterior is of the
Composite, tho lower of the (‘orinthian order; the surfuce
is Portland stone. At the west end a noble flight of steps
ascends to a doubled portico, terminated by a pediment, in
tne tympanum of which iy seulptured the Conversion of
St. Paul ; on the apex is a colossal figure of St. Paul, and
on the right and left St. Peter and St. James.  Beneath
the portico are the doors, above which there is o marblo
group, St. Paul preaching to the Bercans.  All the figures,
as well as tho Statue of Queen Anne on the pedestal in
front of the building, were seulptured by Bird.  Each
domo has a gilt pinc-apple at the apex; the south tower
contains the clock, the north the belfry, and in tho west
faces arc stautues of the Four Fvangelists. At the northern
and southern ends of the transepts the lower order Corin-
thian is continued into porticos of six fluted columns
standing on the segment of a circle, and crowned with a
semi-dome. 'The interiors of the nave and choir, are each
designed with three arches longitudinally springing from
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piers strengthened as well as decorated on their inner faces
Ly an entablature whose cornice reigns thronghout the
nave and church.  The entrances from the transepts lead
into vestibules, each communicating with the centre and
its aisles, formed between two massive piers and the walls
at the intersections of the transepts with the choir and
nave. The cight piers are joined by arches springing
trom one to the other so as to form an octagon.  The choir
contains some of the finest carvings in the world—hy
Grinling Gibbons.  The side aisles or oratories were
added to the nave as first planned by Wren—it was said,
by order of the Duke of York, afterwards James 11, who
wished * to have them ready for the Popish service, when
there should be oceasion.”  Wren remonstrated with tears,
Iut in vain,  The Monuments are remarkable as memorials
rather than as works of art.  “In general, while civil
eminence has been commemorated in Westminster Abbey,
St. Paul’s has heen made a Pantheon for onr heroes.”  The
following are the chicf statnes: Howard, the philan-
thropist (sometimes from his keys mistaken for St. Peter),
Dr. dohnson, bothe by Bacon; Sir Joshua Regnolds, by
Flaxman ; Sir Willium Jones, the Ovientalist, by Bacon;
Lord Nelson, by Flaxman; Lord Corueallis, by Rossi; Sir
Rulpl Abeverombie and Collingwood, by Westmacott; Lord
Howe, by Flaxman; Lord Heathfield, by Rossi; Sir John
Maore, by Dacon; Sir W. Hoste, by Campbell ; Major-
General Gillespie, by Chantrey ; Lord  Roduey, Captaing
Morse and Rivers, by Rossi; Captain Westeott, by Banks ;
General Ponsonby, by Daily ; Generals Gore and Skerrett,
by Chantrey ; Earl St. Vincent, by Buily ; General Picton,
by Guhagan; Adwiral Duncan, by Westmacott; General
Dundas, by Bacon; Dr. Middleton, by Lough; Bighop
Heber, by Chantrey; Sir dstley Cooper, by Baily ; and
Dr. Babington, by Behnes: also two fine works by
Chantrey, in memory of Colonel Cadogan and  General
Bowes. 'The Duke of Wellingtow's Monwment oceupics the
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wost chapel in the south nave aisle. In the crypt, south
aisle, is the grave of Sir Christopher Wren ; near him lio
Sir Joshua Reynolds, Barry, Opic, West, Fuseli, Lawrence,
and last, not least, J. M. W. Turner. Nelzow's Tomb is in
the middle of the erypt. e was buried in a sarcophagus
said to have been made for Henry VIIIL at tho expenso of
Cardinal Wolsey. Nelson's coflin was mado out of the
mainmast of L'Orient—a present to Nelson from his friend
Captain Hallowell, of the Swiftsure, after the Battlo of the
Nile, with the statemont that it was sent ©so that when
you aro tired of this lifv you may be buried in one of yonr
own trophies.”  Nolson's flag wis to havo been buried with
his coftin, but just as it was about to bo lowered, the
sailors who had borne him to the tomb, moved as it by ono
impulse, rent the flag in picees, so that cach might keep a
fragment. Lord Collingwood lics, as he requested, near
Nelson, and opposite, Lord Northesk. The Duke of Wel-
lington’s Tomb is in the east crypt, and near him sleeps the
brave General Picton, of Waterloo fame. Thoe Lanrcato’s
lines respecting the burial of Wellington and Nelson in
this crypt, beginning with Nelson’s inquiry, are hero re-
called to us—
“Who is he that cometh like an hononred guest,
With banner and with music, with soldiers and with priest,
With a nation weeping, and breaking on my rest?”
“ Mighty seaman this is he,

Was great by land as thon by sca;

Thine island loves thee well, thou fiunous man,

The greatest sailor sinee the world began;

Now to the roll of mufiled drums

'To thee the greatest soldicr comes ;

For this i3 he,

Was great by land as thou by sea”
Mylne, the architect of O1d Blackfriars Bridge, and Renuie,
builder of Waterlov Bridge, also Dance, the architect, and
Dr. Boyee, musician, all lie in this erypt, in which are pre-
gerved the following monuments, which belonged to Old

u
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St. Paul’s: Dean Colet, founder of St. Paul’s school, Sir
Nicholas Baron, Sir Christopher Hatton, and Dr. Donne.
"T'he WiusrkriNe (rALLERY is reached from an angle under
the dome by 260 easy steps.  Thero, a low whisper from one
sido is carried to the opposite side with great distinciness.
The Liszary in the gallery over the sonthern aislo
contains many thousands of valuable books and MSS. relat-
ing to Old St. Paul’s.  The GrosiTrICAL STAIRCASE of 110
steps was built by Wren for private access to the Library
from the Gallery.  In the MopeL Rooy is to be seen Wren's
Original Design for St. Paul’s,  The Crock Roox is in the
sonth-west tower, Tk Crock was made by Bradley in
1708, and is remarkable for its size and good workman-
ship. It has two dial-plates (south and west) each fitty-
one feet in cireumference, and the mumerals are 2 fect
2} inohes in height, the minuto hands ave 9 feet 8 inches
Jong, and weigh 7olbs, cach, and the hour hands are 5 fect
O inches long, and weigh 441bs. cach. The Clock goes
cight duys, and strikes the Great Bell, which has been
heard at midnight twenty miles off (see p. 46). The
Inxse Dosk, painted by Siv James Thornhill, por-
trays tho events in the history of St. Paul. The Stox
Giarteey is outside tho baso of the dome. The Ourkn
(1oLbEN GALLERY is at the summit of the dome, and
tho InNeEr GorbeN GALLERY at tho base of the lantern,
wheneo the ascent is made by ladders to the Ball and Cross.
Trom tho Ourkr GorpeX GaLLery may be obtained at carly
worning, the most perfect view of’ London possible. ¢ In
high winds the oreaking and whistling resemble those of
a ship labouring in a storm.”  Visitors are admitted to St.
Paul’s without fee, daily, except during Divine Service, but
tho following fees aro paid for admission to the portivns
of the Cathedral not open to the public.  Whispering and
Stuno and Golden Galleries, 6d. cach.  Library, Great Bell,
and Geometrical Staircase, 6d.  Clock, 2d. Crypt, 6d., or
total, 38, 2d. Choral servico is performed at a quarter bofore
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ten in the morning, and a guarter-past threo in tho after-
noon. Morning prayer daily at cight o'clock. Divino
Service on Sunduys at 10.30 A, 3.15 rv, and 7 ey
Dr. Stainer presides at the organ, a splendid instrument,
under the dome. The Chapter-house of St. Paul’s is in
St. Paul’s Churchyard, opposite the north door of the
Cathedral.

St. auL’s Cuurcnyarp is itself but a small area of a
little over two acres, containing no memorials of intorest.
In thoe adjoining thoroughfare, known under the same
name, aro somo of the busiest shops of London. On its
cast sido is St. Puul’s School, founded by Dean Colot in
1509 for 153 boys (all free) of every nation, country, and
class, between nine and nineteen years of age—the numbor
of 153 being derived from the 11th verse of St. John,
chap. xxi.,, “Simon Peter went up and drow the net to
land full of great fishes, an hundred and fifty and throo.”
T'ho education comprises classics, mathematics, and I'rench,
Admission to the school is obtained by means of presenta-
tions in tho gift of the Master, Wardens, and Court of
Assistants of the Mercers’ Company. T'here are no school
fues. The avorago cost of books is about £1 per annum.
There arc numerous exhibitions to the Universities con-
nected with this school. Of the eminent men who were
scholars at this school may be mentioned John Milton,
Leland the antiquary, tho great Duko of Marlborough,
Samuel Pepys, and Halley the astronomer. Towards the
corner of St. Paul’s Churchyard leading to Cheapside, stood,
as wo have said, Paal’s Crogs, & campanile, or bell-houso
(to summon people to the Folkmote), which was taken down
in the time of Henry VIIL. Defore Old Paul’s Cross, Jano
Shore was made to do penance in a whito sheet with taper
in her hand. Upon the south-west sido of the Cathedral
stood tho parish church of St. Gregory, over which was
the Lovrrakps’ Towkr,—infamous, like its namesake at
Lawmbeth, for the ill-treatment of so-called heretics.

H 2
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CANNON STREET, EASTCHEAY, THE TOWER,
THAMES STREET, &o.

"l‘ tho south-castern corner of St. Paul’s Churchyard
beging a large wide thoroughfare running east, and
now named CanyNox Strekr (said to be a corruption of
Candlewick Street), in which the wax-chandlers dwelt
who supplied Catholic churches with tapers, &e. St
Mildred’s Church, Broad Street, St. Nicholas, and St. Mary
Mugdalen in Old Fish Street, were all by Sir €. Wren.
St. Mary Aldermary faces tho Mansion House Station of the
Underground Railiway.

Warning Strekr, said to bo derived from Atheling
(noble), forms part of the direct old Loman road from
Dover throngh London to the north. Tower Rovan is
a namo indicating the sito of an old royal palace, in
which the widow of the Black Prince was residing when
the rebels under Wat Tyler broke in upon her. Bunsk
Row was named from the sellers of Budge or lambskins
who dwelt there. The Cannon Street Railway Station is
the City terminus of the South-Eastern Railway, which
by means of the Cannon Street Bridye over the T'hames
communicates overy five minutes with Charing Cross or
with London Bridge, and joins the South-Western Railway
at Waterloo Station, halt-way to Charing Cross. The
Cannon Street. Railway Hotel is ono of several large and
commodious railway hotels built of late years in London
for tho uso of travellers, and found to be, generally, ad-
mirable investments of capital.  Opposite the Station is
tho Church of St. Swithin, rebuilt by Wren and sinco
modernised.  Dryden was married here in 1663 to Lady
Elizabeth Howard.

LoNvox Stone is to be seen fixed into the south end of
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St. Swithin’s Church, facing the Cannon Street Station.
It formerly stood on the south side of the street, as stated by
Stowe; but it was removed in 1798, being regarded as
a nuisance and obstruction. But for the interposition
of a neighbouring printer, Mr. Malden, of Sherborne Lane,
it is probable that this most ancient relic of Roman
London would have been totally destroyed at that time.
It was, bowever, set in o largo stone case and built as wo
see it into the outer wall of St. Swithin’s. London Stone
was the Milliarium or central milestone, from which all
other milestones marked distances, even as the Milliarium
in the Forum was the centre from which all Roman roads
radiated. In Stowe's time, London Stone was * fixed in
the ground, fastened with bars of iron, and otherwise so
strongly sct that if carts do run against it through negli-
gence, the wheels be broken and the stonoe itself unshaken.”
Strype describes this stone as much worn, *“but a stump
remaining before the fire of London,” but “it is now for
the prescervation of it cased over with a new stono.”
Shakespeare in ‘Ilenry VL, act iv. sc. 6, deseribes Jack
Cado entering Cannon Strect with his followers in triumph,
and, “striking his staff on London Stone,” saying, * Now
is Mortimer lord of the city. And here, sitting npon
London Stone, I charge and command, that of tho city’s
cost, the conduit run nothing but clarct wino this first
year of our reign. - And now henceforth it shall be treason
for any that calls me other than Lord Mortimer.”  When
looking at this old fragment of the past, and remembering
that it has been here for a thousand ycars, that it is
perhaps the most perfect historical relic of the Roman
ocenpation, being in fact the *“quorna or umbilicvs castri
Londinensis,” and that it has been recognised as such, or
as, at all cvents, one of the most ancient of London land-
marks, by every historian, dramatist, and antiquarian
known to English litcrature, we shall esteem London
Stone as one of the most inleresting of old world relics.
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In St. Swrrms’s LANg is the Hall of the Company of
Salters ; also tho Counting-House of Baron Rothachild, the
great millionnaire and financier. The latter house may
bo easily distinguished from its neighbours; it stands a
littlo back from the street upon the west side. At the
northern end of St. Swithin’s Lane upon the east side is
a noted house for cheap city luncheons, the Bay Tree, in
tho old smoking-room of which ono may sce much of the
ways and manners of the poorer elass of City speculators.

Anciurcn LANE i named from the parish of St. Mary
Abehureh or Upchurch, — St. Dunstan’s-in-the- East, vestored by
Wren, is near Fastcheap.

Tho Boar's Head in Easrcurar (rendered for ever
memorablo by Shakespeare as tho scene of Falstaff and
Princo Henry’s roystorings), was burnt down in the Great
Fire. Tt stood upon the site oceupied now by tho Stafue of
Williawm IV, at the end of King William Street. There is
proof that in Shakespeare’s timo the Boar's Head Tarern
in Eastcheap existed, and was of some repute, for Robert
Harding, Alderman of London, who died in the 11th year
of the reign of Queen Elizabeth, is recorded to have been
seisod of @ messiage, sive tenem, sive tabern, ealled the
Boare's Head lving in East Cheape in the parish of St
Michael in Crooked Lane, London, in the tenure of Edward
Betham,”  The Tavern was rebuilt after the Great Fire,
and had over its central door a hoar'’s head carved in stone,
Goldsmith, Boswell and Washington Irving have each
given us an ideal pieturo of the ancient hostelry.  Many
a traveller to London, before and since, has set himself to
find some relie of the old “Boar's Head’ in Eastcheap, where
Falstaff swallowed his “ intolerable quantity of sack to but
a ha'porth of bread.”  So long as a house stood npon the
gronnd, it was possible for faney to supply some comfort
to the Eastcheap pilgrim. William 1'V.s Statne to such
& man must xeem a mockery and a wrong,

GRrackeHURCH NTreer, formerly written Gracious Street,
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but also, and more properly, Grasschurch Street, from the
parish church of St. Benet (recently abolished), called
Grasschurch, becauso of the herb-market thore kept. Mark
Lane is noted all over the world for its Corn Kachanges,
Oll and New,

MixciNe Laxe, named after the Minchuns or nuns of
St. Helen, is the site of a busy mart (30-4) for wholesalo
dealers in Tea, Wine, Spices, and other Foreign produco;
and these commodities are disposed of hy anction in thoe
Commereial Sale Rooms, simultanconsty, by perhaps half
dozen different auctioncers in as many apartments--the
purchasers being generally compowsed of distinetly sepa-
rate classes of traders.  The Hall of the Clothworkers Com-
pany is on the cast side of Mincing Lane.  Samuel Pepys
was Master of the Company in 1677, and presented to it o
richly chased silver “ Loving Cup,” still used npon festivo
oceasions,

CrurcnEp  Friaes is named from a Priory of cruxed
or crossed Friars which formerly stood here,

Irom Gracechureh Street through Little Kastcheap and
Great Tower Street we shall best reach the Tower of
London, The Churele of Allhallines, Bavking (so enlled from
its founders, the nuns of Barking Abbey), is at the end
of the Iast-named street, and contains some fine examples
of’ brass memorials, and one or two altar tombs of great
antiquity. In this churel were Imried several of thoso
personages who had been beheaded on Tower Hill,  Of
sich Old City Churches, with their various pecaliar featnres,
Dickens wrote as follows: “In the churches abont Mark
Lane there waus a dry whiff of wheat, and 1 accidentally
struek an airy sunplo of barley ont of an aged hassock in
one of them.  From Rood Lane to Tower Street and there
about, there was sometimes a subtle flavour of wine;
sometimes of tea.  One church near Mincing Lane smelt
like a druggist’s drawer.  Behind the Monwmnent the
servico had a flavour of damaged oranges, which v Jittlo
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farther down the river tempered into herrings, and
gradually turned into a cosmopolitan blast of fish.” The
¢ Czar's Head” public-house near Tower Hill was named
after Peter the Great, who is gaid to have frequented it
with his companion soakers and smokers,

Tower HiLn is a large open space of great historical note.
On thesite of the present garden of Trinity Square, stood
the wooden scaffold whercon many most eminent persons
wero beheaded, ineluding Bishop Fisher and Sir Thomas
More, Cromwell Earl of Essex, Henvy THoward Farl of
Surrey, Thomas Lord Sevmour, of Sudely, the Protector
Somerset, John Dudley Farl of Northumberland, Lord .
Dudley, Sir Thomas Wyat, Wentworth Earl of Straftord,
Archbishop Land, Algernon Sydney, Duke of Monmouth,
Larl of Derwentwater and Lord Kenmnir, Lords Kilmar-
nock and Balmerino, and last of all Simon Lord Lovat,
in 1747, Sineo that time there has been no beheading in
this kingdom, nor any exeention upon Tower Iill. Of
the few other historical associations of this quarter, may
bo mentioned the fact that FEdmund Spencer was born
(1552) near here; William enu wag born (1644) in a
court then upon the east sido of Tower ill; Otway, the
poet, died, it iy said of hunger, at the ¢ Ball” public-house ;
and, “ina by-eutler’s shop of Tower THIL” says Sir Henry
Wotton, * Felton honght a tenpenny knife (so cheap was
the instrument of this great attempt) with which he
assassinated  tho Duke of Buekingham.”  Postern Row,
which marks the site of the old Postern gate and the
Loundary wall of the City, once had an evil reputation as
the favourite lurking-place for erimps and press-gangs.
A portion of the old Roman wall is still tv be scen npon
the castern side of Tower Hill,
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THE TOWER OF LONDON.

[Admission from ten to four; free on Mondays and Saturdays; upon
other days 6d. for the Armoury and tho White Tower, and 6d. for tho
Crown Jewels. The entrance is near the end of Tower Thames Street,
and here the tickets for admission are obtained.]

HE Tower or Loxpon has a history, which, like that
of the kingdom itself, recedes into tho dim distanco
of fable. Thero is littlo doubt that for many centuries
before the Conquest, an important structure stood on this
site.  Shakespearo but repeats the tradition that Julius
Cwsar reared the pile, Heywood says:
¢ Ciesar himself
That built tho same, within it kept his court,
And many kings since he; the rooms are large,
The building stately and for strength besides,
It is the sufest and the surest hold you have.”

William the Conqueror built the White Tower or Keep
in 1078, William Rufus and Henry L. added St. Thomax’s
Tower over Traitor’s Gate.  Ienry I largely improved
it, and made it into a palatial dwelling. Edward ILL
imprisoned in it Baliol, Bruce, Wallace, and John, King of
France. Richard IT. oeenpied the Tower during the Wat
T'yler insurrection; in the upper chamber of the White
Tower he abdicated his sovercignty iu favour of his cousin
Ilenry Bolingbroke. Shakespeare describes Richard as
saying upon this occasion—

“With mine own tears I wash away my balm ;
With mine own hands I give away my crown;
With mine own tongue deny my sacred state;
With mine own breath release all duteous oath,
Al pomp and majesty T do forgwear.”
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Henry TV, imprisoned here Prince James, son of Robert
IT. of Scotland, and beheaded his brother-in-law, the Earl
of Huntingdon. Henry V. brought hither his eaptives from
Agincourt, and hence sent the leader of the Lollards, the
good Lord Cobham, to the stake at St. Giles’s. Ilenry VI.
died here, under circumstances which suggested that he
had been murdered by Richard of Gloucester.  The Duke
of Clarence fell the next victim, then Hastings, and then
the two infant princes, Edward V. and Richard of York.
The Tast of the Plantagenets, Edward, son of the murdered
Duko of Clarence, was beheaded here, for no offence save
boing tho heir of his father.  Perkin Warbeck went hence
to I'yburn, where he was deservedly hanged.  In Henry
VHUES reign the Tower was speeially busy and ocenpied,
and, if it were possible to exceed in blackness the records
of tho murders just recited, the open and legalised execn-
tions of this reign must he held to hiave done so. The best
blood of England poured forth Iavishly on the slightest
pretence during this period upon the seatfold of Tower Hill,
or upon the more private block on the green by St. Peter’s
at. Vineula, inside the Tower.  After the vietims to Henry
VIS claims to be his own Pope, camo  those who
suffered for not properly comprehending the new ortho-
doxy; sueh as Anue Askew, who was racked in the Tower
betfore she was burnt in Smithficld—Loxd  Chancellor
Wriothesley himself having pulled off his cont to give the
poor ereature an extra wrench. Bloody Mary imitated her
futher but mildly so far as the Tower is concerned—her
chiet vietims being the Lady Jane Grey and her adherents.
Good Queen Bess imprisoned many persons here, but
exceuted only a few, and those chiefly to assert her supre-
maey in Chureh and State.  James I, filled tho Tower
dungeons with the Gunpowder I'lot conspirators, and these
were all duly sent out of the world after undergoing the
traitors” penalty of being hanged and disembowelled alive,
James's reign was stained by comparatively few other
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atrocities in the Tower—the principal being the poisoning
of Sir Thomas Overbury. In (harles I.’s reign began a
new chapter of Tower History. After Sir John Eliot had
suffered incarceration and death, one after another of tho
king’s chief supporters, Strafford, Laud, and others, went
the old way of the scaffold. Charles I1. is answerablo
for littlo beyond his revenge taken on the regicides; but
James IT. found ample use for this time-worn instrument
of tyranny, although he did not cut off so many heads as
his predecessors, for the times had improved a little,
It is not, perhaps, too much to say that James 1L's
imprisoment of the six bishops in the Tower led to the
destruetion of his sovereignty, for it gave the deathblow
to the doctrine of “passive obedience™ in the minds of
many a staunch upholder of the divine right of kings. Tho
few victims who followed after this reign, were sacrificed
to the manes of the Iouse of Stuart, whoso cause they too
ardently espoused ; the last Tower exeentions were of the
adherents of the Young Pretender.

The parts of the building exhibited to the public, by
means of the Beef-caters (Buffétiers) or Yeomen of the
Guard—old soldiers who still wear the handsome costume
which was made for them at their institution by Henry
V1L, may be thus deseribed i- -

We enter under the Mionie Towee, defended by gates
and a portenllis. Next is the Bywarn Tower, the chicf
entranco to the external line of fortifications.  Wo pass
over the moat which surronnds the whole building, and
which, now used as a garden, might be flooded at high
water, if need be, for defence.  Trarror’s (GATE or ST.
THoMAS'S TowEr—

“That gate misnamed throngh which hefore

Went Sidney, Russell, Raleigh, Cranmer, More”—

is seen towards the river. It way the principal entrance
for those prisvners who were brought hither by water, hut
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is no longer in use. Almost opposite Traitors’ Gate is the
Broony T'ower, wherein were murdered, by command of
Richard 111, tho infant princes, Edward V. and the Duke
of York, sons of Edward IV, Near by is the Recorp or
WaxkerieLh Tower, where tho Records used to be kept.
‘assing onwards wo come to the BgeLL Tower, the
Giovernor's House, not now exhibited. Ilero were im-
prisoned, Queen Elizabeth when Princess, Lady Lennox,
grandmother of James L, Bishop Fisher, and subsequently
Guy Faux, and the Gunpowder Plot conspirators.

T'ur Wurre Tower, the most ancient part of the fortress,
was crected for William tho Conqueror by Gundulph,
Bishop of Rochester, noted for his architectural skill,
1079-80. It has threo lofty stories, and vaults below,
cach story having one large room and two smaller ones,
Tho smallest apartment on the first floor, called Queen
Elizabetl’s Armoury, has o doorway communicating with a
cell 10 feet Jong by 8 feet wide, but unlighted except
from the door.  Sir Walter Raleigh is said to have heen
imprisoned in theso rooms, and to have herein written his
¢ History of tho World,”  There are inscriptions near the
door of the cell of Rudstone, Fane and Culpepper,
adherents of Sir Thomas Wyat in his rebellion, 1553.
Above s St. Jonn's Ciaver, “ onoe of the finest specimens of
Norman architecture in Fngland,” but long unused for
religious purposes.  Upon the next floor is the Council
Room and Banqueting Hall, where the Kings of England
held their Court at the Tower, but which is now used for
storago of small arms, arranged in various ingeniously
contrived groups and devices.

Bravenave Towerr was named after Beanchamp, Earl of
Warwick, imprisoned here in the reign of Richard 11, 1397,
At the entrance, is the name of Marmaduke Nevile, one of
the Neviles whoe conspired against Queen Elizabethinfavour
of Mary Queen of Scots, and near it are three wheat sheaves
(arms of the Peverels), also a crucitix, a bleeding heart, a
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skeleton, and the name ¢ Peverel.” Over the fireplace is
an inscription by Philip lHoward, Larl of Arundel, an
ardent Roman Catholic who fell under Queen Elizabeth’s
displeasure for his welcome of the Spanish Armada. On
the right of the fireplace are sculptured a device and
inseription by John Dudley, Earl of Warwick; a lion and
bear grasping the ragged stafl are scen, and four lines
benecath reforring to the Karl, and his three hrothers who
were imprisoned for their attempts to make Lady Jane
(irey (married to Lord Guilford Dudley) queen. Near
the north-western recess is an inscription in Latin—* Deo
servire, penitentiam inire, fato obedire, Regnare est. A,
Poole, 1564, 1HI5.”  “To serve God, to bo repentant, to
be submissive to fate, Is to reign;” and another in
English, “ A passage perilous maketh a port pleasant,”
A°. 1568, Arthur I'ovle, i sum (in the year of his ago), 37.
Under the former inscription is tho word IANF—tho royal
namo of Lady Jano (irey, who was not (as some have
asserted) imprisoned here, but “at Master Partridges
lodgings,” probably the rooms of vne of the Tower officials,
Neither was Anne Boloyn imprisoned here, but in the
Palace of the Tower. In the upper chamber of the
Beauchamp Tower are some other inscriptions on the
walls.

Tug Devereux Tower was named after Devercux, Earl
of Essex, who was imprisoned hercin by Queen Elizabeth,
sce p. 117.  In the Bowyer Towrr (named from being tho
residence of the King's Bowyer), tho Duke of Clarence,
brother of Edward 1V., having been permitted to chooso
his mode of death, is said to have been drowned in a butt
of Malmsey, 147+ In the Jewkn or MarnN Tower the
Crown jewels were formerly kept.  In the Sart Towkr is
a curious devico on the wall, of a sphere, tho signs of
the Zodiac, &c., said to have been drawn by Hugh
Draper, of Bristol, 1561, imprisoned here on suspicion of
soreery.
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The Horse Armounry contains a line of twenty-two
equestrian and other figures, in the armour of soveral
reigns, from Henry VI, 1422, to James I1., 1685. The First
Compartment contains helmets of 12th, 13th and 14th
centuries ; also a portion of chain armour and (fuisarmes—
weapons used at the Battle of Hastings. The adjoining
stand of arms is formed of battle and polo axes, “ morning
stars,” &c. The End Cumpartment shows the arms and
accoutrements of the time of Agincourt down to that of
tho Wars of the Roses.  Under the wall (painted white and
groon to denote the colours ot the Tudor liveries) is the
Third Compartment, containing suits of armour of the
period of Henry VIIL and Elizabeth, and including the
figure of Henry VIIL himselt in the King's own armour on
horseback.  In the Foarth Compartment (nuder the red
and yellow colours of the Stuarts) are figures in the
armonr of the period from James I. to Charles 1L,
including a figure in the armour of General Monk, and
another in the armour which belonged to James 1L In
the reign of William 111, defensive armour was abandoned,
and the old suits were sent to the Tower. The last stand of
arms shows the halberds and other weapons used at the
Battlo of Sedgemoor.

In the Eastern Vestbule are weapons from Indian
battlefields, and at the side are heliets, shields, &e., and
somo masks, one of which is an exceutioner's,  Upon leav-
ing the Vestibule, visitors will sce on their right some speci-
mens of Toledo swords, then the Military Trophy at the
cast end of the Armoury, and on the wall some suits worn
by the pikemen carly in the 17th century. In the Room
above are two compartments, one containing Oriental Arms
and Armour, the other, cannon captured at Waterloo, and
kettledrums taken at Blenheim. In the Centre of the Roowm is
a Model of the Tower ; along the cast side is the cloak upon
which General Wolfe died at the capture of Quebee, 1756,
also some blunderbusses, &c.  In the other parts of the
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room, are interesting specimens of Burmese, Chinesce,
Saracenic, and Indian and Turkish armour.

The REGALIA or CrowN JEWELS, now kept in tho Record
or Wakefield Tower (namod after the Yorkists imprisoned
there after Queen Margaret’s victory at Wakefield),
cunsist of the fullowing—all the regalia up to the time of
Charles I. having been sold and melted down in 1625-6,
« for the king’s purposes”*:—(1.) The Crown of Queen Vic-
toria, made for Her Majesty's coronation. The cap of purple
velvet 1s enclosed in hoops of silver surmounted by o ball
and cross, all resplendent with diamonds.  In the centre
of the cruss is the * inestimable” sapphire, and in front
the heart-shaped ruby said to have been worn by the Black
Princo. (2.) St. Edward’s Crown, made for Charles 11, and
usod at every coronation since, is of gold embellished with
diamonds, rubies, emeralds, pearls, and sapphires.  This is
the crown which Colonel Blood stole from the Tower. o
was forthwith captured, and tho Regalia restored.  Blood
was sald to have escaped punishment for this and other
serious offences, in consequence of his services to tho
Government as a spy and informer, and these cventually
earned for him a pension of £500 per annum.  (3.) Thoe
Prince of Wales's Crown, made of pure gold, and without
jewels, is placed before his Royal Highness's scat in the
House of Lords. (4.) The ancient Queen's Crown worn at
coronations by the Queen Consort. (5.) The Queen’s Diadem,

* A MS. in the British Muscum, No, 19,027, pp. 37, et seq., shows
what thoe old regalia consisted ofy, und the sum renlised for cach item,
« delivered to Sir John Wollaston, &c., by order of the Council of
State to be coyned” :—The Imperial Crown of gold (7 1b. 6 o0z.),
with many pearls und precious stones, £10,001 105, 6d.; the Queen’s
Crown of gold (3 1b. 10} vz.), £337; the Queen’s small Crown, with
diamound, £200; the Globe (1 1b. 5} oz.), at £3 6e. per oz., £57 10s.;
Queen Editk’s Crown, silver-gilt (504 oz.): King Alfred’s Crown,
gold wire-work, sct with stones and two little bells (793 oz.), £248; o
Dove of gold, set with pearls, &e., £26; two Sceptres, sot with pearls,
&e., £65 19s. 7d. ; and divers other jewels and articles of gold.
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adorned with pearls and large diamonds, made for the
Queen of James IL. (6.) St. Edward’s Staff, 4 feet 7 inches
long, of beaten gold, surmounted by an orb said to contain
a portion of the truo Cross, is carried before the king or
(ueen at the coronation. (7.) The Royal Sceptre of gold,
the pommel and cross adorned with jewels, is placed in
the right hand of the sovercign by the Archbishop of
Cunterbury at the coronation. (8.) The Rod or Sceptre
with the Dove, is placed in the sovereign's left hand at the
coronation. (9.) A smaller Seeptre adorned with jewels.
(10.) The Ivory Sceptre made for the Qucen of James 1I.
(11.) The Golden Sceptre made, as is supposed, for Mary,
Queen of William 1L (12) The Cuwrtana, or Pointless
Sword of Mercy. (13 and 14.) The Swords of Justice
(temporal and ceclesiastical), borno before the sovereign at
coronation.  (15.) The Coronation Bracelets, (16.) The
Coronation Spurs, used in tho coronation ceremony whether
the sovercign be king or queen. (17.) The Anointing
Vessel and Spoon (sole relie of the ancient regalia). (18.)
The Golden Salt Cellar. (19.) The Royal Baptismal Font,
dishes, spoons, and plate, used at royal christenings. (20.)
An clegant Silver Wine Fountain, presented by the Corpo-
ration at Plymouth to Charles 1L on his restoration.

The WEeLLINGTON Bauracks in the Tower, named in
honour of the Iron Duke, were built since 1845, on tho sito
of a furmer building which had been burnt down. They
aro occupied by the troops.

Tn the three or four Towers of minor interest, the CrAvLE
Tower and WerL Tower, (of which only a portion remains, )
the DevELIN or TroxcaT Towkr, (the site of which is now
ocenpied by a modern building,) the Brick Towkr, the
Coxstapte Towkr, and the Broap Arrow Towkr, the
ordinary visitor need take little interest, and particulars
about them are unnecessary here.

The Cuarkr or Sr. PErer’s Ap VINCULA in the inner ward
of the Tower at the north-west corner of the parade, dates
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from 1305-6, and consists of a nave and chancel and a
north aisle; it is 66 feet long by 54 wide. Its name,
indicating that it was dedicated to the memory of St.
Peter in bonds, reminds one of a similarly named church
in Rome, 8. Pietro in Vincoli. St. Peter's was the Chapel
for the prisoners of the Tower, St. John's for the court.
St. Peter's has been so often renovated, that little is left
of the earliest structure; what remains is chiefly of the
roign of Henry VIIL. 'The great historical interest which
attachies to a spot where so many remarkable persons have
been buried, far exceeds that which the building possesses on
the score of antiquity. “There is no sadder spot on earth,”
says Macaulay, “than this little cemetery. Ilither have
been carried through successive ages by the rude hands of
gaolers, without one mourner following, the bleeding relics
of men who had been the captains of armies, the leaders of
parties, the oracles of scnates, and the ornaments of courts.”
The memorial tablet at the entrance contains the names of
thirty-four persons of historical note who were buried in
this chapel ; of these we may mention the most prominent.
1. Jolm Fisher, Bishop of Rochester, beheaded 1535, by
Henry VIIL., for refusing to take the new vath of succes-
sion to the crown; and (2) the body of Sir Thomas More,
who was beheaded for the same causo a month afterwards.
Sir Thomas More’s head was sct upon a pole on London
Bridge, and was obtained by Mrs. Roper, one of his
daughters, by bribing the executioner. She had it embalimed,
and it was buried with her in 1544, in a vault at St.
Dunstan’s Church, Canterbury, where it was found in 1835,
“in a nichein the wall in aleaden box.” 3. George DBoleyn,
Viscount Rochford (brother of Anne Boleyn), beheaded
1536. 4. Queen Aune DBoleyn, exccuted 1536 on the
green outside this chapel. “The queen was beheaded
with a sword, according to the French manner, by an
exccutioner brought specially from Calais. With her own
hands she took the coifs from her head and gave them to
1
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her ladies, then putting on a little cap of linen to cover
her hair withal, she said, ¢ Alas, poor head, in a very brief
space thou wilt roll in tho dust on the scaffold.” She
addressod a fow words to the people and to her ladies,
then knelt down on both knees.  “ And thus without more
to say or do, was her head stricken off; she making no
confession of her fault,and only saying, ¢ O Lord God, have
pity on my soul” Suddenly the hangman of (‘alais smote
off her head at one stroke with a sword; her body, with
the head, was buried (in a common chest of elm made to
put arrows in) in the quire of the chapel in the Tower.”
Froudo thus deseribes the execution : * A little before noon
on the 19th of May, Aune Boleyn, Queen of England, was
led down to the green where the young grass and the white
daisies of summer were freshly hursting in the sunshine,
A little cannon stood loaded on the battlements, the motion-
less canmoneer was ready with smoking linstock at his side,
and when the erawling hand npon the dial of the great
Tower clock touched the midday honr, that cannon wonld
tell to London that all was over. The yeomen of the
guard wore there and a crowd of citizens, the Lord Mayor
too, and the deputies of the guilds and the sherifts, and the
aldormen ; they were come to see a speetacle which
England had never scen before, a head which had worn
tho crown falling under the sword of the executioner.”
Tho sito is marked by a railing and a stone, with the
wordy, “Sito of the ancient scaffold. On this spot Queen
Annoe Boloyn was beheaded May 19, 1536.” 5. Thomas
Cromwell, Earl of Fssex, tho son of a blacksmith of
Putney, whom Wolsey raised from the forge to eminent
wood furtune, and who, after “having cared for no man's
disploasure to serve lis Majesty,” fell in his turn under
Henry VIIL’s displeasure, and suffored the same death as
Fisher and More. 6. Margaret Pluntagenet, the aged
Countess of Salisbury, niece of Edward IV., who had been
governess to the Princess Mary, and who was accused of
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wishing to marry her son Reginald Polo to the princess,
and of other plots. 7. Queen Katharine Howard, Henry
VIIL’s wife, beheaded with (8.) Jane Lady Rochford, her
attendant, and buried within the choir of this chapel.
9. Lord Thomas Seymour, brother of Tady Jane Seymour,
and of the Protector Somerset. This nobleman married
Katharine Parr, tho widow of Tenry VIIL, and was
subsequently charged with & design to marry the Princess
Elizabeth and thus to reach the throne; beheaded 1548,
10. The Lord Protector Somerset, beheaded 1552, and buried
in the church on the north side of the choir. 11. Jokn
Dudley, Duke of Northumberland, the powerful rival of
the Protector Somerset, who was in his turn overthrown,
his crime being the proclaiming, mpon -the death of
Ldward VI, his own daughter-in-law, Lady Jano Grey,
Queen.  The Duke repented, but too late; he turned
Catholic to propitiate Mary, but without avail, he was
beheaded, and his body, with the head, was buried by
the body of Edward, late Duke of Somerset ; ““ so that there
licth before the high altar two dukes between two queens,
to wit, Somerset and Northnmberland between Queen
Anne and Queen Katharine,” 12, Lady June Grey, be-
headed ontside this chapel on the 12th of Felruary, 1555-4,
thesameday thather husband suffered on Tower Hill, «She
had the birth of a princess, the learning of a elerk, the life
of a saint, yet the death of a malefactor.” 15, Hewry Grey,
Duke of Suffolk, father of Tady Jane Grey 5 beheaded 1553,
and said to have been buried heve. 11 Thomas Howard,
Duke of Norfolk, beheaded 1572, for having cvinced a
disposition to take as his thivd wife, Mary Queen of Scots,
an arrangement which Queen Elizabeth forbad.  “ Whoen
the warrant for his committal to the Tower was brought,
the first peer in the land, the head of the proud Ifouse of
Howard, and the aspirant for the hand of England’s ex-
pectant Queen, fell npon his knees and cried for mercy
like a poltroon.” 15, Sir Jokn Perrott—* the first man of
12
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quality.” says Swift, “ I find upon record, to have sworn
by ¢God’s wounds’”—a phrase which was vulgarly re-
dueed to “zounds”!  Sir John was said to have been a
natural son of Henry VIIL by Mary, wife of Sir Thomas
Perrott of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire,—*“his qualitics,
gesture, and voice, were that of the King.”  Ho had been
sent as Lord-Deputy to Ireland, in 1583, but was vecalled
in 1588, Ilis hanghty manner and severity of rule were
complained of, and he was sent to the Tower for some
“incautions and treasonable utterances,” which his enemy,
Nir Christopher Hatton, made the most of.  “ What I”" said
Sir John, “will the Queen (Elizabeth) suffer her brother
to e offered up as a saerifice to the envy of strutting
adversaries?” The queen heard of this speech, relented,
and respited his exceution, but left him in prison, where
he died suddenly, it was said of o broken heart, September,
1592, The burial register 1ecords © Sir John rott, 15927
condemned for high treason. 16, Philip, Earl of Arundel,
who also died, 1593, a prisoner in the Tower, on suspicion
of assisting in (‘atholic intrigues on behalf of Mary, Queen
of Neots. He was imprisoned for about ten years, of which
ho spent nine in the Beauchamp Tower, and carved the
inscription still to be seen on the wall of the staircase——
“Sicut peceati causa vineire opprobrium esty ita e contra pro
Cristo custodiae cincula sustinere maxima glovia est. Avundell,
26 May, 15877 - ¢ Even as it is an infamy to be imprisoned
onaccount of erime, so on the contrary it is tho greatest
wlory to endure prison chains for Christ's sake.”  Over the
fireplaco in the room is the inscription: * Quanto plus
afflictionis  pro - Christo in hoe  seeculo, tanto plus glorie
e Christo in futero,  Avandell, June 22, 1587”7  “ Glorid
et honore cum coronisti Domine, in memorii slerna erit
Justex”- ¢ Uhe greater the aflliction endured here for Christ,
tho greater will bo the glory enjoyed with Christ here-
after.” O Lord, Thou hast crowned him with glory and
honour, The righteous is held in everlasting remembrance.”
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His body was buried in the chancel of this chapel, but was
removed, 1624, to the family vault at Arundel. 17. Robert
Devereuw, Earl of Fssex, beheaded outside tho chapel,
February 25, 1600. This favourito of Quecen Elizabeth
(his career and end savoured rather of romance than
fact), gave his royal mistress much anxiety ; ho even dared
to attempt by seizing her person to dictate to her the dis-
missal of his rivals from her counscls. When his plans
were discovered, he barricaded himself in Essex Housoe,
Strand, and refused to surrender. llo was forced to
succumb, howover, and was taken to tho Tower, and
imprisoned in what was 1ill then called Robert the Devil’s
Tower, but ever since, Devereux Tower, now occupied by
the commanding oflicer of artillery. It is said that the
queen would have been glad to have pardoned Fssex, had
he sought forgiveness, and that his death is attributablo
to his own obstinacy; on the other hand, there is a story
of Issex having entrusted a ring to Lady Nottingham,
who promised to carry it to the queen with overy oxpres-
sion of Essex’s contrition. Lady Nottingham was induced
by an enemy to break her promise, and to say nothing to
tho queen; Essex’s execution consequently took place.
Years after, Lady Nottingham on her death-bed confessed
to the queen what she had withheld from her, and asked for
forgiveness before she died.  Wherenpon Queen Bess, with
characteristic indignation, replied, “ May God forgive you,
for I nover can!” 18, Sir Thomas Overbury died  of
poison whilst in prison in the Tower, I5th September, 1613,
He was a favourite of Robert Carr, Earl of Somersct,
King James’s favourite, and fell a victim to tho enmity of
Carr's wife, tho notorious Countess of Essex, who got
herself a divorce in order to be married to Carr. 'T'ho
Earl and Countess of Somerset were convicted of the
murder of Overbury, but escaped punishment. Overbury
is said to have been buried in tho choir. 19. Thomas
Grey, Lord Grey of Wilton, died a prisoner in 1614,
having been sent here for his part in what was called tho
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Ruleigh conspiracy.  20. Sir John Elot, died in the
Towor (whither lio had been sent by Charles 1), his im-
prisommont having broken down his health and brought on
consumption. llo was buried in this chapel. No stono
marks the spot where he lies, but as long as freedom
continues in England lie will not bo without a memorial.
21, Willium Howard, Lord Stafford, beheaded December
29, 1680, a victim of the 'T'itus Oates conspiracy, and to
the then mad condition of public opinion. Oates was
convicted of perjury, and condemned to stand in the
pillory five times a year so long as he lived, and to be
whipped from Aldgate to Tyburn,  William 111 pardoned
him, however, and gavo him a pension. 22, Arthur
Capel, Farl of Fssex, who killed himself, while prisoner
in tho Tower for his share in the Ry® Iouse Plot.
23, James, Dule of Monmouth, beheaded 15th July, 1685,
for rebellion against James T This petted and spoiled
ron of Charles 1. was encouraged by Whig statesmen,
who wished at any hazard and by whatsoever means to
drive James from the throne, and to set up Protestantism in
tho place of Popery.  Monmouth's short history and many
disasters culminated in hisdefeat in the battle of Sedgemoor,
A heavy price was set upon his head, and ho was pursued
and captured in a wood at Cranbourne Chase, whero
this handsomely dressod man of fushion, the idol of the
peoplo and of the court, was found in most wretched plight,
alone in o diteh, hidden under forn and brambles.  In his
pockets were only a few peas for subsistence, his watch
and the decoration of the » George,” together with a few
papers in his own handwriting, containing charms and
spells to open the doors of prisons, to keep him safe in
battle, &e. Monmoenth's execution was a cause of great
grief to the populace, and the executioner did his part
5o badly, that Lo was in danger of being torn in pieces by
the ecrowd.  Monmouth was buried under the communion
table in  the chancell 24 George Lord Jeffreys, the
notovions judge who dealt so unwereitully with the un-
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fortunate people who took part in Monmouth’s rebellion,
and who otherwise made himself the most evil reputation
ever borne by a judge in this country, died in the Tower,
18th April, 1689. When James II. fled from Whitehall,
Jeffreys, the ex-chancellor, thought it timealso to fly. e
made arrangements to take boat for IHamburg, and had
got down the Thames below London Bridge, but found
that the boat did not start till next day. Mo went ashoro
at Wapping to indulgo in his favourito vice of drinking,
cntered a public-house called ¢The Red Cow ’ in Anchor
and Hope Alley, and having drunk oft a pot of ale happened
to look out of window. His faco was immediately recog-
nised by one whom Jeftreys had once so abused in cound,
that tho browbeaten man had often vowed *¢ ho should never
forget the terrors of that faco so long as he lived.” Jeffreys
turned away. Itwas too late; the alarm wasgiven,a mob col-
lected howling for “Vengeance,” and would have torn him to
pieces on the spot had not an armed force interfered. Jeftreys
was taken to the Tower, where he became ill, wasted from
being a corpulent person into a mere skeleton, and died
within a short time. e was buried in this chapel, but his
body was disinterred in 1693, and removed to a vault under
the communion table in the church of St. Mary, Alderman-
bury, 25. John Roettier, the medallist of Antwerp, whose
father, a banker, assisted Charles 11, when in exile, with
money. 1o was appointed engraver to the Mint, and had
quarters in the Tower, where he at length died, 1703, It
is said that being an admirer of the charming Miss Stewart,
afterwards Duchess of Richmond, he made a miniature of
her face—* as well done,” says Pepys, *as ever I saw any-
thing in my wholo life, I think, and a pretty thing it is
that he should choose her face to represent Britannia.” This
fignre Walpole also mentions as “ Britannia, scated on the
sea-shore, holding a shicld and a sloping spear; ships are
in the distance, and above is the sun in meridian.” The
same design slightly altered is still continued on our
copper coinage. 26, Williom, Ewrl of Kilmarnock, and
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27, Arthur, Lord Balmerino, both beheaded August 18, 1746,
for their share in the rebellion on behalf of Prince Charles
Kdward, the Pretender. They were taken prisoners at
the battle of Culloden. Their bodies were buried at the
west end of the chapel, in the same grave where that of,
28, Simon Lord Lovat, another of the chiefs of this rebellion,
who was beheaded 7th of April, 1747, was also placed.
The coffin-plates, with inscriptions (discovered in some
excavations a little while ago), were placed against the
west wall of the church. ILord Lovat was the last male-
factor boheaded in this eonntry.  An altar tomb hears the
figures of Sir R. Cholmondeley, Licutenant of the Tower
(temp. Henry VIL), also of his wife,

In the Rovar Mixt on Tower 1ill, the coinage for
the United Kingdom is produced. No coin is allowed
to be issued until a portion has been tested by Her
Majesty’s assayer; ho afterwards preserves one piceo of
each kind of coin in a pyx (Greek name for box) ov casket,
and these coins are compared by a jury with the standard
plates kept in the cloisters of Westminster Abbey—a test
called tho Trial of the Pyr. The various processes of
coining may be scen by visitors who have previously
obtained a written order from the Master of the Mint- -
available but for ono day marked thereon, and for a small
number of persons, not exceeding six, the number to be
stated when the application is made. It is intended to
remove the Royal Mint to the Thames Embankment.

The Triviry House on Tower Hill was built by Samuel
Wyatt for a corporation, founded temp. Henry VIIL, having
forits object the increaso and encouragement of navigation,
the regulation of lighthouses and sea-marks, &e., and in-
corporated as * Tho Masters, Wardens, and Assistants of
the Guild or Fraternity or Brotherhood of the most
Glorious and Undividable Trinity, and of St. Clement
in the parish of Deptford.” There are here many pictures
and busts of celebrated persons, and a large painting by
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Gainsborough of the “Elder Brethren of tho Trinity
ITouse.” The Muscum contains some interesting mnaval
relics and curiositics. Applications for admission are to
be made to the Secretary.

Lower Tuamrs Streer is that pavt of Thames Streot
below London Bridge, the above-bridge portion being
known as Upper Thames Street.  Wo have already
traversed the former. The south side of Urrer THAMES
STREET, now occupied by wharves, was onco the sito of
riverside palaces, and in the lanes upon the novth sidoe
wore once to be seen merchants’ mansions, which, if not
equal to the cdifices of stately Venice, might at least vie
with many of the Hotels of O1d Paris.

The Church of St. Magnus, destroyed in the Great Iive,
was rebuilt by Sir C. Wren, 1676, In it is a monument
to Miles Coverdale, once rector of this church, who was
buried here. 'T'he inscription sets forth that **in 1535 the
first English Bible was published under his direetion.”
The footway under the tower, a curious arrangement,
was mado in 1760, without interfering with the structuro,
or its uses.

The Weigh-house Chapel (Independent), on Fish Strect
1111, is of historical note, dating from the Act of Uni-
formity. Its namo is derived from thoe old Weigh-house,
which stood on this sife.

Orn SwaN Staigs, leading to the landing-stages for river
steamboats, was a noted “ stairs” of the fiftcenth century.
On Lawrence Pouxtyey Ly lived Dr. William Iarvey,
who here discovered the circulation of the blood. Dowaars
(the Dowr or Water Gate) was the way from Watling
Street to the river.  QuekNnrrie, so called from being the
hithe or landing-place of Eleanor, queen of Iemry 1L,
who possessed the adjuining property, was in Stowe's timo
the chief water-gate of the city. On Apbre Hin stood
the palace of the Anglo-Saxon king Adelstan or Atlelstan,
after whom it was named.
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PALL MALL BAST, PALL MALL, ST. JAMESS AND
BUCKINGHAM PALACES, AND PIMLICO,

JALL MALL, ono-third of a mile long, derives its name
from the Freneh game of Paille Maille, sce p. 1:30. The
tricornered block of houses, which stands upon the west
sido of I'rafalgar Square, occupies the space hetween Cock-
spur Strect and Pall Mall East, ono of the most prominent
pusitions in London.  If we tuke the upper line of road
called Pall Mall Eoxt, we shall pass upon our right Whit-
comly Street, formerly Hedye Lane, before mentioned, and
Just bevond it, at 5y, the Geallery of the Socicty of Painters
in Water Colonrs, of which Sir Johin Gilbert is the president.
Opposito is Messrs, Colnaghi’s well-known print and picture
shop. A few paces farther is Sugloll: Strecd, in which is
the entranco to the nited University Club-house, built in
1824, by Wilkes & Deering, for 500 members of Oxford
and 500 of Cambridge Universities,

Sugoll: Street is chictly noted for having been the scene
of a politieal brawl.  On Jannary 30, 1735, some yonng
gontlemen belonging to the Puritan Calres’ Head Club, met
at o tavern in this strect to celebrate the anniversary of
the death of Charles 1. It is said that a bleeding calf’s
head was thrown out of the window of the tavern into
the street, where somo boys had lit up « bonfire, and that
the members of the club then drank the toast of ¢ Confu-
sion to the race of Stnart.”  Stones were flung, the tavern
windows broken, and a riot ensued which required a body
of soldiers to suppress. On the eastern side of Suftolk Street
is the Gallery of the Sccicty of DBritish Artists, founded in
1823, in consequence of the limited space for exhibition
A Somerset Honse,  Admission 1o, Richard Colulen nsed,
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in his later days, to lodge in this street. ,The Statue
crected to his memory is set up in Camden Town.

Of Cockspur Strect and its vicinity much might be said
did spuce allow. Spring Gerdens was a bowling-green
in the time of Charles I., and in the second Charles’s
reign, a noted rendezvous for the gallants of the period.
The celebrated tavern, mentioned by P’epys and others,
called Locket’s Ordinary, was upon this sito. * Locket’s
stands where gardens oncoe did spring.” Mrs. Centlivre
lived in Spring Gardens, and died there in the house of
her third husband, Joseph Centlivre, chief cook to Queen
Anne. Colley Cibber lived near tho Bull’s Head Tavern, in
Old Spring Garden, and Jokn Milton (when Latin Secretary
to Cromwell) lodged in a house opening to Spring Gardens,
An cquestrian Statue of George IIL, by M. (. Wyatt,
occupies the ground where Cockspur Street and Pall Mall
Bast meet, in front of the handsome general drapery
establishment of Messrs, Tlalling, Pearce, & Stone, called
Waterloo House.

We now arrive at the bottom of the Iaymarket, under
the Piazza of Her Mujesty’s Theatre.  'This edifice (to hold
1800) was rebuilt, 1868-69, after its second destruction
by fire—tho usual fate of theatres. 'The first Italian
Opera-house in England was built by Sir John Vanbrugh
on this site, and opened 1705 ; it was burnt down in 1789,
and re-crected next year. Nash & Repton, in 1820, built
the colonnade and the Royal Opera Avcade. 'The Tluy-
market front of Iler Majesty's is decorated with a basso-
relievo by Bubb, illustrating the progress of Musie. It was
at Her Majesty’s Theatre that Jenny Lind obtained her
wonderful success. The nightly expenses of this house
have ranged from £700 to £1000 during the season.

A few yards higher up, and upon the east side of the Ilay-
market, is the Haymarket Theatre, long noted for its comedics.
It was originally built in 1720, and opened as the “ New
French Theatre.” English plays, operas, &c., afterwards
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were performed ; including Gay’s ¢ Beggars' Opera,’ first
played at the Old Duke’s Theatre, Lincoln's Tnn Ficlds, in
1727. Fielding wrote his Pasquin for this theatre during
his lesseeship, and by such satires on the Ministry pro-
voked the passing of the Licensing Act. Samuel Foote
was manager hero for thirty years, and then sold the theatre
to George Colman, who was succeeded by his son, Colman
the younger. In 1820 the “ Little Theatre” was taken
down, and the present edifico was built on its site, by
Nash, and opened in 1821, For many years, the Iaymarket
was noted for its good management by Mr. B. Webster,
and still longer by Mr, Buckstone. It has now passed
into the hands of Mr. and Mrs. Bancroft.

Passing westwards throngh Pall Mall, we observe Messrs.
Graves's noted print-shop, and nearly opposito to it the
club-house of the United Service Club, sometimes called the
Sonior Unitod Servico (Mlub, to distinguish it from the
Junior United Service Club, closo by, at the corner of Charles
Streot.  The first-named club-house was built in 1829,
after a design by Nash, who was the great planner and
designer  of all the neighbouring  Crown property in
Waterloo Place and Regent Street, At this club-house
tho great Duko of Wellington at one time might often
bo scen dining off the joint, and it is raid that on one
occasion, when ho was chargod 15d. instead of 1sa. for it,
he headed an attack upon the newly-increased tariff, and
came oft victorious, of course, in the struggle for the odd
threepenco.  Thers are some handsome portraits of naval
aud military horoos to be scen in this club-house, and a
few paintings, among which may be mentioned Stanfield’s
Battle of 'I'rafalgar.

Upon the open spaco between the United Service Club-
houso and the Athemwum (lub-house, east and west, and
between tho bottom of Regent Street (where stands the
(uards Crimean Memorial, designed by Bell, and east
from eannon taken at Sebastopol), and the Duke of York’s
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Column (see p. 130), stood the onco celebrated Carlton House,
built by Lord (‘arlton, and occupicd as a residence by
George, Prince Regent.  Carlton llouse was taken down
in 1827, but its name survives in the present Carlion
House Terrace and the Carlton Clab.  Thero are three
memorial statues in the space between the Terrace and
the twi club-houses above named; one, by Marochetti, to
Colin Campbell, Lord Clyde (4. 1863), the reliever of Luck-
now; one, by Noble, to Sir John Franklin, the lost Arctie
navigator; and one, by Bochm, to Sir John Fox Burgoyne
(d. 1371), military engineer.

The Arnksruy Cres-novse was erceted by Decimus
darton in 1829 the Ciub itself dates from 1823, and con-
sists of gentlemen eminent in literature, seienee, and art,
and distinguished members of the learned  professions,
The architeetnre of the club-houso is Grecian, with a friczo
copicd from that of the Parthenon, '

Upon the north side of Pall Mall, at the corner opposite
tho dthenwwm, is a new club-honge, the Wanderers' Club,
Adjoining the Athenwum is the Travellers’ Club, which was
instituted in 1814, for gentlemen who shall have travelled
out of the British Islands, to a distanee of at least 500 miles
from London, in a direct lLine o feat not difficult or
uncommon in these days of railways and steamships,
but otherwise in 1814, Tho Tracellers Club-house was
designed by Barry, and built in 1852, Next door aro
the Reform ('lub Chambers, and then the Reform Club-
house, built also by Barry, 1858-9. The Reform Club
was  established in 1830 to promoto the passing of
the first Reform Bill. It consists of 1000 memhers of

’arliament and others of the Liberal party.

We are now in the very heart, so to speak, of club.
land. Eight palatial-looking edifices are ranged upon the
south side of Pall Mall; and upon the north, hesides the
one alrcady mentioned and tho Marlborongh Club-house at
No. 52, are the Army and Navy Club-house and thoe Junior
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Carlton Club-house, cach of which is us large, if not larger,
than either of its opposite neighbours.  With such Iuxu-
rions buildings surrounding us, wo can readily realise the
humour of Captain Morris, in the lines—

“In town et me live then, in town let me die,
For in truth T ean’t relish the country, not I
If one must have a villa in summer to dwell,
Oh, give me the sweet shady side of Pall Mall”

The Carlton Chib-honse, the rendezvous of the chiefs of
the Conservative party, is next door to its rival, the
Reform. The Carlton is, however, the grander-looking
edifice, its polished granite colnmns being a great contrast to
the simplicity of the style of its neighbour,  "This houso was
built by Sir Robert Smirke, and improved by his brother,
Mr. Sydney Smirke,  Its fagade is of the Italian school of
architecture,

At 86 is the Wanr Orrier, in front of which is a Statue
in memory of the late Right Hon, Sidney Herbert, Earl of
Pembroke, Seerctary of State forWar (died 1861).

On the opposite, or north side of Pall Mall, is the Army
and Navy Club-honse, alveady mentioned, the entrance to
which ix in a short strecet leading from Pall Mall into
Stodames’s Syqnare. At Noo TSt James's Square is the Eost
Tndia LS, Club-house, at 11, the Windhaw Clib-house, ad
12, the London Library, and at 10, the Salishwory Club-house,
In the eentre of the Square ¢which dates from 1674-76) is
a Statue of Willieew T11. At No. 21, George L was born,

Turning back into Pall Mall, we shall proceed, as before,
westwards, At Noxo 81 and 82 is Schomberg House, the
residence of the Duke of Rehomberg, killed at the battle
of the Boyne, 1690, Tt was subsequently divided into
threo honsex, Tn the west wing (Gainsborough the painter
lived, from 1777 to 1728, aud died there., Next door, that
is to say, at No, 79 (bnt the honse is now rebuilt, and is
tho office of the Bagle Insurance Company), lived Nell
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Gwynne, from 1670 to 1687, when she died. It was from
the garden of this house, then abutting upon St. James's
Park, that Evelyn “saw and heard a familiar discourse
between the King (Charles I1.) and Mrs. Nellie, as they
called an impudent comedian ; she looking out of her garden
on a terrace at tho top of the wall, and the King standing
on the green walk under it.”

The Oxford and Cambridye Club-house, occupying from
71 to 76 Pall Mall, was built in 1838 by Sydney Smirke,
for 1000 members of the two Universities, 500 from each.
Abovethe principal windows are bas-reliefsfrom designs by
Sir R. Smirke, representing Minerva and Apollo presiding
on Parnassus; Homer singing to a warrior, a fomale, and
a youth; Virgil reciting his Georgies to a group of
peasants ; Milton and his daughter ; Shakespeare, attended
by Tragedy and Comedy ; Newton explaining his system ;
Bacon, his philosophy.  Opposite, at 52, is the Marlborough
Jlib-house, and at 53, tho Institute of Painters in Water
Colours.  The Guards Clib-house, No. 70, was built in
1848-50, by Hurrison. The members of this C(lub are
limited to the ofticers of ITer Majesty’s three regiments of
Foot Guards.  'Uhe Beaconsfield Club-Louse, just beyond, has
but recently been erected upon a precious bit of ground
lying between Marlhorough House and Pall Mall. The
space was small, so the architect provided room by rearing
a lofty structure, which dwarfs its neighbours.

MarLsorovcnt Housg, St. James’s, the residence of HLR.H.
tho Prince of Wales, was built, 1709-10, by Sir Christopher
Wren, for the first Duke of Marlborough.  The Great
Duko died here in 1722, Here the first Duchess loved
to speak of the King as “ neighbour George,” he being at
St. James'’s Palace.  In 1817 the house was purchased by
the Crown for Princess Charlotte and Prince Leopold, and
it was the Prince’s house for many years. Queen Adelaide
lived in it after the death of William TV. This building
way used for the Exhibition of the Vernon Collection of
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Pictures, after it was settled upon the Prince of Wales,
down to 1859 ; and here commenced in the upper rooms a
Sehool of Desiyn, which, with those pictures, was afterwards
removed to the galleries of South Kensington Museum.
Sr. Jasues's Pavack, at the bottom of St. James's Street
and the south-west corner of Pall Mall, was built on the
sito of a hospital dating from before the Conquest and dedi-
ented to St.James,  Henry VIIL obtained possession of the
hospital, turned out the inmates, pulled down the build-
ings, and hought the surrounding meadows, and there
built what was called thoe ¢ Manor ITouse,” said to have
been planned by Holbein-——“a faire mansion and a parke
for his greater commoditio and pleasure.” Tolbein's (rate-
houso still faces St. James's Street. King Edward and
Queen Elizabeth seldom came to Sto James's; but Mary
retired hither during the absence of her husband in Spain,
and died herey as also did Henrvy, eldest son of James L
Charles I. enlarged the palace and lived in it; his son,
Charles T1., was born here, as also his other children.
From St. James's Palace, where he slept the night before
his oxeention, Charles I. walked, guarded by soldiers,
through St. James’s Park to Whitchall, where he was be-
headed,  James 11 escaped hence on his abdieation, and
in femalo disguiso reached Gravesend. Here Monk stopped
while planning the Restoration; and in the old hed-
chamber next the levée-room was born (the old Pretender)
James, the son of James 1L, by Mary of Modena; the baby
having heen, as was alleged by the Whigs of the period,
conveyed in a warning-pan into the Queen’s bed.  The
Conrt of St. James's dates from the time of William 111,
for it was not till the burning of Whitehall that this
palaco beeamo the place for State ceremonies; William
and Mary did not reside in it, but at Kensington Dalace.
The fourth plate of Hogarth's ¢ Rake's Progress * shows the
Ialaco gatoway in 1735, Georgo 111, celebrated his mar-
riage, and Georgee TV, was born here, and as Prince of Wales
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he was married in St. James’s Chapel Royal ; so was also
Queen Victoria.  William IV, and Queen Adclaido resided
at St. James's. In the outer or east court tho Guard is
relieved every morning at a quarter to cleven, and the
Band plays for a quarter of an hour; the visitor to London
should make a point of attending. The Chapel Royal, St.
James's, is well worth seeing, though of little interest
architecturally, beyond its Holbein ceiling.  Admission is
occasionally to be obtained to Divine Services at 10, 12,
and half-past 5 on Sundays, by ticket from tho Lord
Chamberlain or the Bishop of London.

Crarexce House, adjoining St. James’s Palace, and built
for the Duke of Clarence, afterwards William TV, was
fitted up and renovated for H.RIT the Duke of Edinburgh
upon his marriage with the Princess Mario of Russia.

DBridgewater House, on the cast sido of the Green Park,
with entrance in (leveland Row, contains a fine collection
of pictures principally from the Duke of Orleans’ collection.
Anong the chief are Guido’s ¢ Assumption of the Virgin’;
Raphael’s ¢ Vidrge au Palmier, Poussin’s ¢ Seven Sacra-
ments,” ¢ Moses striking the Rock,” Turner’s ¢ Galo at Sea,’
and thoe ¢ Chandos Portrait of Shakespeare,” bonght at the
Stowe sale in 1848 for 355 guincas,

Stafford House in St. James's Park, close to St. James's
Palace, was built for the Duke of York, second son of
Georgo IIL, and sold to the Duke of Sutherlund. It is
said to bo the finest private mansion in London. Tho
Sutherland Gallery of Pictures, though not large, is
valuable and intcresting ; it includes threo fine paintings
from the Soult collection, and Delaroche’s picture of
¢ Strafford on his way to the Scaffold.’

St. James's Park contains ninety-ono acres, enclosed by
Henry VIII and improved by Charles II. and Georgoe IV.
It has the Horse Guards on the east, Pall Mall and
St. James's Palace on the north, Buckingham Palace and

the Green Park on the west, and, upon the south, Birdeago
K
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Walk, Queen’s Square, and Westminster ; but it is of very
unequal proportions. In tho open spaco in front of the
Horse Guards, now called the Parade and formerly tho
Tilt-yard (sco p. 28), is a Mortar left behind by the
French in their retreat from Salamanca, which was pre-
sented to the Prince Regent by the Spanish Government,
Here also, on the opposite side of the Parade, is o Turkish
gun, taken from the French in Egypt. At a northern
corner of the Parade iy a gate leading into Spring Gardens,
past the Office of the e hupuhlun B:mul of Works. West-
wards is tho Duke of York's Colimn, erected in 1833, of Scoteh
granite, 124 feet high, designed by Wyatt, surmounted by
a statuo by Westmacott,  Admission 6d. to the top of this
column, between 12 and 4, from May to Septomber inclu-
sivo.  ‘Tho Mall oxtends from this puint to Buckingham
Palaco, i, about half a mile.  Hero Charles 11 and his
courticrs often played at padlle-maille, an ancient game
in which mallets and balls were used, the latter being
driven through an iron hoop suspended from the arm of o
high pole. 1t is said that when Queen Caroline, the wife
of George 11, who occupied St Jumes's Palace, talked of
shutting out the public from St. James's Park and con-
verting it into a palaco garden, sho asked Walpolo \Vhd.t it
would cost, and ho replied, “Only threo crowns.” The
Wellington  Barracks; built near the site of Rosamond’s
Lond, once famous hn assignations and love suicides, wero
first oceupied by troops in 181+, Tho Ornamental Water in
tho centre of St James's Park is provided with a few
boats for hire; the aquatic birds upon this water aro
oxtremely varied in character and plamage.  Across the
lako is an ornamental Bridge connecting the Mall with
Westminster,

Brekisauay Pavack was built by Nash and Blore (1825-
37), upon the sito of Buckingham House, which had been
orected by Sheflield, Duke of Buckingham, in 1703, and
purchased by George 111, in 1761, In 1775 Buckingham
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ITouse was settled on Queen Charlotte, in exchango for
Somerset House, and it was here that the King’s Library
was collected by George I1I., “the finest and most com-
plete ever formed by a single individual,” 80,000 volumes,
exclusive of pamphlets, which was presented by George IV,
to the British Museum in 1823, William IV, and Queen
Adelaide did not occupy Buckingham Palace, but Queen
Victoria took up her residence here in 1837, In 1846 tho
crection of the cast side commenced, and a spacions hall-
room has since been added.  The State Apartments aro the
Gireen Drawing-room, in the centro of the cast front; the
Ball-room, on the south side; the Grand Saloon for con-
certs ; and the Throne Room, 64 feet long, hung in erimson
satin,  In this room Privy Councils used to be held, and
here Her Majesty holds her Court. The Picture Gallery
contains some fine examples of Dutch and Flemish art, and
Sir Joshua Reynolds’ ¢Death of Dido’ and ¢ Cymon and
Iphigenia,” also his own portrait in spectacles; Wilkie's
‘Penny Wedding’ and “ Blindman’s Buff’; some works hy
(Giainsborough ; Sir Peter Lely’s ¢ Anne ITyde, Duchess of
York’; Zoffany’s ¢ Florentine Gallery’ and the *Royal
Academy, 1773, &e.  In tho Garden is the Palace Chapel,
also a luke of five acres, and a pavilion or garden-house ;
the whole grounds of Buckingham Palace compriso abont
forty-three acres. The Queen’s Stables or Mews, in Duck-
ingham Palace Road at the rear of the Palace, wero built
in 1824, and consist of two quadrangles, entered by a
Doric archway heneath a clock-tower.  In the first quad-
ranglo are Her Majesty’s’ State-coach (which cost £6661),
and the carriages; in the sccond quadrangle the horses.
In the harness-room is the red-morocco State-harness for
eight horses, with massive silver-gilt furniture ; cach sct of
harness weighing 1 cwt. Admission to the Buckingham
Palace Stables may bo obtained by an order from the
Master of the Horse.

In Buckingham Palace Road we are in Pmivrico, once

K2
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noted for its Gardens for public entertainment, of which
the chief was known as *Jenny’s Whim.” The District
Post-vffice, and Buckingham Palace Hotel, one of the largest
hotelg in London, face the garden wall of Buckingham
alace,  Farther west Arabelle Row turns oft a little to
the north, and the road is continued past Grosvenor Place
to Hyde Park Corner.  If, however, we pursue our way
throngh Buckingham Talace Road but a little farther,
we shall eross a main thoroughfare, the left or castern
sido of which almost immediatoly becomes Vietoria Street,
Westminster—a modern street of mansions divided into
suites of chambers or flats, which has been recently con-
structed upon the site of Ol Tothill Fields, The Stores
of the Army and Nury Co-vperative Society aro in Vietoria
Street.  Vietoria Station, at tho western end of the street,
is a double terminuy serving for two railways - tho
London, Brighton and South C'oast Railway; and the
London, Chatham and Dover Railway; and connected
with those, by subterrancan passages, is the Victoria Station
of the Underyronnd or Metropolitan District Railway.
Abutting on Victoria Station is the Groscenor IHotel, one
of the handsomest and most extensive of railway hotels
in London,  Beyond is Pimlico Road, leading to Queen’s
Road, Chelsea; or the pedestrian may, by turning more
immedintely to the left of Pimlico Road, pass over the
Chelsen: Bridge to Battersea: Park (see p. 260). South of
Victoria Station runs the Vauwahall Bridge Road to Vaux-
hall Bridgo (see p. 261); Tram-cars carry passengers
down this road (seo p. 329) at frequent intervals,
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REGENT STREET, TIIROUGH TORTLAND PLACE
TO REGENTS PARK.

])EGENT Strekr, the handsomest street of shops in
L London, was built from about 1813, by Nash, the
architeet, as a speculation ; and it proved to him an unprofit-
able one. It commences from the line of Waterloo Place,
Pall Mall, and traverses the ground formerly occupied by
St. James's Market and Swcallow Street, At its southern
extremity, Waterloo Place, is the monumental group, by
Bell, to the memory of the soldiers of the oot Guards
who fell in the Crimea. The first houso upon thoe right
or east side, where the Place begins to narrow, is the Pall
Mall Club, founded, 1870, upon a non-political basis, by
an influential Committee, assisted by Mr. Herbert IFry.
At the north-cast corner of Charles Sireet is the Junior United
Service Club-kouse, built by Sir R. Smirke, IL.A., in 1824,
Charles Street leads into St. James's Square.  Howell and
James’s fashionable jewellery and mercery establishment
is at Nos. 5, 7, 9. St. Philip’s Chapel, built by Repton,
is on the samo side of the street. Opposite, is the building
erected by Nash for his own residence, and which obtained
some reputation as a place of entertainment when oceupied
by Mr. and Mrs. German Reed, as the Gallery of Illustration,
but which is now converted into the Pall Mall Restaurant.
The Raleigh Club is next door, and over the way are the
Junior Army and Navy Co-operative Stores, established 1879,
A littlo above this point, Regent Strect is intersected by
Jermyn Street (see p. 140), and a few paces farther by
Piccadilly (see p. 144), where is formed Regent Circus,
Piccadilly. Facing us northwardsis the County Fire Office,
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and there in tho bend westerly begins Regeat’s Quadrant,
originally provided with two Doric colonnades, which had
a peenlinrly handsomoe architectural effect, but these being
found to darken the shops, and to encourage loungers of
questionable character, were removed in November, 1845,
considerably to the advantage of the shopkeepers and their
business.  On the right, before entering the Quadrant, is
Tickborne Street, in which, facing westward, under an
archway, is the entrance to the Café Monico Restanrant, o
largo and handsome building, crected 1879, to comprise
all the appointments of the best of these vast modern
establishments,  On the ecastern side of the Quadrant
is the Cufét Royal (Nicoll's) Restawrant,'and nearly facing
it, on the ronthern side; is the ehicef entrance to St James's
Il and Restanrant (see po 1T46). Vigo Stecet Teads directly
to the top of the Albany and the end of Sweile Tow, where
are tho offices of the Royal Geographical Socicty (sce p.151);
also tho Stagord Club, the Burlington Fine Arts Club, and
the Seientific Cleb. At No. 12 Savile Row lived George
Grote, the historian; opposite is Mr. Poole’s, the tailor
(noted for his gas illumination on Court festival days).
AL 169 Regent Street is Blanehord's Restarant, and at 229,
Vevrey's Café Restanrant,

Crossing Regent Street from Vigo Street, weo proceed to
Golden  Synare, a quarter onco highly fashionable, in-
habited by lords and ministers of state, and that not so
very long since; for the whole of this part of Londen
was open country in the time of Charles 110 Macaulay
tells ns that at the period of the Restoration, a rambler,
in what is now the gayest and most crowded part of
Regeat Strcct, > found himself in o solitude, and was some-
times so fortunate as to have a shot at a woudeock.  On
the north, the Oxford Road ran between hedges.  Threo
or four hundred yards to the south were the garden walls
of a fow great howses which were considered as quite out of
town,  On the west was a meadow renowned for a spring,
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from which long afterwards Conduit Street was named. On
the cast was a field (the Pest Field), not to be passod with-
out a shudder by any Londoner of that ago. There, as in
a place far from the haunts of men, had been dug, when tho
Great Plague was raging, a pit into which the dead-carts
had nightly shot corpses by scores. It was popularly
believed that the place was decply tainted.” . . .. No
foundations wero laid there before the time of George tho
Second.  The Great Plagne of London began in December,
1664, and continued to November, 1666.  Deaths occurred
at the rato of 1000 to 7000 a week, amongst a population
comparatively small; 4000 once died in ono night; there
died in the whole kingdom of the plague (1664=5) no less
than 68,506, De Foc's account of it is indubitably the
most, wonderful picee of writing of the kind ever pro-
duced. Ho deseribes it as if he had been an eye-witness of
all the portents and the horrors, as if he “actually saw
the blazing star which portended thoe calamity; beheld
the grass growing in the streets, read tho inscriptions on
the house-doors, heard the bellman ery, ¢ Bring out your
dead,” saw the dead-carts pass, and the pits dug for the
unfortunate victims.”

Archbishop Tenison’s Chapel, between 172 and 174 Regent
Strect, was built in 1702, and shares in the proceeds of tho
archbishop’s estate left for the purposes of this chapel, and
for the endowment of his Grammar School, now in Leicester
Square (sce p. 20).  Hanover Chapel was built by Cocke-
rell, 1823-5; it stands between Brinces Street and Hanover
Strect. Argyll Street leads into Great Marlborough Street,
wherein is (at 48) the Gallery of the Society of Lady Artists,
also Marlborongh Street Police Conrt.  Just beyond Argyll
Street is Regent Circus, Oxford Street, at its intersection
with Regent Street, one of the busiest parts of London.

Tue Cnurcin or AL SaiNts, Margaret Street, Regent
Street, is considered ono of the handsomest of modern
Gothic churches. Its painted windows, marble decorations ;
polished granite picrs, with carved alabaster capitals; its
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frescoes, and low choir screen of alabaster, are the acces-
sorics to a High-church service, which attracts many of the
upper clagses.

T PoLyrrcixic INSTITUTION, a cheap place of instructive
amusement, crected in 1838, is a little farther north. The
Curendish Clnb is at 307 (next door). Farther north still is
Langham Place, named after Sir James Langham, and built
upon the site of Foley House. Iere stands the Langham
Ilotel, & magnificent structure upon the scale of the largest
railway hotels of recent date, and chiefly noted as being
a great resort of travelling Americans,

All Souls’ Church, Langham Place, was built by Nash, in
1822-5; and though not in the most attractive of eccle-
siastical styles, it is not ill-adapted to the surrounding
houses, so far as general effect is concerned. Nash was
the great introducer of stucco. Ilo taught how good or
bad bricks might be slobbered over with cement and mado
to imitate Bath stone. The age of stucco and sham
initiated by Nash has not yet entirely departed. The fol-
lowing epigram on Nash is worth remembering, whilst
wo look at his best work in Regent Street—

“ Augustus at Romo was for building renowned,
Aud of marble he left what of brick he had found ;

But is not our Nush too & very great master,
Who found us all brick and who left us all plaster?”

Thero is a well-known School for Artists in Langham Place,
and at 4 Langham Place is St. George’s Hall, wherein is
given Mr. and Mrs. German Reed’s Entertainment. Portland
Place is a wide and noble stroct of mansions, built by the
Brothers Adam (1778), and named after the Duke of Port-
land, the owner of the land about this quarter. It is con-
tinued to Park Crescent, across which runs Marylebone Road,
and boyond the Crescent, a broad walk or avenue, in aline
with Portland Place, is carried straight through Regent's
I'ark and alongside of the Royal Zoological Gardens.
Reerxt’s Park (named after the Prince Regent) of 472
acres, containing part of what was known as Marylebone
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Park or Fields, lies between the south foot of Primrose
Hill and the Marylebone Road, and was formed in 1812 by
Nash tho architect, who also built most of the terraces
which swiround it, nearly all of which are Crown pro-
perty. In the south-west portion is a lake with three
forks crossed by suspension bridges. In the south part of
the Park is the Inner Circle, the whole of which is occu-
pied by the Garden of the Royal Botanical Society (inst.
1839), open every week-day from nine till sunset, and on
Sundays after two o'clock to persons presenting orders
from Fellows of the Socicty. T'he Garden of the Toxophilite
Society is situated in the road leading from the Ihmer
Cirele to Marylebone Road.

At the north end of the Park are the Gardens of
the Zoological Society. Admission from nine till dusk;
Mondays 6d., other days 1s., oxcept Sundays, when admis-
sion is only by Fellows’ order.  The Zoological Collection
includes 1000 birds, 500 quadrupeds, 100 reptiles, and ix
une of the sights of London. The great hippopotamus,
the monkey house, the snakes, the fishes, the scals, the
clephant calf, the bears, are well worth a visit.  The lions,
&c., are fed at 4 p.). A promenado at the ¢ Zoo,” on a fine
Sunday afternoon in the London season, is a pleasant oppor-
tunity for secing fashionable life in London.

On the cast side of Regent's Park is St. Katharine's
Hospital, an ancient foundation for charitable uses, now
serving as a retreat for old servants of the Crown. The
Marquis of Hertford’s Villa is in the outer road, its portico
is an adaptation of the Tcmple of the Winds, at Athens;
in a recess near the entrance are the clock and two gigantic
statues, with clubs and bells from old St. Dunstan’s Church,
Fleet Street.  From the top of Primrose Hill is to be en-
joyed upon a fine morning one of the most extensive views
of London. The Shakespeare Oak on the summit was planted
April 23, 1864, to commemorate the tercentenary of the
poct’s birth.
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ST. JAMES'S STREET AND BOND STREET.

S'l‘. James’s Panace (sce p. 128 ) stands at the bottom of

St. James's Strect. Cleveland Row, upon our left as we
look up St, Jamens's Street, derived its nameo from Barbara,
Duchess of Cleveland, one of Charles the Sccond’s mis-
tresses, who at ono time resided on this site. The first
club-house which we pass on our way up St. James’s Street
is the Thatehed House Club, No, 86, built in 1865 (and first
known as the Civil Service Club), near the site of the onee
celebrated Thatehied House Tavern, long noted for the emi-
nence of its frequenters and for the number of its publicand
club dinners. At No. 87 is o new institution, the Egerton
Club.  Over tho way, at the corner of Pall Mall, is Sams's
Opera Ticket Ofice and hookshop, and at No. 8 the lodgings
of Lord Byron in 1811, At 74 iy the Counservative Club-
houso, erceted from designs by Messrs. Bassovi and Sydney
Swmirke, upon the site of a house in which Gibbon the
historian died. 'T'ho Conservative Club extends to the corner
of Little St. James’s Street. It was established in 1840, to
receive Conservatives, then too numerous for the Carlton.
At 69, on the samo side of the strect, is Arthur’s Club, so
named from its founder, a keeper of White's Chocolate-
house, who died in 1761, In St James's Place is the en-
trance to the houso of the late Samuel Rogers, the author
of > The Pleasuves of Memory.” The mansion overlooks the
Green Park, and was the pleasant scene of many re-unions
of the literary celebrities of the last half century.

In King Street, opposite, is the St. James's Theatre, built
by Beazley, for the celebrated John Braham, the singer,
and opened in 1835, Onoe of the earliest picces played here
was tho Strange Gentleman, a dramatie cffort by Charles
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Dickens in his younger days, which was followed by tho
same writer with an operatic burletta, The Village Coquettes,
with music hy John Hullah. Braham did not, however,
find his enterprise at this theatre a successful one. It is
a house which has never been very remunerativo to any
of its numcrous lessces-—DBritish or foreign.  Neithor
German nor English Opera have taken root here, although
attempts to establish them were made under thoe most
favourable auspices. Near the St. James's Theatro aro
Willis's Rooms, a noted house for public dinners, balls,
and meetings, known as dlmack’s (1765-1863), after Mr.
Almack, a Scotehman, its founder and manager, who had
previously farmed Drooks’s Club.  Ordinary mortals can
searcely coneeive the importance onee attached to gotting
admission to Almack’s—* the seventh heaven of fashion,”
the gates of which were guarded by seven lady pa-
tronesses, * whoso smiles or frowns consigned men or
women to happiness or despair, as the case might be.”
Opposite Willis’s Rooms are the well-known auction-
rooms of Messrs, Christie & Manson, whercin, during tho
London season, are disposed of week by week the finest
pictures and other works of art which thus change
hands in this country. Many a connoissenr would tell
you that the exhibitions which take place at Christic &
Manson’s are generally better worth seeing than those
of any shilling Gallery in London. At No. 3 Kiny Street,
a small tablet in the front of the lionse testifies that
Louis Nupoleon Bonaparte (afterwards Napoleon 1) lived
hero in 1847, and also in 1818, when he was sworn in
ag one of the 150,000 special constables to suppress
the Chartist gatherings, The Prince was cheated out
of £2000 one night at Crockford’s gaming-house (sce
p. 140), near by, but fortunately got his money back
again.

At 64 St. James's Street is the Cocoa-tree Club, named
after the Cocua-tree Chocolate-house, which stood here
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in Queen Anne's time, and was then specially a Tory
resort, A Whig,” wrote De Foe, “will no more go to
the (ocoa-tree than a Tory will be seen at the Coffec-
house of St. James’s.” From the window of No. 29
St. Jamew's Street, over a printseller’s shop, Gillray,
the caricaturist, threw and killed himself in 1815. At
No 60 i3 Brooks’s Club, opened in 1778, and over since
then tho headquarters of the Whig aristocracy. It was
named (like Boodle’s and White's) after its first proprie-
tor, and beeame famous for its deep gaming, and from
being the rendezvous of Charles James Fox and his Whig
confréres, At 28 St. James's Strect, is Boodle's Club-house,
of which Fox, Gibhon, and others, wero the earliest mem-
herse It was first known as the Swcoir Viere.  The New
University Club, 57-8, was fonnded in 1864, in a house just
below Bennet Street. No. o4 is the Verudaon Club-lonse, and
ab D0 is the Devonshire Club-house, an offshoot of the Reform
Club, established in 1874 in the Inilding formerly known
as Crockford’s gaming-house,  Crockford died in 1844, and
Raikes, in his journal of that date, says of him, ¢ That
arch-gambler Crockford is dead, and has left an immense
fortune. Mo was originally a low fishmonger in Fish
Street Hill, near tho Monument; then a ‘leg’ at New-
market, and keeper of ‘hells’ in London. e finally set
up the Club in St. James's Street, opposite to White's,
with a hazard bank, by which ho won all the disposable
money of the men of fashion in London, which was sup-
posed to be two millions.”

In Jermyn Street and the small streets connected with it
are several oxcellent hotels for families, and lodging-houses,
much in request by country gentlemen belonging to tho
neighbouring clubs. It was named after Henry Jermyn,
Larl of St. Albans, who was said to have married Henrietta
Maria, the Queen-Mother of Charles II. Pennant said,
*She ruled her first husband, King Charles I, but her
sccond husband, a subject, ruled her” The Turkish
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Baths, called the Hewnam, in Jermyn Streot, are the best
of their kind in London, and aro resorted to by persons
of tho higher ranks of socicty. Tho poot Tom Moore
once lodged at 27, Crabbe at 37, and Daniel O’Connell at
29, Bury Strect. Sir Richard Stecle and Swift also lived
in that street. Tho Park Club is at 7 Park Place.

White's Club-house occupies 36 and 37 St. James's Streot,
This club was originally founded in 1698 as Whito'’s
(‘hocolato-house, ncarer the bottom of St. James’s Street.
The house was restored and re-arranged by J. Wyatt in
1851. White's was noted up to 1830 as the Tory club-
house, as Brooks's was that of tho Whigs; and it certainly
rivalled Brooks’s at one time in its reputation for gambling,
oraco Walpole wrote, in 1750, of White's: “ A man
dropped down dead at the door, and was carvied in.  'T'ho
(‘lub immediately made bets whether he was dead or not,
and when they were going to bleed him, the wagerers for
his death interposed, and said it would affect the fairness
of the bet.” White's is depicted by Hogarth in his ¢ Rake's
Progress,” as * Black’s.”

At the top of St. James’s Street we cross Piccadilly,
to the corner of Old Bond Street, built by Sir Thomas Bond
in 1686, Passing through it wo shall note, at 39s, Messrs.
Agnew’s New Art Gallery, in red brick.  Lawrenco Sterne
died at his lodgings, 41 Bond Street (now a tailor’s), in
1768. On the 18th of March there was a gay party in
Clifford Street close by—Garrick and David Hume being
of the company—and from it a footman was despatched
to Sterne's lodgings to inquire after his health, which
had of late been failing. The man was direeted by the
landlady to the sick-room and found his way to the
bedside. Sterno was dying—* Yorick’s last breath was
hanging upon his trembling lips ready to depart”—and
no friend was present to rcccive that last squeezo of the
hand, and that last glancoe, which ‘cut Eugenius to the
heart.” The footman alone heard the last words of Storno:
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“ Now it is come,” said the dying man, and raised his
hand as if to ward off the mortal blow, then dropt his arm
and expired. Ilor his burial-place, see p. 174, My, Mitchell's
(the publisher) shop at the Stafford Strect corner of Bond
Street, has a small brass-plate let into the doorpost to
commemorato @ personal visit from Her Majesty.

Wo now enter upon that portion of this street which
hag long been noted for handsone shops for jewelry, clocks,
pliate, &e.  Here also we find ourselves in the midst of the
most fashionable court tradesmen, as perfumers, hair-
dressers, dressing-case makers, lacemen, and tobacconists,
A New Arcade at this point conneets Old Bond Street with
Albemarle Street.

At cach of the west corners of Durlington Gardens is a
perfumer’s shop. In Cork Street is a noted house for steaks
and plain dinners, known as the Blue Posts, also The Queen’s
and Burlington Hotels.  'The Hotel Bristol in Burlington
Gardens has suceceded to some of the business of the old
Clarendon in Bond Street, pulled down some years since.

In New Bond Strect we come upon more pictures,  The
Echibition of the Socicty of Freneh Artists is at 168, next
door to Lacon & Olier's Opera and Theatro Agency.
Facing tho end of Grafton Street is Lonyg's Hotel, a nuted
houso where Byron once dined with Walter Scott. At
No. 4 Grafton Street (now the Berkeley Club), the first
Lord Brougham resided. At No. 10 is tho Grafton Club;
at 12 and 13, tho Junior drmy and Navy Club.  In Clifford
Street ave Fischer's Hotel and the Queen’s Hotel, In Old and
Now Bond Street aro all the principal Court jewellers,
At 9 Conduit Street, aro the oftices and rovws of the Royal
Institute of British Arvchiteets ; the Arehitectural Association ;
tho Art Institute for Ladies; the Society of Biblical Archeology ;
tho Photoyraphic Society, and the Society for the Encouraye-
ment of the Fine Arts.  Limmer's Hotel is at the corner of
(ieorgo Street and Conduit Street. Bruton Street leads into
Berkeloy Square. At 35 New Bond Street, is the Doré
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Gullery of Pictures. The Hanover Gallery has been recontly
established at 47 New Bond Stroot.

At 136 is tho Groscenor Gallery, recently founded by Sir
Coutts Lindsay ; it is a handsome editico, and contains an
excellent collection of pictures, old and new, lbut ever
changing and ever interesting. "The plan of the galleries
is novel and striking, and the style of decoration elegant
and eftective. The Grosvenor Club, Library and Restaurant,
are situated upon the ground-floors of the cdifice.

There 18 a label on the house 141 New Bond Street,
to indicate that Lord Nelson lived there in 1797, Siv
Thomas Picton resided at 146. At 33 Upper Grosrenor
Street are tho Mansion and Collection of Pictures of the
Duko of Westminstor. Maddox Street leads directly to St,
George’s Church, Hanover Square.  Brook Street (namod
after the stream which used to flow from tho north side of
Oxford Street) extonds from Hanover Square to Grosvenor
Square, and thence by Upper Brook Strect to Park Lane,
Claridge’'s Hotel, 49-55 Brook Street, formerly known as
Mivart’s Hotel, has been for many ycars the resort and
temporary abode of crowned heads and othor foreign dis-
tinguished personages upon their coming to London.

Now Bond Streot has for many years enjoyed the highoest
reputation as a fashionablo strect, reploto with shops of
every varicty, stored with the best of such goods as they
profess to vend. If a man may so cultivato his taste by
continually frequenting galleries of the pictures of the
greatest masters, that his eyo will eventually reject un-
worthy works, and becowe critical by a process which may
bo defined as natural sclection, it may reasonably be believed
that the jewels exhibited in the windows of Bond Street,
being generally of the finest water, would educate the
regular Bond-street Lounger to a true appreciation of colour,
character, and brilliancy in gewsjof all descriptions
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PICCADILLY

XTENDS from the top of the Haymarket to Hyqe
Park Corner,—only 110 yards less than amile. Before
sctting out to traverse this route it will be well to male
a brief survey of the streets which are within view
from our starting-point. Looking down tho HAymArkgr
(so named from its having beon the place for selling
hay, before the market was transferred in 1830 to Cumber-
land Market, Regent’s Park), wo have upon our loft
Covinrey Strerr, leading to Leicester Square ; behind us
Guear WispMmiLL Streer (named from o windmill that
once stood in a field on tho west side), which is the
shortest way from this point into Oxford Street; and upon
onr right are Tichborne Street and Piccadilly, tho latter
a littlo lower, crossed by Regent Street. The name of
Piceadilly has nover been satisfactorily traced to its
origin; some have ascribed it to Piccadilly Hall, a place
of entertainment, which stood at the corner of Great
Windmill Strect. A gaming-house, at the corner of the
Haymarket and Coventry Street, was called Shavers’ Hall,
becauso of its having been ostablished by the Lord
Chamberlain’s barber, and perhaps also because of the
money lost thero in gambling. Some have derived Picca-
dilly from frills or ruffs, named Piccadillies, which were
much in fashion early in the 17th century, when the old
“way to Reading” became first known as Piccadilly.
Higgins, a tailor who mado most of his money by Picca-
dillies, is said to have built the street. Whether the
fashionable Piccadilly Hall, then upon the frill or skirt of
the western suburbs, took the name in whimsical fashion
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from the collar, or tho latter from it, cannot now be
known. Anyhow, the name became popular, and Picca-
dilly, which at first only oxtended to Sackville Street—
whenco ran Portugal Street to Albemarle Street—-has evon
sinco Georgo I.’s time becomo the name of the whole great
thoroughfare.  Great Windmill Street (not long sinco
noted for the excellent Anatomical School, established by
Dr, William Hunter), maintained until 1878 tho less en-
viable reputation carned for the neighbourhood by Picen-
dilly I1all in years gone by. 'The Argyll Dancing Rooms
are now converted into the Trocodéro restaurant. 'Tho
Hotel and Café de U Etoile in this street, is o noted rendez-
vous for foreigners indulging in French billiards.

In Tichborne Strect stood tho Pavilion Music Hdll,
now, or soon to bo, removed to complete the improve-
ments of the thoronghfare. At No. 28 MHaymarket is
the Store of the Civd Service Co-operative Society.  Pro-
ceeding through Piccadilly westwards, we shall observe
tho Criterion Theatre and Restaurant, built by Messrs,
Spiers and Pond, and opened in 1873, at a cost of about
£30,000. It stands on tho site of a once-noted inm, tho
*White Bear,” adjacent to which was a notorious night-
house known as the Piccadilly Salvon. 'T'he Critorion
Theatre, built entircly below the level of the roadway,
is a beautiful structure, capablo of holding about cight
hundred persons.

Just beyond is Regent Cireus, Piceadilly, where Regent
Street intersects Piccadilly, and from which a beautiful
view may be had upon a fine day of Westminster, in the
distance beyond St. James's Park.  We will, however,
pursue our course up Piccadilly, observing as wo pass
through this Circus, so centrally and conveniently placed,
that numerous Railway and Steumboat Booking-Offices aro
here to be found.

Swan and Edgar's large establishment presents one of
its three frouts to tho Circus, the others being in Regent
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Street and Piccadilly.  Upon the sonth side of Piccadilly
we note Morel’s, and Howis and Masson’s, the Italian ware-
housemen, and a Branch Bank of the National Provincial
Bank of England.

The Loyal School of Mines and Muscum of Practical
Geology, the entrance of which is in Jermyn Street,
extends to Piceadilly. It was established in 1835, but
tho present cdifice, constructed from the designs of Mr.
Pennethorne, was not opened till 1851, In the School of
Mines, pupils receive instruction in metallurgy, chemistry,
natural history, applied mechanics, geology, mincralogy
and mining, on payment of a feo of £:30. The Museum
contains a valuable collection of the mineral products of
tho United Kingdom, with completo series of ores and
fosmile:  Tho Metallurgical branch of this School has heen
removed to South Kensington Muscum, see p. 168, Even-
ing lectures aro delivered in the Lecture Theatre (which
holds six hundred persons) to working-men. Admission to
the Musenm is to be obtained gratis, {from 10 A to 10 p.ar.
on Mondays and Saturdays, and on Tuesdays, Wednesdays,
and Thursdays, from 10 A to 4 o, from November to
February, and from 10 A to 5 par dnring the rest of
the year, except during the antumn vacation, which ex-
tonds from the 10th August to the 10th September.

A Streer, formerly Ayr Street, was, in 1659, the most
westerly street in Piceadilly.  Just at its south-west end
is a passago continned to Jermyn Street, and at No. 20
Piceadilly the establishment where Mr. J. L. Denman first
introduced Greek wines, At No. 28 is the south, or Picea-
dilly entrance to St. James's Hall and the St. James's Re-
stanrant—tho latter, a highly-decorated edifice, rivalling
even the magnificence of its neighbour, the Criterion.
St Jamex's Hall was ervected in 1857 from the designs of
Mr. Owen Jones. The building consists of one large room,
139 feet long and 60 feet high, and two smaller ones,
The formor can contain a vast number of persons, and is
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used for the concerts of the Suercd Harmonic and other
Societics ; Dickens gave his Readings in one of the
smaller rooms; and here havo flourished for many years
the popular musical entertainers known first as Christy’s,
and afterwards as the Moore and Burgess Minstrels.

SWALLOW SIREET, now so unimportant, once extended
through great part of the present line of Regent Strecet,
northward to Oxford Street.  In Swallow Street is tho
oldest Seoteh Episcopal Chwreh in London.  Viee Strect
Lolice Station is near by, and at the corner of Swallow
Street is the handsome and extensive hook emporimm of
Messrs, Sotheran and Co,

St. James's Clureh, known as St. James's, Westminster,
was built by Sir Christopher Wren for Henry Jermyn,
Earl of St. Albans, after whose family Jermyn Street was
named.  Bxternally, the structure is of little architeetural
interest, but its interior is considered amasterpicee of skill,
specially adapted for the use of large congregations aud a
Protestant Church Service. It is divided by Corinthian
cohunns into a nave and aisles.  “There are no walls of
sccond order, nor lanterns nor buttresses, hut the wholo
rests upon the pillars, as do also the galleries, and 1 think,”
wrote Sir Christopher, “it may be found beautiful and
convenient ; it iy the cheapest form of any I could invent.”
The organ was bnilt for James IL's (atholic Chapel in
Whitehall, but was given by Queen Mary in 1691 to this
church. The white marble font at the western end,
nearly five feet in height and six in cirenmference at
the busin, was carved by Grinling Gibhons,  T'he figures
represent Adam and Eve, and the shaft, the Tree of
Life, round which the Serpent is scen entwined whilo
tewpting Five with the forbidden fruit.  On tho basin or
bowl are bas-relicfs descriptive of the baptism of Christ;
the baptism by St. Philip the deacon; and Noal's Ark,
to which the dove is flying with the olive-branch. The
cover of this font, also. elegantly carved, was stolen

L2



148 The Albany Chambers.

a good many years ago, and served, it is said, for a time,
as tho sign of a neighbouring tavern. In this church are
buried some noted persons, including Cotton the collabora-
teur of Isank Walton, Dr. Sydenham, Hayman the painter,
both Vanderveldes, Dr. Arbuthnot, Akenside the poct,
Dodsley the publisher, and Tom d'Urfey the dramatist.
There are portraits in the vestry of the many rectors of
St. James's—several of whom became bishops and arch-
bishops.

SackvinLk Strestr has the reputation, if deserved I
know not, of being the longest street in London without
a turning. It is noted for its fashionablo tailors. At the
corner are the well-known hatters, Tincoln, Bennett and Co,
Next to St. Jumes's Vestry Hall, on the south side of Picea-
dilly, is No. 196, the publishing house of Messrs. Picker-
ing, who issued tho once famous Aldine edition of the
Poets,  Upon the opposite sido of the way, between
Nos. 46 and 47, is the Albany, planned aud built as
suites of chambers for tho residenco of single gentlemen,
and named after the Duke of York and Albany, to whom
it once belonged. The centre was designed by Sir W,
Chambers.  Many celebrated men  have resided  here,
including Lord Byron, George Canning, Bulwer Lytton,
and Lord Macaulay, who wrote, in these chambers, a
large part of his ¢ History of England.’ Nearly opposite
tho Albany are Messrs. IHatchard, the publishers, and
next door, at the northern corner of Duke Street, is Messrs.
Fortnum and Mason's, the great Italian warehousemen,
known over the world for their excellent and varied
stores of luxuries and delicacies,

Alittlefarther west we shall sce the handsome gateway to
BurravaroN Housk, erceted upon the site of the once famouy
edifico which stoud hero but a few years since, and whose
fino portico clicited the most extravagant encomiums of
Horace Walpole and other art-writers. It was, however,
bought in 1854 from the Cavendish family; the famous
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gateway and colonnade (praised by Sir W. Chambers,
who built Somerset House, as “one of the finest picces of
architecture in Europe ™) wero pulled down, and, instead,
have been since set up the present buildings by Banks
and Barry. In the courtyard aro to bo scen, as youn enter
tho new gateway from Piccadilly, on the right, the entrances
to the rooms of the Royal Socicty, the Geological Society,
and the Chemical Socicty ; on the left, those of the Society
of Antiquaries, tho Royal Astronomical Society, and the
Linnean Society. Facing the visitor is the entranco to
the Royal Academy of Arts, removed here in 1868 from
some of the rooms now used by tho National Gallery in
Trafalgar Square.

The Royal Society was incorporated by Charles TI. in
1663. It originated at Gresham House (see p. 238), and
its first home was in Crane Court, Flect Street (seo p. 85).
It removed to Somerset Iouse in 1780, and to Burlington
ouse in 1857, whero it now holds weokly meetings from
November to June at 4.30 r.m., to which visitors are ad-
mitted on the order of a ¥Fellow of the Society. The Istitn-
tion possesses a very valuablo scientific library, and some
excellent busts, portraits, and autographs of tho most
famous of its members. The Socicty at present consists of
489 Fellows, exclusive of forcigners. Fellows aro clected
annually in June from among the numerous candidates
for the honour of F.R.S.; and four medals are annnally
awarded—the Copley Medal, being thoe highest distinetion ;
the Davy Medal, for discoveries in chemistry ; and two
Royal Medals, bestowed by tho Queen. The Rumford
Medals, for discoveries in light and heat, are awarded
biennially. The *Philosophical Transactions’ of this
Society are published regularly, and are issued to the
general public as freely as to its members.

The Geological Sociely, numbering about 135 members,
was established in 1807, and incorporated in 1826. Its
museum and library are open eovery day from 10 A.M,



150 Learued Societics.

to 5 p. to members, and visitors introduced by them.
Mectings for diseussion and for the reading of papers are
held npon alternate Wednesdays from November to June
inclusive, commeneing at 8 rar. Members pay six guineas
entrance feo and two guineas annual subscription,  The
Society’s Journal is published quarterly.

The Chemical Society was founded in 1841, and incorpo-
rated in 1848, ¢ for the promotion of chemistry and of
those branches of science commected with it.” The fees
payable by Members (who are clected by Ballot) are L4
entrance fee, and £2 anmual subseription. The Society
holds meetings fortnightly, from November to Juno in-
clusive, for the reading of papers and discussion, and
prblishes its transactions in its monthly periodical.

Tho Society of Antiquaries was founded about 1572, but
wis not incorporated till 1751, It had rooms in Somerset
House from 1781 until it removed here in 1574, Members
are cleetedd by Dallot after being proposed by at Teast
threo Fellows of the Secicty, and these append F.S.A. to
their names. The Sovcicty meets at 8.50 pon on most
Thursdyys, from November to June.  Tts transactions are
recorded in the ¢ Procecdings’ and ¢ Archicologia,” which
latter was commenced in 1770, and it possesses an excellent
library and o few antiguities and paintings.  Entrance
fee, five guineas; annual subseription, two guincas.

Royal Astronomdcal Society, founded in 1820 for the en-
couragement and  promotion of Astronomy, consists of
about 600 members, and publishes a series of memoirs and
- monthly periodical. The initials FVRUALS. indicate a
Fellow of this Society. Entrance fee, two guineas ; annual
subseription, two guineas.

Linnean Society, founded in 1788 for the study of
Natural History, has a good herbarinm and library, It was
named in honour of Linnweus, the great Swedish naturalist,
Its valuable natural history collection and library were
removed hither from Soho Square in 1856, This Society
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publishes its ¢ Transactions’ and ¢ Journals,” both in Botany
and Zoology, for circulation among its Fellows, who append
F.L.S. to their names.

The Royal Geographical Society, founded in 1830 for
the improvement of geographical knowledge, and having
offices at No. 1 Savile Row, holds its meetings in tho theatro
of the University of London, Burlington Gardens, on the
second and fourth Monday in cach month, from November
to June inclusive, at 8.30 .. Members are elected by
ballot, and pay an annual subscription of £2, and an
entrance feo of £3. This Society has a good geographical
library and a largoe collection of maps.

The Rovar AcApemy or ArTs occupies a grand suito of
rooms scrving for the public exhibition of pictures and
statuary. The Exhibition of Works by Living Artists opens
annually on the first Monday in May and continues until
the end of July. Admission from 8 a.x. till 7.30 r.. 1s.,
catalogne 1s.  During thoe last week of July tho rooms are
open from 7.30 A till 10.30 r.v. and the price of admission
is 0d., and that of the catalogue 6d. 'The Txhibition of
the Works by Old Musters opens on the first Monday in
January and closes the first Saturday in March.  Admis-
sion from 9 till dusk 1s, catalogue 6d. Students aro
admitted to tho Schools of the Academy for soven years,
after having satisfied the Council of their ability and
respectability. Besides the exhibition galleries, thero are in
this building (which was designed by Sydney Smirke, R.A.,
and cost £120,000) a theatre for lectures, &e., schools of art
for male and female students, and a fine library. Thero
are forty-two R.AJs, thirty A.R.A.s, or Associate Royal
Academicians, and two Associato Engravers.

The Universiry of LoxnoxN occupics a handsome edifice
in Burlington Gardens, with an entrance and grand fagade
in the Palladian style, built from designs by Pennethorne,
1868-70. It was founded in 1836, not for the purpose
of teaching (which is carried on at its numerous Colleges),
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but merely for examining and conferring degress on
graduates in Arts, Science, Law, Medicine, and Music.
The University is supported by DParliamentary Votes,
which are in great part repaid by Fecs received from
Candidates. The building containg a theatre for 700
persons, examination and council rooms, a library and
offices, Externally, it is decorated by a number of statues
of famous men.

BurLineroN Arcapk was built (by S. Ware) in 1819
upon part of the grounds of old Burlington House.

The Egyptian Hall, next to 170 Piccadilly, was built in
1812, for a muscum of Natural History, collected by
Mr. Bullock in Central America, which was exhibited
here until 1819, and was then dispersed by auction. The
hall was built and decorated in the Egyptian style of
architeeture by (. F. Robinson; its entablature is sup-
ported by colossal figures of Tsis and Osiris.  Among tho
numerous exhibitions which have taken place at the Egvp-
tian IIall may bo mentioned the Siamese Twins ( 1829),
Haydon'’s Pictures of Xenophon, &e. (1832), Siborne’s Model of
the Battle of Waterloo (1838 and 1846), with 190,000 figures
now in the musenm of the United Service Institution,
Whitchall ; Tom Thumb, tho American Dwarf (1844), who
in one room drow crowds to sco him, and made over £100
a day, while in tho adjuining apartment poor Haydon’s
grand pictures scarcely attracted as many shillings in a
week.,  The result was the suicido of the painter,  In 1852
Albert Smith gave his Ascent of Mont Blane here for the
first time. The Dudley Gallery of Pictures has worthily
oceupied for sumo years one of the chief exhibition roums
in this Hall; the other room being nsed for other popular
entertaimnents. For Bond Street and St. James's Street,
soo pp. 188-40,

AvBEMARLE NTREED was built, as well as Bond Street and
Stafford Street, upon the site of Clarendon House (the resi-
denco of the great Chancellor Clarendon), which was sold to
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the young Duke of Albemarle after Clarendon’s death. The
ontrance to Clarendon House was in Piccadilly, diroctly
opposite the top of St. James's Street. In Albemarlo Strect:
is the Royal Institution, founded in 1799, to promoto Scien-
tific and Literary rescarch, to teach the principles of
Inductive and Experimental Science, to exhibit the appli-
cation of those principles to the various Arts of Life, and
to afford opportunities for study. 1t comprises two La-
boratories for experiments and original investigations, a
Model Room for scientific apparatus, and a Library, Read-
ing and Newspaper Room (open from 9 A to 11 pow).
Lectures weekly during the season on Chemiceal Science,
Philosophy, Physioiogy, Literature, Art, &c. Members
are elected by ballot, atter being proposed by four members,
and pay an entrance fee of five guineas, and a subscription
annually of five guincas. They are admitted to all lectures,
to all the weckly mectings held every Friday during tho
season, and may introduce two friends to theso meetings
and to the lectures at a reduced rate.  Annual subseribers
pay five guincas por annum, and one guinea on admission,
Subseribers (non-membors) pay two guineas for all the
courses of the lectures, extending from Christmas to Mid-
summer. In Albemarle Street is the publishing house of
Mr. John Murray, also the Royal Thames Yacht Club, and
the Westminster Club,

The Royal Asiatic Society, 22 Albemarle Strect, was
founded in 1823 for the advancement of the knowledgo
of Asiatic literature, &e. It has a valuable library and col-
lection of MSS.  The meetings of the Socicety are held at
4 .. on the third Monday in cach month, from November
to July. Members pay no entrance fee; the annual sub-
scription is three guineas, or for residents abroad ome
guinea, The initials of Fellows are M.R.A.S.  The Royal
Historical Society for prumoting the scicnce of history also
holds its meetings at 22 Albemarle Strect.

ARrLINGTON STREET Was built upon the property of Henry
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Jennet, Farl of Arlington, from whom the name of Bennet

Street is also deriviel. In Arlington Street have lived
some notable persons, including Lady Mary Wortley Mon-
tague, and Sir Robert Walpole, on tho site of No. 17 (where
Horaes Walpole was horn).  The houses on the west side
have their best frontage towards the Green Park. The Bath
Hotel at the corner of Arlington Street has an excellent
reputation.  The New White Horse Cellar in Piceadilly
is nearly opposite Arvlington Street, and worthily sustains
the namo made famons by the Old White Iorse Ceilar,
before which, in the old mail coaching times, was to ho
seen, writes Iazlitt, © the finest sight in the metropolis,
the setting off of the mail-coaches in Piceadilly.”  IFrom
the New White Tlorse Clollar, during the finer seasons
of the year, may still be witnessed the departure and
arrival of many very handsomely provided four-horse
coaches, which convey passengers at moderate charges to
numerons pleasant places within a few hours’ jonrney of
London, and which in several instances are driven by
eentlemen who are themselves the proprictors of their
team.  ‘Tho following aro a few of the places tor which
theso conches run, generally starting about 10 or 11 Aar. :—

To Windsor, throngh Kew, Richmond, Twickenham,
Hampton Court, &e.  Iare, 5s,

To Guildford and back, 6. or 105, arriving at Guildford
at 2 pow, returning at 4 ran and reaching London at 7 e,

To Kingston-on-Thames on alternate days, in about an
honr and & nlf’ from London, at 5.30 p.r., returning next
morning by 10,15 A Fare, 35 6d.  On Saturdays from
London at 3.30 ra.

To 8t. Albans at 11 Ao, through Finchley, Barnet, &e.,
arriving at St. Albans at 1.30, returning at 4 p.M., and
reaching Piccadilly at 6.30 p.w. Fares, 6s. or 10s.

The New White Horse Cellar is also a bouking-office and
a receiving house for conches from Oxford to (ambridge
through London, and for the principal railways of the
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metropolis ; and is connected with Hatehett's Hotel and
Tavern, at 67 & 68 Piceadilly, at the corner of Dover Strect.

Dover Streer, named after Lord Dover, who was then
owner of the property, was built in 1685, It is chiefly
noted as having been the street in which Johm Tivelyn lived
(““about nine doors up the cast sido”) and died in 1705-6;
also whero the Dukoe of Wharton lived and died, 1715
Robert, Earl of Oxford, and others of the nobility ; many of
whom still luve residences in this street, The Seottish Club
and the Juwior Naval and Militury Club aro in Dover Strect,

St James's Horen, at the corner of Berkeney Srrewr,
obtained a high reputation under Francatell?’s manage-
ment. This street and Derkeley Square were named from
Berkeley House, which belonged to the Berkeley family,
and was burnt down in 1733, Upon the sito was built
Devonshire Honse, by W. Kent, for the third Duko of
Devonshire. Tothe present Devonshire Tlouse little interest
attaches, except during the brief period when Georgiana,
the beautiful Duchess of Devoushire (whose portrait was
reeently sold and stolen) held her conrt within its walls,
In the hall-room of Devonshire House, however, took place
the first amatenr performance of Lord (then Sir E. Bulwer)
Lytton’s comedy, * Not so Bad as we Sceimn,” for the henefit
of the Guild of Literature, which Dickens and Bulwer did
their best to promote, but which proved a great failure.
There is here sald to be the richest collection of old
English plays, play-bills, &c., in the kingdom; it wasg
bought from the executors of John Philip Kemble for
£2000. Thero is also to be scen hero the valuable col-
lection called The Devonshire Gems.  Lansdowne House is
situated between Devonshire House and Berkeley Square.
It belongs to the Marquis of Lansdowne.

Tur Greex Park, sometimes named Upper St. James’s
Park, contains about sixty acres, bounded on the north by
Piccadilly, south by the Mall and Buckingham Palace, west
by Grosvenor Place, and east by the houscs of Arlington
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Strect and St. James’s. Along the dead wall of Bucking-
ham Palace Gardens is the carriage road called Constitu-
tion IIill, where Her Majesty has been three times shot
at by mad, would-be assassins; at the upper part of this
hill, Sir Robert Pecl was thrown from his horse and
killed, 1850, when on his way to the House of Commons,
Westminster.

Atthe corner of StraTTON STREET, Piccadilly, wasthe houso
of Sir Francis Burdett ; now of the Baroness Burdett Contts.

At No. 82 Piccadilly is Dath Houge, built by Lord
Ashburton, noted for the Ashburton collection of pictures
of tho Dutch Flemish schools, formed by Talleyrand.

At the corner of Crarces STrEET, named after Sir Walter
Clarges, is tho Twrf Club House, formerly Grafton House,
the residence of the Duke of Grafton.  This Club removed
hither from Grafton Street in 1875, Edmund Kean lived
for sevoral years in Clarges Street.

HavLr-MooN Srreer was named after an old inn called
the ¢Half Moon’ which stood on this site. This strect
leads directly into Curzon Street, Mavrair, a most fashion-
able quarter named after a Faiv which began on the 1st of
May and lasted fiftcen days, under a grant of James II,
The Fair was suppressed in 1708,

At 94 Piccadilly is Cambridye Iouse, named after tho
Duko of Cambridge, youngest son of Georgo III., who died
here in 1850.  Lord Palmerston lived in Cambridge House
during tho period of his Premiership, and here Tady
Palmerston, the sister and the wife of a Premier, for some
years received and led the world of fashion. Cambridge
House, soon after Lord Palmerston’s death, was purchased
by tho Naval and Military Club, the present tenants, who
have considorably enlarged and altered the premises.

Wnrrenorse STREET derived its name from an old inn
callod tho ¢ White Horse.’

Hertford House (105), at the corner of ENGINE STREET,
was built by the Marquis of Hertford, but never occupied
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by him. It has recently been sold by Sir Richard Wallaco
to a member of the Goldsmid family.

The St. James's Club (106) occupies Coventry House, the
ancient town residenco of tho Earls of Coventry. This man-
sion was, previous to passing into the hands of its present
owners, the Coventry House Club (Ambassadors).

Tho Junior Athenwuwm Club (116) occupics Hope House,
at the corner of Dowx Srrrer. This edifice was built by
Mr. . T. Hope, M.P., of Decpdene, 1849, and, during his
residence in it, contained a valuable collection of pictures,
chiefly of the Dutch and Flemish schools,

At the corner of Park Lang, a thoronghfare which con-
ncets Piccadilly with tho west end of Oxford Street, and
skirts the cast side of Hydo Park, is Gloucester House, tho
residence of the Duke of Cambridge, and previously known
as Elgin House, whilst occupicd by the EKarl of Elgin;
who brought hither in the first instance the celebrated
Elgin Marbles, now in the British Muscum.

At 138 and 139, then onoe house, between Park Lane and
Hamilton Place, lived the notorious Duke of Quoersberry,
known as “Old Q.” At 139, Lord Byron resided, and
wrote the ‘Siege of Corinth,” and * Parisina;’ and from
this houwse Lady Byron fled, carrying away with her the
poet’s infant daughter. The Statue of Lord Byron, by
Mr. R. C. Belt, was erected in ITamilton Gardens, 1880.

Near this spot stood the old inn called the Hercules
Pillars, a noted house for west-country visitors to London,
and as such described in ¢ T'om Jones,” as the inn at which
Squire Western stopped, and protected the fair Sophia.

At 148 Piccadilly, Baron Lionel de Rothschild’s, there
are o fow fine paintings, including specimens by Cuyp,
Do Hoog, Greuze, and Wilkio; the collection of plate,
ancient china, &c., is exceptionally fine.

Apsley House, at Hyde Park Corner, the residence of
the Duke of Wellington, derived its name from Baron
Apsley, Lord High Chancellor, who built it towards the
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closo of the last century. Ilere resided, from 1820 till
1852, the Gireat Duke whom the Laureate called the * great
world victor’s victor,” and who, though perhaps the most
popular man of his time, was yct obliged, by the fury of
the mob during the Reform Bill agitation, to turn his
own dwelling-house into a sort of fortress, and to protect
himself and his property from them by bullet-proof iron
blinds. Apsley House has no particular merits from an
architectural point of view. In the Picture Gallery in the
western wing the Waterloo Banguet was held annually
until 1852, the year of the Great Duke's death. Among
tho pictures—which, as well as the house, can be scen by
special permission—are tho master-pieco of Correggio,
«Christ on the Mount of Olives,’ captured by the Duke
in Spain in the carriage of Joseph Bonaparte, and re-
stored to Ferdinand V1L, but bestowed by him upon the
captor; also Wilkio's ¢ Chelsca Pensioners,” and Burnet’s
¢« Gireenwich Pensioners,” Landscer’s ¢ Van Amburg in the
Lions' Den,” also Allan’s picture of the ¢ Dattle of Water-
loo.) 'The Duke’s bedroom was a narrow, bare-looking,
ill-lighted chambor on the castern side of the house, with a
bedstead so small that some one observed that there was no
room to turn in it. “ When 1 want to turn in bed,”
replied the old Duke, “I know it is time to turn out.”
T'he Colossal Statue of the Duke of Wellington, by Wyatt,
placed npon the top of the triumphal arch opposite Apsley
House, represents the Duke upen his horse, * Copenhagen,’
at the Ficld of Waterloo. It was set up on the 28th of
September, 1846, * On fino afternoons,” said a writer in
the Quarterly, * the sun casts tho shadow of the Duke’s
Equestrian Statue (opposite) full upon Apsley House ; and
the sombre image may be seen gliding spirit-like over
tho front.”  The turnpiko toll-gates at Hydo Park Corner
wero removed in 1825,

St. George’s Hospital, at tho corner of Grosvenor Place,
one of the best of the medical schools of the metropolis,



Belgravia. 159

was founded in 1733, and is particularly noted as tho
place in which the great physician, John Huntoer, prac-
tised and died (1793). Farther west is the highly fashion-
able Alexandra Hotel. Down Grosvenor Place is the direct
road from this part of town to the Victoria Railway
Station at Pimlico, and thenco by tho Vauxhall Bridgoe
Road to the south-western districts of Kennington, Brixton,
Stockwell, Clapham, &c. At the back of St. Georgo's
Hospital used to bo the famous stables and horse auction
yard of ZTattersall's, or ¢ Tat’s’ — of which Tom Hooud
wrote, “ Ilis horse is a tit for Tat to sell to a very low
bidder ”—now removed to Knmnrssringe, about a quarter
of a mile off, in the dircet road west of Piccadilly which
skirts Hyde Park and is continued through Kensington.
From Knightsbridge south is Slouno Street to Currska, or
sonth-westerly, the Brompton Road and the Fulhan Road.
Prince's Cricket Ground is at Hans Place, Sloane Street. Tho
Court Theatre is opposito tho Sloane Square Railway Station.
Between Grosvenor Place and Chelsea is the aristocratic
district called Bereravia, named from Belgrave in Leices-
tershire, a village belonging to the Duke of Westminster,
who owns all the land in this quarter. The Cancer Hospital
and tho Brompton Houspital for Conswmption, two most
valuable institutions, are in the Fulham Road.

In Brompton Cemetery, in the Fulham Road, lie: (+. Her-
bert Rodwell, the composer; IRlobert Kecley and I P
Cooke, actors; Albert Smith; Robert Landells, war artist
of tho Hlustrated London News during all the campaigns
from the Crimea to the taking of Paris, 1871 ; Sir Roderick
Murchison, the great geologist, and many more well-
known persons.

Hype Park, named from the Iyde, an ancient manor of
Knightsbridge, consists of 388 acres. Its chief Gates aro
those at Hyde Park Corner, Piccadilly (built by Decimus
Burton, and decorated with bas-reliefs from the Elgin
Marbles) ; Cumberlund Gate, west end of Oxford Strect,
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whero stands the Marble Areh, removed from Buckingham
’alace in 1851 ; Prince’s Gate, between Knightsbridge and
Kensington—near to the site of the Great Exhibition of
1851, and to the Queen’s splendid memorial to the Prince
Consort; and Vietoria Gate, leading out towards Ilyde

ark Gardens.  Its chief roads are a bridle road from
liyde Park Corner to Kensington Gardens called Rotten
Itow, and the carriage road by the north bank of the Ser-
pentine called the Lady's Mile, The Serpentine (formed
17:30-3), & misnomer, is an artificial sheet of water, whereon
boats may bo hired by tho hour. The Statue of Achilles,
at Iydo Park Corner, was a testimonial presented
by the women of England to the Duke of Wellington
and his brave companions in arms. 1t was cast by West-
macott from the cannon taken in the Peninsular War and at
Waterloo, and erected in 1822,

KensinaToN GanroeNs are a highly fashionable resort
during the London season, when tho band plays.  They are
only aceessiblo to promenaders on foot. The grounds now
consist of 210 acres. The bridge connecting Kensington
Gardens with Hyde Park was built by Rennie, 1826, The
Statue of Dr. Jenner is by Marshall.

KessiNatoN Pavace was bought by William ITI of the
second Earl of Nottingham.  Wien and Hawksmoor re-
built portions of it, and Queen Anne subsequently had the
bhanqueting-house erected.  George I made other additions,
William and Mary, Queen Anne and her consort, and
George 11 all died here.  In the lower south-castern
apartiwents, oceupicd by the Duke of Kent, Queen Victoria
was born, 1819; hero she was christened, and also held
her first Council. Here the Duke of Sussex collected his
Bibliotheea Sussewciana, and eventually died.

Holland Houre, Kensington, thoe great resort of the Whig
politiciang during tho life of the late Lord Holland, was
built in 1607, about two miles west of Hyde Park Corner.
Of this old mansion, standing in its own grounds, in the



Kensington. 161

midst and within view of the busy traffic of London, Sir
Walter Scott wrote: “ It will be a great pity when this
ancient house must come down and give way to rows and
crescents. It is not that Holland House is fine as a
building—on the contrary, it has a tumble-down look;
and although decorated with the bastard Gothic of
James I’s time, the front is heavy. But it resembles
many respectable matrons, who, having been absolutely
ugly during youth, ncquire by age an air of dignity. But
one is chicfly affected by the air of deep seclusion which
is spread around the domain.” Tho Townhall of this old
Court suburb—a handsome structure built for vestry
and parochial purposes—has windows ornameonted with
portraits in stained glass of old Kensington worthies, &e.,
such as Lord Holland, ¥ox, Addison, and Thackeray.

SOUTH KENSINGTON MUSEUM,

Situate at tho corner of the Brompton Road and Ex«
hibition Road, about a mile from Ilyde Park Corner,
is to bo reached thenco easily by omnibuses, or from
other parts of town by the Metropolitan District Railway,
which has a station at Sonth Kensington. Admission,
Monday, Tuesday, and Saturday, free, from 10 Am. to
10 ra. (the rooms being lighted at night), and Wed-
nosday, Thursday, Friday, students’ days, 6d. from 10 A.m.
till 4, 5, or 6, r.m., according to the season of the year,
Tickets of admission to the museum, including the Art,
Library, and Educational Reading Room, are issucd as
follows : weekly 6d., monthly 1s 6d., gquarterly 3s., half-
yearly 6s., yearly 108, and to any school at £1 for all
its pupils. This institution was begun in 1852 in rooms
in Marlborough House, before the I’rince of Wales took up
his residence there ; and it was established here by means
of a surplus derived from the first Great Exhibition of
1851, to which various grants from Parliament have since
M
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been added. It will be admitted, we think, by all who
visit this Museum, that the money spent upon it has been
woll bestowed, that the Institution has been well arranged,
is liberally conducted, and admirably filled with collec-
tions of Art and Art Manufacture, medimval and modern,
of all kinds. The original edifice which contained the
carliost collections, and which from its ungainly appear-
anco obtained the namoe of the ¢ Brompton Builers,” has
for somo time been removerd to Bethnal Green, there to be
known as the Bethnal Green Muscum. The present
permanent strueture is a rather handsome building of red
brick and terra-cotta, commenced in 1857, and still un-
finished, with spacious courts and galleries decorated in
tasteful stylo. T'he Art collections are chiefly contained
in three largo conrts and the corridors upon the ground-
floor.  Thoe Avehitectural Conrt is the first into which a
visitor enters from tho (‘romwell Road entrance.  This is
the largest of the three principal eourts, and is divided by
a Central Gallery.,  ere are to bo seen a large number
of highly-interesting  objects, and copies from original
art-masterpicees, all of which ave carefully labelled with
briefly-stated particulars, which render reference to a cata-
loguo almost unneeessary. A large diagram covers the
north wall of this court, representing, to scale, the com-
parative dimensions of tho Principal Churches, &e., of the
world, enlarged and slightly altered from a design by Pro-
fossor Cockerell, RA. A copy of the Buyenx Tapestry is
hung on the east wall.  In the gallery above the Central
Yassago aro examples of Mosaics, ancient and modern, and
a series of reproductions in clectrotype, copies of which
may bo ordered from the makers by visitors at prices stated
upon the labels which are placed npon each. A portion of
tho court is appropriated to the display of a collection of
ornamental ironwork, Italian, French, German, and English,
window-grilles, balconies, cressets, or lamps, signs, &e.
Descending the steps at the end of the central passage,
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wo enter the South Court, embellished chiefly from the
designs of the late Godfrey Sykes—the upper portion of
the side walls divided into alcoves, eighteen on cach side,
to receivo portraits in mosaic of eminent sculptors, painters,
architects, and others specially noted as workers in bronzoe,
marble, or pottery. The South Court is divided by a
broad passage, and by the Prince Consort’s Gallery.  Upon
the west side are tho Loan Collections, comprising cccle-
siastical ntensils—crosses, clocks, carvings, enamels, Kinglish
and foreign plate, Russian and Albanian metal work, the
gold crown and chalico of the Abima of Abyssinia; also
English, French, German and Oriental pottery and por-
celain, including rare specimens of Bow, Bristol, and
Plymouth; collections of ancient Fgyptian, Roman, Vene-
tian, German, and other ancient and modern glass vessels.
The east side of the South Court containg under the Arcado
wall, cases in which are placed Oriental and other woven
fabries, Chinese and Japaneso hronzes, enamels, porcelain,
lacquer-work, &e. 'The Oriental Courts, decorated by Mr.
Owen Jones, are to be found east of the South Court, and
in them will be scen specimens of the art-workmanship of
tho East Indies, China, Japan, Persia, &e.; as well as tho
royal treasures from Abyssinia. At the south end of the
Arcade is arranged a complete Parisian boudoir, temp,
Lonis XVI. 1In the South Arcade are clectrotypo repro-
ductions of the famous chair of Dagobert in the Louvre,
salvers, &e. A large collection of examples of Metal-Work
occupies the central passages. Thero is a handsome Fronch
Clock near the doorway to the Architectural Court, in the
form of a largoe gilt globo supported by a bronze group of
three boys.

The North Court is used for the exhibition of sculpture
and large casts of different objects, mainly Italian—chief
among which are the marble Singing Gallery, from Florence,
the Biga, or two-horse chariot from the museum 'of the
Vatican, and two Pulpits from the cathedral at Pisa.

M 2
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The Eust Arcade exhibits a number of finely-sculptured
chimney-pieces, as also numerous textile and woven
fabrics in the form of ecclesiastical vestments, and
fragments of embroidery; also a set of costumed fignres
representing Jeelanders and Laplanders.

I'he North Arcade containg a collection of sculptures
in terra~cotta, both plain and enamelled.  Of the latter,
known as the Della Robbian Ware, there are here some
exeellent examples,

The Reading Room of the Art Library is in the West
Arcade of the North Court.  The Library consists at present
of 45,000 volumes on all subjects connected with art, 15,000
drawings, 50,000 engravings, chicfly of ornamental art, and
40,000 photographs illustrative of architecture, & The
Library is open during the same hours as the Muscum,
There is an jnteresting collection of Musical Instruments
in the West Arcade, from which is a doorway leading
into the Refreshment Room Corridor,

The Refreshment Rooms, Lavatories, and Waiting-Rooms,
are comfortably and artistically planned, and the central
Refreshment-Room has been handsomely decorated from
the designg of artists connected with the department.
Thero is also a grill-room or Duteh kitchen, and a dining-
room. The viauds are good, and are nicely served at most
reasonablo rates. From this point we will proceed to the
lett and enter the West Corridor, containing a collection of
Ancient Turniture and Tapestry; at the end of this
corridor is the Educational Reading-room, open on students’
days to all visitors; on free days to clergymen, school-
teachers, or holders of tickets. In the West School Cor-
ridor ave somo examples of Modern Furniture, State
arriages, and sedan chairs, wood carvings, and casts of
architectural details.  From this Corridor is an exit
leading to the Exhibition Galleries in Exhibition Road,
The North School Corridor, at right angles with the other
corridors, forms the Persian Court, wherein is arranged
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the collection of Persian ecarthenware, metal work,
carpets, &c. At the ond of this Corridor is a staircasoe
leading to the Picrure GarLeriks, and in the Iall at tho
foot of the staircase is a collection of Anglo-Saxon and other
antiquities discovered near Faversham, in Kent, and
including glass and bronze vessels, weapons, ornamonts,
and pottery. Thoe staircase leading to the Picturo
Galleries is lighted by a large stained glass window, of
which the design is descriptive of various kinds of handi-
craft,

The Keramic ov DPottery Gallery is to bo entered after
passing through two rooms at the bend of the staircase,
and then turning to the right. Ilere is the Museun Collee-
tion of Italian, Spanish, French, and German carthenware,
stonoware,and porcelain; also examplesof Wedgwood ware,
Bow, Chelscea, Bristol, Plymouth, Worcestor, and Derby
poreclain,  The collection of Italian Majolica is specially
deserving of note.  After retracing his steps throngh the
Keramic Gallery, the visitor will reach tho Picture Galleries
and will enter the rooms containing the Loun Collection
of Pictures, and the water-colour paintings bequeathed to
the Muscum by Mr. William Smith; thenco he will enter
the Prince Consort Gallery, which exhibits, in a doublo row
of cases, many of tho most costly possessions of the Museum;
specimens of ancient enamelling, damascened work, and
of the art of the gold and silversmith. At the west end of
the Gallery are some fine specimens of carvings in ivory.
In five rooms at the sonth end of the western galleries,
are placed tho librarics, paintings, &c., boqueathed to
the Muscum by the lato Rev. W. Dyce, and Mr. John
Forster.

The Dyee Collection consists of oil paintings, drawings,
engravings, a few MSS, and a most valuable library of
printed books, numbering over 11,000 volumes. The
Forster Collection comprises 0il and water-colour paintings,
drawings, MSS., antographs, and 18,000 volumes. Here
are many of the original MSS. of Charles Dickens, and
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among thoe lovks is Grainger’s biographical ¢ History of

ingland,” illustrated with more than 5000 portraits.
Oliver Goldsmith’s Chair, Desk, and Walking-(‘ane, be-
queathed by Goldsmith to his friend Dr. Hawes, arc
exhibited in this gallery. A special reading-room for the
Dyce and Forster collection Las been recently opened for
the accommodation of visitors.

The Picture Gallery above the arcade of the north
and south conrts may bo reached by cither of the three
staircases.  In the North Gallery are now placed the
Raphael  Curtoons, which have been recently removed
hither from Hampton Court. These celebrated works of
art, drawn with chalk upon strong paper, and coloured
in distemper, were exceuted by Raphael and his scholars
in 1513 as desigus for tapestry work for Popo Tweo X
The tapestries are still at the Vatiean, but three of the
original cartoons are now lost.  Rubens having seen these
cartoons in the warchouse of a manufacturer at Arras,
advised Chatles 1L to purchase them, and he did so, for
tho use of a tapestry manufactory then being established
at. Mortlake,  Cromwell, after Charles’s death, bought
them for L300, and they were kept at Whitchall, till, Ly
order of William I1T1, Sir Christopher Wren built & room
for them at Hampton Court, where they have remained
until Tately Ter Majesty gave permission for their removal.
The subjects are as follows :—

—

. Christ's charge to Peter.

2, Death of Ananias,

3. Peter and John healing the Lame Man.
4. Paul und Barnabas at Lystra.

d. Elymas, the Sorcerer, struck blind.

G. I'aul preaching at Athens.

7. The Miraculous Draught of Fishes.

)

The missing Cartoons are—

The Stouing of Ste-phen.
The Conversion of 8t. Paul,
St, Paul in his Duugeon at Philippi.
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There is here a copy in black chalk by Casanova of the
Transfiguration by Raphael, also now at the Vatican; with
soveral other copics of examples by the same great master.
At the east end of the Raphael Gallery, upon turning to
tho right, the visitors will find the gallery containing
247 pictures known as the Sheepshanks’ Collection, bosides
pictures presented by other donors whose names, as well
as the titles of the pictures, aro very properly inscribed upon
cach frame. Iere, also, is a collection of many hundreds of
Mulready's drawings, and sketches placed in frames about
the middle of the rooms; also cases containing enamels,
miniatures, &c., by Issex, Bone, &e. The Sheepshanks’
(‘ollection comprises works by the following masters, the
figures attacked to their names indicate the numbers in
thoe catalogue :—

Bird, 216, Landseer, Sir 1., 87 102,
Brooks, 211, Landscer, C., 103-5.

Burnet, J., 6. Lce, I. R., 107, 108.

Calleott, 8-15. Leslie, C. R., 109-119, 121-128,
Carpenter, M., 17, 18. 131, 1352,

Chalon, 234, 235, Linnell, 133, 134,

Clint, 21, Morland, 237.

Colliny, 25, 27-52,

Mulready, 135 -49, 151-9, 162,163

Constable, 33-138.

Cooke, 39-41, 43, 43, 47.

Coopver, 50.
Cope, 52, 55-60.
Creswick, 61, 62.
Crome, 6.
Danby, 65-7
Duncan, 69.
Eustlake, 70, 71,
Etty, 72, 73.
Frith, 74.
Gauermann, 78.
Gilpin, 238.
Horsley, 81-83.
Howard, 242, 245.
Ibbetson, 247.
Jackson, 84, 85.
Lance, 86.

Mulready, jun., 163, 161,
Nusmyth, 165,

Newton, 166.

Redgrave, 167, 170-172.
Rippingille, 173.
Robcrts, 174-176.
Rothwell, 178, 179.
Simson, 180.

Smith, (+., 186, 187.
Stanficld, 188-190.
Stark, 195, 196,
Stothand, 197, 201-203.
Turner, 207-211.
Uwins, 212, 213.

Ward, J., 216-218.
Webster, 219-224,
Wilkie, 225, 226,
Wetherington, 233.
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The Gallery of Water-colonr Paintings is also made up of
a series of noble gifts to the nation, and forms a unique
collection by means of which the history of water-colour
painting in this country may be fairly traced. The
specimens are hung in chronological sequence, but Mr.
William Smith’s collection is, very properly, separately
placed. There are, in this gallery, cases containing
Collections of Ancient and Modern Jewelry ; at the north
end of the Long Room is a fine Collection of rare and
Precious Stones.

In the Echibition Galleries, which are reaclied by a
doorway leading from the Musecum to the Exhibition
Road, are temporarily deposited various collections for
which spaco cannot be found in the Museun.

The most important is the Indian Museum, which hag
recently been transferred by the India Office to the charge
of the Lovrds of the Committee of Council on Education,
and now oceupies two floors of the range of galleries on
tho east sido of the Horticultural Gardens.

The Indiun Section of the Muscum, formed in 1880, is
approached from the Ixhibition Road, and is open from
10 till 4 on Monday, Tuesday, Friday, and Saturday. It
containg an Arehitectural Court, wherein are various casts,
sculptures, &c., of Indian Temples ; a Lower Gallery exhi-
biting models of Tombs, buildings, doors, &e., with separate
rooms for Ethnological collections, carpets, shawls, and
various textile fabrics; an Upper Gallery containing models
of figures illustrating the 'I'rades of India —metal-work,
Jjowelry, arms, pottery, earvings, musical instruments, &c.

The Educational Museum contains models of school build-
ings, littings, apparatus, &c., used in elementary instruc-
tion, and scientific apparatus, models of machinery, &e.,
used in technical education. Iere are also the Munitions
of War Collection lent by the War Department, a Collection
of Building Materials, and a Fish-Hatching Apparatns.

The Science Schools’ entrance is also in the Exhibition
Road.  They ocenpy a handsome terra-cotta square Italian
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building, containing tho Laboratories and Lecture-rooms
of the Professors of the Royal School of Mines,—of which
tho Museum and Tibrary are in Jermyn Street.  The
meetings of the Physical Society, founded in 1874, aro held
in the Physical Lecture-room fortnightly from Novembor
to June.  This Society numbers about 300, including
nearly all the Physicists of the United Kingdom, and
publishes its proceedings at frequent intervals,

The Narioxarn Arr TraixiNae Scioors, at South Ken-
sington Museun, are maintained by the Stato as the
centre of a national system for tho promotion of Art and
Scienco Schools, which are established in all parts of the
kingdom, and of which public examinations are regularly
made preliminary to awards of prizes to tho most suc-
cessful pupils. The institution of these Schools took place
in 1852, and they are controlled and regulated by the Lord
President and Committee of Council on Education.  Art-
pupils of both sexes are here trained to become teachers,
and they receive grants in aid of their maintenance, in
proportion to their attainments, as tested from time to time
by the ofticial examiners.

In the buildings which surround the Gardens of the
Ilorticultural Socicty, and which were built for the In-
ternational Bxhibitions of 1871-4, is a gallery containing
the National School of Cookery, entered from the Txhibition
Road. Single lessons are given on any dish at a charge of
from 1x to 10s, 6d. 'The course of lessons beging evory
Monday.

The NarioNarn Porrrart GALLERY, removed from Great
Georgo Street, Westminster, occupies the eastern half of
tho range of galleries to the south of tho Gardens. It
consists of a large and most interesting collection of
portraits and busts of famous English men and women.
A catalogue is being prepared; and the names are all given
upon the picture-frames. This Gallery is open freo from
10 to 4 in winter, 10 to 6 in summer, every day but
Friday, when it is closed.
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The Natunar Ilistory Museud, fronting Cromwell Road,
a handsome cdifice recently built for the reception of the
Zoological Collection from the British Muscum, will be
open this year. The latter institution will thus obtain
more room for the Iixhibition of the Antiquitics, which
wero far too numerous for the rooms allotted to them at
the British Museum.

The Mustum or PareNts, near the entrance to the
building, in the Cromwell Road, is one of the least
developed  exhibitions, but promises to become most
important and instructive. It contains a large number
of models and picces of machinery, which in course of
timo will doubtless be carefully arranged so as to aftord
the visitor information with little trouble or fatigue.
Here ave to be seen the original locomotive steam engine
“ Pufling Billy,” in use at Wylam Collicries from 1813
1862; George Stephienson’s old © Rocket;” Arkwright's
original Spinning Jenny, and the first marine steam-
engine.  In Horometrical Instruments there is scareely to
bo found in the world one of greater interest to the
antiquary than the original clock made in 1325 by Peter
Lightfoot, for Glastonbury Abbey, and set up in Wells
(‘athedral, where it remained up to 1834, It is now
amongst the treasures collected in this valuable section of
the South Kensington Muscum.

The Gardens of the Royal Horticultural Socicty adjoin
tho grounds of the South Kensington Musoum, and have
been laid out with great caro and expense. There is a
fino hall for meetings of the Society, Exhibitions, &ec., and
a largo glass Winter Garden with conservatories, also &
Colonnade and Cloister surrounding the whole, built 1861.
Thoe gardens vccupy twenty-two acres ; they are open daily
from nine till dusk, Sundays from two. Each Fellow has
the privilege of introducing personally two friends, except
on exhibition days.

Thoe Novar Avserr aLlL, erected 1868-71, is an im-
menso structure, circular in form, and covered by a glass
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dome. It will hold 10,000 persons, of whom the area will
take 1000. It was Dbuilt by a company at a cost of
200,0001. and is used for concerts, balls, and exhibitions.

The Avrserr MEMoriaL, erected near the sito of the Great
Fxhibition of 1851, and near the Royal Horticultural
Gardens and tho Albert [Tall, is one of tho most magnifi-
cent monuments in the world. It was designed by Sir
Gilbert Scott, and consists of a Gothic cross and canopy,
with a spire reaching to the height of 175 feet; under the
canopy is a colossal gilt sedent statue of the Prince, fifteen
feet high, by Foley. Tt is approached by four flights of
steps 130 feet wide. At each angle is a group of statues—
Europe, by Macdowell ; Asia, by Foley ; Africa, by Theed ;
Awerica, by J. Bell; above which are other groups upon a
smaller seale : Agriculture, by Calder Marshall; Manufac-
tures, by Weekes; Commerce, by Thorneyceroft; Kngineering,
by Lawlor. Round the base of the Memorial is a series of 200
life-sized figures and portraits of the great men of all ages,
sculptured by J. I’. Thilip and TI. Armistead. The cost of
the whole was £150,000, including a large sumn from Iler
Majesty, and £50,000 from Parliament.

The Central Institution of the City and Guilds of London
Tustitute for the advancement of Technical Hducation is
being built in the Exhibition Road. It is proposed to
erect the City and Guilds Technical College in Tabernaclo
Liow, Finsbury.
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THE EDGWARE ROAD TO PADDINGTON, &c.

I' wo take our stund at the Oxford Street end of the
Fdgware Road, facing down Oxford Street, we shall
have at our back Bayswater and Kensington Gardens, and
on our right Hyde Park, with just the turn of the ¢ Ring’ or
Drive visible beyond the Park palings.  Deyond the
castern limits of the Park is Park Lane, now the most
avistocratic of addresses, formerly known as Tybwrn Lane.
It led immediately to the Tybwrn Gallows, which stood,
as nearly as can be ascertained, upon the site of Con-
nmwght Place, Edgware Road.  Here were exceuted the
numerous malefactors, convieted in the Conunty of Middlesex
(of whom history, down to 1783, when Newgate gallows
supplanted that of T'yburn, has much to say), upon that
Tyburn Tree, of which perhaps the best representation is
the last plate of Hogarth’s ¢ Jdlo and Industrious Appren-
tices.”  Here were hung the bodies of Oliver Cromwell,
Ireton, and Bradshaw (torn from their graves in Lenry
VIL's Chapel in Westminster Abbey, and still wearing
their swords), from sunrise to sunsct on the first anniver-
sary of the death of Charles T. after the Restoration.  The
bodics were then taken down and beheaded, the heads stuck
upon poles in front of Westminster 1Hall, and the corpses
buried beneath the gallows-tree. The list of the noted
and notorions executed at Tyburn includes the names of
Perkin Warbeck, the Pretender; the lloly Maid of Kent,
for prophesying the death of Ilenry VI1L.; Robert South-
well, the poet, for high treason; Mrs. Turner, in a yellow
ruft, for the murder of Sir Thomas Overbury ; John Felton,
for the assassination of the Duke of Buckingham; Jack
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Shoppard ; Jonathan Wild, thief and receivor of stolen
eoods; Catharine Hayes, for the murder of her husband—
she was burnt alive by the mob, who would not wait for
the hangman; Earl Ferrers (1760), for the murder of his
steward: he was drawn in his own coach-and-six from the
Tower, wearing his wedding clothes, hanged by a silken
rope, and the *drop’ was first used for his lordship instead
of a cart; Mrs. Brownrigg, for the murder of her two female
apprentices; John Rann, the highwayman (otherwise Six-
teen-string Jack, from the number of ribbons ho was
decorated with); Rev. Dr. Dodd, for forgery (1777).

Tur MarsLE Arci, at the corner of Iyde Park, facing
Cumberland Street, was built by Nash, of Carrara marble
—soon discoloured in our climate—and was sot up origi-
nally before Buckingham Palace, and called Buckingham
Palace Arch. 'The sculptures are by Flaxman, Westmacoti,
and Rossi, the gates by S. Parker.  Tho arch cost £80,000,
and its removal hither in 1851 cost £11,000 more.  ¥rom
the Marble Arch down Park Lane, towards Piceadilly, wo
may note Iolderness House (the Marquis of Londonderry),
Dorchester House (R. 8. ITolford, Tisq.), Dudley House (Iiarl
of Dudley), and Gloucester House (ILR.IL the Duke of

jambridge) at the extremeo south end, sce p. 156,

The Edgware Road runs past the end of Muarylebone
RRoad on the right or cast side,and the end of Harrow Road
on the left farther on; near to the latter is Paddington
Gireen and the Paddington Terminus of the Great Western
Railway. The Edgwaro Road (the Marylehone Theatre is
in Noew Church Street, Figware Road) is continned to the
north of Paddington and eventually merges into Muida
Vale, the great thoroughfare of a rapidly increasing London
suburb, and proceeds to Kilburn. By St. John’s Woold
Road from the Edgware Road is the nearest way from
this point to Lord’s Cricket Ground, where the great Cricket
Matches of the season take place. From a more easterly
point Lord’s is best reached by way of Baker Street and
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thence by Park Road, Regent's Park.  Siiss Cottaye is at
St. John’s Wood.

The road which is a continuation west of Oxford Strect
iy the Uxbridge Road, skirting Hyde Park and Kensington
(iardens on one side and Bayswater on the other, and
leading to Notting Hill and Shepherd’s Bush, all continually
increasing London suburbs. Bayswater is a large district
of fine handsome houses, long noted for its springs and
conduits, by which it supplied streets as far as Bond Street
with water. At Bayswater is the parish Burial-ground of
St. George's, Hanover Square, founded in 1764, and in it
were buried, near the west wall, Lawrence Sterne, tho
immortal aunthor of * Tristram Shandy’; and Sir Thomas
Picton, ono of the heroes of Waterloo, whose body was
subscquently removed to St. Paul's (athedral. Notting
1Ll is supposed to be a corruption of Nutting Hill. From
Bayswater, up Ladbroke Grove Road, is one of tho most
convenient ways to the Kensal Green Cemelery—another
being by thoe Harrow Road and Fdgware Road omnibuses.
This burial-gronnd is one of the most important of
modern London. It extends over eighteen acres, and con-
taing the remains of many of the worthies of modern art,
scienco, and literature—as the Rev. Sydney Smith; Tom
Hood, to whom there is a loving memorial, with the simple
epitaph, « He sang tho ¢ Sung of the Shirt’”; Lord Chief
Justico Cockburn ; W. M. Thackeray, the novelist ; Balfe,
tho musical composer; and Eastlake, the painter and . R.A.;
Liston, tho actor; and Brunel, the engincer ; Molesworth,
the statesman and historian; and Birkbeck, the founder
of Mochaniey’ Institutions ; Allan Cunningham, and W. C.
Macready; Barnes, of the Times; Shirley Brooks, of
DPunch; and many more—nuot forgetting those Royal per-
sonages, the Duke of Sussox and his sister, the Princess
Sophia; or the inventor of Morrison’s Lills; or Ducrow,
the great equestrian (his memorial is remarkably gro-
tesque); to the merits of all of whom the largest monu-
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ments of Kensal Green do bear testimony. A visit to this
great cemetery is well worth making by any visitor 1o
London.

OXFORD STREET TO TOTTENIIAM COURT
ROAD.

As wo proceed from tho Marbloe Arch down Oxford
Street wo shall observeon the loft Great Cumberland Street,
named after the Duke of Cumberland, hero of Culloden;
Quebec Street, named in honour of the taking of Quebee
by General Wolfe; Portman Street, leading into Portman
Square west side, and Park Street opposite to Portman
Street.  Proceeding farther, we come on the left upon
Orchard Street—the direct way from Oxford Strect, along
the cast side of Portman Square, through Baker Street and
York Place to the Marylebone Road, at which point there
is a Station of the Underground line of Railway. In Port-
man Square, so named after a Mr. Portman, owner of the
estate, is Montague Iouse, at the north-west angle, built
for Mrs. Elizabeth Montague, of literary celebrity.

In Baker Street is the well-known emporium called the
Panklibanon, next to the still moro celcbrated Wawwork
Exhibition of Madame Tussaud, open daily, admission 1s.,
Chamber of Ilorrors 6d. extra. This lxhibition (com-
menced in Paris in 1780, and removed to London, at
the Lyceum, in the Strand, in 1802) now consists
of a very large number of wax figures, dressed in various
costumes, many of which are the dresses actually worn
by the persons represented. Madamo Tussaud made an
interesting Collection of Relics of the First Napolcon,
which forms part of her Exhibition. The Model of the
Guillotine is preserved here, with its lunette and decapi-
tating knife. The heroes and the desperadoes of history,
the follies, the vices, and the virtues of mankind, are all
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represented ; the grandeur of the throne-room at a coro-
nation, the groups at royal weddings and christenings,
are ably counterfeited ; and the visages of the most atro-
cious of mankind have been also preserved in wax; in
many instances the veritable costumes of both kings and
culprits deck out their cffigics.

Duke Street leads from Oxford Street to Grosvenor Square,
for a long time a place of the highest fashion. At Lord
Harrowhy’s, 39 Grosvenor Square, Thistlewood and others
of the Cato Street Conspiracy (Cato Street was in John
Strect, Edgware Road) purposed assassinating the whole
Ministry, February 23rd, 1820, as they sat together at
dinner.  The plot was discovered to the Ministry by a
man named Edwards, who had joined the conspirators
purposely.  The dinner preparations at Lord ITarrowby’s
wero allowed to proceed, but the Ministers stopped away.
The Bow Street ofticers entered the stable in Cato Street,
and found the Thistlewood party arming themselves. The
officers attempted to seize Thistlewood, but he ran the
first of them (Smithers) through the body, then extin-
guishod tho lights within and escaped in the darkncss.
Nine of the conspirators were at onco captured; a reward
of £1000 was offered for the capture of Thistlewood, and
ho also was caught carly next day in bed at the house of a
friend in Little Moorfields. Thistlewood had been an officer
in a regiment of the line stationed in the West Indies, and
for some reason entertained the deepest personal animosity
against Lords Sidmouth and Castlercagh. Tle and his four
chief accomplices, Ings, Brunt, Tidd, and Davison, were
hanged at the Old Bailey, May 1st, 1820. The name of
Cato Street was then changed to Homer Street.

The thoroughfare called Duke Street is continued across
Oxford Street into Manchester Square, begun in 1776.
Trinity College, incorporated 1875, for the cultivation of
Church Musie, is in Mandeville Place, Manchester Square.
At Hertford House, Manchester Square, the residence of Sir
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Richard Wallace, is the finest privato collection of pictures
in London ; it was formed by the late Marquis of Iertford,
From this Square runs Manchester Street, wherein resided
the notorious Joanna Southeote. She died there in 1814,
after having persuaded many hundreds of eredulous persons
that she was about to give birth to the true ¢Shiloh.
James Street leads into Wigmore Street, Davies Street leads
direetly to Berkeley Square.  Straiford Place was named
after Edward Stratford, Earl of Aldborough, who built
Aldborough House, at its north end, npon the site of OId
Conduit Mead, Marylebone Lane reminds us of tho popu-
lous Parlinmentary borough called Marylebone.  Tho Old
Church of St. Mury-le-bone, at the end of the Iigh Strect,
was built in 1741, 0n the site of an older edifice—noteworthy
as the church in which Hogarth depicted the Marriagoe of
the Rake in his ¢ Rake’s Progress; and as the burial-placoe
of many remarkable persons, including the Rev. Samuel
Wesley, brother of Johmn Wesley; Allan Ramsay, anthor
of the ‘“Gentle Shepherd,” &e. The New Churel of St
Mary-le-bone, opposito York Gate, Regent’s Park, built by
ITardwick, conscerated 1817, has a handsome altar-picee,
presented to it by the painter Benjamin West, P.R.A.
The name of Mary-le-bone signifies St. Mary by or on the
bourn, the Tybourn stream, hard by, -the same word
appears in Holborn, Westbourne, Kilburn, &e.

In Vere Street is St. Peter’s Chapel, built from designs
by Gibbs, with a Doric portico and a three-storied steeple,
in 1724, and then considered a very handsome cdifice.
Opposite the end of Vere Street is New Bond Street, sco
p- 142.  Holles Strect (Lord Byron was born at No. 24)
leads into Cavendish Square; it was named after Lady
Ilenrietta Cavendish Holles, wifo of Ilarley, Karl of
Oxford, who planned it. There is an Equestrian Statuo
of the Duke of Cumberland, as well as a Statue of Lord
George Bentinck, in (‘avendish Square.

Immediately opposite Holles Street is Harewood Place,

N
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leading to Hanover Square, built (1718) in honour of
George I.  Harewood House is at the south-east corner
of ITarewood Place. In Tenterden Street, Hanover Square,
iy tho entrance to the Oriental Club-house, which occupies
tho north-west anglo of the square, and which was csta-
blished in 1824 for noblemen and gentlemen associated
with tho administration of our Eastern Empire. In
Tenterden Street are also the Arts Club-house, for artists,
literati, and connoisscurs; and the Royal Academy of Music,
founded in 1822 by the Earl of Westmoreland, for teaching
all kinds of music to advanced pupils, who arc charged £10
per term, or £30 per annum, with an entrance fee of £5.
The Ianover Square Concert Rooms, at the south-east
corner of llanover Square, have been abolished, and upon
the sito has been orected tho Hanover Square Club-house.
In Gieorgo Street is the fashionable church for marriages,
in which the great Duke of Wellington gave away so many
brides—8t. George's, Hanover Square, built by James, and
conseerated 1724, It has three fine ancient windows,
brought over from Mechlin and dating from the carly part
of tho 16th century. IHanover Square is embellished with
a Statue of William Pitt, by Chantrey. The view of this
square from Gieorgo Street has been considered to comprise
one of the best bits of architectural effect in London,

Reaenr Cireus, Oxrorp StrEer—to distinguish it from
Regent Cireus, Piceadilly—hero intersects Oxford Street.
Eastwards is Argyll Street on the right, wherein is Iengler's
Circus and Amphitheatre ; on the left or north side of Oxford
Street is Great Portland Street, a direct thoroughfare to the
Euston Road and the Portland Street Railway Station of the
Underground Railway. Ouxford Market, built for the Earl
of Oxford, dates from 1731. On the south side of Oxford
Street was tho Pantheon, a fagshionable resort, onco known
as tho Winter Ranelagh, now converted into the central
dopot for Messrs. Gilbey’s wine business.

At 73 Oxford Street is the Princess’s Theatre, built origi-
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nally as a Bazaar—the Queen’s Bazaar —oponed as a
Theatre in 1841, re-built and re-opened in the winter of
1880.  This houso obtained its highest popularity under
the management of Mr, Charles Kean, who hero illustrated
with scencry and propertics, in a manner never provionsly
realised, the great plays of Shakespeare and others.

Middlesex Hospital, facing Berners Street, was founded
1745, and incorporated 1836. It contains 305 beds, and
receives annually about 25,000 out-door patients and 2500
in-patients. Its income is nearly £16,000 per annum.

Newman Street is noted for its numerous shops for
articles required by artists. At 414 Oxford Strect is a
tavern called T%e Mischief, originally The Man Loaded with
Mischicf, which had a signboard said to have been painted
by Hogarth, representing a man carrying a woman hold-
ing a glass in her hand, and attended by a monkey and a
magpie. Underncath were thoe lines —

“ A monkey, a magpic, and a wife,
Is (sic) the true emblem of strife.”

In Dean Street is a small Theatre which has had its
scasons of success and difficulty, and has occasionally
changed its name. It was built in 1840, as a school for
acting, by Mrs. . Kelly. Tts present name is the Royalty
Theatre. In St. Annc's Church, Dean Street, was buried
King Theodore of Corsica, who died a pauper in this
parish, 1686, and was interred at the cost of John Wright,
an oilman in Compton Street, who declared that he for
once would pay the expenses of a king’s funcral. Ilorace
Walpole’s epitaph and tablet were sct up in the church to
the king’s memory-—-

“Fate poured its lesson on his living head,
Bestowed a kingdom and denied him bread.”

Soho Syuare, built in the time of Charles 1I., was known
as King Square, while the fortunes of the Duke of Mon-
mouth flourished. On the southern side then stood tho

N 2
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Monmouth ITouse (upon tho site of the present Hospital for
Women), every trace of which has long since disappeared.
In tho centre was a statue of King Charles 11. The fields
about this part were called Soho Fields, from perhaps
some sporling associations, long before the neighbourhood
was built upon, and the Duke of Monmonth chose *Soho ™
as his battle-cry on the ficld of Sedgemoor. In the north-
west corner of Soho Square is an entrancoe to the Soko
Bazaar, cstablished by Mr, Trotter, after the great con-
tinental wars of 1815, to give employment to the orphans
and widows, &c., of those who had been slain, The whole
square still bears evidence of its carliest inhabitants—tho
nobility of two hundred years ago—the houses, so lofty
and well built, denoto their original purpoese. The Catholic
Chapel in Sutton Strect and the mansion now oceupied
by Crosso and Blackwell’s pickles were, about a hundred
years since, the scene of the most fashionable assemblies in
London, Ilero Mrs, Cornelys received the fine ladies of the
period and their princely and noble admirers, who in somo
of their masquerades carried affairs sometimes to extremes.
We are told of a peer’s daughter, who once exhibited herself
hero as an Indian princess—three black girls bearing her
train, negro boys bearing the canopy over her head, and her
dress covered with £100,000 worth of jewels. A “mnoble
swell” of that period appeared as Adam, in flesh-coloured
tights and an apron of fig-leaves; and a grand dame, the
Duchess of Bolton, scarcely better clothed, figured as Diana.

Carlixle House, in Carlisle Street, ncar by, dates from the
timo of James 1L, and was tho mansion of the Earl of
Carlislo up to 1756.

Greek Street was named aftor the Greek church in Crown
Street.  Wardour Street is the most noted street in London
for old curiosity shops. Gerard Street, named after Gerard,
Earl of Macclestield, the owner of the land, is to be re-
membered as containing the residence (No. 43) of John
Dryden—the front parlour was the poet’s study. At the
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Turk’s Head in Gerard Street, tho Literary Club, founded
by Dr. Johnson, Burke, Sir Joshua Reynolds, &o., was held;
the same tavern had been previously tho rendezvous of
the Society of Artists, and from it was presented by West,
Wilson, and other artists, the petition to George IIL for
patronage, which resulted in the founding of the Royal
Academy of Art.

We will return now to Oxford Strect, and proceeding as
before, eastwards, wo como upon The Oxford Music Hall, per-
haps one of the most popular of those large metropolitan
houses of entertainment where music and acrobatism, comic
songs, grotesque dancing, tumbling, &e., are all combined
with the accompaniments of drinking, smoking, and con-
versational interludes on the part of the spectators. Ilanway
Street is a short cut west, noted moro than a century for its
cheap jewelry, old China, and second-hand ornamonts.

TOTTENOAM COURT ROAD.

At the extremo north-eastern end of Oxford Streot is
Tottenkam Court Road, tho old thoroughfare from St. Giles’s
to Tlampstead, past the mansion of William de Totenhall
or Tottenhall, which stood on tho site of the Adam and
Ilve tavern, near the Tottenham Court turnpike, shown in
Togarth’s ‘ March to Finchley.” Tottenham Court Road
is a broad and long street; of late ycars famed for its
numerous good and cconomical shops for upholstery, &e.
Meux's Brewery—ono of the most celebrated in London for
stout—stands at the south-east corner next to Oxford Strect.
A fow paces north is Great Russell Street, Bloomsbury, tho
street of the British Muscum. At the point where Rathbone
Place runs northwards into Tottenham Court Road, stands
Percy Chapel, made popular and fashionable by the Rev.
Robert Montgomery (d. 1855), known from his poem of
¢Satan,” as Satan Montgomery, and thus distinguished
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from his contemporary, James Montgomery—-a sacred poct
of & much higher order.  Charlotte Street leads from Rath-
hone Place to Fitzroy Square, the headquarters for London
artists. 1lero dwells Dick Tinto, and sets up his sitter’s
throne—*a gentle creature, loving his friends, his cups,
feasts, merrymakings, and all good things.” Ilis club,
the < Hogarth,” founded in 1870, is at 84 Charlotte Strect.
Abonut a quarter of a mile from the end of Oxford Street is
the Prince of Waleg's Theatre, built first as a concert-room,
then transformed into a theatre, and known as such under
various names—the Tottenham Street, tho Regency, the
Roval, the West London, &e. Towards the northern end of
Tottenham Conrt Road is one of the most famons of dis-
senting chapels, Whitfiels Tabernacle, hegun in 1756, and
sinco considerably enlarged and improved.  Whitfield here
attracted such largoe congregations, that it is said Queen
Caroline, consort of George 1., seeing so many persons
unable to obtain admission, sent, him a large sum of money
to enlarge hiv meeting-house.  Juhm Wesley here preached
Whitfickl's funeral sermon. Between Bloomsbury and the
Fuston Road (which rans past the end of Tottenham Court
Road) were the Southampton Fields, one of which was called
the Field of the Forty Footsteps. It was so named {rom a
legend of a tervible fight between two brothers, which took
place here on account of a lady whom both admired and
who sat by and witnessed the deadly struggle for her hand.,
The Hampstead Road runs north in continnation, as we
have said, of Tottenham Court Road, on to the High
Street Camden Town, where the thoroughfare divides into
three ways, of which the castern is Camden Road, the
middle is Kentish Town Road, and tho left or western is
the Challe Farm Road to Haverstock ILIL  The broad open
conatry of Hampstead Heath may bo reached by railway or
omnibus,  Tts most noted inns are ‘ Jack Straw’s Castle’
and thoe ¢ Spaniards.’



THE HOLBORN RESTAURANT,

218, HIGH HOLBORN,
ONE OF THE SIGHTS AND ONE OF THE COMFORTS OF LONDON.

Attractions of the Chief Parisian Establishments, with the
Quiiet and Order essential to English Customs.

DINNERS AND f;UNOHEONS FROM DAILY BILL OF FARE.

THI XAMOUS

TABLE D'HOTE DINNER

EVERY EVENING.

At Separate Tables, in the Grand Salon, the Prince’s Salon, and the
Duke’s Salon,
From 5.30 to 8.30, 3s. 6d.
INCLUDING ,
TWO S0UPS, TWO KINDS of FISH, TWO ENTREES, JOINTS, SWEETS,
CHEESE (in variety), SALAD, &c., with ICES and DESSERT.
THIS FAVOURITE DINNER I8 ACCOMPANIED BY A SELECTION

OF HIGH-CLASS INSTRUMENTAL MUSIC, PERFORMED BY AN
ORCHESTRA OF WELL-KNOWN ARTISTS.

LADIES SHOPPING,

OR VISITING WEST-END EXHIBITIONS,
Find at the Holborn Restaurant QUIET ATTENTION and COMFORT.
A varied and economical Ménu of Hot and Cold Luncheons.
SPECIAL SERVICE OF TEA AND COFFEK.

Entrance for Ladies by Cloak Room Corridor on Left of Vestibule.

Aux Ktrangers.

THE HOLBORN RESTAURANT,
218, HIGH HOLBORN.

Cet établissement célebre est au nombre des plus beaux spectacles et des
plus grands agrements de Londres; et reunit les avantages des meilleurs
Restaurants Parisiens avec la quietude et 'ordre de rigueur en Angleterre.
Diners et déjeuners tous les jours a la carte. Table d’liite, & tables
separces, chaque soir, entre six heures et huit heures et demie, dans le
Grand Salon, le Salon du Prince, et le Salon Ducal. le Menu contient
deux Soupes, deux espdces de Pvisson, deux Entrees, Releves, Patisseries,
Fromages divers. Salade, Glaces, et Dessert. Les attractions de ce diner
recherché sont rehaussees par une selection de la musique des auteurs les
plus renommés, jouée par un bon orchestre,
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KENT’S

PATENT VENTILATED

ICE SAFES

AND

REFRIGERATORS,

In numerous Designs, kept
n Steck.

Fanally adapted for tha
smatlest  Family or largest
Hotel, Tavern, Restaurant,
&c., at

Prices from 31s.

Also Ice Making Mach nes,
and Cream Freezers, and every
. anicle connected with conling
* and freezing, combining all the
real improvements of recent
date,

KENT'S KNIFE CLEANING MACHINES.
PRICES 25s. to £14 14s.

References can be given to
houses where the same
machines have been
constant daily use over
30 years.

in

" T BEWARE OF IMITATIONS.

’
Kent's Silent Carpet
SWERPER  This Sweeper raises no
Dust, takes npall hirt a< it moves, and Sweeps
cleaner than any other Broom.  1os.

Kent's Potato Masher and

RREAD GRATFR, 125 6d.  Potatoes,
by a few turns of the handle, Mashed to Per-
fection,  Bread Grated with cqual rapidity.

/( ent's Marmalade Cutter.

Rapidly cuts Orangs Pecl or Vegetables
10 any degree of thinness. 504,

y ' .
Kent's Six-Minute Churns,

108 6d. to 275, 64. 'Ihe Churn will make
Butter from Milk in Six Minutes, aud from
Cream in about half that time, extracting
every atom ot Butter which the Milk or Cream
contains,

/( ent's Patent Mincer and

SAUSAGE MACHINE, the best and
cheapr st yet invented.  Price 8s. 6d.

Kent's Bread and Meat

SLICER, will cut Bread or Meat as thin
a3 paper, or as thick as required. 30s.

ILLUSTRATED CATALOGUES GRATIS,

Giving Full Description and Prices of numerous other Domestic Lubour-saving
Appliances, which insure the belter performance of Household Work.

GEORGE KENT,
199, 200, & 201, HIGH HOLBORN, LONDON.
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NEW OXFORD STREET, THROUGII ITOT.BORN, TO
SMITHFIELD, AND CHEADPSIDE.

T. Giles's Chureh, still deseribed as in the Ticlds, was
built in 1734 by Flitcroft, upon the site of an ancient
chapel of a Ilospital for Lepers, founded in 1117. 'The
entrance gateway is decorated with an old bas-relief from
the former edifico. 1lere were buried some very notable
persons—Lord Herbert, of Cherbury ; Chapman, the trans-
lator of Homer; Sir Roger IEstrango; Androw Marvell ;
Richard Penderell, who assisted the escapo of Charles II.
(his tomb is in the churchyard); and the Duchess
Dudley.

New Oxvorb STREET, a short street in continuation of
Oxford Street and High Holborn, runs through part of the
notorious old “rookery of St. Giles.” It was opened in
1847. A portion of the old buildings may still be scen in
a dirty slum leading from George Street (formerly Dyot
Street), but which, bad as it is, must be infinitely botter
than the Gin Lane and Beer Street which llogarth drow
from this neighbourhood, even as ho portrayed tho Idle
Apprentice apprehended for murder in a St (fles’s night-
cellar, and the St. Giles’s charity-boy as the Tom Nero of
his Four Stages of Cruelty. 'The gallows was removed
from the Elms at Smithficld to St. Giles's—then a wayside
village, noted chicfly for its early inns and houses of
entertainment.  Sir John Oldcastle, after being drawn
from the Tower hither, was here hanged and burnt.
From the Seven Dials, St. Giles's, issued the yards of songs
for one penny which Pitts and Catnach published and
made fortunes by. The Seven Dials were planned and
built for wealthy tenants by a noted architect in the time
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of Charles II. Guy described the intricacies of this district
which so many tired pedestrians have since verified—

“ Here to scven streets seven dials count their day,
And from each other catch the cireling ray ;
Here oft the peasant with inquiring face
Bewildered trudges on from place to place,

Trics every winding court and street in vain,
And doubles o’cr his weary steps again.”

Monmouth Strect, named after the hero of Sedgemoor,
whoso mansion was in Soho Square, was long famous for
its shops for old clothes, second-hand hoots, and under-
ground cellars. It is now called Dudley Strcet, but has not
changed its character with its name.

Wo will now return to New Oxford Street, Bloomshury
Street leads through Charlotte Strect into Bedford Square,
and heyond into Gower Street.

University College, London (sometimes mistaken for the
University of London, an entirely different institution,
seo p. 151), is situated on the east sido of Gower
Street. It was founded by Lord Brougham and others
(1826) to afford' at a moderate cost the means of a
high educational training—fitting students for taking
their degrees at the University of London,  University
College School is for lads up to the age of sixteen—hours,
0.30 a0 to 3.45 ro-—at a charge of 24 guineas per ann.
Tho College provides instruction, by a staff of forty-three
professors, to students who chietly reside in lodgings near
by. The Flazman Gallery of Sculptures and Drawings,
also the Marmor Homericwm and Slade School of Fine Art,
shonld be inspected,  University College Hospital, also in
Gower Street, serves as a school of instruction in medicine,
surgery, &c. It was founded in 1833 as a genceral hospital,
with separate departments for diseases of women, children,
the skin, the eye, the car, the throat, and the teeth. It
contains 154 beds and treats over 2000 in-patients annually,
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besides 5000 out-patients, The income is about £12,000
per annun.

At the Holborn end of Museum Street is Mudie's well-
known and extensive Circulating Library. Great Russell
Street, at tho north end, was once a fashionable street
inhabited Dby the nobility and gentry, especially on its
north side, which had gardens at the back. Montagu Iouse,
tho seat of the Duke of Montagu, occupicd its centry,
npon which site now stands the

BRITISII MUSEUM.

It oviginated in 1753 under an Act of Parliament for the
purchase of Sir ITans Sloane’s Collection and the Harleian
and Cottonian Collections of Manuseripts, and was opened
to the public in 1759. At first it comprised but threo
departments, Printed Books, Manuscripts, and Natural
Ilistory, and to those were subsequently added Antiguities
and Art, including Prints and Drawings, Medals and
Coins. In 1823, upon the presentation to the Museum by
George LV. of the library colleeted by George 1L, it was
found neccessary to erect a new cdifice.  Montogu Iouse
gradually disappeared, and when Sir R. Sinirke’s building was
completed in 1845 nothing of tho old structure remained,
sinee then Mr. Sydney Smirko erccted (1857) in the inner
quadrangle a fine building which contuins the Reading
Room and accommodation for new books.  In 1827 a fifth
department, Botany, was added, in consequence of a bequest
by Sir Joseph Banks of his collection and library of 16,000
volumes.  The Museum at present comprises cleven de-
partments, viz., Printed Dooks, &c., MS3., Prints and
Drawings, Oriental Antiquities, Greck and Roman Anti-
quities, British and Mediwval Antiquities and Ithnography,
Coins and Medals, Zoolugy, Geology, Minecralogy, and
Botany; the threce last-named are to be removed to tho
new building in Cromwell Read, South Kensington (see
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P 170). West of the Fntrance TTall, decorated by Rou-
billine's Sholeespeare and Chantrey’s Sir J. Banks, is the
principal staircaso to the upper floor, which contains thoe
Zoological and smaller collections of Antiquities. Opposito
tho foot of the stairease, lined by Indian sculptures, is the
entrimee to the Grenville Library, boqueathed to the nation
in 1847 hy the Rt. Hon. Thomas Grenville; from the
Grenvillo Library the visitor proceeds to tho Manuscript
Seloon, where MSS., Charters, Antographs, &c., are arranged
for ingpection, and thence he passes to tho Royal Library,
containing somo rare examples of printing and binding;
also the Crace Colleetion of the Topography of London; and
electrotypes of the finest Greel: and Roman Coins, and Italian,
Snglish and  other Medals.  Thoe entrance to the Reading
Room is immediately in front of the visitor as ho enters
the building.  Upen the left of the entranco hall is the
way to tho exhibition of the larger Antiquitics,  Gruides to
tho collections are to bo had at the Muscum at prices
from 1d. to 6d. each.

Tho Zoolvgical Colleetion oceupies three galleries and is
arranged in two series.  The beasts, birds, veptiles, and
fishes aro shown in the cases fixed against the walls; the
shells, corals, sca-eggs, starfish, crustacea, and the eggs and
nests of birds, are seen in the cases on the floor. Tho Mam-
malia, or creatures which suckle their young, occupy three
rooms; the ngulata, or hoofed beasts, are in the central
saloon, and Southern Zoological Gallery ; and the Unguicu-
lata, or beasts with claws, are in the Mammalia Saloon. The
wall-cases in tho 1st, Eastern Zoological Gallery, contain the
collection of binds, and the table-cases, the shells of mol-
luscous animals ; over the wall-cases is a series of deer and
rhinoceros’ horns.  In the 2nd, Northern Zoologieal Gallery,
first room, is a collection of nests of wasps and bees; in
the sccond room the wall-cases contain stuffed exotic rep-
tiles and batrachia: the table-cases, sea-cggs, sea-stars, &e.
In the third room is the British Zoological Collection, the
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wall-cases holding the vertebrate animals except the Targer
species, which aro suspended above, such as the whale,
shark, sturgeon, &c. ; the table-cases contain British hirds’
eggs, British inscets, spiders, crabs and sholls, and
skeletons of British molluses and radiata. In the fourth
room is a stuffed collection of bony fishes and a selected
series of inscets, beetles, ladybirds, crickets, dragon-lics,
ants, wasps and bees, butterflics, moths, gnats, flies,
spiders, scorpions, centipedes, &e., also erustacea.  In tho
fifth room are specimens of the ganoid or cartilaginons
fishes.

Tho Geological Collection and the Botanicul Collection are
removed to the new Natural Ilistory Muscum in Cromwell
Road, South Kensington.

The Antiquities Collections aro divided into two series, of
which one consists of Senlpture, including inscriptions and
architectural remains, and occupies the ground fluor of the
south-western and western parts of the Museum, as well an
some floors in the basement; and the other, placed in a
suite of rooms on the upper floor, comprehends all the
smaller remains, such as Vases, Medals, Coins, Bronzes, and
articles of personal use or adornment. The series of
sculptures may be scen to the left of the entrance hall,
immediately upon entering the building. lere is the
Roman Gallery, in which arc to be found the Roman
and Anglo-Roman Antiquities.  Along the north side are
Roman portraits in chronological sequence.  Beyond aro
the Graco-Roman rooms 1, 2, 3, containing the Tuwnley
Marbles, and the staircase leading to tho (irieco-Roman
basement room. In the Archaic Gallery, or old liycian
room, is the famous Harpy Tomb. In the new Lycian
Room, adjoining the Reading Roomn, is a collection of archi-
tectural and sculptured remains from ancient cities in
Lycia, in Asia Minor. In the Mausoleum Room are the
remains of the Mausoleum at Halicarnassus, erected by
Artemisia B.c. 352. Tho Elgin Room contains the Elgin
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Marbles, so called from the Earl of Elgin, who, when
ambassador at Constantinople in 1801-3, obtained these
sculptures by virtue of a firman of the Sublime Porte,
and sold them to our Government in 1816 fou £35,000.
These works of ancient art comprise remains from
the Parthenon at Athens, a portion of the frieze of the
Templo of Victory at Athens, some architectural re-
mains from the FKrechtheum, and a number of casts and
fragments,  In tho Hellenic Room are marbles brought at
different times from Greeco and its colonies, but chicfly
from tho ruins of the Toemple of Apollo Kpicurius in
Arceadia. The Assyrian Gulleries contain the Sculptures ex-
eavated chiefly by Sir A, 1. Layard, 1847-50, on the site of
Nineveh; tho collections made under the direction of Sir
H. ¢. Ruawlinson, 1853, and by the late Mr. Gi. Smith.
The Kouyunjik Gallery exhibits the collection of Bas-reliefs,
cuneiform tablets (C'reation and Deluge records), seals, &c.,
from the palace of Sennacherib, me. 700, The Nimroud
Central Saloon, the Nimroud Gallery, the Assyrian Side-room,
tho Assyrian Basement-room, and the Assyrian Transept,
contain the other antigunities of Assyria. The Egyptian
Gualleries aro upon the north of the Assyrian transept,
and contain the colossal sculptures from Egypt, frescoes,
tombstones, &, beautifully preserved. On the North-west
Staircase aro placed examples of Egyptian papyri, ie.,
documents on rolls formed of slices of the papyrus. At
the top of tho staireaso is the Egyptian Ante~Room, and, on
the left, the Muwmmy Rooms and Etruscan Gallery. The
dlags  Collections, comprising ancient and more recent
glass of all countries, are upon the right hand, and aro
highly interesting.  The Vase Rooms exhibit a collection
of painted fictile vases, discovered in tombs in Italy,
Girecee, &e. The Bronze Room contains the Greek, Etrus-
can, and Roman bronzes. The British and Medieval Room
exhibits all remains of the Middle Ages, English and
Foreign, and includes examples of DBritish antiquities
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relating to periods before the Roman invasion. The
Collection of Gold Ornaments and Gems is arranged in casos
round the ecast and south side of a room between tho
British and Medieval Room and the Fthnographical
Room. In thoe Ethnographical Room arc placed both the
antiquities and the objeets in modern use belonging to all
nations not of Kuropean race. 'The Prehistoric Antiquities,
formed by tho late Ilenry Christy, Esq., will probably
soon find a place at the Dritish Museum, to which they
wero conditionally presented in 1866, Tho Henderson and
Meyrick medieeval collections, including armonr, are tem-
porarily exhibited in the Prehistoric Koom.

Tho use of the RuaniNg Roox is restricted to the pur-
poses of study, reference, or research; and it is kept opon
on cvery day of the week except Sunday, Ash Wednesday,
Good Friday, Christmas Day, and any Fast or Thanks-
wiving Day appointed by aunthority ; except also from the
1st to tho 7th of February, the 1st o the 7th of May, and
the 1st to tho 7th of October, inclusive. Tho hours are
from nine in the morning in January, February, March,
Qctober, and November, till seven; in September till five;
and from the beginning of April to the end of August till
six. No person under twenty-one years of ago is admis-
sible, except under a special order from the trustees.
Persons desiving to be admitted to the Reading Room must
apply in writing to the Principal Librarian, specifying
their profession or business, their place of abode, and, if
required, the purpose for which they seck admission,
Every such application must be mado two days, at loast,
bofore admission is required, and must be accompanied by
u written recommendation from a houscholder or a person
of known position, mentioning in full his, or her, name
and address, and stating that he, or she, possesses a
personal knowledge of the applicant, and of his or her
intention to make proper use of the Reading Room.
If such application and recommendation bo satisfactory
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to the Principal Librarian, ho will grant a ticket of
admission, renewable at tho discretion of the Principal
Librarian, which must be produced if required and which
is not transferable.

The public are admitted to view the collections in the
dritish Museum on every week-day from Monday till
Friday, from 10 o’clock, and on Saturday from 12 o’clock
till the time of closure, as follows :

From 10 till 4. | From 10 tll 5. From 10 till 6.
(And till later on Mon. and
January. March. Sat. from May 8 to Aug. 81.)
February. April. May.
November. September. jﬁ{;’
December. October. August.

s The arrangements for the admission of Students are as
follows :

students of Zoology, Tuesdays and Thursdays.

Students of Archeology, Wednesdays and Fridays.

"T'ho entire Collections are open to the public on Mondays
and Saturdays; but, upon Students’ days, as above, the
Collections named are reserved for Students only.

Tho Museum ix closed—February 1 to 7, May 1 to 7,
October 1 {o 7, inclusive; and on Sundays, Ash Wednesday,
Good Friday, and Christmas Day.

At the cast cornor of Muscum Street is Hart Strect,
which runs nearly in a parallel line with Iigh Ilolborn,
leads into Theobald’s Road, and thenco without interruption,
through a now thoroughfare, across Gray's Inn Road and
the Metropolitan Railway, to Clerkenwell and eastern
distvicts.  Tu IHart Street is the principal entrance to
St. Georye's Church, Bloomsbury, built by a pupil of Sir
Christopher Wren — Nicholas Hawksmoor, 1731.  The
portico of eight Corinthian columns has been much ad-
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mired, but the tower, with a series of steps guarded by lions
and unicorns, and having a statue of George I.in Roman
costume for its apex, has been scverely criticised by Ioraco
Walpole and others. It gave rise to this epigram—

“ When Harry the Eighth left the Pope in the lurch,
The people of England made him head of the Church;
But George's good subjects, the Bloomsbury people,
Instead of the Church made him head of the Steeple.”

This church stands in the unusual position of north and
south, In Bloomsbury Square is a statuo of Charles James
Fox. Lord Mansficld, the great Lord Chancellor, occupied
the house at the north-east corner of Bloomsbury Square,
and had collected a fine library of books and MSS. 1lis
house was sacked and its contents burnt in the No Popery
riots of 1780. MHiyh Llolborn begins at the top of Drury
Tane and is continued to Holborn Bars, near Brook Street,
seo p. 200.

In Iigh Holborn, eastwards beyond Muscum Street,
a few doors before coming to Little Queen Street on tho
south side, ncarly opposite to Southampton Street and
Southampton Row, is the Holborn Restawrant, noted for its
handsome and spacious salon, galleried and bedecked with
mirrors, and for tho cultivated cuisine of its table d’hote
dinners, enlivened by choice instrumental music. On
this site formerly stood the Iolborn Casino, one of tho
chiof dancing saloons of London. At the south end of
Little Queen Street is Great Queen Street, in which is tho
Freemasong’ Tavern—the headquarters of Freemasonry, and
a noted house for public banquets.  Southampton Row lcads
past Queen’s Square through Russell Square (where is a
statue of the Duke of Bedford) and Tawistuck Square, to the
Terminus of the London and North-Western Railway, Euston
Square. Nearly opposite to Kingsgate Street, which, in the
time of Charles II., was the Royal road to Newmarket, is
the Royal Music Hall, for many years called Weston's
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Music Hall, after the name of its first proprictor. Red
Lion Sqnare, reached through Dean Strect, Holborn, was
named after the once celebrated Red Lion Inn, in Holborn,
nearly opposite the George and Blwe Boar. 'T'o the Red
Liow Inn the bodies of Cromwell, Ircton, and Dradshaw
wero carried from Westminster Abbey, and next day
dragged on sledges to Tyburn.  The George and Bluc
Boar, 285 Holborn, was used by criminals, on their way
to I'yburn, as their last “house of call.” Swift wrote—

«“ As clever Tom Clineh, when the rabble was bawling,
Raode stately through Holborn to die of his calling,
He stopt at the George for o bottle of sack,

And promised to pay for it when he came back.”

But tho George and Blue Boar is of much greater historical
importance ; for it is said that here was discovered a mes-
senger carrying a letter from Charles T, by which Ircton
ascertained that it was the King's purpose to execute
(romwell and  himself—a picee of information which
decided them to bring Charles himself to the block.

Red Lion Street leads through Laml’s Conduit Street,
to the front of the Foundliny Hospital, in Guilford Strect,
ono of the most interesting places in London. It was
fonnded in 1739 by Thomas Coram, a retired sea-captain,
who, pitying the infants whom he had seen exposed and
deserted in some of the public thoroughfares ncar his
residence at Rotherhithe, established, after some labour
and expense, the first Foundling Ifospital in Hatton
Garden—opened March 1740-1. Tho present Hospital
was built in 1754, and country branch-hospitals were
formed. Parliament voted altogether £40,000. All that
wias then necessary for the admission of an infant was to
ring a bell at the gate and to deposit the child in the
basket placed there for the purpose; 117 were brought
the first day, and 3296 during the first year. Before long,
1.0, in less than fonr years, 14,934 children were received,
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having been conveyed by carriers and others from all parts
of tho country, and of thoso over 10,000 died ; a far larger
mortality than Captain Coram had been so shocked at.
Parliament again intervened, undertook the support of the
survivors, and stopped indiscriminate admission. In 1760
the basis of the Institution had so changed that none but
the illegitimate infants of mothers whose circumstances
were known to the Board, were admitted; and'this con-
tinues to be the rulo of the Hospital. If the mother of a
first child can show previous good character, and that she
has been deserted by tho father, the Committee, who meet
on Fridays, would consider her case upon its merits;
but application must be made to them personally by tho
mother.  The infants are nursed by cottagers in the
country under the inspection of medical men and their
wives; they aro transferred to London as thoy grow a
little older. Captain Coram spent all his property upon
this and similar philanthropical endeavours, and before
he died was glad to accept assistunce from a public sub-
scription for his benefit. The architect of the Hospital
was 1. Jacobson, who died in 1772, The Hospital Chapel
is open to the public cvery Sunday for morning servico
at 11, and for afternoon service at 3. After the former,
visitors are admitted to sce at dinner tho children, whom
they have just heard taking part in the musical service,
which is led by professional singers, and accompaniced by
ITandel’s Organ. No feo is charged for admission to
the Service, but visitors on cntering are expected to
contribute to the plato held at tho doors. The Chapel
is certainly one of the handsomest cxamples of the edifices
of the Georgian era—simple, roomy, light, and comfortable,
with stained-glass windows showing the arms of numerous
donors and bencfactors, of whom Handel and Hogarth are
best remembered. Handel gave the organ, and frequently
performed his oratorio, the Messiak, upon it, raising as
mngn as £1000 by a single performance for the Hospital
0
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Fund. Iogarth painted the full-length portrait of Captain
Coram, which now figures as but one of a very interesting
thongh small collection of picturcs to be seen here.  Den-
Jjamin West’s altar-picee, ¢ Christ Blessing Little Children,’
is in the chapel. In the Committee-room, &e., are Iogarth’s
¢ March to Finchley,” and Ilogarth’s ¢ Moses brought to
Pharaoh’s Danghter;’ Sir Joshua Reynolds’ portrait of
Lord Dartmouth ; Richard Wilson's ¢ Foundling ITospital’
and ¢ St. George's Hospital ;» Gainsborough’s ¢ The Charter
Houso;” Hartley’s ¢ Chelsea and Bethlehem Ilospitals;’
portraits of Handel, by Kneller, &c., &e. In the vanlts lio
thoe remains of Captain Coram, Lord Chief Justico Tenter-
den, and others.  The preacher at the Foundling is always
a clergyman of note. The Rev. Sydney Smith was once a
preacher hore. The income of the 1ospital (chicfly derived
from old benefactions, and the increased value of its London
property) is over £11,000 per annum. The children (no
Ionger foundlings) number over 500, half of cach sex.
Of the earlier recipients of this charity there are some
interesting relies, consisting of the small articles found
upon the infants left in tho admission basket. These are
preserved in glass cases for the inspection of visitors.
Returning now to Iolborn and proceeding as before,
castwards, wo shall observe upon our right the Inns of
Court Iotel, one of the most extensive and best situnated
hotels in London. On our left is Brownlow Street, leading
to Bedford Row well known for its numerous solicitors’
offices.  On thoe opposite side of Holborn is Great Turnstile,
leading to Lincolw’s Inn Fields, now a large square tract
of ground, enclosed since 1735 within palings, formerly
an open spaco used for popular assemblies, fairs, and exe-
cutions, Lord William Russell was here beheaded. * As ho
observed the great crowd of people, he said, ‘I hope I
shall soon sce a much better assembly,” When he camo
to the scaffold he walked about it four or five times. Then
he turned to the sheriffs and delivered his paper . . . .
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o prayed by himself, then Tillotson prayed with him.
ITe undressed himsolf, laid his head upon the block with-
out the least change of countenance, and it was cut off at
two strokes.” Lincoln’s Inn Fields bore an evil name in
Gay’s time ; ho writes: —

“ Where Lincoln’s Inn’s wide space is railed around,
Cross not with venturous step ; thero oft is found
The lurking thief.”

The Pillory was often set up here. Inigo Jones built
many of the houses on the western sido.

Sir John Soane’s Museum, at No. 13, Lincoln’s Inn Fields,
on the north or Holborn side, anciently named Whetstone
Park, contains an interesting collection of pictures, books,
MSS., and antiquitics, open free from 11 to 5 on Tucsdays,
Wednesdays, Thursdays, and Saturdays, in April, May,
June, July, and August, and on Tuesdays and Thursdays
in February, and March. Students and parties for privato
days are admitted by special order of the Curator, to
be obtained previously. Sir John Soane, the founder,
was an architect of some note in the early part of this
century; he built the Bank of England and several
other public edifices. ITe made this collection himself,
endowed it, and left it to the nation at his death in 1837.
The house is full of pictures and various objects of
antiquity. Amongst the former are Ilogarth’s ¢ Rake's
Progress’ and the ‘Election;’ Sir J. Roynolds’ ¢Snake
in the Grass;’ Turner’s ¢ Van Tromp entering the Texel ;’
Eastlake’s ¢ Cave of Despair ;’ Ostade’s ¢ Scene in a Village
Views in Venice by Canaletti, and Ililton’s ¢ Mark
Antony; amongst the Sculptures are several examples
by Flaxman, Westmacott, Banks, and others; amongst the
Books, the first four folio editions of Shakespeare ; amongst
the MSS., the original of the ¢ Gerusalemma Liberata,’
by Tasso; amongst the Antiquities, the Egyptian Sarco-

02
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phagns or cenotaph discovered by Belzoni in 1816, formed
of one block of alabaster, 9 feet 4 inches long, 3 feet 8
inches wide, and 2 feet 8 inches deep; 21 inches thick,
and yet so transparent that a lamp placed within it sends
a light through. Inside is a carved full-length figure of
Isis, the Egyptian guardian of the dead.

Upon tho south side of Lincoln’s Inn Fields is the
Muscum of the Royal Colleye of Surgeons. John Ilunter,
the great anatomist, made (sco p. 21) the collection
which formed the basis and is still the chief portion of
tho contents of this Musecum. The Government, upon
the decease of Hunter in 1793, bought his collection for
£15,000, and gave it to the College of Surgeons, who have
sinco added to and greatly improved it.  Admission is to
be obtained by order of a Member of the College, between
11 and 5 from March to August; and 11 to 4 during the
winter months, on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, and
Thursday. Tho Muscum is closed in September. It is
divided into three scetions, called the Western, Middle,
and Eastern Muscums.  Tho Western contains, on the
ground floor, pathological preparations showing diseases
and injuries of bune, illustrations of normal human osteo-
logy, including skeletons and skulls of various races of
men; and, in the galleries, collections of calculi and other
concretions; Toynbeo’s specimens of discased ear, and ex-
amples of skin discase. In tho centro is a skeleton of a
Girconland whalo, and at the end of the room the skelcton
of O'Brien, the Irish giant, nearly cight feet high, who
died, aged 22, in 1783. Tho Middle Apartment exhibits
the fossil remains of extinct vertebrated animals, and, in
tho gallorivs, examples of parasitic or entozoic animals.
Tho Eastern Apartment contains examples of the osteology
of vertebrate animals, and the galleries, specimens of the
varions modifications of different organisms. From the
middle of the ceiling is hung the skeleton of a sperm
whale, and on the ground floor are the skeleton of the
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elephant of old Exeter Change, &c. Tho College possesses
a fine library of over 30,000 volumes, relating to medical
and surgical science, and a highly interesting collection
of portraits of eminent surgeons, including Sir Joshua
Reynolds’ portrait of John Huntor, the founder of tho
Muscum. The fashionable theatre of Charles 1L’s time,
called the Duke's Theatre (afterwards known as tho
Theatre Royal Lincolw's Inn Field's), mado famous by
Betterton, Nell (iwynne, and others, mentioned by Pepys,
stood upon the site of this Iall.

LixcoLN’s INN occupies the site of an ancient monastery
of Black Friars, who having removed to tho quarter
since known by their name, tho land was granted to
Henry do Lacy, Farl of Lincoln, for his town house. At
his death, in 1312, it becamo an Inn of Court, retaining
tho Karl’s name. 'The older part of Lincoln’s Inn dates
from tho time of James I. It is said that Bon Jonson
helped in the building of a part of Lincoln’s Inn, with
trowel in hand and a Horace in his pockot. The Chapel,
built by Inigo Jones, 1623, in a style of moderniscd
Gothie, contains some fine stained glass windows, The
IIail or Library is a fine edifico of red brick in the Tudor
style, in keeping with the Old Tudor gateway (seo p. 83).
It was built by . Iardwicke in 1843-5. Tho interior is
decorated by a magnificent fresco by G. . Watts, R.A., of
tho ‘Lawgivers of the World, and therc are a fow
portraits in the Drawing-room. The Library is considered
to be singularly excellent, and rich in ancient volumes
and MSS. In Lincoln’s Inn OId Hall, where the Lord
Chancellor, &e., sit, is to be seen Hogartl’s ¢ Paul beforo
Yelix,” painted by the artist, at the suggestion of Lord
Mansfield, for the Benchers of the Inn. In the left-hand
chambers, on the ground floor of No. 24 Old Buildings,
lived Cromwell’s secretary, Thurloe, and here in tho reign
of William III. were discovered the Thurloe State Papers,
which had been concealed behind a false ceiling.

The New Conrt, LixcoLN’s INN, just Luilt on the north
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side of Carey Street, will occupy an area of 5500 yards,
extending to Portugal Street, and with Serle Street on the
cast. In the quadrangle there will be a garden, and sur-
rounding it will be twelve distinct houses with staircases
leading from the interior of the quadrangle to the several
sots of chambers.

At 84-5, Holborn, is the Connaught Theatre, a modern
structure for dramatic performances. At 43 is the Duke’s
Theatre, also a new edifico. It was burnt down and rebuilt
in 1880,

Chancery Lane (see p. 83) has been recently much widened
and improved at its junction with Holborn. On the oppo-
sito side of Holborn is Fulwood's Rents, formerly a short cut
from Holborn into Gray’s Inn. The Napier Tavern
(then the Castle), botween Gray’s Inn Gateway and Ful-
wood’s Ronts, was kept for many years by Tom Spring,
the mnoted prize-fighter, whose real name was Tom
Winter.

A few paces farther cast bring us to the Gateway of
Gray's Inn, an Inn of Court named after a Lord Gray
do Wilton of Henry VII.’s reign.  Jacob Tonson first kept
shop in this gatoway., The Hall of Gray’s Inn was built
n 1560 ; its interior is wainscoted, its windows richly
dight with armorial bearings. Iard by is Gray’s Inn
Chapel. The Garden was first laid out in 1600, when Mr.
afterwards Lord Bacon was Treasurer.  Verulam Buildings
still servo as a momorial of this the most famous of Gray’s
Inn students. Hero died that greatest of all Lord Chan-
collors ; he had retired from York House to his old cham-
bers after his disgrace. He is still the genius loci, and weo
may say with the poet, Dr, Charles Mackay—

*“Whene'er through Gray’s Inn porch I stray,
I meet a spirit by the way;
I roum beneuth the ancient trees,
Aud talk with him of mysteries;
He tells me truly what I am—
I walk with mighty Verulum.”
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Gray's Inn Lane, now Gray’s Inn Road, leads from Ilol-
born most directly to King’s Cross, where are tho Great
Northern Railway Terminus, the ITotel connected therewith,
and a Station of the Underground Railway. In Fox Court
was born Richard Savage the poet. ITampden and Pym
had lodgings in Gray's Inn Lane while the former led
the Opposition. In Gray’s Inm Road is the Royal Free
Hospital, founded (1828) for the freo admission of the sick
poor. It receives about 1500 in-patients and 40,000 out-
pationts annually. Its income is but £7500. Past tho
Great Northern Station is Old St. Pancras Church. In
the churchyard, converted by Lady Burdett Coutts into St.
Pancras Gardens liec many Roman Catholics, also Woollett,
the engraver; J. Walker, lexicographer ; Joremy Collior;
W. Godwin, the novelist, and his two wives; Ned Ward,
&e. New 8t. Pancras Church is in tho Kuston Road,
Between the St. Pancras Terminus of the Midland Bailway,
St. Pancras Road and the ITampstead Road, lies the poor
district of Somers Town, named after lord Somers, then
owner of the land here.

Bagnigge Wells Road, near King’s Cross, was onco noted
for its mineral spring, and for tea-gardens opened to the
public in 1758, and finally closed in Juno 1841, Cold Bath
Fields Prison is at its southern end.

Returning down Gray’s Inn Road to TTolborn, we shall
at that point find Staple Inn, one of the old Inmns of
Chancery. It derived its namo from the Woolstaplers,
who once owned it. The present structure is of the time
of James I., and the Memorial Window-glass is still
carlier. Barnard's Inn, another Tnn of Chancery, named
after an ancient owner, was tho smallest of the Inns of
Court. The gabled housces in Holborn near Staple Inn are
among the oldest and most picturesque in London. Right
in the middle of the present thoroughfare, and just at the
end of Gray’s Inn Lane, stood the old row of buildings
known as Middle Row, Holborn, pulled down in 1867.
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At a point nearly opposite Brook Street stood old Iolborn
Bars, the Uity boundary, destroyed in 1867, Furnival's Inn
(now occupied as chambers, and by Furnival’s Hotel) derives
its name from the Lords Furnival, whoso mansion was
converted into an Inn of Chancery femp. Henry IV. No
part of the ancient Iall remains.  The present building
is rendered interesting by the fact that Charles Dickens
began ¢ Pickwick’ in his chambers in Furnival's Inn,  «1
can remember,” said Thackeray, “ when Mr. Dickens was
a very young man, and had commenced delighting the
world with some charming humorous works in covers,
which wero coloured light green, and came out once a
month, that this young man wanted an artist to illustrate
his writings; and I recollect walking up to his chambers
in Furnival’s Inn with two or three drawings in my hand,
which, strange to say, he did not find suitable.”

The Chureh of St. Albans—rendered prominent by the ex-
treme ritual and the sacerdotal ¢laims of its incumbent, the
Rev. Mr. Maconochic, is placed in a court leading out of

ook Street, Holborn., It is visited by many travellers
from the country and abroad, who are curious to see to what
extent ceremonial may be practised by a minister of the
Church of England. This church was built by Butterficld.

Larner TLaNE, on the same side of 1lolborn, is chiefly
noteworthy for its Italian colonists, Ilere live nearly all
those organ-grinders, who are to be scen roaming over
the moetropolis, discoursing, to the discomfort of some
and to the delight of many, the latest popular musical com-
positions; and hero also are their compatriots, the makers
of plaster-of-Paris casts.  Leather Lano is ono of the tole-
rated markets for costermongers’ wares, and is worth secing
on a Saturday night, by persons curious to know how their
poorest neighbours live, what they buy and sell, and eat
and drink, and amuse themselves withal. If one wanted to
learn how much a penny can buy, an hour spent in such a
market might afford the desired information.
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Thavie's Inn, on the south sido of Iolborn, is named
after John Thavie, its owner, in the time of Edward 111,
He let out his premises to students at law, and the pro-
perty cventually became an Inn of Chancery, in connexion
with Lincoln’s Inn.

Ely Place occupics the site of the ancient palaco of
the bishops of Ely, and has many historic associations.
Ely Chapel, the solo relic of the old pile, was sold in 1874,
and is now & Roman Catholic chapel. It was of the church
lands and gardens herc-—required by Queen Elizabeth to
be demised by the Bishop to her till certain sums wero
repaid—that the Queen, finding the Bishop disposed to
demur, wrote, “ Proud prelate, know that if you do not
immediately fulfil your engagement, I, who mado you what
you are, will immediately unfrock you.” The Bishop had
to make over the property to the crown, and Sir Christopher
Hatton (the Queen’s handsomo Chancellor) entered into
possession.  alton Garden preserves the memory of Sir
Christopher, whose widow held possession of it against all
comers, and even against her second husband, Sir Edwand
Coke, whom she quarrclled with and kept at a distance.
The Bishops of Ely, in consideration of being granted
their house in Dover Strect, 'iceadilly, transforred in 1772
to the crown all claim to this property. In Ely Palaco
died John O’Gaunt, “time-honoured Lancaster,” and of the
then adjoining garden Shakespeare speaks in ¢ Richard 111,
“My lord of Ely, when I was last in Holborn, I saw good
strawberries in your garden there; 1 do beseech you send
for them.”  Fetter Lane, seo p. 8+4.

Bleeding Heart Yurd, described by Dickens “as inhabited
by poor people who set up their rest among its faded
glories, as Arabs of the desert pitch their tents among
the fallen stones of the pyramids,” has been improved
ount of existence. It stood north of Ely Place. Its name
was derived “ from the heraldic cognisance of an old
family to which it had once helonged,” or from “a legend
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of a young lady closely imprisoned by her crucl father,
who, behind the bars of her prison window, used to sing a
pitiful song, with the burden, *¢Blceding heart, bleeding
heart, bleeding away.””

St. Axprew’s Cnurcn, which used to stand considerably
above the roadway, now appears much bencath its level,
for the Viaduct spans the road far beyond it, to the top of
what used to bo Holborn Iill.  This is one of Wren’s
churches, hut is noted chiefly for its associations with tho
histories of a few remarkable men.  John Webster, the
Elizabethan dramatist, is said to havo been its pavish clerk.
Savage the poet was christened here. Bishops Hucket, and
Stillingfleet, and Dr. Sacheverell, were among its rectors;
tho last-named was buried hero in the chancel. Tt is nar-
rated, in connection with the Great Paguoe of London, that
a blind Highland piper who fell asleep on the steps of this
church was carried off in the dead-cart, and would have been
buried in his trance, Imt for the howling of his dog, which
at the last moment awoko him.  Cibber the sculptor made
a group from this incident for the Duke of Argyll.

Immediately upon the north side of and at the bottom
of old Holborn Hill, ran Field Lane and Saffron 1L,
notorions places for thieves and their receiving-houses,
depicted by Boz as the home of Fagin and his school of pick-
pockots. It used to be asserted of this quarter of London,
that it a gentleman in the Strand or the West-end lost his
pocket-handkerchief and wished to recover it, he need but
take a walk to Field Lano or Saffron 11ill and there, about
an hour or so after it had been picked from his pocket, ho
would be pretty suro to find it already washed and ironed,
with his namo crased, hanging with a hundred others
of divers qualities and colours, outside one of the twenty
shops for the sale of such articles then to bo found here.
"I'he whole neighbourhood has been reformed.  Field Lane
scarcely exists but as a namo upen the Night Refuges
near by, and Saftron Hill has lately had enough fresh air
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and light let in upon the sito of its old and wretched
tenements to enable it if necessary to grow saffron onco
more; it will, however, soon bo rebuilt wpon.

At Holborn Circus is an Equestrian Statue of tho lato
Prince Consort, ncar the new thoroughfaro to Smithficld
named Charterhouso Street, and here also is tho Noncon-
formist chapel named tho City Temple. Holborn Viaduct
was built in 1867, by Mr. W. ITaywood, for the City of
London, and a wonderfully nseful and ornamental im-
provement it is. Omnibuses and other heavy vehicles no
longer crawl up Holborn il or Snow IHill, but run on
level road from Newgato Street to Iolborn. Tho old
coaching-house, tho Suracen’s Head, on Snow 11ill, whicl
was rendered memorable by Dickens as tho headguarters
of Squeers, in London—whence the north country coach
carried him, Nicholas, Smike, and the small boys off to
Dotheboys Hall, has been taken down and rebuilt. Upon
the Viaduct is the Holborn Viaduet Terminus of the London,
Chatham, and Dover Railway ; also the Lmperial Hotel, and
a large Railway Terminus Iotel adjoining.

St. Sepulchre’s Church, injured by the Great Fire of
London, was repaired by Wren. St. Scpulchre’s tower,
one of the most ancient in London, has four pinnacles
with vanes—which have given rise 1o many observa-
tions, ¢ Unreasonable people are as hard to reconcile
as the vanes of St. Scpulchre’s tower, which never
looked all four upon one point of tho heavens.” The
interior of the church, just renovated, is fitly approached
by the ancient south-west porch, a fino example of the
Perpendicular style.  I'rom the steps of St. Sepulehre’s,
it was the custom, provided for by an old benefaction,
to prescnt the criminals, who would pass by in a cuart
on their way to be hanged at Tyburn (that being tho
more ancient place of exceution), each with a noscgay.
In St. Sepulchre’s Church was buricd, on the south sido
of the choir, the famous Captain John Smith (d. 1631),
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sometime Governor of Virginia, to whom is an epitaph
beginning —

“Here lies one conquered that hath conquer’d kings.”

At the south-western corner of Newgate Street is the
grim old building known as Newgate Prison, which has
a frontage of considerable length to the open space called
tho Old Bailey.  Well may a visitor pause to look at theso
prison walls, whose dinginess has passed into a sort of
proverb—¢ black as Newgate.” Here are the gigantic
symbols, over the doors, of those iron fetters which await
the felon within. Hero is the spot whereon was reared
the Newgate gallows, and here, within the limited spaco of
a few hundred square yards, the ground upon which tho
crowd, packed so densely that the street seemed paved with
heads, would wait through the long hours of night and
darkness for the dawn which should bring the sensational
sight of a “ hanging.”  Opposite ave the houses from whoso
windows the Lord Tom Noddies of the period beheld thoe
sickening spectacle, after paying, as for a privato box at a
theatre, for the use of the room and window upon such
vceasions,  Alldown the Old Bailey to the utmost point from
which a sight of the gallows could be had, and far up into
Giltspur Streot, did that crowd extend—and it may be truly
avorred of it that perhaps no such collection of rascality
could be found elsewhoere in the world; for it is known that
a **hanging ” had a singnlar fascination and attraction for
London thieves —-and hither turned, as a needle to a magnet,
all the numerous villains of this most densely-populated
metropolis.  When old St. Sepulehre’s elock, hard by, struck
cight, on & hanging morning, the upturned faces of that
multitude, begrimed by the night of watching, and all
directed gallows-ward, were a sight that once seen could
never be forgotten, The bell of St. Sépulchre’s Church,
which tolled throughout the dismal ceremony, was one of
its most depressing faatures.
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The history of the Prison of Newgate would require many
volumes. The first prison was founded, as all other similar
City prisons were, in tho tower connected with the City
gate. Old Newgate was burned down in the Lord Georgo
Gordon Riots, in 1780, before tho present prison, then in
process of building by George Dance (the Architect of the
Mansion Iouse), was ready. The whole structure was com-
pleted soon afterwards ; Tyburn-tree was abolished in 1783,
and the first execution in frontof Newgate took place, Decem-
ber 9, 1783 ; the last in 1868, when publie executions wero
prohibited. Old Newgate was the prison in which Titus
Oates, Jack Sheppard, and others wero confined, and
1Toward the philanthropist laboured.  In the present
cdifice Mrs, Fry performed her kindly offices for the female
prisoners. Adjoining Newgate (to which admission may
be obtained under an order from the Lord Mayor or
the Sheriffs) is the Central Criminal Court, ov Old Bailey
Sessions House, to which admission can also be obtained
by means of a fee to the official in charge.  Oppo-
site the place of exccution at Newgato was a house, 89,
said to have been occupicd by Jonathan Wild, the thief-
takor. Hogarth’s father kept a school at the corner of
Ship Court, Old Bailey; William IHone lived at No. 67,
In Green Arvbour Court, Old Bailey, near to where Break-
Neck Steps mark the relics of Old London Wall, Oliver
Gioldsmith, at an carly part of his carcer, lived in the
deepest poverty, and wrote his ¢ Enquiry into the Present
State of Dolito Literature” Whilst here he was called
upon by a visitor, who, as thero was but one chair in the
room, was invited to sit in it whilo Goldsmith removed to
the window-scat. A gentle tap was heard at the door of
the room, and a ragged child came in, dropped a curtsoy,
and said, “ Mamma sends her compliments, and would you
do her the favour to lend her a chamber-pot full of coals?”

At the corner of Giltspur Street (so called from the
knights, who wore gilt spurs, riding that way to the jousts
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in Smithfiell) and Newgate Street stood Giltspur Street
Compter, a dcbtors’ prison and house of correction, built by
Dance, in 1791, and pulled down in 1855. A hundred
yards or so from the Old Bailey, up Giltspur Street, is
Pye Corner, with a little figure and inseription testifying
that the (ireat Fire of London, 1666, which began in
I'ndding Lane, near London Bridge, stopped at this point
(see p. 2:44).  Just beyond Pyoe Corner is Cock Lane, the
scene of tho imposture, known as the Cock Lane Ghost,
which in 1762 sct all London, high and low, a-talking.
Dr. Johnson did not think it bencath his dignity to make
inquiry into this deception, any more than Faraday did in
our own time into the mystery of spirit-rapping, and with
of course the same result, namely,—to convinco every
prrson of common senso that such communications are
imaginary. The Cock Lano Ghost story amounted to
this, that a girl, twelve years old, the daughter of the
clerk of St. Sepulchre’s Church, living in C'ock Lane, had
been communicated with by the ghost of a lady, whose
hushand had poisoned her, and she had been informed by
certain seratchings—equivalent wo may suppose to the
spirit-rappings of a later timo—that this ghost had par-
ticulars to communicate, which would bring the charge
homo to the criminal. The ghost promised to give the
information in the vault of the church of St. John, Clerken-
weoll, whero the murdered woman had been buried. All
London was on the qui rive to follow up tho matter, and
avengo tho murder. The Duke of York and Ilorace
Walpole, amongst other persons of quality, visited the
honse in Cock Lane; Dr. Johnson and other gentlemen
solemnly took up the inquiry, went to the vault of St.
John on the night named by the supposed ghost, waited
there, and adjured it solemnly to give the promised inform-
ation. None was forthcoming. The worthy Doctor pub-
lished his statement. The imposture came to an end.
Pursons, the father of the girl, was condemned to the
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pillory for having promoted it, but tho mob were not
convinced ; their faith in ghosts protected Parsons, they
collected money for him, and they did not pelt him.
Populus vult decipi, et decipiatur,

SyiTHFIELD lies immediately north of Giltspur Street, and
to the back of Christ’s Iospital. In ancient times Smith-
ficld being just beyond the city walls was the scene of all
public amusements, fairs, and recreations. Tt was the
place for tournaments, for ordeal fights, for quintain
matches, and other such tough enconnters as to carn for it
the name of ‘Ruffian’s HMall.' Tt had its green and its
clump of elm-trees, which afterwards became the sito of
executions, and the place whercon William Fitzoshort and
Mortimer, and Sir William Wallaco were oxecuted. In
Smithficld, Walworth, mayor of London, slew Wat Tyler,
at the head of the rebels, near the priory of St. Bar-
tholomew. In Smithficld were burnt the religious martyrs
of the time of Queen Mary, in whose reign no less than
277 so suffered for ‘heresy’; and there stands in the
centre of the space, which still remains of old Smithfield,
a memorial of these martyrs, also a memorial church closo
by. It is pretty certainly ascertained that the Protestant,
martyrs wero burnt just opposite the entrance to the gate
of St. Bartholomew’s priory, the prior of which was
generally the chief ceclesiastical personagoe present.  Tho
stauko was fixed so that the martyr’s faco was tnrned
towards the cast, and to the priory gate.  Iluman bones
charred, and stones blackened by fire, were dug up at this
spot during some excavations in March 1849, Inthe time
of the Great Fire of London, the houscless people built
themselves huts in Smithfield. Iere Bartlemy Fair was
held, from the reign of Ilenry 1. to 1853, when it was
finally abolished. Tho sights included shows of wild
beasts, dwarfs, and monstrosities ; operas, tight-rope, and
saraband dancing; morrice-dancing by dogs, the hare
beating the tabor, a tiger pulling feathers from live fowls,
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Punchinello, &. An ox roasted whole, and roast-pig, were
the chief attractions of tho great fair, which at one timo
used to last for a fortnight, but was afterwards restricted
to threo days. Tho name of Bartlemy was a corruption of
St. Bartholomew, whose priory certainly enjoyed in early
times some privileges connected therewith.  There are
two churches dedicated to this saint in Smithficld —one
being known as St Bartholomew-the-Less, and standing
within the precinet of the present St. Bartholomew’s
Tospital, is a very small building; the othor, St. Bar-
tholomew-the-Great, is part of the ancient priory of St.
Bartholomew, founded 1102, hy Rahere, the king’s minstrel
(companion of IHereward, the last of the Saxons, who
fought against William the Conqueror), who became the
first prior, and to whom a monument still remains.  This
cdifice is considered to be the oldest and one of the most
remarkablo of the churches of London.  Its gate is Karly
Yinglish, and the church of Norman Gothic with Perpen-
dicular additions.  Amongst the remaining monuments
may bo named one to Sir 'W. Mildmay, founder of
Emmanuel College, Cambridge.  The name of William
Hogarth appears upon the parish register.  Bartholomew
Cloze indicates the extent of this most ancient priory.

St. Bartholomew's Hospital originally formed a portion
of Bartholomew's Priory, but, after the dissolution of
monasteries, under Henry VIIL, it was refounded in 1546
by the king, at the instance of Sir Richard Gresham, then
Lord Mayor, father of Sir Thomas—the city agrecing to
contributo 500 marks annually for its support; a sum
equivalent to that derived from its royal endowment,
The Hospital was spared by the Great Fire. It was
rebuilt by Gibbs in 1730. A statue of Henry VIIIL. is
still preserved over the entrance. St. Bartholomew’s
Hospital has always ranked amongst the first of our
schools of medicine and surgery. Harvey, who discovered
the circulation of the blood, was for thirty-four ycars
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physician to this Tospital. Aberncthy was one of its
famous lecturers, and reared many worthy disciples; but
none more famous than Richard Owen, pronounced by
Cuvier “the greatest anatomist of his age.”” 1lere aro
676 beds, of which about 400 are for surgical cases; also
100 nurses, and 27 different wards.  About 6000 in-
patients and 100,000 out-patients ave treated anunually.
The income is about £45,000 per annum.  There is a Cou-
valescent Home at ighgate for the reception of convales-
cents from this Institution.

SyrtarIELD MARKET is now no longer used for the sale of
cattle in the open pens, which once covered the wholeof the
spacoe known as Smithfield. It isa large red-brick Imilding
in the renaissance style, erected for the City of London by
Mr. IHoraco Jones, and opened in 1868, extending over threo
and a half acres of ground, roofed in with glass, and includ-
ing a market for poultry as well as meat.  Below it are
cellars planned for the storage of such provisions, and a
railway depot adjoins it. A Fruit and Vegetable Market
ouse is heing erected, which when completed will absorh
the neighbouring Farringdon Market. Thoe great Metro-
politan Cattle Market is held at Copenhagen Fields, between
(amden Town and Islington, opened in Juno 1855, covering
thirty acres (half enclosed), in which four millions of cattle,
sheep, and pigs are sold annually.  In the centre of the
market is a clock-tower, also a telegraph office and offices
of different banks. Near by are cight slanghter-houses.
Tolls are levied by the City of London upon the animals
sold in this market.

Long Lane, Smithficld, leading into Aldersgato Strect,
has been long known for its shops for new and second-hand
clothing and for the numcrous small courts and alleys
which lie between it and the Barbican. Upon the north
sido of Smithficld Market is the new street called Charter-
house Street, out of which runs, in a northerly direction,
St. John Street, continued on to St. Jokn Strect Road, a

)
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direct way to the Angel Inn, Islington. If wo procecd a
short distance up St. John Street we shall see the place
where the once-noted Sessions House (called after its
founder, Hicks's Hall) formerly stood, and where Lord
William Russell was condemned 1o death; and, if wo bear
a littlo to the left from that point, wo shall come upon ono
of the most interesting relics of ancient London, namely,
St. Johw's Gate, Clerkenwell—all that remains of the great
monastery of the Knights of St. John of Jerusalem, founded
in 1100. Wat Tyler's rebels destroyed, in 1382, the whole
commandery, and beheaded the grand prior, in what is now
culled St. Johw's Square.  Docewra, grand-prior from 1502
to 1520, commenced to rebuild the monastery and completed
tho gateway, now standing, about 1504, The monastery was
suppressed in 1540, and the building which then stood here
was given over to secular pur poses, but chicfly *for the
king’s stores.” In Edward V1.’s reign the Lord Protector
Soniersot undermined and blew up the edifice and removed
a large portion of the materials wherewith to construct
Somersot House. The Gatoe remained untonched. In 1731
it had bocomo the printing-oftice of Edward Cave, and in
that year ho published in it the first number of tho Gentle-
man's Magazine, 1lore Dr. Johnson was engaged in the edito-
rial work of that periodical—* shut up in a room which
ho would suffer none to approach save the printer or the
printer’s boy for matter, which, as fast as he composed, he
tumbled out at the door.” Ilere ho ate his food behind the
sereen, his dress being too shabby for him to show himself.
In tho great roum over the archway, Garrick made his first
ossay asan actor in London—the journeymen printers read
the subordinate parts, and Garrick represented the chief
personago in Fielding's farce of ¢ The Mock Doctor’—Dr.
Johnson and Cave being nearly the entire audience. Ex-
ternally the Gateway is decorated on the north front with
the arms of the priory and of Docwra, and on the south the
arms of France and England. In the low dovrway of tho
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west tower was tho entrance to Cave's printing-office. Tn
the east tower is now a tavern-bar, from which Elizabethan
stairs are carried to tho rooms over the gateway. Among
the relics treasured in these promises is an old-fashioned
chair said to have been used by Dr. Johnson. Tho visitor
will bo much interested in this ancient placo :—

“ Here Johnson and St. John’s brave knights,

Our wandering glances share i—

The badge won in Jerusalem,
The Doctor’s elbow-chair.

Such are the shreds which History
Alone has cared to suve;

St. John leaves but his Gateway,
Johnson, the scat of Cuve,”

CrERKENWELL GREEN is upon tho north-west, of St. John's
bqu.uc, and is to bo reached throngh Jernsalem Passaye,
It is noted as having been a great political rendezvous
for many years, and the Vestry have failed to encloso
it. At onc end stands tho Sessions Ilouse tor Middlesex,
removed here from Hicks's Hall, and near it is tho Olerken-
well Honse of Detention, under the wall of which a barrel
of gunpowder was exploded by somo Fonian conspirators,
December 1867, with a view to the escape of two pri-
soners, Burke and Casoy. Forty innocent persons were
injured and one killed by the explosion. The prisoners
could mnot escape, and wero afterwards punished with
penal servitude. Barrett, who fired the powder-barrel,
was hanged ; ho was the last malofactor who was publicly
cxecuted at Newgate.  Tho parish Church of St. James,
Clerkenwell, overlovks Clerkenwell Green. The nmamo
of Clerkenwell, derived from Clerk’s Well in Ray Street,
applies to a large district, which of lato years hag
been chiefly noted for its numerous watchmaking and
jewelry industrics. The Marquis of Northampton being
the owner of the land of this quarter, many of the streots
have been named after his family—Compton, Perceval,

P2



212 The Blue-Coat School.
Spencer, &c. At the Red Bull Theatre, in Woodbridge

Street, women are said to have first appeared on a London
stage. CLERKENWELL CLost is noted for Newcastle House,
wherein the cceentric Duchess of Albemarle lived in state,
and vowed she would never re-marry except to a sovereign
princo.  Lord Montague won the lady by courting her as
Emperor of China, and used her as a barbarian. We will
now (passing by the side of Farringdon station, one of the
depots of the London, Chatham, and Dover line) return to
the main thoronghfare from which we branched off at the
corner of Giltspur Street, and will proceed castwards.

On the north side of Newaark Srreer we shall pass in
front of Christ’s Ilvspital, which recedes from the main
thoroughfare, feneed in by tall iron gates and palings; and
in tho courtyard we shall probably sce many a Blne-coat
boy taking his diversion. This magnificent charity dates
from the time of Edward VI.; the costume, still worn by
the scholars, is the same as was generally adopted when the
School was founded, and gives the name “Bluc-coat School”
to tho Institution. Christ’s ospital occupies the site of
the old convent of Grey Friars, and it was originally in-
tended for the reception of young and helpless children.
Tho cloisters and buttery are the only remains of the
ancient priory.  Charles 11, founded the Mathematical
School and endowed it; and many benefactions succeeded
those of the king. Christ’s Hospital is maintained by these
bounties, administered by the Corporation of London, and
its revenues are about £55,000 per annum, With this sum
about 1100 boys are supported and educated, of whom
about 200 are usually being reared at the Preparatory School
at Hertford.  Admission for scholars (age eight to cloven)
to this School is obtained on prosontation of the governors of
tho School. A list of those governors who have presenta-
tions during the year is published annually at the office of
the School in March, price one shilling, and a general list
of all tho governors)(who present once in three years), also
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their years of presentation can be had for half-a-crown.
Boys remain in the School until they aro fifteen, or, if thoy
become King’s Scholars or Grecians, for some time longer,
in order to qualify for the Universitics. The public aro
admitted to the Lenten Suppers on every Thursday in
Lent in tho great Hall, by tickets issued by the gover-
nors. The tables are laid with bowls, bread-baskets,
platters, &e. The official company then enter; the Tord
Mayor takes the stato chair at the end of the hall, a hymn
is sung, accompanicd by tho organ in the gallery; a
Grecian in the pulpit reads the evening service.  After
prayers the buys begin their meal, whilst the visitors walk
up and down the alleys formed between the tables. When
tho meal is done the visitors return to their seats, the boys
tako up the baskets, bowls, bread-platters, and candle-
sticks, fold up the table-cloths, and then pass in regular
procession before the Lord Mayor, bowing cvery two of
them to his lordship, and then retiring in due order with
their matrons until the wholo eight hundred boys have
performed this singular ceremony. There are several
portraits of interest preserved in this Tospital, including
those of the founder, Edward VL, of Charles 11, James 11.,
Queen Vietoria, and tho Princo Consort.  The Edifice was
almost entirely rebuilt in 1825-29, by J. Shaw., It is
extremely probable that this great School, like that of the
Charterhouse, will, before long, be removed to the conntry.
Among the chief of the celebrated persons educated hero
may be mentioned the poet Samucl T. Coleridge, Charles
Lamb, Leigh Hunt, in the present century ; and, in former
times, Camden, Stillingfleet, and Samuel Richardson, the
novelist.

In Clrist Church, adjoining the Iospital, are preached
the Spital Sermons ; and here was buried Richard Baxter,
the author of the *Saints’ Fverlasting Rest”  Warwick
Lanc was named after Warwick, the great king-maker,
whose house was in this locality, and of whom a bas-relief
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is still to be scen. Here was tho OId Cullege of Phy-
sicians, built by Sir Christopher Wren, after the Fire of
London, and pulled down in 1866, sco p. 12. The old
Bell Inn and the Ouford Arms, two noted hostels, were
in this luno. In tho Bell Inn died Archbishop Leighton,
1684, who is reported by Bishop Burnet to have often said,
“ that if he wero to choose a place to dic in, it should be
an inn; it looked so like a pilgrim’s going home, to whom
this world was all a pilgrimage.”

Upon the north side of Newgate Street wo find King
Edward Street (named after the founder of the neighhour-
ing Blue-coat School), but formerly known as Butcher
Hall Lane, and noted for its numerous butchers’ shops.
Liko its neighbour, Buteher Mall Lane, Newgate Market is
now a thing of tho past; the carcases and the carcasc-
butchers have taken their departure henee to Smithfield
Market, hard by, and Newgate Market, having been meta-
morphosed into comparative cleanliness, quict, and decency,
has taken tho title of Paternoster Square.

Lirree Brirary (naned from the mansion of the Duke of
Bretagne, temp, Kdward 11.), no longer known for its book-
shops, but abandoned to city warchousemen, lies out of
King Fdward Street, from which there is a short cut into
Swithfield,  In Bull-head Court was a bas-relief of William
livans, a giant of 7 feet 6 inches, and Sir Geoffrey Hudson,
King Charles’s dwarf, of 3 feet 9 inches.  Opposite is
Queew's Head Pussage, containing a noted literary ren-
dezvous, Dolly's Chop-house, wherein, over a pint of wine
and w chop or steak, has been ratified many a publisher’s
bargain with his anthor. We next pass Barn Streer, the
namo of which still preserves the memory of the Turk-
ish baths first introduced into London in the time of
Charles 11, and called Bagnios ;—this thoroughfare was
then called Pincock or Pentecost Lane, another of the
religious names belonging to the locality.

At tho north-cast corner of Newgate Street are the new
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Government Telegraph Offices, connected with the General
Post-office at St. Martin's-le-Grand (sco p. 217); at tho
south-castern end of Newgate Street, and at the point
where a colossal Statue of Sir Robert Pecl faces Cheapside,
is a narrow opening to one of the hest-known, but small-
est streets in London, namely, Paternoster Row-- long
famous throughout the civilised world as the centro and
fountain of Knglish Literature. The names over the shops
are all ¢ familiar in our months as houschold words.” Ilero
are Bagster, and the Religions Tract Socicty, Blackwood,
and Longmans, and Nelson, and Chambers, and Kent, and
fifty more, and, when wo get to Stationers’ Hall Court, at
the western end, we find the busily thronged warchouse of
Simpkin and Marshall, supplying its clamorous customers
under, as it were, the approving cye of Stationers’ Hall
itself (sco p. 91), over the way.

The Chapter Coffee-house, at the corner of Chapter Honso
Court, Paternoster Row, was long a famous resort for
literary men, booksellers, publishers, &c., Oliver Goldsmith
being of the company. No wonder that to such a placo
ghould como country parsons and others who visited
London, for here they could listen to tho latest news
when newspapers were almost unknown, and conld learn
something of public opinion to carry home with them, Tho
chiefs of tho neighbouring publishing trade held their
business meetings regularly in the long low dark room of
the Chapter Coffec-house, and in the'coflee-room met many
of the popular critics of a hundred years ago.  Chatterton
boasted in his letters to Bristol, “I am quito familiar at
the Chapter Coffee-house, and know the geniuses thero.”
"The house is now no longer a coffec-house.
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ST. MARTIN'S-LE-GRAND, CIIEAPSIDE, CORN-
HILL, ALDGATE, WHITECIIAPEL, &e.

T, MARTIN'S-LE-GRAND was anciently a Collegiate
1) Church and Sanctuary within the walls of London,
claiming to be a liborty of itself. Henry VIL having added
his magnificent chapel to Westminster Abbey, bestowed the
advowsons of this church upon the Abbey of Westmin-
ster, by way of providing for its support. Like all other
sanctuaries, St. Martin’s attracted the vicious and dis-
soluto part of the population, and obtained through them
an evil name. It was even reckoned one of the chances of
escape by a criminal on his way to punishment, that he
might be able to dash off from the constables in charge
of him, and get into St. Martin's liberty, where they
could not lay hold of him. The privilege of sanctuary at
length becaune such a nuisance that it was abolished by
James L

The present General Post Office stands upon the site of the
old church of St. Martin’s. It was built by Sir R. Smirke,
1825-9. Here, and in the buildings erected in Victoria
Street, is conducted under the Postmaster-General not
merely the business of the Letter, Newspaper, and Bool;
posts— all largely increased of lato years—but that of the
Money Order, Sarings Bank, and Postal Teleyraph systems,
The reduction of the Postage to & uniform rate of & penny
was made in 1840, after a long and persevering strugglo
by Sir Rowland IIill, in opposition to the Post Oftice
authorities,  Upon the Postal Telegraph service, carried
on at a cost of five millions per annum, a profit of three
millions acerues to tho State; but the Revenue from the
Telegraph Department roturns but a nominal profit upon
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the capital invested. The hours at which letters aro
posted and received in the different parts of London
and its suburbs may be scen on the pillar letter-boxes
(coloured red), now very numerous in every district,
Letters addressed Post-oflice, London, are to e inquired
for at St. Martin’s-le-Grand, from 10 Ay to 4 ey, A
foreigner so applying must produce his passport, or send
a letter with it, and a written order. Letters which lie
unclaimed two months are sent to the Dead Letter Office,
whither also unclaimed letters from country post-oftices
are sent after one month. The General Telegraph Office
is opposite the Gieneral Post Office, at the corner of Now-
gate Street. When the Government bought, for seven
millions in 1870, the electric telegraphs throughont the
kingdom, it had to arrange for connecting them with
the General Post Offico, and these ofices were built by
J. Williams, and finally opened in 1873, The Central
Money Order Offices, by means of which monoy may
now be transmitted to the colonies and to Irancoe, are
in tho same building. Sce also Postage and Telegrams,
p. 300

Opposite to the west front of the General Post Oftice is
the Queen’s Hotel, onco named the Bull and Mouth, and as
such known far and wide at ono time from being the
starting-point for mail coaches. A device of the Bull and
Mouth, surmounted by a bust of Edward VI and the
arms of Christ’s Hospital, to which the land belongs, is
still to be seen in front of this hotel, with the legend i —

¢ Milo the Crotonian an ox killed with his fist,
And ate him up at one mual, ye gods, what a twist I”

The name of Bull and Mouth has generally been derived
from Boulogne Mouth, or the Entrance to Boulogne Har-
bour. Theold inn gave its name to Bull and Mouth Streot.

In Foster Lane, at the back of the Post Office, is the
Hall of the Goldsmithy Company, built by I. Hardwick,
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R.A,, in 1835, a handsome edifice containing portraits of
Her Majesty and several of the royal family, also of Sir
TTugh Myddclton, by Jansen, &e.  The Goldsmiths’ Com-
pany have the privilege of assaying and stamping with
their Tall-mark all articles of gold, so as to indicate the
proportion of gold and alloy in cach, according to Gold-
smithy' 1all standard. The Church of St. Vedast, in
FFoster Tane, was rebuilt by Sir Christopher Wren,  Over
the west door of this church may bo seen a curious
old allegorical basrelief representing ¢ Religion and
Charity.’

Beyond St. Martin’s-le-(irand, alittlo west of Aldersgato
Street, is Charterhouse Square, upon the north side of
which is the Cnarreriouse, a Collegiate Asylum for the
maintenance of 80 aged gentlemen; @ School (removed to
Godalming in 1872) for the young, and a Chapel, the
whole oceupying more than 13 acres of land, and founded
upon the site of a monastery of Carthusians (an order
instituted at Chartronx, in France) by Thomas Sutton, in
1611, The monastery was one of those dissolved by
Tlenry VILL, who hung its last prior at Tylurn, for deny-
ing his supremacy, and set his head on London Bridge,
and one of his limbs over his own monastery gate.
Sutton, who was born of humble parentage, at Knayth, in
Lincolnshire, 1532, amassed great wealth as head of the
commissariat of the army in the North (which put down
tho Rebellion in 1573), and subsoquently as chicf victualler
for the navy and commissioner of prizes.  Being childless,
he determined upon founding this huspital, and obtained
a patent from King James I. for the purpose, but died
1611, before the completion of his work, which Stowe
pronounced to be * the greatest gift in England, either in
Protestant or Catholic times, over bestowed by any indi-
vidual.” The buildings as they now stand, although con-
siderably changed since Sutton’s time, are highly inter-
osting, particularly the Hospital Chapel—wherein lie buried
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Thomas Sutton and many recipients of his bounty, who
have been more or less famous ; tho Master’s Lodye, whero
there is a gallery of portraits; and the Old Court-room,
where, on December 12, the anniversary of tho founder’s
death, used to bo sung the old Carthusian song, with the

o
chorus :—
“Then blessed be the memory
Of good old Thomas Sutton,
Who gave us lodging, lerning,
As well as beet and mution,”

The scholars of the Charterhionse School have, as we havo
said, been removed to Godalming, but the School-house
and buildings have nevertheless been rebnilt, and are
now tenanted by the Sehool of Merehant Taylors Company,
The cighty old brethren of the Charterhonse have, how-
ever, not been dispersed ; they still “live together in col-
legiate style, provided with handsome apartments and all
necessaries except apparel, in liew of which they receive
£14 a year and a gown cach.” Thackeray, who was :
Carthusian scholar himself, has given in his picture of
noble old (folonel Neweome, the bean ideal of a Brother of
the Charterhouse.  Never was written anything more
pathetic than the Colonel’s death in Grey Iriars, as
Thackeray called the Charterhouse: At the usual even-
ing hour the chapel hell began to toll, and Thomas New-
come's hands outside the bed feebly heat a timo. And just
as thoe lust bell struck, a peculiar sweet smile shone over
his face, and Le lifted up his head o little, and quickly
said ¢ Adsiom,” and fell baeck. It was the word he had used
at school when names wero called; and lo! he whose
heart was as that of a little child had answered to his
name, and stood in the prescnce of the Master.,”  Besides
the eighty old DBrothers, the Charterhouse provides for
sixty scholarships on the foundation of tho School at
Godalming, open by competitive examination to boys
entering between twelve and sixteen,  If the foundationer
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passes a satisfactory examination at tho age of eighteen
he is entitled to an Exhibition of £80 per annum for four
years at Oxford or Cambridge. Tho Poor Brothers are
admitted to the Charterhouse upon the presentation of a
Governor—ua list of governors may be had from tho Regis-
trar on the premises in Charterhouse Square. The income
of tho charity is £29,000 per annum. Admission is granted
to vigitors to the Great Hall any day but Sunday, except
during the Poor Brothers’ dinner-hour, which is from
3 to 4+ o'clock.  On Sunday, visitors may attend service in
the Chapel at 11 and at 4 o’clock. Among the eminent
men educated at Charterhouse School, may be named
Addison, Blackstone, Steelo, Ellenborough, Liverpool,
Giroto, Thirlwall, John Wesley, and Thackeray:.
Avpersaare Streer leads into Goswell Road, and from
the latter runs Old Strect, * the oldest way in or about
London, and probably older than London itself, forming
tho road from tho vastern to the western counties.,”  John
Milton went to live in Jewin Street, oft Aldersgate Street,
1661, and here he married his third wife.  Ile was buried
in St Giles's, Cripplegate, close by, It is said that ¢ Paradise
Lost’ obtained no notice from the public until the Karl
of Dorset (himself a poet) accidentally happened to take
up the book at the publisher’s shop, carried it home, and
aftorwards showed it to Dryden, who forthwith averred:
“This man cuts us all out and the ancients too.” St. Giles’s,
Cripplegate,is perhaps the mostinteresting of the old London
churches. In it Oliver Cromwell was married to Elizabeth
Bourchier, August 20, 1620, Many an antiquarian pilgrim
visits St. Giles's to seo the bust of Speed, the Milton
monument, and the tomb of Foxe, the author of the * Book
of Martyrs." Sion College in London Wall is an ancient
institution for aged persons. The Library, to which all
London clergymen are admitted ex-officio, is to be rebuilt
on tho Thames Embankment. Near Fore Street is Milton
Strect (not named from the poet, but from the man who
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rebuilt it), formerly Grub Street, the abode of poor authors,
in regard to which Pope prophesied,

“Mighty Dulness erowned,
Shall take through Grub Street her triumphant round.”

The old Fortune Theatre (1600), built by ITenslowe and
Alleyne, stood between Golden Lane and Whitecross Strect
(once noted for its Debtors’ Prison).

CneArsipg, one of tho chief streets of the City of London,
extends from the east end of Newgate Street to tho
Poultry. In older time the north side of this street was
not built upon, and the land beyond it was the sceno of
festivities, tournaments, jousts—notably in Kdward 111's
reign.  Cheapside Cross, which stood at the ond of Wood
Street, was tho next finest to Charing Cross of all the nine
Crosses erected to the memory of Queen Eleanor., It was
demolished, to the sound of trumpet, by order of tho
Puritan Parliament, in 1643, The Standard, in Cheapside,
opposite  Honey Lane, was the placo of exceution for
criminals.  From the Standard, in 1439, Tleanor Cobham,
wife of 1Tlumphrey, Duke of Gloucester, walked barefoot
to St. Paul’s, with a white sheet over her and a taper in
her hand, to do penance for the crime of witcheraft, The
Conduit which brought fresh water from Tybourne {o
Cheapside terminated in a leaden cistern cased with stone ;
it was burned down in the Great IFire and never rebuilt.
Cheapsido has been more than once remarkable for the
riots and tumultuous assemblages thercin raised, Ilere
Wat Tyler's mob beheaded many people, and Jack Cado
shed tho blood of Lord Saye and Sele; hero began a great
riot of apprentices, temp. lenry VI and Henry VIIL
Cheapside has also long been famous for its shops and
merchandise—its most popular “linen-draper bold” being,
perhaps, that *train-band Captain,” John Gilpin, who
ineffectually endeavoured to combine business with plea-
sure. Upon the right hand of a pedestrian walking
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castwards is Old Change, so called, says Stowe, “of tho
King's Exchange there kept.”  Gutter Lane is said to
bo derived from (tuthrum, an ancient Dane; the Hall
of tho Suddlers Company presents itself prominently
at 141 Cheapside.  Friday Street traces its name to a
Iriday market of fishmongers held here; the name be-
Tonged to it, as it seems, before Chaucer’s time.  In Wood
Street, which connects ("heapside with London Wall, stood
a prison called Wood Street Compter, burnt down in
the Great Fire. Tho Haberdashers' Company’s Hall is to
the west of Wood Street. At tho corner of Wood Street
is the tree referred to by Wordsworth in his verses on
Poor Susan, who, far away from her native home, has
been, by the song of the thrush in this treo, reminded
suddenly of the country :—
“”Tis a note of enchantment ; what ails her? she sees

A mountain aseending, a vision of trees;

Bright volumes of vapour through Lothbury glide,

And a river flows on through the vale of Cheapside,”
In Wood Street is St. Albaw’s Church, rebuilt by Wren
1684-5, upon tho site, it is said, of a chapel of King Offa.
An hour-glass, such as were onee common in churches to
remind the preachers of tho flight of time, is here to bo
seen fitted in brass to the pillar over the pulpit. Milk
Street is famous as the birthplace of Sir Thomas More, ¢ the
brightest star,” says Fuller, © that ever shone in that ¥ie
lactea”  The City of London School in this street is but of
recent foundation (1831).  The boys are all day scholars,
cach nominated by & member of the Corporation of Londoen,
and paying £9 per annum.  In Monkwell Street is Barber-
Surgeons’ Hall, famous for its Theatre of Anatomy, built
by Inigo Joues ; and for Holbein’s picture of Henry VIII.
conferring the Company’s Charter.

Breap STREET was the birthplace of John Milton, whose

father was a scrivoner in this street. The poet was bap-
tized at the Church of Allhallows, which was demolished in
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1877. At the side of this church, in Watling Strect, was
fixed a tablet containing Dryden’s lines, and a memorial
as follows :—
*“Three poets in three distant ages born,

Greeee, Italy, and Eugland did wdorn ;

The first in loftiness of thought surpassed,

The next in majesty—in both the last.

The force of nature could no further go,

To make o third she joined the former two,

‘ John Milton was born in Bread Street, on Friday, the 9th day of
December, 1608, and waus baptized in the Parish Chureh of Alhallows,
Bread Street, on Tuesday, the 25th day of December, 1608,

The Mermaid Tavern, famous for the club to which Shake-
speare, Ben Jonson, Sir Walter Raleigh, Beanmont, and
other great men belonged, stood south of Cheapside, be-
tween Friday Street and Bread Strect. Beanmont reminds
Ben Jonson of these re-unions, in words which stir the
pulses of readers in this generation, at thought of tho
conversation which passed between such men.  How
much the world must havoe lost from tho want of a4 Boswell
at the Mermaid mectings :—

“What things have wo scen
Dono at the Mermaid! heard wordy that have heen
8o nimble and so full of subtle flame,
As if that cvery onue, from whence they eane,
Had mcant to put his whole wit in a jest,

And had resolved to live a fool the rest
Of his dull life.”

In Cheapside, upon the south side of the way, stands
Bow Church, or St. Mary-le-Bow, otherwise St. Mary do
Arcubus, from being built on stone arches, wherefrom
was named Lhe Court of Arches, formerly held here.  Bow
Church is memorable for ever for those bells which stirred
Dick Whittington’s poetic fancy so that he could realiso
their voices as calling upon him to

«Turn again, Whittington, Lord Mayor of London.”
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Whittington did turn and return—he was so good at
turning he should have been Master of the Turners’ as well
as of the Mercers’ Company ; and his cat afterwards turned
8o well out of the bag that it enabled himself to turn Lord
Mayor no less than four times to the music of Bow Bells—
no doubt adopting the principle of the old maxim, that
one good turn deserves another.  In Hogarth'’s last en-
vraving of the set of ¢ Industry and Idleness,” we seo the
simmit of civie ambition fully attained—Industry, in the
person of the new Lord Mayor, enters Cheapside in grand
procession, the strects lined with baleonies filled with
spectators, even Royalty (in Hogarth’s picture represented
by Prince Frederick, father of George 111.) not disdaining
to take part in the display.  Bow Church was built
by Sir Christopher Wren, after the Great Fire, upon
the sito of carlier edifices; its bells, originally cight,
were inereased to ten in 1762, In 1472 two tenements
in Hosier (now Bow) Lano were bequeathed “to the
maintenance of Bow DBell”—-to be born within  the
sound of which was to be « reritable Cockney.  Bow Bell
would, we are told, be oceasionally rather late in his per-
formance, mueh to the annoyance of certain "prentices, who
wished to shut up shop as carly as possible. Those young
men are said to have vented their indignation in the
threatening rhyvme -

*Clerke of the Bow bell with the yellow lockes,
For thy late ringing thy head shadl have knocks.”
To which the Clerk amiably replied, also in rhyme :—
* Children of Chepe hold you all still,
You shall have Bow bell rung at your will”
Bow Church is one of Wren's finest works.  The spire was
repaired and in part rebuilt by Gwilt in 1820, but was not
lowered, as is generally believed.  Its height is 225 feet,
and the dragon 10 feet long.  Over the large Palladian
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doorway in Cheapsido is a balcony for sight-seers, in liou
of the old Sildam built for the same purpose. The
Bishops elect of the Province of Canterbury attend at this
Church before their consccration to take the oaths of
supremacy, &c.

Down Kixe Srreer, we pass to tho GuiLbuarL, which
immediately faces us, and which dates from 1411, Tho
crypt and the old walls alone remain of the ancient struc-
ture, which was much injured in the Great Fire. Tho
present front was erceted in 1865-8, when the fine Gothic
roof was built. The Guildhall interior is 153 feet long,
50 feet broad, and 55 feet high, and the city giants Gog
and Magog,* carved in 1708, are still to be scen here, as
well as many statues, monuments, busts, and portraits of
more modern personages, as Lord Chatham, Willinm Pitt,
Lord Nelson, Duke of Wellington, George 111, Sir Mat-
thew Male, &e. At each end of the Hall is a Gothic
window oceupying the entire width, the arches resting on
columus and retaining perfect their rich tracery.  In the
Guildhall—which will contain between 6000 and 7000
—have been held the Lord Mayors’ Annual Banquets sinee
15015 of late invariably attended by the Cabinet Ministers.
The Guildhall has been the scene of many historical events.
Here, in 1483, Richard 1L, through Buckingham, strove
to persuade the citizens to accept his usurpation; hero

* These figares take the place of mueh older ones made of wicker-
work, which used to be carried about the strects in City pageants, ¢ to
make the people wonder,” and were then returned to their places in
Guildhall.  “The young one is supposced to represent Corineus, n
funous chieftain of the earlicst traditional period, who ruled in
Cornwall — the hugest giants in rocks and ecaves were said o Jurk
there”  The older giant represents Gogmagog, in height 12 cubits,
who broke three of Corineuy’s ribs in a wrestle, whereupon Corineus
enraged, “ heaving up by main foree, bore the giant to the next high
rock, threw him headlong iuto the sea, but he left his name on the
cliff, called ever since Langoemagog, which is to suy, the giauts loap.”
See Miltow's Uistory.

Q
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Anne Askew (subscquently burnt at Smithfield) was tried
and condemned by Bishop Bonner for heresy; here the
Earl of Surrey was tried and convicted of high treason, as
weroe also, soon after, Lady Jane Grey and her husband.
llere Sir Nicholas Throgmorton was tried and acquitted
for his share of Sir Thomas Wyat’s rebellion against Queen
Mary; here the Jesnit Garnet was tried and convicted for
participation in the Gunpowder Plot; here Charles I at-
tended a Common Council to ask assistance in apprehend-
ing ampden and others, who had taken shelter from the
Crown in the city to avoid arrest ; here, after tho Ahdica-
tion of James 11, the Lords of Parliament assembled, under
the presidency of Saneroft, and deelared for the Prince of
Orange.  'The Guildhall Library and Reading Roowm, con-
taining over 50,000 hooks, and many MSS., coins, medals,
&ey is open daily, free to all comers, from ten to five. This
very handsome and usefnl cdifice was built in 1871-2,
behind the Guildhall. The Courts of Law at Guildhall
aro but mean structures, which, it is hoped, will not he
needed when the new Pualace of Justice is complete.
Opposite the Cheapside end of King Street is Queen Street,
leading to Southwark Bridge.  Mercers’ Hall and Chapel,
belonging to the Mercers’ Company, the oldest of the city
guilds, is at 87 Cheapside, but the entrance to it is in
Ironmonger Lane. Thomas & Becket was born in a house
then standing on the sito of Mercers’ Hall.  Old Jewry
was named from the Jews dwelling there. They were first
introduced by William Rufus, in whose reign, it is said, the
parishes of St. Martin, St. Edward, and St. Aldgate were
denominated the New and Old Jewry.

Tur Pourriy,—The east end of Cheapside was so named
from the poulterers’ stalls of the Stocks-market.  Tho
Poultry Compter was at ono time a prison of some note. Tom
Hood was born in the Poultry (1798); his father was one
of the firm of Vernor and Hood, publishers of Bloomfield’s
Poems, &e, at No. 31.  Robert Bloomfield, son of a tailor
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at Honington, in Suffolk, was himself a shoomakor, and
worked in a garret in Great Bell Alley, Coleman Street.
He composed his ¢ Farmer’s Boy* whilo at work, and when
he obtained time and writing materials, *had nothing to
do,” as he said, “but to write it down.” *“There was «
dash of ink in my blood,” wrote Tom Hood, My father
wrote two novels, and my brother was decidedly of a
literary turn.” In the Pounltry wero many old taverns of
somo note. The Hall of the Armourers’ Company is in Cole-
man Street.  Grocers’ Hall, next 35 in the Poultry, belongs
to the Grocers’ Company (originally Pepperers, afterwards
united to the Apothecaries’ Company), which is second on
the list of the twelve great companies incorporated by
Kdward IIL.  Grocers’ Hall was nsed from 1694 1o 1734
for the business of the Bank of England. At the end of the
Poultry begins the mnew streot called Queen Victoria
Street, leading from the Mansion House to Blackfrinrs
Bridge.

BuckLkrssury, a short street, south of the Poultry,
running into Walbrook, used to be noted for grocers and
apothecaries’ shops—referred to by Falstaff, who speaks of
“many of those lisping hawthorn buds, that come liko
women in men’s apparcl, and smell like Bucklersbury in
simple-time.”

The Maxsion Housk, the residenco of the Lord Mayor
during his year of office, was built 1739-41, by Dance, tho
then city surveyor, at a cost of over £70,000. The prin-
cipal part of the building is the Egyptian Hall (named ro
after the Egyptian Hall described by Vitruvius with which
it is said exactly to correspond), decorated with numerons
statues by modern artists. The City Police Court is held
in one of the rvoms of the Mansion House, and here the
Lord Mayor, or one of the Aldermen, sits daily. The Lord
Mayor's Show, as it is called, i8 a procession which takes
place every 9th of November (Lord Mayor’s Day), when
the new Lord Mayor succeeds to the dignity, and goes,

Q2
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attended by the Aldermen, Sherifts and Common C'ouncil-
men, with bands of music and with banners flying of all
the city guilds, to the Exchequer Court at Westminster to
be sworn in. The ofticial income of the Lord Mayor is
£x000 - ~considerably less than the sum which cach Lord
Mayor has to spend in order to maintain the credit of
the Mansion Tlouse for hospitality.

St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, at the back of the Mansion
House, is considered to be one of the best works of Sir
Christopher Wren, who rebuilt the edifice after the Great
I'ire.  'T'he interior has been specially admired for its well-
proportioned cupola and roof, with a civele of light arches
springing from colimn to column.  “As you enter the
dark vestibule a halo of dazzling light flashes upon thoe eyo
through the central aperture of the enpola.”  There is a
fino painting here by West, of the Martyrdom of St.
Stephen. There lay buried, it is said, heneath the Churel,
when the repairs of 1850 took place, a8 many as 4000
coffins,  John Lilburne and Sir John Vanbrugh have
memorials here, whero they were buried. Amongst the
incumbents of St. Stephen’s, were Pendleton, the celebrated
Viear of Bray, who stuck to his Vicarage through all the
changes of the Revolution era, fitting himself to cach
fashion of theology as it arose, and who only gave up the
Vicarage of Bray when he had been promoted to the Rectory
of St Stephen’s, Walbrook,

Nearly opposite the Mansion House is the Bask or
Exaraxn, which oceupies about three acres of ground,
bounded by Irince’s Street on the west, Dartholomew
Lane on the cast, Lothbury on the north, and Threadnecdlo
Strect (belonging to Merchant Tailors” Company), on the
~outh, and was founded by Paterson in 1691 and incor-
porated by Willimn 11, 1694, The general architecture,
chiefly by Sir John Soane, is Corinthian—* from  the
Templo of the Sybil at Tivoli,” of which the south-west
angle is a fac-simile.  The entrance to the Bullion-yard is
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a copy of Constantine’s Arch at Rome, and is decorated
with allegorical figures of the Thames and the Ganges, by
T. Banks, R.A.  The Bullion-Qffice, on the east sido of the
Bank, is inaccessible to visitors unless in the company of a
Divector of the Bank. The Directors, of whom thero ave
twenty-four (eight of whom retire anmmally), have tho
management of the Bank, and theso meet weekly, on
Thursday, at half-past eleven, in the room ealled the
Bank Parlour.

In the Weighing Office ave the ingeniouns instruments
invented by Mr. Cotton, & Deputy-governor of the Bank,
which are so contrived that when ono hundred sovereigns
are placed in a ronnd tube, as they descend on the machines
the coins of a full weight are carcfully separated into ono
box, while those of light weight are passed into another,
where they are defaiced at the rate of 60,000 or 70,000 &
day.  'T'he Bauk-Note Machinery invented by the Oldhams,
father and son, is just as accurate and unerring in num-
bering and registering cach note, so as to secure against
frand in every possible form. There are Bank notes in
cireulation to the value of over fifteen millions sterling, Tt
every note is cancelled immediately upon its heing paid
in,  The registration of Bank of England Notes is 50 per-
feet that any note paid into the Bank during the last five
years can be produced inawinuto or two, with informa-
tion as to the channel through which it fonnd its way back
to the Bank, although the Register eontaing 77 millions of
notes packed away in L5500 boxes, and the notes, if
stitched end to end, would cover 12,500 miles. ‘T'he
Bank is the agent of the Government, on behalf
of which it receives the taxes, pays the interest of the
National Debt—about twenty-five millions in dividends to
2:36,500 holders of Stock, and, in return for work done, the
Bank receives a percentage equivalent to about £120,000,
with more than the same sum, usually, profit derived from
the discounting of mercantile bills with the floating halance,
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nover less than four millions sterling, of public money, left
in tho Bank. Since the riots of 1780, a military force has
bocn stationed nightly within the Bank, and the ofticer
on guard is provided with a dinner for himself and two
friends, ‘T'he accountant, sccretary, and the cashier, reside
on the premises ; and, as well as the military guard, a cer-
tain numboer of clerks sit up nightly to watch and patrol
the building.  Visitors to the Bank are admitted to view
the promises, on the introduction of one of the Directors,
list of whom is always readily obtainable.

St Mary, Woolnoth, at the cast corner of Lombard
Street, was designed by Hawksmoor, assistant of (hris-
topher Wren, and erceted (1716) upon the site ofa church
of tho samoe name—** the reason of which name,” says Stowe,
“ I have not yet learnt.” The church exterior has heen much
admired. Thero is o tablet here to the memory of Cowper’s
friend, the Rev, John Newton (rector of this chureh for
28 years, who died 1807), as follows :— Jolhin Newton,
clerk, onco an infidel and libertine, a servant of slaves
in Africa, was, by the rich merey of our Lord and
Saviour Jesus Christ, preserved, restored, pardoned, and
appointed fo preach the faith he had long laboured to
destroy.”

Lousarp Srieer, extending from the Mansion House to
Gracechurch Street, has long been noted as the street for
Bankers. It derived its namo from the Longobards, a rich
race of Bankers who scttled here in the reign of Edward 11,
whose badge, the “three golden pills” of the Medici family,
continues to bo the sign of all pawnbrokers,  Sir I'homas
Giresham, who founded the Royal Exchauge, kept a shop
on the site of the bank, No. 63, in Lombard Strect.  Pope
was born in Lombard Street, where his father, a Roman
Catholie, was a linen-draper.  The churches of All Hallows
and St Eduwund, Lombard Street, were both built by Sir
¢ Wren.  Pope's Head Alley derived its name from the
Pope’s Hewd Turern, which existed here in Pepys’ time,
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The name was o reminiscenco of the ago when the Popish
merchants sold wafer cakes and pardons here.

The Rovarn Excnasae, facing (‘heapsido and north-west
of Cornhill, the third building of the kind upon this site,
was built by Sir W. Tite, and opened 1844, 1t consists of
an open quadrangle, with a Statue of Queen Vietoria in the
centre, by Lough, surrounded by a colonnade, and having
shops externally upon the ground-floor; upon the sides
which face towards (‘ornhill, and Threadncedlo Street;
and at the rear of the huilding; in the upper floors are
Lloyd’s Subscription Rooms, or, more commonly, Lloyd’s.
The TKxchange, a handsome edifice, is said to have cost
£180,000. Its busicst time is from half-past three to half-
past four, about which hour may be scen hero the foremost
Bankers in London-- -the Rothschilds, near toa pillar on thae
south side of the quadrangle.  The first Fxchange—Gres-
ham’s—was almost totally destroyed in the Great Fire of
London ; and the second Fxchange was built upon the old
foundations by Jerman, the City Surveyor, who, it is said,
consulted Sir (. Wren in the projected rebnilding. This
seeond edifico was opened in 1664, and was totally hurnt,
down on the night ol January 10, 1838, 'T'he fire-—a me-
morable event. commenced in Lloyd’s rooms soon after ton
at night, and at three next morning the clock-tower alone
remained unconsumed. 1t was remarked that thoe last air
prlayed by the chimes was ¢ There’s nae luck aboot the
house. The west front of the present Fxchange has a
portico very superior, it has been said, to any in Great

dritain. It is 96 feet wide and 74 feet high, and has cight
columns, 4 feet 2 inches in diamcter, and 41 feot high.
On the frieze of the portico is an inscription to indicato
that the Exchange, which was built in the thirteenth ycar
of the reign of Elizabeth, was restored in the eighth year
of Victoria. The tympanum of the pediment is filled with
sculpture by Westmacott, consisting of seventeen figures,
representing Commcercee in the centre, holding tho charter
of the Exchangoe; on her right are tho Lord Mayor and
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Aldermen and Common Councilmen, a Hindoo, a Mahom-
medan, a Greek bearing a jar, and a Turkish merchant ;
on the left are two British merchants and a Persian, :
Chinese, a Levant sailor, a negro, a British sailor and a
supereargo. U'pon the pedestal of Commerce is, “The Earth
is the Lord’s and the fulness thereof.”

Lloyd’s Subseription Rooms were founded by Edward
Lloyd, who kept a coffec-house in Tower Street, in the
reign of Charles 11, and who, noting the loss of time
resulting from the underwriters being scattered over
difforent parts of the city, bronght them together first of
all in the Tower ward; then (1692) at the corner of Lom-
bard Strect and Abchurch Lane, where he held periodical
sales “ by the candle,” and started a weekly paper, ¢ Lloyd’s
News,” which was suppressed, upon the decision of the
Judges that the liberty of printing did uot extend to
Gazettes.  Lloyd’s sales nevertheless inereased, till, at the
accession of George T., Lloyd's Coffee-honse had become the
centro of shipping business, including marine insurance.
Lloyd's List, which continues to this day, was then first
issued.  The Underwriters who undertake insurances are
about four hundred and fifty in number; it is said there
in no ono engaged in extensive shipping business who is
not a member or a subscriber to Lloyd’s.  Moro than this,
it may bo asserted that there is not a port or maritime
resort. of any importance on the globe where Lloyd’s is
not in some form represented. Lloyd’s elassifies ships
according to age, build, and sea-worthiness, and a ship can
have no better reputation than to be A 1 at Lloyd’s. The
entrance to Lloyd’s is in the area near the eastern gate of
the Royal Exchango.  Chantrey’s equestrian Statue of the
Duke of Wellington is in front of the Royal Exchange.
The Statue of Mr. Peabody, an American merchant who
lived in London, and gave half a million of money for
dwellings for the industrious poor, is placed opposite the
east end of the Royal Exchange.

The Stock Exchange, in Capel Court, Bartholomew Lane,
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facing the cast end of tho Bank of England, had its origin
from Jonathan’s Coffec-house in (‘hange Alley, was opened
in 1802, and in 1822 the business in the forcign funds
was removed to it from the Royal Exchange. Thero are
about 2000 members of the Stock Exchange, at an en-
trance fee of £100, annual subseription 20 gmineas, unless
they have served previously as clerks to members, in
which case the entrance fee is £60, the annual subscription,
12 guinecas.  Members ave cither brokers or dealers; the
former buy or sell for ontside clients, the latter are the
wholesale merchants.  The dealer must “make o price,”
i.c. he is hound to state when asked by the broker the price
at which he will sell or buy a given stock.  Strangers
who stray into the Stock Exchange are sometimes roughly
hustled out. Among the Exchango cries arve- - Borrow
money ?” “ What are Exchequers?” * Fivo with me;”
“Ten with me;” “ A thousand consols at 96§ ;" ¢ Take
em at 96} ;7 “ Egyptians” at so and so; “Turks” so and
so, &e. The phrases Bull and Bear arc among tho slang
of the Stock Enchange—a Bull means ome who speenlates
for a rise; a Bear one who speenlates for a fall of prices,
If consols fall, the Bull finds himsclf on the wrong side
of the hedge: if they rise, the poor Bear is compelled to
buy back his stock at a sacrifice.  “Consols” is the husiness
name for Consolidated (fovernment Stock.

ConNuiLL, so called from a corn-market, ¢ time out of
mind there holden,” extends from the castern side of
the Mansion House to Leadenball Strect. The noted
«Standard at Cornhill” (still mentioned on suburban
mile-stones as the point of measurement—so many miles
from the Standard at Cornhill), stood at the east end of
the strect where it joins (iracechurch Street, Bishopsgate,
and Leadenhall Strect, and consisted of a sort of condnit
with four spouts of water conveyed in lead pipes from
the Thames, and chicfly used for cleansing the adjoining
thoroughfares. At acorner honse bhetween Lombard Strect
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and Cornhill lived Thomas Guy, the stationer, who founded
Guy’s Hospital ; the poet (iray was born at a house nupon
the site of No, 41, and De Foe lived in a house which then
stood nearly opposite to the Cornhill entrance to CiraNan
Aveey.  Pope charged Curll with having gone to Change
Alley and turned Jew for the sake of lucre; Gay wrote a
remonstranco to his friend Snow—

“Why did Change Alley waste thy precious hours,
Among the fools who gaped for golden showers?”

St. Mickael's and St. Peter’s (founded 1471), Cornhill,
were rebuilt by Wren after the Great Five. St Michael's
Alley is noted for having been the place wherein was
set up the first coffec-house in London; in referenco to
which the elder D'Isracli mentions a hand-bill which he
had discovered, setting forth “ The Virtue of the Cofteo
Drink first publiguely mado and sold in England by Pasgua
Rosee, in St. Michacels Alley, Coruhill, at the sign of his
own head.” Had by is Lothbury, out of which ave Founders'
Court, named from its brass founders, and Tokenhouse Yard,
from the *'Tokens,” or copper coins made hero in the seven-
feenth century.  From Old Browd Street, vunning out of
Uhreadneedle Street, we may turn into dustin Friars, tho
sito of an old monastery of Augustine Friars, founded
1263 after the Dissolution the church was given by
Fidward VI, “to the Dutch in London to have their
service in” Tho remains of & great number of eminent
persons were buried here. The monastery was granted
by Ilenvy VIIL to the Margnis of Winchester, who built
his mansion, Winchester Iouse, where Great Winchester
Street now stands,

Leadenhall Street was chiefly noted for the Fast India
House, the Museum and Antiquities of which have been
transferred to the South Kensington Museum; and for
Leadenhall Market, now being rebuilt, famous for its poultry,
leathor, hides, &c.  "T'he house of Dirty Dick stood on the
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south side of Leadenhall Strcet. e is said to have been
an ironmonger, young and handsome, who had made all
proparations to bo married ; tho wedding feast was ready
laid, when news was brought of the sudden death of his
bride. e thereupon locked up the rooms, and abandoned
himself to neglect and dirt —all remained so for forty years,
in darkuess and accumulating dust. Thoe old church of
St. Andrew Undershaft, named from the Shaft or Maypolo
which stood before it, contains an interesting monument
to John Stow, the city historian.

St. Cutherine Creeyor Christ Chureh, is historieally remark-
able as having been consecrated by Laud with such cere-
monies as laid him open to the charges upon which he
was afterwards tried; as also for its rector, Nicholas
Brady, the associate of Tate in the production of Tato and
Brady's I'salms.  Sir Nicholas Throgmorton (from whom
Throgmorton Street was named) lies buried hero (1570).
The name of Bevis Marks is said to bo a corruption of
Burie’s Marks, this being the site of a mansion belonging
to tho Abbots of Bury. St My Awe, locally pronounced
Sinonery Awvey is named from the ehureh of St. Mary at
the Axe-—of the sign of the Axe, which has been for somo
time removed, This being a gquarter of the City whero
busy Jews used to ho numerous, suggested tho lines :—

“Jews from St Mary Axe, for jobs so wary,
That for old clothes they'd even axe St Mary.”

Arbaark, or Ol Gate, so called from its antiguity, was
the cast gate of the City. The ancient City Well hogan
at a fort near the Tower of London, passed through the
Minories* to Aldgate, thence bore to the north-cast by
Bishopsyate to Cripplegate, thenee to Aldersyate, where it

* Lo named from a eonvent of nuns of 8t. Clare, ealled Sorores
Minorex, which stood here in the thirteenth eentury. There is a
Catholic charity even now in London similarly named—the Littls
Sisters of the Poor.
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curved sonth-west to Newgate and Ludgate. From Ludgate
it skirted the Fleet brook to the Thames, where it was
completed by another fort.  The circuit of the whole line
was a little over a mile.  Along the banks of the Thames
was another wall connecting the two forts, east and west.
A “draft on Aldgate Pump ™ was, according to Fielding, a
mercantile phrase for a bad note. In Fenchurch Street is
the Iall of the Trenmongers’ Company, as also the railway
Terminus of the Blackwall Railway, by means of which rail-
way communication with the distriets lying upon the north
bank of the Thames and the Essex coast is obtained,

Houndsditeh and Ray Fair, in Rosemary Lane, Wellcloso
Sqnare, Whitechapel, have long been noted for the sale of
old Tinen and cast-oft’ clothes; the latter is particularly
worth sceing by any visitor who can keep his pockets
buttoned and can walk on regardless of any invitation to
stop and make pnrchases. Whitechapel, w long, spacious
street, which used to be the high road to Essex, and
confained a large number of Inns with old galleried
yanrds, of which few relies still remain, is now of small
interest to visitors,  The Eust London Theatre is at 235
Whitechapel Road.  Petticoat Lane, Whitechapel, long
famous for its Sunday morning traflic, has been named
Middlesex Street. The London IHospital in Whitechapel
Rowd containg 790 beds, and its expenses aro £44,000 per
annum, It dates from 1740, and relies almost entirely
upon voluntary contributions.

If, passing back through Leadenhall Street, we pursue
our way down Bishopsgate, we shall seo somo interesting
relies of old London.  Croshy Hall, a fine example of
15th century architecture, was built by Sir John Crosby,
an alderman and M.P. for London, in 1461. Here lodged
Richard of (iloucester (afterwards Richard IIL), and
*drew the Conrt to him ;" here he schemed the deposition
anl death of his nephow, and here Lady Anne awaited
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his return from Henry VIL’s funeral, as described in
Shakespeare’s play of ¢ Richard I1L. SirThomas More, it
is said, wrote his Life of Richard 1IL. while residing here.
Crosby Palace was subsequently owned by Sir John
Spencer, the wealthy lord mayor, whose daughter, married
to the Earl of Northampton, was one of the greatest
heiresses in the kingdom, and lived here in tho most ex-
pensive style.  The Countess of Pembroke, * Sidney’s
sistor,” resided hore for some time. Thoe Palaco subse-
quently became a Presbyterian conventicle, then a ware-
house, and at length has been converted into ono of the
restaurants of Messry. Gordon, who have embellished it at
great expense.

The Chureh of Great St. Helew's, Bishopsgate Street, is the
remaining portion of the priory of the Nuns of St. Helen’s,
founded 1216. This church, famous for its numerous
monuments, consists of two aisles separated hy arches,
with chapels attached on the south-cast.  Among the
monuments may be named those of Sir John Spencer and
his wife and daughter; Francis Dancroft, founder of the
almshonses at Miic End : Sir Thomas Gresham, founder
of the Royal Exchangoe; Sir Andrew Judde, founder of the
Tunbridge Grammar School; Sir William  Pickering, a
favourite of Queen Bess ; Alberico Gentili, the great jurist,
and anthor of ¢ De Jure Belli;’ Sir John Croshy and his
wife. In the Chapel of the Virgin is the tomb of John de
Oteswich and Mary his wife, femp. Henry 1V, founders of
the lately demolished church of St. Martin’s Outwich.
In the Chapel of the Ioly Ghost is the tomb of Sir
Julius Cwesar, Chancellor of the Txchequer, &e., in 1606,
senlptured by Nicholas Stone.

In St HeesN's Prace is the Hall of the Leathersellers’
Compeany ; rebnilt 1815, The crypt. of tho old priory of
St. Helen’s extends beneath the Hall of the Company. In
the Hall yard is Cibber's sculpture of a Mermaid as a
design for a pump.
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In Basinghall Street is the entrance to Gresham College,
founded in memory of Sir Thomas Gresham, as tho
condition of his gift to the City, of the Royal Exchange,
The Gresham Lectures on Divinity, Civil Law, &c. (which
are now delivered free to all comers at 6 v in April,
May, and June), gave riso to the Royal Socicty (sec
p. 119). .

The House of Sir Panl Pindar is one of the most remark-
able in Bishopsgate,  Sir Paul frequently lent largo sums
of money to James 1., Charles 1., and Charles Il The
last-named king seems to have exhansted Sir Paul’s funds ;
Imt the great merchant had been able to give as much as
£10,000 towards the rebuilding of St. Paul’s after the
Great Fire,  Sir Paul was buried in 8t Botolpl’s, hard hy.

Boyond Bisnorsiarts Wrrhnour is SPITALFIELDS, a district
which once belonged to the priory of St. Mary Spital, 1107,
and which, at the period of the Revocation of the Fdict of
Nantes, received many thousands of silk-weavers, who were
then driven out of France; * whereby,” says Stowe, “ God's
blessing is surely not only brought upon the parish, by
receiving poor strangers, but also o great advantage hath
acerued to the whole nation, by the rich manufactures of
weaving silks and stufts and camlet, which art they brought
with them.” Bethmal Green lies cast of Spitalfields, see p. 281,

Suorknrrent derives its name not from Jane Shore, as is
generally alleged, but from Sir John Soerdich, lord of the
manor, femp, Xdward 1L The chureh of St Leonard was
connected with the Holywell nunnery, the name of which
still survives in Jolywell Lane (one of the streets of Shore-
diteh), the site of the Old Curtain Theatre. 'The National
Staudard Theatre is at 204 High Street, Shoreditech, It was
rebuiltin 1867, Ina divect line with Shorediteh is tho Kings-
land Road, continued by Stoke Newington Road, see p. 300,

Hoxton is a populous suburb connected with Shoreditch
by tho New North Road and by railway from Moorgate
Street.  The Britannia Theatre (holds 3400) is in Hoxton.
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FROM FINSBURY TO ISLINGTON AND HIGIIGATE.

Tue Museum of the London Missionary Society, in Bloom-
field Street, Moorficlds, is open from ten to three in winter,
and to four in summer. The London Institution, in Finshury
Circus, Moorfields, established 1806, has a fino library of
sixty thousand volumes. In Fixssury (named after Sir Johu
Fines, or Ficnnes) are tho Barracks of the Hon. Artillery
Company—-representatives of the old “ Trained Bands” of
London, so prominent in the Parliamentary Army during
the Civil Wars. Near to theso barracks is the noted burial-
place of the Nonconformists, named Bunkill (Bone-hill)
Fields, open daily from nine to seven in summer, and till
four in winter, and on Sundays after one o'clock.  Here lio
the remains of John Bunyan, for ever celebrated as the
author of *The Pilgrim’s Progress”  “Tho spot where
Bunyan lies,” wrote Macaulay, “is regarded by Noncon-
formists with a feeling which seems scarcely in harmony
with the stern spirit of their theology. Many Duritans, to
whom the respect paid by Roman (awtholies to the reliques
and tombs of their saints scemed childish and sinful, are suid
to have begged with their dying breath that their coftius
might be placed s near as possible to tho coftin of the
author of ¢ The Pilgrim’s Progress.”  Jolm Bunyan’s grave
is almost in the centre of the burial-ground—a white
marble figure upon a high tomb. * There were many clover
men in England during the latter half of the soventeenth
century, but only two great creative minds,  One of theso
produced the ¢ Paradise Lost,’ the other ¢The Pilgrim’s
Progress.”” Near to Bunyan lie three members of the
Cromucell family, and just beyond is buried the Mother of
John and Charles Wesley—Susannah, daughter of an
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cjocted vicar of St Giles’s, Cripplegate, and widow of a
clergyman.  Her last request was, “ Children, as soon as I
am released, sing a psalm of praise to God.” Many
hundreds of celebrated Nonconformist divines lie in this
ground, now no longer used for burial, but scrving as a
quict waysido place for meditation, out of the noise and
Iustlo of tho great metropolis.  We may mention the fol-
lowing as among tho chicf of those who here * rest in
hope ”: Daniel de Foe, son of a butcher in ('ripplegate,
one of the ablest of English writers, renowned for his
¢ Robinson Crusve ;" Dr. Isaae Watts, the author of so
many well-known psalms and hymns; Dr. John Owen,
“ the great Dissenter,” who was Dean of Christchuach, and
Viee-Chancellor of Oxford, in Cromwell’s time ; Dr, Daniel
Willioms, founder of the Williams” Library, 1716 ; Daniel
Neal, anthor of *Tho History of the Puritans;’ Dr. J.
Condder ; Dr. N Lardner, anthor of ¢ Credibility of Gospel
History ;” doseph 1lnghes, founder of the Bible Society ;
Abrakane Rees, Editor of ¢ Rees’s Cyclopaedia” Willicon
Bluke, the painter; Ritson, the antiquary, and Johe Horne
Tooke, the reformer.  Near to Bunhill Fields is the Friends'
Burial-yround, wheve lies Georye Fox, founder of  the
society called Quakers,  Opposite the entrance to Bunhill
IMields, in the City Road, is & Wesleyan Chapel, wherein is
a tablet to the memory of the Reve Samuel Wesley, and
behind the chapel is the grave of Johs Wesley, the founder
ot Methodism,

Farther north up the City Road is the Eugle, ov Royal
Grecian Theatre, which originated from some tea-garden
entertainments. ‘The Eagle was built by Mr. T, Rouse, and
derived its carly popularity from allowing the audience
to indulge in their favourito beverages whilst the per-
formances wero going on,  Mr. Conguest considerably
enlarged and improved upon the edifice of his predecessor.

At the top of the City Road is the Angel Tnn, ut Islington,
and beyond it Pentonville and the New Road, which joins
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the Euston Road at King’s Cross, and thus bocomes ono of
the chief London thoroughfaroes.

IsLiNGTON, one of the ancient village suburbs of Tondon,
was at one time as famous for its dairies and cheese-cakes as
Chelsea was for buns. Tho Angel Inn and tho Peacock Inn,
at Islington, were noted houses of call for the old mail
coaches travelling the Great North Road. Theso inns still
remain, but they have altered their appearanco and charac-
ter, and, instead of low, old-fashioned wainscoted parlours,
filled with country guests and northern graziers, we have
the usual characteristics of a London tavern—-plate-glass,
and spacious bars with the smart fittings of a gin-palace,
and customers to match.  The last fashion is all in favour
of what is called * counter business;” the inn is no longer
an inn, but a dram-shop; the licensed victualler of to-day
sells drink rather than victuals; and, in modern coftee-
rooms, scarcely a cup of coffes is served from year’s end to
year's end; tavern coflee-rooms are indeed becoming out
of date; the publican hastes to grow rich whilst pro-
viding a minimum of accommodation with a maximum of
drink. The Belvidere Tavern, on Pentonville 1l (named
after Mr. Denton, who built upon it), hard by, was for
many years famous for its Debating Socicty, wherein many
a prominent counsel and statesman won his carly trinmphs;
but the politician, like the traveller, hag had to make way
for the dram-drinkor, and hero also tho tavern has been
displaced by the gin-palace.

Tho Philharmonic Theatre, in the Islington High Street, is
a comparatively recent institution, grown out of a music
hall.  Farther up the Migh Street, upon the left-hand
side going north, is the Agricultural 1ldll, an enormous
structure covering three acres, built by Peck, in 1861,
and having a main hall of 384 feet by 217 feet, roofed
with glass. Herein are held many public meetings—
the chief exhibition being the Annual Christnas Cattle Show,

R
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and in the swmmer the Horse Show. The old Clurch of
St. Mary, Islington, is just beyond Islington Green. The
Statuo of Sir ITugh Myddelton, a Welshman from Den-
bigh, by whom the New River was made, 1620, and a
large part of the metropolis was and is supplied with its
purest water, stands at the southern entrance to Islington
Green.  The New River (an artificial strecam 38 miles
long), which nearly ruined its founder in making it, is
now estimated to be worth over eleven millions sterling ;
its shares readily sell from three hundred to four hundred
per cent. over their nominal value.

Sudler's Wells Theatre, said to be the oldest theatro at
present in London, is situate near the upper part of St.
John Street Road, which leads to Islington from Smithfield.
Thoe Favonrite omnibuses pass the gate.  The name of the
theatro was derived from Sadler, who kept a mmusic-honse
here, in tho time of Charles II., and who re-discovered
in the garden a well of excellent tonic water, which
yuars previously had been dispensed with much solemnity
by the monks of the Priory of St. John of Jerusalem.
For a timo, Sadler’s entertainment and the medicinal
spring becamo highly fashionable and successful; but, in
1764, the well was covered over, the house demolished,
and the present theatre was built by Rosoman—whose
namo still exists in Rosoman  Street, Clerkenwell. The
most. prominent of its subsequent proprietors were King
of Drury Lane, Charles Dibdin and his sons Thomas and
Charles, then Messrs. Phelps and Greenwood, who for
some ycars maintained it in the honourable position of
home for the legitimate drama. Amongst the per-
formers who appeared horo may be mentioned, Belzoni
the traveller, before his wanderings in the East, and tho
Grimaldis of three genorations, after whom the neighbour-
ing tavern, the Clown, was named.

The Sir Hugh Myddelton Tavern and Music Hall adjoin the
grounds of Sadler’s Wells Theatre, and, though of minor
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style and character, enjoy an ancient reputation as the
resort of holiday makers from London. Both Tavern and
Theatre are shown in Ilogarth’s picture, “ Evening.”

The Upper Street, Islington, leads to ILighbury and
Hornsey ; from the former runs a road to Holloway and
Highgate, and easterly towards Canonbury and the City.
Pentonville Prison, or Holloway Gaol, is situated at Hollo-
way, near the Metropolitan Cattle Market.

(!axoxBURY TowkR was built on tho site of the country
retreat of the P’rior of tho (‘anons of St. Bartholomew,
Smithfield. It is of red brick, seventeen feet square and
nearly sixty feet high, contains twenty-three rooms, and
dates from tho latter part of the sixtecenth century. In
it lived Ephraim Chambers (the compiler of the first
Einglish Eucyclopedia, and the predecessor of Rees), and
died in 1740. Oliver Goldsmith took refuge here from
his creditors, and, under the pressure of peenmiary difli-
culty, wrote ‘The Vicar of Wakeficld!  Canonlbury Tea
(lardens, a favourite resort some seventy or eighty years
ago, occupied the site of the old priory mansion and
gronnds — now built over and known as Canonbury
Place, &e. Goldsmith, in his ¢ Elegy on the Death of a
Mad Dog,’ lays the scene in Islington :

“In Tslington there was o man,
Of whom the world might say,

That still a godly race he ran,

Whencer ho went to pray.”

On Hicueare Hinn are the Almshouscs of Sir Richard
Whittington, who is said from this distance to have heard
Bow Bells telling him to return to London. Ifighgate is
also noted for its beautiful Cemetery. To be “sworn in at
Highgate” was an ancient custom ; the vow being, “ Never
to drink small beer, when you can get ale; never to walk
when you can ride; never to kiss the maid when you can
kiss the mistress, unless you really liko her, or either of
the other commoner articles, better.”

R 2
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LONDON BRIDGE, SOUTIIWARK, NEWINGTON,
ELEPITANT AND CASTLE, ST. GEORGE'S
CIRCUS, AND KENNINGTON.

1K MONUMENT, on Fish Street 1ill, the work of Sir
Christopher Wren, was erected on the site of St. Mar-
garet’s Chureh, to commemorate the Great Firo of Tondon
in 1666, which commenced at the house of a baker named
Farrynor, in Pudding Lane, hard by, and extended to
Pye Corner, near Smithficld.  The Monument is of Port-
land stone, 202 feet high, and has a pedestal of about
21 feot square. On the abacus is a balcony, surrounding
a mounlded eylinder of gilt bronze, made to resemble flame.
From the top of tho Monument, reached by a staircase
inside, consisting of 345 steps, is to bo had a fine view of
the great metropolis.  The charge for admittance, 3d., is
made for cach visitor—entranco from 9 a.u. till dusk. The
bas-relief on the pediment was by (' G. Cibber, father of
Colley Clibber; the four dragons by 1. Pierce. 'The Latin
inseriptions record the destruction of London by fire, and
how it was rebuilt and improved. Thero used also to be
inscribed npon the pediment the statement that the firo of
London had been caused by a conspiracy of Papists, “in
order to the carrying out of their horrid plot for extirpat-
ing tho Protestant religion.” This allegation has never
been substantiated. It was based upon the fact that a
young man of weak intellect, named Hubert, a French
Papist, aceused himself of having begun the fire, * suborned
at Paris to do this action,” and he was hanged for it, but
C'larendoen states that “ neither the judges nor any present
at the trial did believe him guilty, but that he was a poor
distractod wretch weary of his life, and chose to part with
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it in this way.” Pope, in reference to the charge against
the Papists in the above inscription, wrote—

“Where London’s column pointing to the skics,
Like a tall bully, lifts its head and lies.”

It has often, as a matter of course, been remarked that
if the Fire of London had occurred but a few years before,
the Great Plague would never have visited the city; and
that had not the Firo cleared away the close alleys and
courts of Old London, and prepared the way for thoe ro-
bnilding of the city npon a better and healthier plan, the
Great Plague would probably have repeated its visitation,
The extent of the calamity by the Fire may be estimated
by the fact that there were consumed in it cighty-nine
churches, four city gates, tho Guildhall (all but the
walls), and other public edifices; 13,200 houses, and 460
streets, and property in all worth nearly ten millions
sterling, but only six lives wero said to have been lost, one
of theso being that of a watchmaker, who could not ho
induced to leave his house and property, and who was
Iurnt amidst the ruins. It is upon record that within a
few days after tho Great Fire, two separato plans, by Sir
(!, Wren and J. Evelyn, for the complete rebuilding of tho
city, were submitted to the King. Tho city merchants
carried on their business abroad, as if no such disaster had
happened, and within four years a city of hrick was reared
upon the site of the old wooden houses.

Fishmongers' Hall, on the north-west of London Bridge,
belongs to the Ancient Company of Fishmongers, formed
by the junction of the Stock and Salt Fishmongers’ Com-
pany, and incorporated, 1536, by Henry VI Long before
that time the Fishmongers were historically and socially
important. Sir William Walworth, who slew Wat Tyler
in Richard I1.’s rcign, was a Fishmonger, and Sir William’s
dagger is still prescrved here (with other of his relics) and
is to be seen in the hand of a statue of the knight which
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stands at tho head of the grand staircase. DBencath the
statue arc the lines :—

“ Brave Walworth, knight, lord mayor that slew
Rebellious T'yler in his alarmes,
The king, thercforo did give in lieu
The dagger to the city armes.
In the fourth ycar of Richard II. anno Domini 1381.”

This verse was written in error, and it has given rise to a
general and erroncous belicf. The dagger in the City Arms
was there long beforo Walworth's time ; it represents the
sword of St. Paul, the patron saint of the Corporation
of London. The following, culled from an early writer,
seems to suggest that Walworth may have entertained a
personal grudgo against Wat Tyler, who certainly had
Just cause for complaint, and appeared at Smithfield gquite
disposed to submit to the King, when Walworth’s dagger
cut short tho life of the poor blacksmith, who led the in-
surreetion against serfdom, and an unjust poll-tax: * The
Bordello, or stew-houses, on Bankside, were dwellings
licensed by the Bishop of Winchester for the repair of in-
continent men and women,  In the fonrth of Richard IT.
these stew-houses, then belonging to Sir William Walworth,
Mayor of London, were farmed by Froes of Flanders, and
wero spoiled by Wat Tyler and other rebels of Kent,
who expressed their longing for a right rule, for plain and
simple justice; their scorn of the immorality of the nobles
and the infamy of the court.”  Did tho blacksmith suffer
at tho hand of Walworth, becauso of his having destroyed
what was certainly a sourco of some revenue to the knightly
Fishmonger 2 Fishmongers' Hall is the third of that name
built on this site, and dates from 1830-33. It was erected
by Roberts, and has a fine banqueting-hall, 73 feet long
by 38 feet wide, and 33 feet high, with a music-gallery,
upon the front of which are emblazoned the arms of the
twelve Great City Companies.
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The City Companies number altogether soventy-six, of
which forty are without halls of their own. Originally
they were merely trade associations; but, as they ob-
tained charters of privilege from the Crown, they becamo
powerful socicties, ablo to regulate and to restrict trade,
and to punish by fine or imprisonment those who infringed
their privileges;—in a word, they becamo Trade Unions
with full powor to enforco their regunlations. With tho
abolition of restriction the authority but not tho wealth
of these Guilds has waned. Of late no Company is
limited in membership to those of its own trade, and but
a fow take interest in trade questions. The twelve Great
Companies take precedence as follows :—

1. The Mercers’ Company, 1lall, 87 (‘heapside.

2. The Grocers' Company, 11all, Poultry.

. The Drapers’ Company, Hall, Throgmorton Strect.

. Fishmongers’ Company, 11all, London Bridge.

. Goldsmiths' Company, 1all, Foster Lane, Cheapside.

. Skinners' Company, 1Iall, Dowgate Hill.

. Merchant  Tailor’s  Company, 1lall, 'Threadnecdlo

Street.

8. Huberdashers' Company, Hall, 8 Giresham Street West.
9. Salters’ Company, Hall, St. Swithin’s Lane.

10. Ironmongers Company, all, Fenchurch Street.

11. Vintners' Company, Hall, Upper Thames Strect.

12. Clothworkers' Company, 1all, Mincing Lano,

Tt W

N <

Having traversed London Bridge (for particulars of
which sco p. 268), wo enter tho Borough of Soutlawark,
wenerally spoken of as The Borough. The district which
lics upon the right or west of the pedestrian is called
Bankside (sco p. 267). The Clink on Bankside still belongs
to the Bishop of Winchester. At the south-castern foot of
London Bridge is Tooley Street, a name derived, or rather
corrupted, from St. Olave, the neighbouring parish church.
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“The three tailors of Tooley Street,” who began their
political appeal with, “We the people of England,” are
now proverbially cclebrated. Tooley Street was the scene,
a fow ycars ago, of an immense conflagration of storehouses,
which lasted some days. Farther east lies Bermondsey, or
Bermond’s Eye, the scat of an ancient priory; but the
district is now chiefly known for its trade and manufac-
ture of leather. The Bricklayers’ Arms Inn, at the corner
of Bermondscy New Road, one of the most ancient inns in
the metropolis,—the name dating back some 600 years,—
is being rebuilt.  The DBricklayers’ Arms Station of the
South-Fastern Railway, now used only for goods, was at
one time an important station for passengers. Jlorsely-
down, an ancient grazing ground for horses, lies beyond.
Just at the top of Toeoley Street is the entrance to the
London Bridge Railieay Station of the London and Brighton,
and Sonth-Fastern Railways—the line of the Intter crosses
the top of the High Street.  Bridge Iouse is w relic of an
ancient foundation to serve as a storechouse of grain, and
for materials for keeping London Bridge in repair.  The
Bridge-masters ave appointed by the City.  There is a
large Railiray Hotel at London Bridge Station.

Tho Church of St. Mary Overy, or St. Saviour's, South-
wark, is only second in importance to Westminster Abbey
iteelf. It dates from before the Conquest, and was a
religions house for women, having for revenue the profits
from the Ferry which was here established previous to the
building of London Bridge —St. Mary Overy meaning St.
Mary of the Ferry. It subsequently becamo a priory.
Tho church was rebuilt about 1400; and Jokn Gower, the
poet, who died in 1402, and was buried here (see a fino
tomb and figure of the poct in the south transept), aided it
with benefactions. In 1539, at tho Dissolution, the priory
wus surrendered to Henry VIIL, and the priory church
was then made a parish church, under the name of St
Sarvionr's, and a chapel was added to it. It subsequently
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passed through many vicissitudes.  In Stow's time the
Lady Chapel was converted into # bako-houso; but it re-
mained to tho present century (1840) to destroy the ancient
Nave and to spoil the most magnificent Farly Knglish
Church on this side of tho Thames. The chief parts re-
maining are the C(hoir, I'ransepts, and Lady Chapel, and
there is a fine altar-screen erceted by Fox, bishop of Win-
chester, who died in 1528, St. Saviour's Church was the
scene, during the reign of Mary, of the Trial of Hereties
by Bishop Gardiner. Among the burials in this church
may be named that of Edwand Shakespeare, 1607 (youngest
brother of the poet) ; Joln Fletcher, 1625, of tho literary
partnership of Beaumont and Fletcher; Phiip Ienslow,
1615; and Philip Mussinger, buried in the churchyard,
1638-9.

The Borough Market, adjucent to this chinreh, is chicfly
noted for its vegetable and fruit supply.  On the opposite
or east gido of the Borough High Street is St. Thomas's
Street, named from St. Thomas’s Hospital, which once
stood here, but is now removed to Lambheth (see p. 50).

Guy’s Hosprrarn, in St. Thomas's Street, was founded,
1721, by Thomas Guy, son of a lighterman at Horsely-
down, who became a bookseller in Lombard Street, and
there made a large fortune by printing and solling
Bibles, and by speculation in the Sonth Sea Company.
Guy gave a considerable sum to St. Thomas's Hospital,
and cventnally bought (at a rent of £30 a year) of the
Governors of that Hospital a lease for 999 years of the land
upon which he huilt Guy’s Iospital, at a cost of nearly
£20,000; and at his death ho bequeathed to it £210,499.
Guy’s Hospital was endowed subsequently by Mr. Hunt of
Petersham with nearly £200,000. Its income isx £40,000
per annum, its beds 1,000, This is one of the largest of
the London Medical Schools; its students number 350.
A Statue of Thomas Guy by Scheemakers stands in the
front conrt upon a pedestal bearing bas-reliefs, ¢ Christ
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Healing the Sick’ and the ¢ Good Samaritan.” In the chapel
is another statue of Guy, in marble, by Bacon the sculptor,
who also produced the other statues in the front of the
building. Sir Astley Cooper was buried in the Hospital
chapel. At Guy’s Hospital accidents and urgent cases aro
admitted at all hours; ordinary cases on Wednesdays,
from 10 to 12 o'clock. Sickness and poverty combined
require here no ticket of admission, they are admitted at
once.

St. Margaret's Hill was noted in the last century for its
Sessions House, at the angle of Counter Street and Iigh
Strect.  Hero were tried nearly all the rebels of 1745 and
the malefactors who were gibbeted at the neighbouring
Kennington.

In tho Borough High Street, while proceeding south, we
shall find relics of some old hostelries,  *¢ In the Borough,”
wroto Dickens forty years ago---but he could not have said
80 now, for thoe tide of renovation and alteration has sinco
swept away many of the antique structures of this quarter
—“in the Borough there still remain some half-dozen
old inns which have preserved their external features
unchanged,  Great rambling queer old places, with
galleries and passages and staircases wide enough aud
antiquated enough to furnish materials for a hundred
chost stories.” 1t was in the yard of the White Hart Inn
in tho Borough that Sam Weller was first discovered by
tho world, ofliciating as Boots, * habited in a coarse striped
waisteoat with black calico sleeves and blue glass buttons,
drab breeches and leggings, o bright red neckerchief, and
an old whito hat carelessly thrown on one side of his
head.”  But the glory of Southwark was the old Tabard
Inn, which (hancer immortalised as the rendezvous of his
Canterbury Pilgrims on their way to the shrine of Thomas
i Becket.  Little more than a shadow now remains of

*This gentil hostelrie
That hight the Taburde, fasté by the Bell.”
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The pilgrims deseribed by (haucer wero representatives
of every class of English society, from the noble to the
ploughman. We see in the Canterbury Tales,’ says Mr.
Green, the “ verray perfight gentil knight” in cassock and
coat of mail with his curly-headed squire besido him ;
behind them the yecoman in green coat and hood carrying
a yew-bow. Next a brawny monk, followed by a friar,
first of wayside beggars ; then the parson, poor, learned,
and pious; then the summoner with fiery face, then the
pardoner, with pardons hot from Rome; the prioress, with
dainty faco and manners acquired in conrtly Franco;
then the doctor and the serjeant-at-law, both busy men
then the learned, hollow-checked clerk of Oxford; the
merchant venturer ; the franklin well to do, in whose howse
it snowed of meat and drink; the sailor fresh from sea,
the buxom wife of Buath, the burly miller, the haberdasher,
carpenter, weaver, dyer, tapestry maker, cach in tho
garh of his calling; and last, the simplo ploughman.
Kach and all are living, breathing men and women, whoso
characters aro distinctly marked and maintained through-
ot the stories with unmistakable individuality, both of
sentiment and expression.

A few doors short of the church of St George (outside
which lies Cocker, the noted arithmetician ), on the left-hand
side of the way, going southwards, stood the Mearshalsea
Prison. It is gone now, and the world is none the worse
forit. It wasan oblong pilo of barrack buildings partitioned
into squalid houses, standing back to back, so that there
were 1o back rooms, and used as a prison for debtors and for
defaulters under the Excise laws.  In the adjoining skittle-
ground the Marshalsea debtors howled down their tronbles,”
Mint Street was named from a Mint founded here in the
reign of Henry VIIL on the site of & mansion of the Duke
of Suffulk. In Lant Street lodged Mr. Bob Suwyer and
Mr. Ben Allen, of Pickwick fame; the Crown revenues,
Dickens said, were “ seldom collected in this happy valley ;
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the rents are dubious, and the water communication is
frequently cut off.”  These were probably relics of tho old
privilege from arrest claimed by this ancient parish. The
Winchester Music Hall is at the corner of Great Suffolk Street.
At the south-east corner of Blackman Street, in Horsemonger
Lane, stood the Surrey County Gaol, removed in 1879, and at
the south-west corner was the Queen’'s Bench Prison for
debtors, &e., abolished as such in 1860, and more recently
destroyed. Tt was at the exeeution of the Mannings,
in front of Horsemonger Lane Gaol, that Dickens saw
the hideons scene of riot which he depicted next day in a
letter to the Times, and which led to the abolition of
public hanging.  We are now arrived at St. George’s
Fields, anciently o marshy tract, which extends to the
boundary of Lambeth. At St. George's Circus is an Obelisk
erected, 1771, which forms the eentre of six roads, namely
tho Borongh Road from London Bridge, the Blackfriars
Bridge Road, the Waterlon Road leading to the Strand, the
Westminster Bridge Boad, and Lambeth Road. At the corner
of London Road is the Sekool for the Indigent Blind, estab-
lished, 1799, The Blind aro admitted (by election)
between 10 and 20 years of age, for about six years, and
are taught a trade, or music, There is also here a work-
shop for Adult Blind. At 92 London Road is the South
London Musie Hall,

Beruteney or Bernnew Hoeserrarn, vulgarly Bedlam, at
the corner of Lambeth Road, Southwark, derives its name
from a priory of canons belonging to the Order of the
Star of Bethlem, established in & monastery near Beth-
lehem, and having especial care for the sick and the
msane - the badge of tho order being a star, worn upon
their mantles.  This Hospital was founded at the Dissolu-
tion by Henry VIIL, upon the endowments of a priory
established by Simon Fitz-Mary, a Sheriff of London in
1246, who gave to it all his land in Bishopsgate Without,
and thero built the first Bethlem Iospital, in Liverpool
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Street. It was removed to Moorfields in 1675, and again
removed in 1814 to the present site, in St. George’s Fields,
Southwark. Its cupola, resembling that of St. Paul’s, was
added by Smirke. In the entrance are (faius Clibber's two
statues, rostored by Bacon in 1814, Bethlem IHospital
accommodates about 400 patients of both sexes, and re-
ceives gratis any poor lunaties likely to be cured within
one year, and who are not fit subjects for a county Iunatic
asylum. Preference is given to patients of the edueated
classes, and all are treated with the greatest kindness and
consideration. Tustead of the ancient methods of chaining
up lunatics in solitary cells, and letting in sight-seers to
stare at them like so many wild animals in a cage, modern
Bedlam treats its patients like ladies and gentlemen, and,
while keeping them from harming themselves, affords
them various means of amusement; the women are
provided with pianos, needle-work, embroidery, knitting ;
the men with bagatello and billiard tables, newspapers,
and periodicals; and the improved sysfem produces good
results. In the course of last year 225 patients wero
discharged as benefited and 113 as actually cured.  Infor-
mation as to this Hospital may be readily obtained npon
application being made by letter to the Hospital Physician,
or personally to the Steward, at the office in St, George's
Road, Southwark. The last year's incomo of Bethlem
Hospital was over £25,000,

St. George’s Roman Catholic Cathedral is opposite Bethlem,
at the corner of St. George’s Ruad. 1t was built by Mr,
A. W. Pugin, in 1848.

Tho Swrrey Theatre stands at the end of Great Surrcy
Street, which is a continuation of Blackfriars Road, necar
the Obelisk, where five roads mcet. The original theatro
was built (1782) for (. Hughes and C. Dibdin, the well-
known naval song-writer, and was first used for equestrian
performances, and named the Royal Circus. It was burnt
down and rebuilt in 1806, EHi~ton and Tom Dibdin were
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among its carly lessecs. Mr. J. 3. Buckstone first ap-
peared in London at this house in 1823. The Surrey
Theatre, whilst under the direction of Messrs. Shepherd
and Creswick, vied with Sadler’s Wells, in its preference
for the legitimate drama.

The Surrey Gardens, near Kennington Park Road, once
so popular and famous for its Zoological Collection, for the
Jullien Monstre (‘oncerts, &ec., were abandoned some timeo
since to the suburban builder, who always seems to be the
final annexer and holder of such places.

"T'he Lowdon Road leads from the Obelisk to the Elephant
and Castle, a noted rendezvous in the old coaching times
for mail coaches and now for omnibuses. Near by is the
Elephant and Castle Station of the Chatham and Dover
Railway, and the Elephant and Castle Theatre; also Mr.
Spurgeow’s Tabernacle, capable of lolding 5000 persons,
which was built in 1860-1 at a cost of £31,000. Out
of  Newington DButts, and immediately from the Railway
Station, the Walworth Road leads to Camberwell; by
the Kennington Park Road we may reach Kennington
Park (formerly Kennington Common, the place of meeting
of thoe Chartists in 1848), and beyond it Kennington Ordl,
famous for its Cricket-ground.  St. Mark’s Chureh, Kenning-
ton, occupivs the site where the gallows used to stand, for
the oxccution of criminals for the County of Surrcy; and
at this point were tho Turnpike Gates (abolished Oct. 31,
1865), on the Clapham Road leading to Stockwell and
Clapham ; the Brixton Road, to Brixton and Tulse IHill;
and the Camberwell New Road, to Camberwell, Dulwich,
or to Peckham and Peckham Rye.

"The Horns Tavern at Kennington, baving large assembly-
rooms, has for many years been used for large political
and other public meetings, and the name of the house is
consequently widely known. The poet Shenstone has
thrown over Kennington the only poetic grace associated
with this district. HHis poem,* Jemmy Dawson,’ describes
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in simple language the execution, on Kennington (‘ommon,
of one of the eight officers who fought and suffered for the
Pretender, in 1745-6, the usual barbarous punishment
inflicted for high treason. Dawson’s sweetheart, despito
all entreaty, insisted nupon witnessing tho fearful atro-
cities, and seemed to behold them without emotion, but
when all was over she fell back in her coach, exclaiming
« My dear, I follow thee!” and expired.

Of the Great Chartist Gathering which took place on the
10th of April, 1848, on Kennington Common, under the
leadorship of Forgus O’Connor and Frnest Jones, it will
suffico to mention that the movement was but an effort at
Political Reform which followed close upon the Continental
Revolutions of 1848, Of tho six points of the Charter --
then regarded by most persons as criminally subversive of
the Dritish Constitution—several have since been quietly
conceded, and the country seems none the worse for tha
change. The fact scems to have been that Chartism was
a sort of “scare” which enabled true patriots to display
their bravery cheaply. Against the 50,000 Chartists who
assembled on Kennington Common and ncighbourhood, 1o
disperse almost without a single personal blow, London
was armed to the tecth. DBuckingham Palace did not sufter
as the Tuileries had done in Paris, nor indeed did any
lesser edifice, and Chartism, as a physical force display,
utterly exploded from that day.
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TIE RIVER THAMES

1as its source in the Cotswold Hills, and flows between
(iloucestershire and Wiltshire, then between Berkshire
and  Oxfordshire, and Berkshire and Buckinghamshire,
then between Surrey and Middlesex, and last between
Kent and Mssex, reaching the sea at the Nore, 110 miles
cast from its souree, or about twice that distance measured
by its own windings. Its most remarkable feature is,
perhaps, that of being navigable by large sea-going vessels
nearly one-fourth of its entive length—from London Bridge
to the Nore, being forty-five miles.  Its breadth at London
varies from 800 to 1,500 feet ; at the Nore it is seven miles,
Thoe Tide rises about fifteen miles above London Bridge,
e, to Teddington (Tide-end-town ?), and, even at ebb-
tide, there are 12 or 13 feet of water oft Greenwich; at
London Bridge the mean range of tide is about 17 feet,
and of the highest spring-tides about 22 feet. Throughont
its entire conrse, from its source to the seca, the Thames
passes through so many picturesque and historically in-
teresting places that it would need volumes to deseribe it
Justly ; it must suftico hero to indicate those objects of in-
terest upon its banks which are in the immediate vicinity
of tho Metropolis.  The small Steamers which ply every
five minutes from Chelsea to London Bridge for 2d., and to
Woolwich for 6d., touching at the various piers on either
side of thoe river, will enable the visitor to London to
make himself casily acquainted, at the smallest possible
oxpense, with this © great silent highway.” We propose,
therefore, to accompany such a visitor in his brief trip
upon the Thames—occupying indeed, but about an hour and
a half, but =0 varied in character, so crowded with reminis-
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HER MAJESTY TIHE QUEEN.
VICE-PATRON.
HRIL THE PRINCE OF WALES, K.(.
PRESIDENT.

REAR-ADMIRAL 1LR.H. DUKE OF EDINBURGIL.

THE COMMITTEE carnestly solicit the Servonr of the publie on behalf
of this interesting Charity, where sramen of erery nation are freely admitted
without any recommendation hut that which sickness or disease supplies;
where they aro allowed to remain in n state of convaleseenee, being elothed
amd ussisted home in eares of destitution, and whenee they are discharged
not only cured of their bodily ailments, but, as it i3 hoped, better men, by
the religious instruetion and regular habits acquired during their stay in the
Hospital.,

In confidence of being relieved, seamen travel from the most distant parts
of the Kingdom. Upwards of 200,000 ~camen, of all nations, have leen
admitted to treatment sinee the Dreadnought Hospital was opened in tho
year 1821

The Queen is graciously pleased to subseriho. ONE HUNDRED
GUINEAS ANNUALLY, thus marking Her Mujeddy's sense of tho
valuo and importance of this universal und cosmopolitan charity.

The qualitication of & Governor is an unnual subgeription of one guinea,

Will any one refuse to give so small a xum to s0 universal a Charity t
W. I. EVANS, Secrelary.

This Hospital is entitled by Act of Parliument to take by Will and to hold Real
Property.
FORM OF BEQUEST OF MONLEY, &c.

I bequeath to the Seamen's Hosertar Socieny, Greenwich, the snm of
£ , for the usc of the said Socicty, to be paid free from Legacy
Duty; and I deelare that the receipt of the Treasurer for the time being of
the said Soeciety shall be suflicient dischargo for the rame.

FORM OF GIFT BY WILL OF LANDS, &e.
I give and devise to the SeameNn's Hoserran Socikry, Greenwich, all that,
&e. [describing the lands, howses, rent, or other property), for the use of the raid
Bocicty.
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GREENWICH, S.E.
FREE TO THE WHOLE MARITIME WORLD.
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ALL THE WORLD OUGHT TO SUBSCRIBE

“ERIENDS IN ADVERSITY.”

The Seamen of all Nations descending to their Ohristmas Dinner.
Ry Jokn C. Dollman.

An increased income of two thousand guineas is required to
place the Dreadnought on a sound financial basis, and to
obviate the necessity of issuing appeals for support.

Sunscrirrions axp Doxations will be gratefully received by
the Baukers, Messrs. WiLLians, Deacon, & Co., 12, Birchin
Lane, E.C.; and at the Hospital, by W. T. Evaxs, Esq.
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cences, that it will require our best faculty to fnrnish of
them the most sketchy outline.

Taking boat at the Chelsea Pier, near old Battersea Bridge,
and the site of the late Cremorne Gardens, we turn for a
moment to note what remains of this old suburb of London—
still exhibiting in some of its ancient houses relies of that
old-world time, when (helsea was the abode of the noblest,
and the wisest.  Ilere, in a mansion upon tho site of
Beaufort Row beforo us, lived the great Siv Thomas More,
who there received his guests, the learned Erasmus, the
great artist ITolbein, and many more of his no less cele-
brated contemporaries, including Henry VIIL, who, it
is said, “after dinner, in this fair gavden of his, walked
with him by the space of an hour, holding his arm abont
lis neck, and ascended with him to the house 1o observe
the stars and discourse of astronomy.” A few years later
the king beheaded his friend and set up his head on London
Bridge. Sir Thomas Mord’s first wife was buried in Ol
Chelsea Churel near by, which dates from the sixteenth cen-
tury, and possesses an castern chapel added by Sir Thomas;
and in the chaneel a black marblo tablet inseribed to the
memory of Lady More three years before his death,  Sir
ITans Sloane (to whom there is a gravestone in the chureh-
yard), Cipriani, and other eminent persons, wers buried in
1his chnrch and charehyard,  In the eastern end of Cheyne
Walk was Don Saltero’s Musewme aned Coffee-house, onee noted
for its collection of natnral curiosities, and for having been
the resort of Steele, Swift, and others, who endowed it with
literary celebrity.  Don Saltero was a barber named John
Salter, whom Steelo is said to have dignified with the
Spanish title and termination {o his name ; he is mentioned
in the ¢ Tatler, and the house ig also reported in connec-
tion with the swimming cxploits of Dr. Franklin. Old
Chelsea Bun-house in Cheyne Walk, once famous for its
Jmns, had alsoa kind of museum in rivalry of Don Saltero’s.
Both collections have long since been dispersed, the Bun-

8
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housoe was taken down in 1839, At 5 Great Cheyne Row,
leading from Cheyne Walk, lived for many ycars—up to
February 5, 1881, the dato of his decease—one of the
areatest literary men of this century, Thomas Carlyle;
author of the ¢French Rovolution,” ¢ Life of Oliver
Cromwell, &, The eminent J. M. W. Turner died in
a house between Chelsea Pier and Cremorne Gardens in
1851. * Rare Old Chelsea China” was manufactured in
buildings (long since removed), near Church Street, and
extending to the waterside. Chelsea China is marked with
an anchor, red on the inferior, gold on the best specimens.

As the steamboat puts off from Chelsea Pier we may
catch a glimpso of the site of tho late Cremorne Gardens
above referred to, popularly known for its entertainments
aftor thoe stylo of old Vauxhall Gardens (also long since built
over). Cromorne Iouse was once noted as the clegant seat
of Lord Cremorne, and for his fine collection of pictures.

Tho Currsea EmsaxkuMent of the Thames, extending
from the Old Battersea Bridye to Groscenor Road, Pimlico,
was comploted in 1874, Moving down the river, a little
past Cheyno Walk, we are within almost a stone’s-throw of
the Botanic Garden of the Apothecaries’ Company (open
daily from cight to eleven, to persons bringing an order of
admission from a member of the Company). These gardens,
consisting of about three acres, wero given by Sir Hans
Sloane to the Company.

T'ur Royar Cukrska IoserTaL is a handsomo old cdifice,
of which the river view is certainly the finest. It was
built by Sir Christopher Wren for Charles 11., some say at
tho instigation of Nell Gwynne; but more certainly we
know that Sir Stephen Fox, grandfather of the great
statesman, Charles James Fox, was its first projector. The
story as to Nell Gwynne was as follows :  Ono day when
sho was rolling about town in her coach, a poor man came
to the coach door soliciting charity, who told her a story
of his having been wounded in the civil wars in defence
of the royal cause. This circumstance greatly affected the
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benovolent heart of Mrs. Gwynno . . . . sho hurried to tho
king . ... and to Nell Gwynno is now owing the comfort-
able provision which is mado for decayed soldiers, and that
pleasant retreat thoy find at Chelsea.”  'The building is of
red brick with stono quoins, cornices, &e., and consists of
three courts, of which the central one faces the Thames,
The In-Pensioners, of whom there are five hundred and
forty, occupy the wings of the building, and dine in the hall
in the left wing. There are 60,000 Out-Pensioners, receiving
from 14d. to 3s. 10d. each per diem. In the centro of tho
Great Quadrangle is Grinling Gibbon’s statue of C‘harles
TL. Thereare several portraits in the Hospital of the royal
family of the Stuarts, as also of William 1L, Georgo 111,
and Queen Charlotte. The 1all and Chapel are hung with
a large number of colours, eagles, &c., captured by the
British Army. Tho RoyaL MiLitAry Asyrnuy, or DUKE ok
York’s Scroor, for the maintenance and education of the
sons of soldiers, is north of the Hospital, and contains five
hundred boys. The Ilospital and Asylum may be scen
daily from ten to four. 1t is worth while remembering
that the once fashionable RANELAGH GARrbENS and Rotunda
occupied the site a little to the cast of Chelsea lospital.
Of Ranelagh it was said: “ My Lord Chesterfield is so
fond of it that he says he has ordered all his letters to bo
addressed thither.” Dibdin’s ‘Jolly Young Waterman’

was—
« Always ‘first oars’ when the fine city Indies
In parties to Ranelagh went or Vauxhall.”

Opposite Chelsea Hospital and upon the south sido of the
Thames, which here flows, according to the old conundrum,
between two scas (Chelsca and Battersea*), is BATTERSEA

* The terminations of Chelsca and Battersea seem to have been the
same a8 Bermondsey, though now differently spelt. Ey or Eyot indicato
Saxon origin, and mean a place by the water. Chelsca has been spelt
Chelsey, und has been said to have been originally named Cealchyth,
or pebble bank., Battersea has been derived from Patrick’s Eve.

s 2
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P ARk, containing 180 acres of land formerly a marsh, anq
but recently (1852-8) drained, embanked, and laid out ang
planted with shrubs, trecs, and flowers. Its (.zhief attraction
is the Sub-Tropical Garden of four acres, containing a numlyey
of semi-hardy plants, the culture of which has been pro-
moted with the greatest horticultural science and skill.
There aro some fine walks here, including a riverside
promenade, and there are grounds for cricket and other
athletic sports. The Ornamental Lake adds consider-
ably to the attractions of this popular resort. This
Park may be reached by stcamboats which continually
ply up and down the river, or by road through Pimlico
over tho handsomo CurLsea SusrENsioN Bripgk, built by
Mr. Page (1858). Tho Aisrrt SusrexsioN Bripgr, built
1875 by Mr. Ordish, is 790 feet long, and leads to
the western entranco of Battersea P’ark. The Barrer-
sea Raimway Bripge, under which the steamboat passes
after leaving Battersea Park Pier, conveys the trains of the
London and Brighton Railway Company, and the London,
¢‘hatham, and Dover Railways, to the termini of thoso
lines at tho Vietoria Station, Pimlico. Upon tho north
bank of the Thames at this point is tho entrance to the
Qrosrenor Cunal, and a fow yards farther east is the Low
Level Pumping House (completed 1875) of the new system
of Main Metropolitan Drainage. Tt is stated that there
are now 1,300 miles of Sewers in London, and eighty-two
miles of main intercepting Sewers. Tho Sewago on the
north of the Thames amounts to about 10,000,000 cubic
feot 2 day: on the south to 4,000,000, which with the
rainfall, and the probably ever-increasing size of London,
have all been allowed for in the construction of this main
drainage system (at a cost of £4,000,000), whijch is capable
of disposing of 63,000,000 cubic feet per diem, equal to a
Inke of 428 acres, 3 feet deep, or fifteen times as large as
the Hyde Park Serpentine.  Before this drainage, planned
by SirJehn Bazalgette, was made, the Thames was the great
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main sewer of London ; all drains north and south pourcd
into the river at dead low water, and, with the rising tide,
“kept churning backwards and forwards” till the river
became one of tho foulest of open sewers, The present
system consists of three great main lines of sewers running
from west to east at right angles below the levels of
proviously existing sewers, and conveying their contents
to an Outfall at Barking, fourtcen miles beyond London
Bridge, and discharging them there and at Crossuess, near
Plumstead, at high water, equivalent to a discharge at low
water of twelve miles farther down the river. T'he Low-
Level Sewer, besides intercopting the sewago from the
low-level area of eleven squarc miles, is also the main out-
let for a district of about fourteen and a half squaro miles,
forming the western suburb of London, which lies so low
that the sewage has to be pumped up here to a height of
17% feet into the upper end of the Low-Level Sewer, which
passes hence to Westminster, where it runs under the
Victoria Kmbankment, thenco to Tower 11ill, and on by
Limehouse and Bow (foinmon, under the river Lea to the
Abbey Mills Pumping-station, where the low-level sewage
lias again to be raiscd 36 feet. On the south of the
Thames the High-Level Sewers, beginning at Clapham, the
Low at Putney, after uniting at Deptford, are discharged
as above, at Crossness at high water.

VauxuALL Bripak connects Vauxhall with Millbank.
The origin of the name of Vauxhall Las been traced
to a family of the namo of Vaux, who held an estato
licre in the reigns of Elizabeth and James 1. The tradition
of its having been the abode of Guy Vaux or Fawkes, of
Gunpowder Plot notoricty, still lingers, but, as tho anti-
(uarians say, without being authenticated.  Tho old song
is but an echo and burlesque of the tradition—

“He wished the state was undone.

And, crossing over Vauxhall Bridge,
That way eame into London”
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Vauxhall Bridge was completed in 1816 after long diffi-
culties, arising from changes of plans, and disputes among
four engineers. 1t was intended to have been built of stone,
but it is made of cast iron. The river is here 900 fect
wide.  Old Vanzhall Gardens, closed in 1859, wero situated
alittlo to the south-cast of Vauxhall Bridge. Millbank Peni-
tentiary Prison (lately threatened with removal), said to
bu one of the largest prisons in the kingdom, was commenced
in 1812, Tts ground is laid out in six sets of buildings,
radiating like & wheel from the centre, where stands the
Governor'shouse.  The corridors are more than three miles
in length, and there are 1,550 cells in this prison which is
said to have cost half a million of money.  Doulton’s laryge
Pottery for Stoneware, seen on the south hank opposite
Millbank Prison, is rapidly becoming celebrated for its
improved stylo of hardware art manufacture,

Lovvikrn Trox Seserssion Briar, built by Mr, Barlow,
1862, at o cost of L£10,000,) connects Torseferry Road,
Westminster, with Lambeth. From this point the Albert
Ewbankment rans to the south foot of Westminster Bridge.

All the bridges above and including this, namely
Jattersea, Chelsea, Albert, Vauxhall and Lambeth, were
freed from toll by the Metropolitan Board of Works, 1874,

Lasseru, one of the ancient subnrbs of London, forms
with Southwark one of the metropolitan boronghs, return-
ing two members to Parliament. St Mary’s Chureh,
Lambeth, adjoining Lambeth Palace, is tho mother church
of the parish, and dates from the fifteenth century. The
Howard Chapel in the north aisle was built 1522, In this
church (which has a perpendicular tower) were buried the
following Archbishops of Canterbury : Baneroft, Parker,
T'enison, IHutton, Secker, Cornwallis, Moore, as also the
well-known  antiquarians, Tradescant, father and son.
At Lambeth Ferry and just below this church occurred
the memorablo scene so dramatically described by Macaulay
of tho landing of the Queen of James 1I. and her infant
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son on tho first stago of their flight from Whitchall.
“The King and Queen retired to rest as usual. 'When the
palace had been somo time profoundly quict, James roso
and called a servant. . .. The Count do Tauzun was
ushered into the royal bed-chamber. ‘I confide to you,’
said James, “my Queen and son; everything must bo
risked to carry them into Franee” . .. Lauwzun  gave
his hand to Mary ; Saint Vietor wrapped up in his warm
cloak the ill-fated heir of so many kings,  The party stolo
down the back stairs, and embarked in an open skiff, It
was o miserablo voyage.  Thoe night was bleak, the rain
fell, tho wind roared, the water way rough; at last tho
hoat reached Lambeth, and the fugitives landed near an
inn where a coach and horses were in waiting,  Some timo
clapsed before the horses conld be harnessed, Mary, afraid
that her face might be known, would not enter the house;
sho remained with her child, cowering for shelter from
the storm under the tower of Lambeth Chureh, and dis-
tracted with terror when the ostler approached her with
his lantern.  T'wo of her women attended her, but . . .
they could be of little use to their mistress, for both wero
foreigners, who could hardly speak tho English language,
and who shuddered at the rigour of the English climate.
The only consolatory circumstance was that the littlo hoy
was well, and uttered not a singlo cry. At length the
coach was ready.  Saint Vietor followed it on horseback,
"The fugitives reached Gravesend safely, and embarked in
the yacht which waited for them. . .. The yacht pro-
ceeded down the river with a fair wind, and St. Victor,
having seen her under sail, spurred back with the good
news to Whitchall.”

LaMieri Pavack, the residenco of tho Archbishops of
Canterbury for six centuries and a half, dates as far back
as 1190, that being the year in which Archbishop Walter
built the ancient manor house which is now the Palace, but
the building as it stands is so varied in style, from Early
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English to late 'erpendicular, that it by no means denotes
tho work of onc age or ong builder. The Gatchouse entranco
built by Archbishop Morton, 1490, has an embellished centre,
two largo square towers of red brick with stone dressings,
and a spacious Tudor archway. The towers are reached
by a spiral staircasoe leading to tho Record room, which
;ontaing many of the archives of the Sco of Canterbury.
The dole to the poor has been given from time immemorial
at this gate.  The lower part of the gatchouse was used as
a small prison,  Tho Chapel dates from 124470, and s
Farly Fnglish, with lancet windows. In it cvery Arch-
bishop has been conscerated sinco the latter date.  Its
original  stained-glass windows were destroyed in tho
Civil Wars; the present windows wero set np and the
chapel re-decorated by the present Archibishop (Tait). The
roof bears the arms of Laud, Juxon, and Cornwallis,
The oak sercen presented by Laud also bears his arms.
In front of the altar Archibishop Parker was buried.

Tho Lollards’ Tower on the left of the outer court was
built (1434-5) by Archibishop Chichley, whose arms are
sculptured on the river front, over a Gothic niche, wherein
formerly appeared o statuo of Thomas-3-Becket,  Entrance
to the Lollards” prison-—a chamber about fiftcen feet long,
cleven feet wide, and cight feet high, with two narrow
windows and open fireplace  -is obtained by a spiral stair-
case.  Bight Large iron rings are here fixed in the walls
about breast-high, and upon the vaken wainscoting are cut
nimes, crosses, sentenees, &e., as it would seem, by the
captives who were kept here in bhonds.  Whether such
captives were Lollards (or followers of Wyecliffo) is dis-
puted; if they were, and were merely sheltered here, as
has been said, from tho civil power, it scems hard to
understand why they should have been chained as well as
sheltered. The name Lollard was given by way of reproach
by the priests, who thereby intimated that these Wycliffites
who had dared to read and interpret the Bible for them-
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selves, were lollards, i.e. spouters, talkative, uneducated
men,  The coiling of the Tast Room has some fine carving,
The Library or Hall and the Great Dining-room form tho
west side of the inner court.  I'he former, containing somo
30,000 volumes, many of great historical interest and
value, is open to tho publie, throughout the vear (oxeopt
Laster week and the week after Christmas-day), from ten
till three on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday. Tho Palaco
possesses also an historieal line of portraits sinco 1633
of the Archbishops of Canterbury, now decorating tho
chief apartment, showing the changes in archiepiscopal
costume during that Iengthened period.

St. Thomas’s Hospital and the Honses of  Parlicient
upon the opposite embankment are deseribed, the former
at p. 50, the latter at p. 45, For Westminster Bridye
see p. 4.

At the north end of Westminster Bridge is tho West-
minster Stutioi of the Underground Metropolitan Railway,
here earried beneath the Vietoria Bmbankment, which
begins at this point and is continued to Blackfriars Bridge.
The Vicrorra EypankyeNt forms part of w series of works
for the improvement of the Thames and the thoroughfares
of the metropolis, projected and cartied out hy Sir J.
Sazalgette on bhehall of the Metropolitan Board off Works.
This FEmbankment, consisting of a solil granite wall,
cicht feet thick, forty feet high, and 7,000 feet long,
provides a roadway one Iimndred feet wide, underneath
which, besides the Underground Railway, are two tunnels,
of which the lower is the great sewer, the upper containg
water pipes, gas pipes, and telegraph wires, all aceessiblo
without disturbing the roadway. The land reclaimed
from the river by means of this Fmbankment varies from
200 to 450 feet in width, and amounts to about thirty
acres.  The eost of the embankment and its approaches
was about two millions, derived partly from rates, partly
from wine and coal dues, and partly from the salc of the
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surplus land for building purposes. The Victoria Em-
bankment was finished in 1870.

Upon leaving the Steamboat Pier at Westminster we
shall observe St. Stephew's Club-house, specially erected
for conscrvativo politicians—an admirable situation ; tho
National Opera House (soon to be changed to chambers), and
Montague House, the town residenco of the Duke of
Buccleuch, in which are a few good pictures by Van Dyck
and a fine collection of miniatures. A littlo later wo pass
tho end of the new Northumberland Avenue, see p. 53.
Tho Chariuy Cross Steamboat Pier is immediately in front
of the Charing Cross Station of the Underground Railway,
and below the Charing Cross Railway and Foot Bridge of
tho South Fastern Company, seo p. 54 Near this point is
tho Statne of Sir Franeis Ondram, an Indian General. There
is o large Public Swimming Bath moored wost of this bridge,
open from 7 A, to 830 ., possessing a continual flow
of clear filtered water, regulated in temperature to the
season, Admission, 1s. Upon leaving Charing Cross Pier
we shall observe the Water-Glate of York House, see p. 55, and
farther on the charmingly sitnated Adelphi Terrace, and the
Avopatra Obelisk, seo p. 53, We afterwards pass the Stroy,
seo p. 66, and Weterloo Bridye, see p. 66, leading to the South
Westren: Roilieay Station in Waterloo Road, then Somerset
Honse and King's College, sco p. 67-8, to tho Temple Pier, in
front of the Temple and Templo Gardens, see p. 79, theneo
past Whitefriars or Alsatia, see p. 83, to Blackfriars Bridye,
se0 p. 88, where there is another Underground Railway
Station.  We now cateh sight of Queen Vietorin Street,
with somo now buildings, including the oftices of The Times
newspaper, and of” the British and Foreign Bible Society,
and then got o near view of St. Paul's, seo p. 93, and of
the towers and spires of many of Wren's finest churches.

Pati’s Wianre Pier is the nearest to St. Paul's Church-
yard, and hero passengers to the Surrey side of London
Bridge usually have to change to the Surrey-side hoats.
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Vintners' Hall, 68 Upper Thames Street, was robuilt
by Sir Christopher Wren, after the Great Fire. It contains
someo full-length portraits of Charles II., and James 1L.,
and a picture ascribed to Vandyke of ¢St. Martin (the
tutelar saint of the Company) dividing his cloak with a
Beggar.” The Vintners’ Company is one of the most ancient
of the London Companies.

SourHWARK Brince, bnilt by Sir John Rennie at a cost
of+£800,000, and opened in 1819, has an arch of a wider
span (402 feet) than anv bridge built previously to the
invention of tubular bridges. It was bought in 1866 hy
the City from the private company for which it was built
for £218,868 ; thoe toll of ono penny was aholished in 1865,
It 1s the most direct line of communication hetween Queen
Strect and other busy parts of the Uity with Southwark,
and if its approaches were improved, wonld doubtless ho
much more generally used.

The Caxxoy Streer Rainway Brmar was built by the
South Eastern Railway Company, and conncets {heir
Cannon Street Terminus with the lines which branch to
London Bridge on the one hand, and Charing Cross upon
the other, sco p. 5+

Baxksiok, Southwark, near the Camnon Street Bridge of
the South Eastern Railway, was the site of the Ol Globe
Theatre.  Tho ancient theatres on Bankside, Southwarl:,
consisted of Paris Garden Theatre, Qating from the time of
Richard I and continning till James [, when Henslow
and Alleyn (the endower of Dulwich Collego) kept it; the
Globe, huilt about 1594 for Richard Burbage, and for
which James I. granted a licence to Shakespeare and
others. The Chorus to Henry V. refers to the shape of
the Globe Theatre when he asks—

“May we eram
Within this wooden O the very casques
That did afiright the air at Agincourt?”

Barclay's Brewery stands upon the site of the Globe Theatre.
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"The Hupe Theaire is chiefly remembered for its bull-baiting.
The Rose Theatre, dating from about the middle of the
sixteenth century, stood near where Rose Alley afterwards
kept its namo in memory., The Swan Theatre was cotcm-
porary with the Rose.  All were suppressed in 1648, To
Bareluy's Brewery visitors are occasionally admitted upon
previous  written  application to the Manager.  This
immense establishment is one of the most remarkable
sights of London, and great personages from abroad make
a point of seeing it.  When Marshal Haynan, some years
ago, visited Barclay’s; the brewers-men hustled him off
the premises, in their indignation at the stories told of
women spies whipped in Anstria, by order of Iaynau.
The founder of Barelay’s Brewery was Mr. T1. Thrale, the
friecud of Dr. Johnson.  Upon Mr. Thrale's death, Dr.
Johmson, as one of his excentors, had to dispose of the
property, on hehall of Mrs, Thrale, and obtained for it no
less than £135,000 at the auction, whereat he made this
remarkably Johnsonian speceli: © We are not here to sell
aparccl of hoilers and vats, but the potentiality of growing
vich beyond the dreams of avarice.”

Loxpox Brupar,  Little more than a hundred years ago,
ey before 1750, the only bridge across the Thames was
Ol London Biridgoe, deseribed as having originally *“a
stone platform, 926 feet long, 40 feet wide, standing 60
feet above the level of the water, and eonsisting of a draw-
bridge and nincteen broad-pointed arches, with massive
picrs raised upon strong oak and elm piles, covered by thick
planks bolted together. It had a gate-house at cach end,
and fowards tho centre on tho cast side was built a
heautiful Gothie chapel,  In the reign of Blizabeth it was
adorned with sumptuous buildings, and stately and beau-
tiful houses on cither sido like one continuous street.
Some of the houses had flat roofs with gardens and arbours,
so that * As fine as London Bridge ” passed into a proverb,
Near the drawbridee was the famed Nonsuch House, con-



London Bridye. 269

structed in Ilolland entirely of timber, fonr stories high,
richly carved and gilt. The history of Tondon Bridge, for
nearly six centuries, wonld include many of the most
stirring incidents of the History of England. Do Mont-
fort here repulsed Henry 11I1L in 1264; Wat Tyler entered
London by this bridge in 1381; Richard II. was here
welcomed with great ceremonial in 13925 ay was also
ITenry V.oin 1415, Tn 1450 Jack (ado having © gotten
T.ondon Bridge, the citizens fly and forsake thoir houses,”
but the Gate-1ouse of London Bridge was soon after deco-
rated by Jack Cade’s head (it was pretty vegularly
garnishied with heads), instead of the Dridge being sot on
fire according to Cade’s order: -feste Shakespeave.  In 1477
the Bridge was attacked and fived by Faleonbridgo; in
1554 it witnessed kome of the most daring incidents of
Wyatt’s rebellion ; in 1666 the houses were burnt down in
tho Great Tire, but were rebuilt twenty years after; in
1757 the houses were removed and replaced by ordinary
balustrades; in 1832 tho old bridge was demolished
altogether.  Its narrow arches impeded navigation, and
rendered possible what is now improbable, the freczing
over of the Thames,  Tho present bridge was built (rom
the designs of Sir John Rennie, and was opened”in great
state in August 1831, by King William IV, and Queen
Adelaide. Tt cost, with its approaches, no less than
£1,458,5311, It consists of five semi-elliptical arches, two of
130 feet, two of 140 feet, and the centre of 152 feet 6 inches
span. Tho roadway is 52 feet wide.  Moro than 20,000
carts, carriages and other vehicles havo been reckoned
whilst crossing over this bridge in 24 hours, and in
the samo time 107,000 foot passengers. A schemo was
submitted to Parliament to enable the Corporation of
London to enlarge London Bridgo to the extent of about
11 feet on each side, and thereby to widen hoth the car-
ringeways and footways, but there was much opposition
made to any additions to the present excellent structure.
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Tho River Traflic above London Bridge is of course
limited to vessels of comparatively small size. Below it
the Port or LoxuoN may be said to begin. The Upper Pool
is reckoned to the first reach in the river, i.c. to about
the Thawmes Tunnel, or Lwecution Dock, where pirates used
to bo gibbeted ; the Lower Pool to Cuekold’s Doint, where
colliers usually lie.  Hogarth’s Idle Apprentice, in the
river-boat, upon being threatened with the gibbet at
Fxecution Dock, is shown as retorting by referring his
opponent to the Point on the opposite bank.

The Below Bridye Pier for Margate, Ramsgate and other
steamboats too Jarge to pass under London Bridge, is
immediately cast of the bridge npon the Middlesex side.

BiuriNesaare Fisie Maekkr (on the site of one of the old
Water-gates of the City from which it derives its name),
i the red brick building with stone dressing, just below
London Bridge,  In 1872 an Act of Parliament enabled
tho Corporation to rebuild the market upon a larger seale,
and to annex somo adjoining ground for the purpose, the
result being, that in July IR77, when the new buildings
were opened, there was an addition made to Billingsgate
Market equivalent to nearly as much again as its previous
area; the old building occupied 20,000 feet, the new one
comptises 39,000 feet.  The market, open daily, excepting
Sundays, at b o'clock, summer and winter, is well worth a
visit at that carly hour; when, if there be much activity,
noise and bustle, there is comparatively littlo of the violent
language and abuse for which Billingsgate has been his-
torically noted.  Instead of the old miscrable wooden
sheds and pent-houses, we seo a spacious building, well-
provided with stone-slabbed benches, and kept clean by «
good water supply and perfect drainage; instead of the
old flaring oil-lamps ** showing a crowd struggling amidst
a Babel din of vulgar tongues,” wo shall find orderly
business bustle, and a considerable traftic carried on in a
rapid meothodical style; no screaming, fighting, fish-fag
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abuse between tho women ; littlo gin, but plenty of tea and
coffoe-drinking ; littlo haggling, but plenty of buying and
selling, different kinds of fish being represented by their
soveral wholesale dealers—the whiting dealer, the sole and
flat-fish dealer, tho oyster dealer, the cod-fish dealer, the
cured-fish dealers, all being separato traders confining
themselves to their soveral specialties in fish-selling.
Oysters and shell-fish are sold by measure, and salmon by
weight, but all other fish by talo or number, aud the
wholesale market is over, generally, by eight in the morn-
ing; after that time, tho business is left to the retailers
who supply the costermongers and the public in thoe
vicinity, for the fishmongers of London have recoived their
supplies from Billingsgato by about cight o'clock. A Targe
quantity of fish now reaches London by railway. 'There
are two large taverns, upon the river front, cast and west
of Billingsgate, in the upper rooms of which Fish Dinners
are to be had daily, comprising every kind of fish in
season, at a very small cost.

Tue Coan BExcuant: is in Lower Thames Street, nearly
opposite Billingsgato ; itis a fino building of its kind, built.
by Bunning in 1849, and is decorated by somo curious
examples of ferns, palms, &c., found fossilized in the coal
formations. 'The London coal trade is said to cmploy
10,000 seamen.

Tue Custox Housr adjoins Billingsgate and faces the
river. The business of this establishment has been of
courso considerably narrowed by the removal, of late years,
of a large number of articles from the list chargeablo to
the Inland Revenne, but there is, nevertheless, an amazing
sum levied at this port annually. The present Luild-
ing was designed by David Laing upon a portion of the
site of the former Custom Ilouse, destroyed by fire, Febru-
ary 1814, but Laing’s front was altered when the foundation
gave way in 1852, and tho present fagado was crected
by Sir Robert Smirke. The interior contains a great
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many  warchonses, cellars and  apartments, and the
‘Long Room,’ 190 feet by 66, is a fine room, but not equal
to that which was taken down at the failure of the founda-
tion.  Articles seized at the Custom IHouse are sold by
anction, quarterly, in Mark Lane,

The Thames Subieay, from Tower Hill to Tooley Street,
runs beneath the viver, It is 1330 fect long, and was made
by Mr. Barlow at a cost of only £16,000,

I'ne: "Powrr or LoNDoN (see p. 105) is o prominent feature
at this point of the river, from which is to be had the best
view of ¢Traitor’s Gate’- -the entrance for prisoners
formerly bronght hither by water, but now c¢losed.  Imme-
diately behind the Gato is seen the Bloody Tower, where
the infant princes wero smothered by command of Richard
TIHL Treaitor’s Gato was restored and rebuilt in 1866,

S Karause’s Docks are the nearest to London Bridge
of the cight docks (six on the north and two on the south
side of tho Thames) which reccive the London shipping,
and occupy altozether 900 acres, the whole of them having
been constructed within the present century. St Katha-
rine's Docks, plained by Telford and opened in 1828, at a
cost of about £2,000,000, cover 24 acres, nearly half heing
water, and oceupy tho site of the old IHoserrat oF Sr.
Karmawneg, transterred to Regent’s Park (see p. 137).

Loxtox Docks, amalgamated with St, Katharine’sin 1863,
were planned by Rennio and opened 1805, and contain 90
acres, about a third being water, and cost £4,000,000,
Here are tho great warchouses for tobaceo, rented by the
Crown; in the north-vast corner of which used to be the
kiln where condemned tobacco and other artieles were burnt,
the smoke being carried off by a long chimney known as the
¢Queen’s I'ipe)” “'The huge mass of fire,” saild a writer of
that dat.n, “in tho furnace is fed night and day with con-
demned goods ; on one occasion 900 Australian mutton hams
were burnt, on another 45,000 pairs of French gloves, and
silks and satins, tobacco and cigars are here consumed in



The Thames Tunnel, 273

vast quantities, the ashes being sold by the ton or measure,
Nails and other picces of iron sifted from the ashes aro
prized for their toughness in making gun-barrels; gold
and silver, tho remains of plate, watches and jewelry
thrown into the flames, are sometimes found among tho
ashes.” Here also are the Wine Vaults, covering many
acres of ground ; the Mixing House, having one vat of over
23,000 gallons; tho casks of wine for which * tasting
orders” are obtained from the wine owners; the wool ;
spices, tea, drug, sugar, and other warchouses, scemingly
innumerable.  The public are admitted without ticket to
the docks and shipping, but an order from the Sceretary at
tho London Dock-ITouse is necessary for admission to the
vaults and warchouses.  For “tasting orders” apply to
your wine-merchant. The Docks, heing ono of the few
public places where employment can bo had without
character or recommendation, attract many hundreds of
persons out of work. “Tere,” wrote Mayhew, «at half-past
seven in the morning, may boe seen swarms of men of all
grades, looks, and kinds, decayed and bankrupt butchers,
bakers, publicans, grocers, old soldiers, old sailors, Polish
refugees, broken-down gentlemen, discharged lawyer's
clerks, suspended government clerks, almsmen, pensioners,
servants, thicves, indeed every one who wants a loaf and
is willing to earn it.”

Tre Tuames Tussen, formerly one of the sights of
London, is now used by the Linst London Railway, to earry
its lines from the north to the south side of the Thames;
that is to say, between Wapping and Rotherhithe. The
Tunnel consists of two arched ways, 1,200 feet long, 14 feet
wide, 164 feet high, and 16 feet below the river, and was
opened in 1843, having been built by Brunel, at a cost of
£468,000; the Railway Company bought it for £260,000,
in 1865. It was never a profitable undertaking, but it
was reckoned a wonderful and nnprecedented example of
skilled engineering.
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Warpine derives its name, as is supposed, from Wapp,
ship’s rope, and it maintains its reputation as a place for
shipping and scafaring people. Wapping will long be
remembered as the birthplace of Arthur Orton of T'ich-
borne notoriety; but yet longer for its landing-place,
still in use, called * Wapping Old Stairs,’ for ever associ-
ated with tho genius of Dibdin, and with his Molly—tho
most constant and affectionato of sweethearts, whoso name
is much more indelibly engraved npon the hearts of all truo
Jack Tars than it could possibly have been upon tho ¢ baccy
box,” which sho presented to her Tom as a love-token.
Opposito Wapping is Rotherhithe, vulgarly Redriff, famous
s tho suppesed birthplace of Lemuel Gulliver. Gay writos
apropos of watersido constancy—

“In five long years T took no sceond spouse,
What Redriff wifo o long hath kept her vows?”

In Rotherhithe churchyard was buried Princo Leo Boo of
the Pellew Inlands, who died during his visit to England.

Tne Tuaves Steam Frrey, opened in 1877, conneets
Wapping with Rotherhithe, and crosses the line of tho
Thames Tunnel.  Vehicles and passengers are transferred
from the landing-stages to the boats, and wvice versi. Tho
lovel of the boat’s decks at low water is 24 feet below that
of tho river bank, and at such times the boats cannot
appronch within 170 feot of the Wapping Wharf, or 70 feet
at Rotherhithe.  ¥rom the jotty at Wapping, and the
wharf at Rotherhithe, however, traffic is transferred to the
boat’s decks by means of hydraulic machinery. There is
an elovated railed footpath for foot passengers upon each
sido of the lift platform, and thus,in a somewhat clumsy
way perhaps, the great difficulty was overcome of providing
means of transit across the Thames at this point, whilst
leaving o passago for sea-going vessels. The tarift charges
aro one penny for a pedestrian or passenger, threepenco
per head for cattle, 1&, 9d. for a four-horse carriage or vehicle
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when it is ompty, or 3s. 9d. when laden. The Steam
Ferry is said to save in some instances six or seven miles
in the double journey, besides the blocks and delays in the
busy thoroughfares of both sides of the river.

The Surrey Docks and tho Commercial Docks, spacious
and convenient both as basins and for storage of corn, &e.,
faco tho Thames Tunnel Steamboat Pier. SuapwiLl lies a
little farther down the river bank. Stepney, tho parish to
which all children born at sea were supposed to belong,
lies next to it. Derrrorp and LimEitouse ave opposite to
one another, tho former being upon the south, the latter
on tho north bank of the river. Deptford was a govern-
ment dockyard till 1869 ; it has since passed into the hands
of the Corporation of London, who uso it as a market and
slaughtering placo for forcign cattle. The Pool ends at
Limehouse Reach, at which is an entrance to tho West
India Docks. 'T'hese extend over nearly 300 acres to Black-
wall.  Thoey were built by Jessop, and opened 1802, The
East India Docks, containing only 32 acres adjoin the above,
and bothare best reached by railway from Fenchurch Streot.
Millwall Docks, in the Isle of Dogs, are also near the
West India Docks, and cover 200 acres.  They were opened
in 1868 ; the Great Eastern stcamship was built at Mill-
wall,  Vietoria Docks below Blackwall, occupy 200 acres ;
they wero opened in 1856.

Opposite to the Iste or Docs, a name said to bo a
corruption of Isle of Ducks, and upon the south bank of
tho Thames, we arrive at Greenwich. Grreenwicn HospiraL
faces the river, and has a highly commanding aspect. The
Greenwich Steamboat Pier immediately adjoins the grounds
of the Hospital. Derhaps the first object which presents
itself to the visitor upon entering tho pier-terrace, in
front of the Iospital, is an Obelisk of red granite in memory
of Lieutenant Bellot, the French Arctic Navigator. (reen-
wich Hospital was built by William I1L,at the request of his
wife, for the reception of tho sailors wounded in tho battle

T2
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of La Hogue. It stands upon the site of- a palace, wherein
Tlenry VIIL, Queen Mary, and Queen Elizabeth were horn,
and consists of four parts: King Charles and Qucen
Aunnc’s fronting the river, King William’s containing the
winted IMall, and Queen Mary’s containing the Chapel.
The Qucen’s house, now the Royal Naval College, was
designed by Inigo Jones for Queen Henrietta Maria.  The
river front was by Webb, Jones's relative, the Great Hall
and Colonnades, 106 feet by 56 feet wide and 50 feet high,
by Sir Christopher Wren, the Chapel by Stuart. Sir James
Thornhill painted the ceiling, &e., of the Gireat Hall. In
the Picture Gallery, formed by George 1V, are many
viluable portraits of noted admirals, and some fine
paintings of naval battles, including Lovd Howe’s victory,
by Loutherburg,and J. M. W. Turner's ¢ Battle of Trafalgar.’
In the Upper Hall are some peenliarly touching souvenirs
of Nelson ; the coat and waisteoat which he wore when he
was killed in the Battle of Trafalgar, with numerous other
relies. “The course of the fatal ball,” says Sir II.
Nicholas, “is shown by a hole vver the left shoulder, and
part of the epanlette is torn away. The coat and waist-
coat are stained in several places with the hero’s blood.”
Ilere also is the astrolabe presented by Queen Elizabeth
to Sir Francis Drake; and here aro the relics of the
lamented Sir John Franklin’s Arctic Expedition. In the
Chapel is B, West’s ¢ Shipwreck of St. Paul’ Green-
wich Hospital is no longer used for the purpose for which
it was built, namely the reception of naval pensioners.
Sinco 1865, nearly all of these have taken extra out-
pensions of 2a o day, and, in preferenco to remaining in
tho Hospital, have gone to live with their friends. The
Royal Naral College occupies their rooms in the building,
and instructs sailors in the science of mathematics,
navigation, and gunnery. The Museum of Naval Architec-
ture, containing models of ships from the earliest period,
was romoved from South Kensington to Queen Anne’s
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wing. The Museum is open daily from 10 to 4, tho Hall
and Chapel from 10 till dusk ; free on Monday and Friday,
and on other days upon payment of 3d. The old Dread-.
nought Merchant Seamen's Hospital, which for many years
was moored off Greenwich, was formerly a special feature
in this portion of the Thames, Its removal tu the Old
Infirmary Buildings of Greenwich Iospital has caused
many people to believe that the Institution has ceased to
exist. So far is this from being the caso, that at the pre-
sent time the Dreadnought Hospital relieves every year
double the number of secamen it used to do formerly. Ity
wards are freely open to all sailors, regardless of creed,
race, or colour, and tho representatives of upwards of
twenty nationalities may always be scen in its wards,
The Dreadnought is rightly regarded not only as one
of the sights of London, but as the most universal of all
the hospitals of the world. It is supported by voluntary
contributions, and subscriptions and legacies are received
in aid of the institution from every maritime nation.
Greenwich Park immediately adjoins the Hospital, and is
singularly beautiful. The view of tho Thames from Green-
wich Observatory (where the Astronvmer Royal conducts his
observations and gives “ Greenwich time ” to all the world)
is “ worth a day’s journey, though every milo were taken
on foot,” In this Park, which extends to Blackheath, and
containg 180 acres, King James rode a hunting as de-
scribed in the ¢ Fortunes of Nigel.) Our limits will not
permit of a lengthy notice of Greenwich, suffice it that wo
mention that it can easily be reached from London, either
by the South Eastern Railway, from Charing Cross and
Cannon Street; by omnibuses from Charing Cross; or by
tramway from Westminster or Blackfriars Bridges. White-
bait Dinners at the Ship or the Trafulyar, Greenwich, are
part of the joys of the London season. General Wolfo was
buried in Greenwich Church, 1759.

Blackwall is a little farther down the river, upon the
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north side.  Thero is a terminus of the Bluckwall Railway,
close to the East India Docks, Blackwall, which are used
- by vessels of large tonnage.

T'he next bend of the Thames shows us the green heights
of Charlton, and a few minutes moro bring us to WWool-
wich, considered one of the chief of the royal dockyards.
Here is also the Royal Arsenal. The covered slips, for
building vessels, are scen hy us as wo pass down the
viver. Tere aro all tho appliances by means of which
Britannia continues to rule the waves—tho armoured
vessel, the “ Woolwich infant”—the largest gun of the
periol—the steam-cngine factory, all the ingenious
scientitie contrivances for improving military and naval
warfare, as well as the workshops wherein thousands of arti-
sans arc engaged in preparing munitions of war.  In front
of Woolwich, the Thames is a mile wide: at its back rises
Shooter’s I, 50 named from the bandits who used to infust
it.  The Artillery Barracks at Woolwich face the C'ommon.
Tho Royal Military Repository, at the west end of the
barracks, contains somo interesting specimens of ancient
weapons and other curious relies.  Opposite Woolwich Pier,
is o large placo of amusement called the North Woolwich
Gardens, 'The visitor may return to London if ho pleases
by the railway upon the North Woolwich side, to which
he may pass by means of a steam ferry-boat continunally
plying from vne side of the river to the other. In Woolwich
Cemelery is a handsome cross of whito marble, 17 feet high,
to the memory of about 550 persons (of whom 120 were
huried here) who were drowned Sept. 3, 1878, off T'ripeock
Point in tho Thawmes, by the collision, while on a pleasure
trip, of the saloon steamer Princess Alice, with the steam
collier Byweell Castle.

If, however, he should desire to procced farther down
the Thames, as far as, shall we say, the mouth of the
river, his wishes may be gratified at but small expense.
By river steamboats he may be carried in a short time to
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Gracesend, an ancient. town, which, beforo the days of
railway travelling, thoe citizens of London regarded as o
kind of seaside resort.  IHere are the Rosherville Gardens—-
“the place to spend & happy day "—containing a theatre,
dancing platform, and restaurant.  The return home may
be made by railway. Farther down tho Thames tho
visitor may proceed to Sheerness, and thenee to Rochester ;
or ho may cross to Southend, on the Essex coast, and theneo
come back to London by rail or steamboat, In tho sum-
mer, steamers run daily from London Bridge to the above
places, as well as to towns moroe remote, such as Margato
and Ramsgato.

The voyago by steamboat from London Bridgoe to Sheor-
ness is so pleasant in fine weather and so cheap, that fow
visitors 1o London, who can spare a day to view tho
Thames as far as the Nove, will fail to make the trip.
Sheerness s situated npon the point of land where thoe
Medway pours her waters into the Thames, Tt will e
somewhat difficult for any of Dritish blood to realise the
fact, that in the time of Charles IT., the Dutch could sail
so far up the Thames, occupy the Medway, and burn our
ships of war lying before Chatham with impunity, whilst
the King trifled and amused himself in his seraglio at
Whitchall; but we have it upon record, that they not only
entered the Medway, Int proceeded mueh farther up the
Thames. * Tilbury Fort, the place where Elizabeth had,
with manly spirit, hurled foul scorn at Parma and Spain,
was insulted by the invaders, and the roar of forcign gnns
was heard for the first and last time by tho citizens of
London.”
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SUBURBS AND ENVIRONS.

A(J'l‘( IN' (Oaktown), a village ncar Hanwell, is about

five miles from London. It may be reached by rail-
way from DPaddington, Keusington, Victoria, or Broad
Street, 18.C.

Alecandra Park and Palace, Muswell 1Till, may be reached
in about 15 minutes by the Great Northern Railway from
King's Cross to Wood Gireen, or from Moorgate Street Sta-
tion. The entertainments include Concerts, Theatrical per-
formances, Picture and other Kxhibitions, &e., as at the
Crystal Palace. The Palaco (first opened 1363, but burnt
down and immediately rebuilt) is a fino structure, com-
manding beautiful views over five counties; tho Dark
consists of about 400 acres, beautifully laid out. Admission
1x., except on special days, and when otherwise advertised.
Return Railway Tickets from King's Cross, including
wlmission on shilling days, cost 2+ 6d., 2s., or 1s. 6d.,
nceording 1o class,

Anueell is o village in Iertfordshire, which is said to
derive its name from Fmma’s Well. A spring issues here
which supplies the New River, and gives its name to
Amwell Street, &e., Pentonville—as Chadwell Street is
derived from 8t Chad's Well, a once noted spring at
DBattlebridge, King’s Cross.

Anerley, a suburb on the South-Eastern line, ncar
Sydenham and the Crystal Palace, is 7% miles from
London,

Ascot, famous for its June races, is 29 miles from London
by the railway line from Waterloo Station,

Balham is a residential suburb, about 5 miles from
Pimlico, on the London and Brighton line of railway.

Ball's Pond, named after John Ball, a licensed vic-
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tualler, who lived here in the middlo of the seventeenth
century, and who kept a pond for duck-hunting and other
such sports, is a hamlet connected with Islington, and
is reached by the Essex Road, Islington; it abuts on
the Stoke Nowington Road.

Barking (sce p. 103) was the seat of the oldest and
richest Benedictine nunnery in England. It is 8 miles
from London by the line from Fenchureh Streot.

Barnes, a village on the Thames, reached by the South-
Western Railway, from Waterloo, is 7 miles from London,

Barnet, sometimes IHigh Barnet, so named from its
being situated on a hill; sometimes Chipping DBarnet,
from its famous cattle market, is about 11 miles from
London by the Railway from Ludgate Hill, King’s Cross,
or Broad Street. FEast Burnet is a neighbouring village,
At Hadley, beyond Barnet, is a Memorial Pillar of the
Battle fought (1471) between Edward 1V. and the Earl of
Warwick, who was defeated and slain, in this last but one
Conflict of the Roses.

Barnsbury adjoins Islington, and may be reached by tho
line from Broad Street or by omnibus from the Bank, or
clsewhero; sce Omnibuses, p. 316.

Battersea, sce pp. 259-60.

Buayswater, sce p. 174, also Omnibuses p. 316,

Bethnal Green, at tho eastern end of London, is chicfly
noted for its silk weavers, and for the Museum, which
was removed hither from South Kensington, when tho
latter set up its permanent structure.  Bethunal Green
Musewn is situated in the Cambridge Road, Bethnal Green,
about five miles by ommibus from Charing Cross. It
contains somo excellent collections illustrative of food,
manufactures, &c., besides many pictures, sent hither on
loan. It has been decided recently to separate the Me-
dieeval and other Art Specimens at South Kensington
from the current productions of our own day, and to
transfer all the latter to Bethnal Green. The Muscum is
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open, free, from 10 A.M. to 10 P, except on Wednesdays,
Thursdays, and Fridays, when tho charge is 6d., and the
closing takes placo at 6 rM. The legend of 